NIKE: NEUROENDOCRINE TUMORS, INNOVATION IN KNOWLEDGE AND EDUCATION

EDITED BY: Antongiulio Faggiano and Annamaria Anita Livia Colao PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-274-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-274-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

NIKE: NEUROENDOCRINE TUMORS, INNOVATION IN KNOWLEDGE AND EDUCATION

Topic Editors: Antongiulio Faggiano, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Annamaria Anita Livia Colao, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Citation: Faggiano, A., Colao, A. A. L., eds. (2021). NIKE: Neuroendocrine Tumors, Innovation in Knowledge and Education. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-274-8

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial—Special Issue: Foreword to the Special Issue on NIKE: Neuroendocrine Tumors, Innovation in Knowledge and Education Antongiulio Faggiano and Annamaria Colao
- 08 Case Report: Primary Hypothyroidism Associated With Lutetium 177-DOTATATE Therapy for Metastatic Paraganglioma Sriram Gubbi, Mohammad Al-Jundi, Jaydira Del Rivero, Abhishek Jha, Marianne Knue, Joy Zou, Baris Turkbey, Jorge Amilcar Carrasquillo, Emily Lin, Karel Pacak, Joanna Klubo-Gwiezdzinska and Frank I-Kai Lin
- 14 Primary Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Breast: Still Open Issues Marco Gallo, Severo Campione, Valentina Di Vito, Nicoletta Fortunati, Fabio Lo Calzo, Erika Messina, Rosaria Maddalena Ruggeri, Antongiulio Faggiano and Annamaria Anita Livia Colao on behalf of NIKE Group
- 22 Cardio-Metabolic Indices and Metabolic Syndrome as Predictors of Clinical Severity of Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors Luigi Barrea, Giovanna Muscogiuri, Roberta Modica, Barbara Altieri, Gabriella Pugliese, Roberto Minotta, Antongiulio Faggiano, Annamaria Colao and Silvia Savastano
- 36 Cushing's Syndrome With Nocardiosis: A Case Report and a Systematic Review of the Literature

Da Zhang, Yan Jiang, Lin Lu, Zhaolin Lu, Weibo Xia, Xiaoping Xing and Hongwei Fan

44 Everolimus Related Fulminant Hepatitis in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor With Liver Metastases: A Case Report and Literature Review

Shih-Chun Chang, Chun-Yi Tsai, Keng-Hao Liu, Shang-yu Wang, Jun-Te Hsu, Ta-Sen Yeh and Chun-Nan Yeh

51 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: New Weapons Against Medullary Thyroid Cancer?

Sergio Di Molfetta, Andrea Dotto, Giuseppe Fanciulli, Tullio Florio, Tiziana Feola, Annamaria Colao and Antongiulio Faggiano on behalf of NIKE Group

60 Role of FGF System in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Potential Therapeutic Applications

Giovanni Vitale, Alessia Cozzolino, Pasqualino Malandrino, Roberto Minotta, Giulia Puliani, Davide Saronni, Antongiulio Faggiano and Annamaria Colao on behalf of NIKE

69 Pathology Reporting in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Digestive System: Everything You Always Wanted to Know but Were Too Afraid to Ask

Manuela Albertelli, Federica Grillo, Fabio Lo Calzo, Giulia Puliani, Carmen Rainone, Annamaria Anita Livia Colao, Antongiulio Faggiano and NIKE group

78 Case Report: Unmasking Hypercalcemia in Patients With Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Experience From Six Italian Referral Centers

Elisa Giannetta, Franz Sesti, Roberta Modica, Erika Maria Grossrubatscher, Valentina Guarnotta, Alberto Ragni, Isabella Zanata, Annamaria Colao and Antongiulio Faggiano on behalf of NIKE

85 Neoadjuvant Therapy for Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Recent Progresses and Future Approaches

Andrea Lania, Francesco Ferraù, Manila Rubino, Roberta Modica, Annamaria Colao and Antongiulio Faggiano on behalf of NIKE group





Editorial—Special Issue: Foreword to the Special Issue on NIKE: Neuroendocrine Tumors, Innovation in Knowledge and Education

Antongiulio Faggiano^{1*} and Annamaria Colao²

¹ Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Federico II University of Naples, Unesco Chair Health Education and Sustainable Development, Naples, Italy

Keywords: Neuroendocrine neoplasm (NEN), Neuroendocrine tumors (NET), endocrine syndromes, paraneoplastic syndromes, advances therapies, molecular targets, efficacy, toxicity

Editorial on the Research Topic

NIKE: Neuroendocrine Tumors, Innovation in Knowledge and Education

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are heterogeneous tumors arising from the diffuse neuroendocrine system, showing a common phenotype but variable behavior and prognosis. They include the well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (NETs), which are classically slow-growing and potentially functioning and the poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs), which are highly proliferative and aggressive (1, 2). NENs represent a model for the multidisciplinary management of tumors because different specialists are required, both for diagnosis and therapy. Not only oncologists and surgeons but also gastroenterologists, radiologists, nuclear medicine physicians and endocrinologists are needed for patients presenting with a wide spectrum of symptoms, either related to hormonal hypersecretion or tumor growth (3, 4). On the other hand, pathologists are indispensable to achieve the diagnosis and define the histo-prognostic category (5). Despite recent advances in the comprehension of biology and clinical behavior of these tumors, as well as the development of new diagnostic tools and therapeutic agents, many unmet needs remain to be addressed (6–8). Furthermore, quality of life and management of treatment toxicities represent a challenge in these patients who are characterized by long survival even at a metastatic stage (9–12).

This special issue is a mirror of the activities of the NIKE project on NET innovation in knowledge and education. This project started in 2015 with the aim of identifying the different clinical and biological unmet needs of NENs. This NIKE issue is a collection of four case reports, four retrospective studies, one original study and one perspective which describe unusual NEN primary sites and paraneoplastic syndromes, adverse events to NEN therapy, new therapeutic targets and strategies, prognostic factors and finally the minimum and optional requirements for a pathology report of NENs.

Secretory activity is one of the main characteristics of NENs. Despite nonfunctioning tumors are more frequent, several NEN-related endocrine and paraneoplastic syndromes can occur and need to be known and managed. Giannetta et al. reported four NET patients presenting with paraneoplastic hypercalcemia, due to PTH-related peptide in three cases and 1-25-dihydroxy-vitamin-D hypersecretion in one case. Paraneoplastic hypercalcemia is a rare condition that can be difficult to manage in NET patients. Zhang et al. reported a case of ectopic Cushing's syndrome with unknown

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Claire Perks, University of Bristol, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Antongiulio Faggiano antongiulio.faggiano@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 June 2021 Accepted: 14 June 2021 Published: 01 July 2021

Citation:

Faggiano A and Colao A (2021) Editorial—Special Issue: Foreword to the Special Issue on NIKE: Neuroendocrine Tumors, Innovation in Knowledge and Education. Front. Endocrinol. 12:722145. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.722145 primary but presenting with lung lesions with a final diagnosis of nocardiosis. This is an opportunistic infection, usually related to immunosuppression, which represents a life-threatening condition of NET patients with ectopic Cushing's syndrome and could be a confounding factor in the diagnostic work-up of NET.

The spectrum of therapeutic approaches for NEN has been enlarged in the last years. In parallel, treatment-related toxicities and cumulative toxicities need to be managed to ensure a good quality of life in these patients. Gubbi et al. reported a case of primary hypothyroidism following the first cycle of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with ¹⁷⁷Luthetium-DOTATATE for a metastatic paraganglioma. The intense thyroid uptake of ¹⁷⁷Luthetium suggests a direct effect of this radionuclide through somatostatin receptors expressed in thyrocytes, with consequent marked increases in anti-Tg and anti-TPO antibodies and rapid development of primary hypothyroidism. Chang et al. underlines that everolimus, a mTOR inhibitor indicated in progressive NETs, can be associated with fulminant hepatitis. A patient presenting with a metastatic NET of the pancreas died three months after starting everolimus 10 mg a day, because of fulminant hepatitis due to reactivation of a chronic HBV infection. A specific prophylaxis is suggested in HBV positive patients undergoing therapy with everolimus.

Despite NENs occurring mainly in gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial tracts, these tumors can show many other primary locations. Gallo et al. provide an accurate review of the main aspects of breast NENs, in order to better define an issue that has been subjected to subsequent changes in the classification criteria in the last years. Breast NENs are a rare subgroup of breast cancer but clear diagnostic criteria are still far from being established and the real size of this tumor could be underestimated.

Delving into the study of the mechanisms of NEN development, the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) pathway represents an intriguing oncogenic target. Vitale et al. analyzed its role in the development and progression of NENs, the occurrence of fibrotic complications and the onset of drug-resistance. Clinical trials with specific FGFinhibitors are suggested to explore the role of the FGF pathway as molecular target for NEN therapy.

Di Molfetta et al. analyzed lights and shadows of immunotherapy in medullary thyroid cancer. This approach has been recently developed to induce an autoimmune response to the tumor and has found an excellent application in some cancer types like melanoma. In NEN, patient with merkelioma were found to be optimal candidates for immunotherapy, while less encouraging results have been observed in other NEN types. If available data on these new agents in medullary thyroid cancer are scarce at present, however some trials are now ongoing and a definitive conclusion on the role of immunotherapy in this setting will be addressed in the next years.

REFERENCES

 Faggiano A, Ferolla P, Grimaldi F, Campana D, Manzoni M, Davi MV, et al. Natural History of Gastro-Entero-Pancreatic and Thoracic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Data From a Large Prospective and Retrospective Italian Lania et al. explore recent progress and future approaches of neoadjuvant therapy in NENs. This suggestive approach has been more and more relevant in many types of cancer, by using neoadjuvant chemo- or radiotherapy. In NEN there has been not a similar interest, likely for the peculiar biology and clinical course of these tumors which are, for the most part, slow growing, with low rates of proliferation and therefore less responsive to conventional anti-tumor therapies. A change in this view could be observed with PRRT, which is able to induce a significant rate of tumor shrinkage in NET expressing somatostatin receptors. Promising results are now available and other studies on this topic are ongoing.

An original study has been conducted by Barrea et al. on the role of metabolic syndrome and cardiometabolic indexes as prognostic factors in gastroenteropancreatic NETs. In the last years there is mounting evidence supporting the role of the metabolic syndrome in the pathogenesis of several tumors. In this study, the metabolic syndrome as well as the fatty liver index, a non-invasive tool for identifying individuals with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and the visceral adiposity index, a marker of adipose dysfunction, have been found to correlate with unfavorable clinicopathological characteristics.

Finally, Albertelli et al. provide a perspective article to analyze the main questions and relative answers, focusing on three main topics (i.e. morphology and classification, Ki67 and grading, immunohistochemistry), which were considered relevant for clinicians for understanding and correctly interpreting pathology reports on gastroenteropancreatic NENs. A minimum requirement in pathology report of NEN is also provided.

In summary, this special issue would be a support for endocrinologists, and for all other specialists involved in NEN management, by providing new insights in different fields of NEN, by suggesting new research lines and therapeutic targets and strategy, by reporting rare and unusual conditions related to NENs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AF and AC both contributed to develop this article by resuming the results of all scientific manuscripts included in the Research Topic NIKE. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was partially supported by the ministerial research project PRIN2017Z3N3YC.

Epidemiological Study: The NET Management Study. J Endocrinol Invest (2012) 35(9):817-23. doi: 10.3275/8102

 WHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. Digestive System Tumours (WHO Classification of Tumours Series). 5th ed. Vol. 1. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (2019).

- Oberg K, Modlin IM, De Herder W, Pavel M, Klimstra D, Frilling A, et al. Consensus on Biomarkers for Neuroendocrine Tumour Disease. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(9):e435–46. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00186-2
- Muscogiuri G, Altieri B, Albertelli M, Dotto A, Modica R, Barrea L, et al. NIKE Group. Epidemiology of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: A Gender Perspective. *Endocrine* (2020) 69(2):441–50. doi: 10.1007/s12020-020-02331-3
- Rindi G, Wiedenmann B. Neuroendocrine Neoplasia of the Gastrointestinal Tract Revisited: Towards Precision Medicine. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2020) 16:590–607. doi: 10.1038/s41574-020-0391-3
- Carra S, Gaudenzi G. New Perspectives in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Research From Tumor Xenografts in Zebrafish Embryos. *Minerva Endocrinol* (2020) 45:393–4. doi: 10.23736/S0391-1977.20.03371-4
- Veltroni A, Cosaro E, Spada F, Fazio N, Faggiano A, Colao A, et al. Clinico-Pathological Features, Treatments and Survival of Malignant Insulinomas: A Multicenter Study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 182(4):439–46. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-0989
- Altieri B, Di Dato C, Martini C, Sciammarella C, Di Sarno A, Colao A, et al. Bone Metastases in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: From Pathogenesis to Clinical Management. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 1(9):1332. doi: 10.3390/ cancers11091332
- 9. Scandurra C, Modica R, Maldonato NM, Dolce P, Dipietrangelo GG, Centello R, et al. Quality of Life in Patients With Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: The Role

of Severity, Clinical Heterogeneity, and Resilience. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106(1):e316–27. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa760

- Altieri B, Barrea L, Modica R, Muscogiuri G, Savastano S, Colao A, et al. Nutrition and Neuroendocrine Tumors: An Update of the Literature. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2018) 19(2):159–67. doi: 10.1007/s11154-018-9466-z
- Faggiano A, Lo Calzo F, Pizza G, Modica R, Colao A. The Safety of Available Treatments Options for Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* (2017) 16(10):1149–61. doi: 10.1080/14740338.2017.1354984
- Faggiano A, Malandrino P, Modica R, Agrimi D, Aversano M, Bassi V, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Everolimus in Extrapancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor: A Comprehensive Review of Literature. *Oncologist* (2016) 21(7):875–86. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0420

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Faggiano and Colao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Case Report: Primary Hypothyroidism Associated With Lutetium 177-DOTATATE Therapy for Metastatic Paraganglioma

Sriram Gubbi¹, Mohammad Al-Jundi², Jaydira Del Rivero³, Abhishek Jha², Marianne Knue², Joy Zou⁴, Baris Turkbey⁴, Jorge Amilcar Carrasquillo⁵, Emily Lin⁶, Karel Pacak², Joanna Klubo-Gwiezdzinska^{1†} and Frank I-Kai Lin^{4*†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antongiulio Faggiano, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

Reviewed by:

Annibale Versari, Local Health Authority of Reggio Emilia, Italy Rosario Le Moli, University of Catania, Italy

*Correspondence:

Frank I-Kai Lin frank.lin2@nih.gov

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 July 2020 Accepted: 30 November 2020 Published: 21 January 2021

Citation:

Gubbi S, Al-Jundi M, Del Rivero J, Jha A, Knue M, Zou J, Turkbey B, Carrasquillo JA, Lin E, Pacak K, Klubo-Gwiezdzinska J and Lin Fl-K (2021) Case Report: Primary Hypothyroidism Associated With Lutetium 177-DOTATATE Therapy for Metastatic Paraganglioma. Front. Endocrinol. 11:587065. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.587065 ¹ Metabolic Diseases Branch, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ² Department of Endocrinology, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child and Human Development, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ³ Developmental Therapeutics Branch, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ⁴ Molecular Imaging Program, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ⁵ Department of Radiology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, United States, ⁶ Davis Senior High School, Davis, CA, United States

Background: Lutetium 177 (¹⁷⁷Lu) - DOTATATE is a form of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) utilized in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors. Data on ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE-induced thyroid dysfunction is limited.

Case Description: A 29-year-old male with SDHB positive metastatic paraganglioma enrolled under the ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE trial (NCT03206060) underwent thyroid function test (TFT) evaluation comprised of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and free thyroxine (FT4) immunoassay measurements per protocol prior to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy. The TSH was suppressed [<0.01 µIU/ml (0.27-4.2 µIU/ml)], and FT4 was normal [1.3 ng/dl (0.9-1.7 ng/dl)]. The TSH receptor antibody and thyroid stimulating immunoglobulin index were undetectable [<1 IU/L (\leq 1.75 IU/L), and <1 (\leq 1.3) respectively], while the anti-thyroid peroxidase (anti-TPO) and anti-thyroglobulin (anti-Tg) antibodies were elevated [605 IU/ml (0.0-34.9 IU/ml), and 178 IU/ml (0.0-40.0 IU/ml) respectively]. Mass spectrometry on a stored (-80°C) plasma sample obtained one-month pre-PRRT revealed elevated total triiodothyronine (TT3) [235 ng/dl (65–193 ng/dl)] and FT4 [3.9 ng/dl (1.2–2.9 ng/dl)] levels. The patient was diagnosed with Hashimoto's thyrotoxicosis. However, the patient was asymptomatic. One month after the first dose of 200mCi ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE, the patient noted fatigue and a 2.6 Kg weight gain. The TSH (73.04 µIU/mI), anti-TPO antibodies (>1,000 IU/ml), and anti-Tg antibodies (668 IU/ml) had substantially increased, with reductions in FT4 (0.3 ng/dl) and TT3 [54 ng/dl (87-169 ng/dl)]. Diagnostic gallium 68 -DOTATATE positron emission tomography-computed tomography performed prior to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE treatment revealed diffuse thyroid uptake. Post-therapy single-photon emission computed tomography also revealed diffuse uptake of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE in the thyroid gland. Levothyroxine therapy was initiated, and the patient's symptoms resolved.

Summary: We report, for the first time, a patient with asymptomatic primary hyperthyroidism who rapidly developed symptomatic primary hypothyroidism 1 month after ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, accompanied by marked changes in TFTs and thyroid auto-antibody titers, with functional imaging evidence of diffuse uptake of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE in the thyroid gland.

Conclusions: Thyroid dysfunction can be associated with PRRT. Thyroid uptake patterns on pre-treatment diagnostic somatostatin analog scans might predict individual susceptibility to PRRT-associated TFT disruption. Therefore, periodic evaluation of TFTs should be considered in patients receiving PRRT.

Keywords: DOTATATE, Lutathera, hypothyroidism, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy, paraganglioma

INTRODUCTION

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) is a form of targeted therapy that has demonstrated substantial efficacy in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) (1, 2). PRRT targets cells that possess high concentrations of somatostatin receptors (SSTRs), such as NETs, by utilizing a radiolabeled peptide (somatostatin) molecule (3). The somatostatin analog component of the molecule binds to the SSTRs and facilitates the delivery of the radionuclide directly to the tumor cells (2). Various analogs of PRRT possess theranostic properties, which is the ability to integrate diagnostic and therapeutic functions within the same pharmaceutical platform (4).

Lutetium 177 (¹⁷⁷Lu) - DOTA-DPhe1, Tyr3-octreotate (DOTATATE) (Lutathera®, Advanced Accelerator Applications, Saint-Genis-Pouilly, France) is a form of PRRT with the highest affinity to SSTR-2. It has been successfully utilized in treating gastroenteropancreatic NETs and was recently shown to markedly prolong progression-free survival among patients with advanced, well-differentiated midgut NETs in the NETTER-1 phase 3 trial (2). Additionally, this agent has demonstrated substantial safety and efficacy based on data from 1200 patients treated for gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial NETs (5). ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE has also been effectively utilized in the treatment of inoperable, metastatic pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas (PPGLs) (6, 7). ¹⁷⁷Lu radionuclide exerts its anti-tumor effects by emitting medium energy beta particles and has a maximal tissue penetration of 2 mm (8). ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy is associated with several adverse effects, with nausea and vomiting being the most common adverse effects. Other adverse effects include fatigue/ asthenia, abdominal pain, diarrhea, loss of appetite, musculoskeletal pain, headaches, flushing, dizziness, alopecia, cough, nephrotoxicity, hematotoxicity (leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, and lymphopenia), cardiotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, and acute hypertensive crisis (2, 7). ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy has also been associated with the disruption of endocrine function, although these effects are extremely rare and is often transient (9). We report, for the first time, a patient with primary hyperthyroidism who rapidly progressed to primary hypothyroidism after the first dose of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy. A written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

CASE DESCRIPTION

A 29-year-old male with metastatic paraganglioma with succinate dehydrogenase subunit B (SDHB) germline pathogenic variant was enrolled in the ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03206060) for the treatment of inoperable, metastatic PPGL at our center. As a part of the protocol, the patient underwent baseline thyroid function test (TFT) comprised of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and free thyroxine (FT4) evaluation on the day of the first cycle of therapy, just prior to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE administration. The TSH level was suppressed [<0.01 µIU/ml (0.27-4.2 µIU/ml)], and the level was normal [1.3 ng/dl (0.9-1.7 ng/dl)] based on an immunoassay measurement. A repeat measurement of TSH and FT4 immunoassay revealed values of <0.01 µIU/ml and 1.2 ng/dl, respectively. TSH receptor antibody (TrAb) and thyroid stimulating immunoglobulin index were <1 IU/L (≤1.75 IU/L), and <1 (\leq 1.3), respectively. Anti-thyroid peroxidase (anti-TPO) and anti-thyroglobulin (anti-Tg) antibodies were 605 IU/ml (0.0-34.9 IU/ml), and 178 IU/ml (0.0-40.0 IU/ml), respectively. The patient complained of headaches, dizziness, and back pain, all of which were attributed to metastatic, biochemically active paragangliomas. The patient denied heat intolerance, weight loss, palpitations, sweating, diarrhea, changes in the appearance of his eyes, redness, eye pain or excessive tearing, neck pain, dysphagia, voice change, visual disturbances, skin changes, or diarrhea. Although multiple family members were affected with several non-thyroid malignancies, there was no family history of thyroid disorders or malignancies. The only form of radiation that the patient had received to the head and neck region was a computed tomography (CT) scan. His past medical history was relevant for SDHB-related metastatic paraganglioma (left glomus vagale, abdominal and hypopharyngeal lesions, and multiple bony metastases), Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (a genetic syndrome characterized by macrosomia and hemihypertrophy of the body, macroglossia, and increased risk for several embryonal tumors, and is usually caused due to cytogenetic abnormalities in chromosome 11p15) (10), and a chest neuroblastoma. The patient denied history of smoking, alcohol consumption, or drug use. Physical examination was unrevealing for lid lag, proptosis, conjunctival hyperemia or chemosis. The thyroid gland was of normal size without tenderness on

palpation, and there was no cervical lymphadenopathy. The skin examination and deep tendon reflexes were normal. The heart rate was normal (70 beats per minute) with regular rate and rhythm. There were no tremors observed either in the tongue or in the upper extremities. There was slight enlargement of left hand and foot from BW syndrome. The patient was initially diagnosed with subclinical hyperthyroidism and was monitored without therapy. After endocrine consultation was requested for the patient, it was noted that the total triiodothyronine (T3) values were not measured. Therefore, FT4 and total T3 were measured using mass spectrometry along with TSH using immunoassay on a plasma sample stored at -80°C that was obtained 1 month prior to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy. In this sample, the TSH was suppressed [<0.02 µIU/ml (0.27-4.2 µIU/ ml)], FT4 was elevated [3.9 ng/dl (1.2-2.9 ng/dl)], along with an total T3 of 235 ng/dl (65-193 ng/dl), confirming a diagnosis of primary hyperthyroidism in retrospect, biochemically manifesting as thyrotoxic phase of Hashimoto's thyroiditis.

One month after the first cycle of 200mCi dose of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, the patient developed new onset fatigue and experienced a weight gain of 2.6 kg. Physical examination revealed normal skin, heart rate, and deep tendon reflexes. The thyroid examination was unremarkable with no cervical lymphadenopathy. At this point, the TSH had substantially increased (73.04 µIU/ml), along with reduction in the levels of FT4 (0.3 ng/dl) on immunoassay, and reduction in total T3 levels [54 ng/dl (87-169 ng/dl)] on mass spectrometry. Anti-TPO antibodies were >1,000 IU/ml, and anti-Tg antibodies were 668 IU/ml (Table 1). Subsequently, weight-based levothyroxine therapy was initiated. On follow-up visits, the TFTs normalized and his symptoms improved. A diagnostic gallium 68 (⁶⁸Ga)-DOTATATE positron emission tomographycomputed tomography (PET/CT) that was performed prior to the initiation of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy revealed diffuse increase in the uptake in the entire thyroid gland, with a maximum standardized uptake value (SUVmax) of 14.3 (Figures 1A-D). A post-treatment single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) scans revealed diffuse uptake of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE in the thyroid gland (Figures 1E, F). Since then, the patient has continued his enrollment in the ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE trial and is on replacement levothyroxine therapy with serial monitoring of TFTs.

5 ng/dl 605 IU/ml	178 IU/ml	<1 IU/L	<1
ng/dl** >1,000 IU/ml	668 IU/ml	Not measured	Not
	0	0	

*Total T3 measurements were performed using mass spectrometry. Free T4 and TSH values were measured using immunoassay.

**Total T3 at this time had a different reference range (87–169 ng/dl) due to a change in the mass spectrometry assays at our institution.

TSH, Thyroid stimulating hormone; T4, Thyroxine; T3, Triiodothyronine; TPO, Thyroid peroxidase; Tg, Thyroglobulin; TrAb, TSH receptor antibody; TSI, Thyroid stimulating immunoglobulin.





DISCUSSION

We report a patient with an initial diagnosis of asymptomatic primary hyperthyroidism who went on to develop overt, symptomatic primary hypothyroidism with marked changes in the TFTs and anti-thyroid antibody titers over a span of 1 month after the initiation of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, along with the imaging evidence of increased thyroid uptake of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE on SPECT imaging. Reports on sustained thyroid dysfunction following ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy are exceedingly rare and, to the best of our knowledge, a switch from hyperthyroidism to hypothyroidism associated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, along with complementary functional imaging evidence has not been previously reported in the literature. However, it is not unlikely that the patient might have been on the natural course of Hashimoto's thyroiditis from thyrotoxic phase toward hypothyroid phase irrespective of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, and the usual time course for such progression tends to be 1-24 months (11). However, the temporal association of marked changes in TFTs as well as a significant increase of anti-thyroid antibody titers associated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, along with evidence of increased ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE uptake on the SPECT imaging likely suggests a contribution of PRRT to thyroid disruption. Moreover, development of autoimmune thyroiditis has in fact been reported following ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy (9). In a Dutch cohort treated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE for various forms of NETs, Teunissen et al. evaluated the pituitary-thyroid axis in 66 patients over a follow-up period of 12-24 months (9). The mean FT4 values changed from 1.38 ng/dl to 1.21 ng/dl over the treatment course, while there were no significant changes in TSH and total T3 levels. Two patients developed primary hypothyroidism: one patient developed anti-TPO antibody-positive hypothyroidism after the third cycle of treatment, while the other patient gradually developed hypothyroidism, needing hormone replacement 3.5 years after PRRT. However, patients with prior TFT abnormalities were excluded in this study.

The plausible mechanism for the rapid progression from hyperthyroid to hypothyroid phase in this patient could have been due to thyroid parenchymal destruction induced by ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy followed by accelerated autoimmune destruction. Prior to the treatment with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE, the patient had primary hyperthyroidism, and the presence of elevated anti-TPO and anti-Tg antibodies and an undetectable TrAb, suggested that the patient was likely in the thyrotoxicosis phase of Hashimoto's (autoimmune) thyroiditis. ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy may have caused further damage to the thyroid follicles leading to increased exposure of thyroid parenchymal antigens (TPO, Tg), which in turn may have enhanced autoimmunemediated destruction facilitating rapid progression toward overt hypothyroidism. This could explain the sudden increase in anti-TPO and anti-Tg antibodies, as well as TSH levels along with a concomitant reduction in FT4 and total T3 levels observed after ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy. Another differential diagnosis to consider in this patient would be antibody-negative Graves' disease, which can be prevalent in 3%-5% of Graves' disease patients, especially among those with new diagnosis or those with milder forms of the disease (12).

The exact mechanism of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE-associated thyroid disruption has not been elucidated. Cytotoxicity caused by the ¹⁷⁷Lu radionuclide is possible, as somatostatin analogs have been previously shown to localize in the thyroid gland (13). In a retrospective analysis on a cohort of 237 patients who underwent ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE imaging to localize unknown or metastatic NETs, 26 (11%) patients had an abnormal thyroid uptake, with 14 (54%) patients having focal uptake and 12 (46%) patients having diffuse thyroid uptake based on SUVmax measurements on the PET/CT (13). Among the patients with diffuse thyroid uptake, 42% had a history of hypothyroidism. Our patient was also found to have diffuse thyroid uptake on the diagnostic ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE obtained prior to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy, but he had hyperthyroidism at the time of diagnosis. ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC, a somatostatin analog that predominantly targets SSTR-2 and SSTR-5 has demonstrated increased uptake in five of eight cases of Hashimoto's thyroiditis (14). In the present case, although the thyroid uptake of ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE was less than paraganglioma uptake on the baseline DOTATATE PET scan (Figure 1A), this finding was reversed in the whole body scintigraphy performed at 24-h post ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE administration, with higher uptake in the thyroid gland compared to the paragangliomas (Figures 1E, F). This may point to a higher radiation dose to the thyroid than the baseline PET scan would suggest. This difference in uptake may be a reflection of slight changes in the biodistribution of the ⁶⁸Gachelated versus the ¹⁷⁷Lu-chelated DOTATATE agent, or due to differing radiopharmaceutical kinetics and organ/tumor washout times since the ⁶⁸Ga and ¹⁷⁷Lu images were acquired at different times post injection (1 and 24 h, respectively) (15). Furthermore, these findings could also be related to the differences in resolutions of PET imaging for ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE compared to planar imaging for ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE. These types of discrepancy between Ga-68 and Lu-177 DOTATATE have been previously reported (16).

Other somatostatin analogs such as indium 111 (¹¹¹In) pentetreotide are known to demonstrate physiological uptake into thyroid tissue (17). In addition, increased uptake of ¹¹¹In pentetreotide in a right lateral ectopic thyroid gland located at the carotid bifurcation has also been reported (18). This structure was surgically removed for the concerns of a paraganglioma, but final pathology revealed thyroid tissue with enlarged follicles, although evidence of any autoimmune destruction was not reported. These data may suggest that an increased uptake in the thyroid gland on a diagnostic somatostatin analog imaging study might predict potential thyroid disruption following ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy or other forms of PRRT.

¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE and other radionuclide somatostatin analogs demonstrate high affinity to SSTR-2 (19). SSTR-2 expression has been shown to be substantially prevalent in the thyroid, both in the normal tissue as well as in thyroid tumors (19). In a study by Druckenthaner et al., expression of *SSTR* mRNA was identified in 94% (16 out of 17) of the normal thyroid tissue samples, out of which 82% (14 out of 17) samples expressed *SSTR2* mRNA (19). Somatostatin analogs such as ⁶⁸Ga DOTATOC have also demonstrated uptake in normal thyroid glands (14). Therefore, it is likely that ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE may target those thyroid glands that harbor higher levels of SSTR-2.

Apart from pituitary-thyroid axis, endocrine disruption associated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy has also been noted to affect pituitary-adrenal and pituitary-gonadal axes, albeit most of these effects are transient (9). These data may suggest that the endocrine system may be susceptible to PRRT-induced structural and functional disruption to a variable degree, and the risk of potential disruption might depend on the extent of SSTR-2 expression. In conclusion, 177Lu-DOTATATE therapy can be associated with transient or permanent disruption of thyroid function. Identification of uptake patterns in the thyroid gland on pretreatment diagnostic imaging studies (such as ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE) as well as presence of anti-TPO/anti-Tg antibodies may predict the susceptibility of a patient to PRRT-associated induction or exacerbation of thyroid dysfunction. In addition, patients with preexisting autoimmune thyroid disease might be at a higher risk for accelerated destruction of the SSTR2-positive thyroid tissue following PRRT. Therefore, measurement of TFTs along with thyroid autoantibody profile (anti-TPO, anti-Tg, and TrAb/TSI) should be considered prior to initiation of PRRT and periodically assessed throughout the course of therapy. Although not performed in our patient, thyroid ultrasonography along with color flow Doppler could serve as a useful tool to assess the physical characteristics as well as vascularity of the thyroid gland among patients with disrupted TFTs. Further studies with prospective data are needed to assess the spectrum, duration, and prognosis of PRRT-associated endocrine disruption, and to evaluate its association with pre-treatment imaging uptake patterns and with endocrine autoimmunity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Krenning E, De Jong M, Kooij P, Breeman W, Bakker W, De Herder W, et al. Radiolabelled somatostatin analogue (s) for peptide receptor scintigraphy and radionuclide therapy. *Ann Oncol* (1999) 10:S23–30. doi: 10.1093/annonc/ 10.suppl_2.S23
- Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, et al. Phase 3 trial of 177Lu-Dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. *N Engl J Med* (2017) 376(2):125–35. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1607427
- Krenning E, Kwekkeboom DJ, Wea B, Breeman W, Kooij P, Oei H, et al. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with [111 In-DTPA-D-Phe 1]-and [123 I-Tyr 3]-octreotide: the Rotterdam experience with more than 1000 patients. *Eur J Nuclear Med* (1993) 20(8):716–31. doi: 10.1007/BF00181765
- Kelkar SS, Reineke TM. Theranostics: combining imaging and therapy. Bioconjugate Chem (2011) 22(10):1879–903. doi: 10.1021/bc200151q
- Brabander T, Van der Zwan WA, Teunissen JJ, Kam BL, Feelders RA, de Herder WW, et al. Long-term efficacy, survival, and safety of [177Lu-DOTA0, Tyr3] octreotate in patients with gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial neuroendocrine tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(16):4617–24. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2743
- Satapathy S, Mittal BR, Bhansali A. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in the management of advanced pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Endocrinol* (2019) 91(6):718–27. doi: 10.1111/cen.14106

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by National Institutes of Health. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SG prepared the initial draft of the manuscript and revised the manuscript. MA-J, KP, and JK-G critically reviewed and revised the manuscript and provided input on the endocrine aspects of the manuscript. AJ, MK, JZ, BT, JC, EL, and FL critically reviewed and revised the manuscript and provided input on Lutathera therapy and radiological evaluation. JK-G and FL contributed equally toward the senior authorship of this manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the National Institutes of Health intramural program (Grant number: 1ZIABC011789).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the physicians and nurses who played a role in taking care of this patient at the NIH Clinical Center.

- Taïeb D, Jha A, Treglia G, Pacak K. Molecular imaging and radionuclide therapy of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma in the era of genomic characterization of disease subgroups. *Endocrine-Related Cancer* (2019) 26 (11):R627–52. doi: 10.1530/ERC-19-0165
- Van Der Zwan WA, Bodei L, Mueller-Brand J, De Herder WW, Kvols LK, Kwekkeboom DJ. GEP-NETs UPDATE: radionuclide therapy in neuroendocrine tumors. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2015) 172(1):R1-8. doi: 10.1530/ EJE-14-0488
- Teunissen JJ, Krenning EP, de Jong FH, de Rijke YB, Feelders RA, van Aken MO, et al. Effects of therapy with [177 Lu-DOTA 0, Tyr 3] octreotate on endocrine function. *Eur J Nuclear Med Mol Imaging* (2009) 36(11):1758. doi: 10.1007/s00259-009-1151-8
- Shuman C, Beckwith JB, Weksberg R. Beckwith-Wiedemann Syndrome. In: MP Adam, HH Ardinger, RA Pagon, SE Wallace, LJH Bean, K Stephens, et al., editors. *GeneReviews*([®]). Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993–2020. (2000).
- Aversa T, Valenzise M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Mussa A, Capalbo D, et al. Subclinical hyperthyroidism when presenting as initial manifestation of juvenile Hashimoto's thyroiditis: first report on its natural history. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2014) 37(3):303–8. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0054-0
- Ross DS, Burch HB, Cooper DS, Greenlee MC, Laurberg P, Maia AL, et al. 2016 American Thyroid Association Guidelines for Diagnosis and Management of Hyperthyroidism and Other Causes of Thyrotoxicosis. *Thyroid* (2016) 26(10):1343–421. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0229

- Nockel P, Millo C, Keutgen X, Klubo-Gwiezdzinska J, Shell J, Patel D, et al. The rate and clinical significance of incidental thyroid uptake as detected by Gallium-68 DOTATATE positron emission tomography/computed tomography. *Thyroid* (2016) 26(6):831–5. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0174
- Lincke T, Orschekowski G, Singer J, Sabri O, Paschke R. Increased gallium-68 DOTATOC uptake in normal thyroid glands. *Hormone Metab Res* (2011) 43 (04):282–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1270522
- Walker RC, Smith GT, Liu E, Moore B, Clanton J, Stabin M. Measured human dosimetry of 68Ga-DOTATATE. J Nucl Med (2013) 54(6):855–60. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.112.114165
- 16. Sainz-Esteban A, Prasad V, Schuchardt C, Zachert C, Carril JM, Baum RP. Comparison of sequential planar 177 Lu-DOTA-TATE dosimetry scans with 68 Ga-DOTA-TATE PET/CT images in patients with metastasized neuroendocrine tumours undergoing peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. *Eur J Nuclear Med Mol Imaging* (2012) 39(3):501–11. doi: 10.1007/s00259-011-2003-x
- Balon HR, Brown TL, Goldsmith SJ, Silberstein EB, Krenning EP, Lang O, et al. The SNM practice guideline for somatostatin receptor scintigraphy 2.0. J Nuclear Med Technol (2011) 39(4):317–24. doi: 10.2967/jnmt.111.098277

- Batchala PP, Dyer A, Mukherjee S, Rehm PK. Lateral ectopic thyroid mimics carotid body tumor on Indium-111 pentetreotide scintigraphy. *Clin Imaging* (2019) 58:46–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2019.05.012
- Druckenthaner M, Schwarzer C, Ensinger C, Gabriel M, Prommegger R, Riccabona G, et al. Evidence for somatostatin receptor 2 in thyroid tissue. *Regul Peptides* (2007) 138(1):32–9. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2006.08.005

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Gubbi, Al-Jundi, Del Rivero, Jha, Knue, Zou, Turkbey, Carrasquillo, Lin, Pacak, Klubo-Gwiezdzinska and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Primary Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Breast: Still Open Issues

Marco Gallo^{1,2*}, Severo Campione³, Valentina Di Vito⁴, Nicoletta Fortunati¹, Fabio Lo Calzo⁵, Erika Messina⁶, Rosaria Maddalena Ruggeri⁶, Antongiulio Faggiano⁴ and Annamaria Anita Livia Colao⁵ on behalf of NIKE Group

¹ Oncological Endocrinology Unit, Department of Medical Sciences, Città della Salute e della Scienza Hospital, Turin, Italy, ² Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases Unit, AO SS. Antonio e Biagio e Cesare Arrigo, Alessandria, Italy, ³ Section of Pathology, AORN A Cardarelli, Naples, Italy, ⁴ Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University "Federico II", Naples, Italy, ⁶ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Stephen Plymate, University of Washington, United States

Reviewed by:

Eva Surmacz, Allysta Pharmaceuticals, Inc., United States Dario Giuffrida, Mediterranean Institute of Oncology (IOM), Italy Amina Zoubeidi, University of British Columbia, Canada

*Correspondence:

Marco Gallo mgallo4@cittadellasalute.to.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 25 September 2020 Accepted: 08 December 2020 Published: 26 January 2021

Citation:

Gallo M, Campione S, Di Vito V, Fortunati N, Lo Calzo F, Messina E, Ruggeri RM, Faggiano A and Colao AAL (2021) Primary Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Breast: Still Open Issues. Front. Endocrinol. 11:610230. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.610230 Neuroendocrine breast tumors represent a rare subtype of breast cancer, accounting for less than 1% of all neuroendocrine neoplasms. Starting from their pathology definition, and going through their prevalence, prognosis and treatment, our knowledge is still really uncertain. In the present short review of the medical literature on this topic, we have evaluated in details their epidemiology, risk factors, pathogenesis, pathology, clinical presentation, radiographic aspects, prognosis, and therapy. We have thus been able to identify a number of open issues regarding primary neuroendocrine neoplasms of the breast that need to be clarified. Our ultimate aim was actually to try to understand whether neuroendocrine neoplasms of the breast can be considered a definite clinical entity and if neuroendocrine differentiation of breast tumors has a really clinical relevance.

Keywords: breast neuroendocrine neoplasms, breast carcinoma, review, neuroendocrine, breast cancer

INTRODUCTION

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a group of heterogeneous tumors deriving from neuroendocrine cells. Neuroendocrine cells are scattered around the body. Therefore, NENs have been reported to arise in multiple sites, such as central nervous system, respiratory tract, larynx, gastrointestinal tract, thyroid, skin, breast, and urogenital system (1).

Primary neuroendocrine neoplasms of the breast (BNEN) are particularly rare, accounting for less than 1% of NENs. Furthermore, the definition of BNEN is still quite confused (2). In the 2003 World Health Organization (WHO) Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Breast and Female Genital Organs, BNEN were recognized as a distinct entity (3) requiring -as diagnostic criteria- the expression of NE markers (specifically chromogranin and synaptophysin) in more than 50% of cells (4). It was later revised and the term changed into carcinomas with NE features in the 2012 WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast (5), with the 50% threshold for NE marker positivity considered arbitrary and therefore removed. In the more recent WHO classification published in 2019, BNEN can only be identified only when the proportion of neuroendocrine cells in samples is greater than 90% (6).

BNEN are overall heterogeneous in their definition, being characterized by a various grade of differentiation and histological overlap, and at present, they do not identify a definite clinical entity, and no specific prognosis or therapy have been recognized yet.

The aim of the present mini-review is to focus on light and shadow of our knowledge about BNEN, and to recognize the gaps to be filled in to better define this group of neoplasms as a precise clinical reality.

EPIDEMIOLOGY

Primary BNENs represent a rare and heterogeneous entity, whose real incidence is probably poorly understood because they are often under diagnosed (7-10). Its incidence among breast cancer has been reported to range from 0.1% to 5% (5, 9-12). After the WHO classification of breast tumors first recognizing BNEN as a separate unique entity in 2003, Gunhan-Bilgen et al. (2003) and Lopez et al. (2008) analyzed large series of breast cancers, including 1845 and 1368 cases respectively, and estimated that BNEN incidence varied between 0.3% and 0.5% of all breast cancers (11, 12). In 2012 the novel WHO Classification of Tumors of the Breast established that the diagnosis of a NE breast cancer can be made regardless of the percentage of tumor cells expressing NE markers. According to the 2012 WHO classification, primary BNEN would account for 2% to 5% of breast cancers (5, 13). However, Wang et al. analyzed the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) registries during 2003-2009 and reported 142 cases of primary BNEN, accounting for no more than 0.1% of total breast cancers, much less than the rate reported by the WHO (9). The relevant changes in the WHO classification criteria for BNEN over the years may explain the large differences in the incidence rate between one study and another. Consequently, further epidemiological studies should be performed by histologically revising tumor samples according to updated and uniform criteria.

Most patients with BNEN are postmenopausal women between their fifth and seventh decade of life (mostly aged >60 years), while the incidence in younger premenopausal women is still lower (5, 9, 14–17). Males are rarely affected by BNEN (9, 15–17). However, despite the overall low incidence, there are proportionally more males with BNEN than with other mammary cancers (9, 17). The distribution of ethnicity for BNEN seems to be similar to other mammary cancers (9).

The main risk factors for BNEN are currently believed to be the same as for non-neuroendocrine breast cancer, such as age and family history. Reproductive factors, as early menarche or late menopause, may also increase the risk of this disease, as well as significant exposure to estrogens, typical of patients taking oral contraceptives or undergoing hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (18). Nevertheless, the risk of breast cancer has been shown to significantly decrease after two years of discontinuation of HRT, as well as in women who stop taking oral contraceptives for more than 10 years (18–20). Evidence exists suggesting a link between high prolactin levels and risk of breast cancer development; however, it is unclear whether this is true for BNEN too. Prolactin has been shown to regulate breast stem cells and progenitor cells through its receptor (PRLR), acting as a pro-tumorigenic pathway (21). Moreover, PRL *via* PRLR is able to promote migration and invasion of breast cancer cells (22). Recently Zang et al. published two cases of BNEN associated with hyperprolactinemia, one patient suffering from mental disorder under antipsychotic drugs, and another one diagnosed with BNEN in late pregnancy, suggesting that hyperprolactinemia may represent a risk factor for the development of BNEN (23).

PATHOGENESIS

Current knowledge on natural history and pathogenic mechanisms of breast tumors with NE features is not clearly defined vet. There are different hypotheseson the pathogenesis of these neoplasms. The more controversial one suggests their origin from neoplastic transformation of native neuroendocrine cells constitutively present in the breast, despite little evidence of neuroendocrine cells detectable in benign breast tissue (24, 25). Conversely, according to another assumption, underlying the development of BNEN there would be an early splitting of the neoplastic stem cell differentiation into both neuroendocrine and epithelial lines (26). This assumption is consistent with the typical co-presence of neuroendocrine and exocrine cells in breast poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas (PD-NECs), and is supported by molecular studies which report a clonal correlation between neuroendocrine cells in PD-NEC and intraductal component of the tumor (25, 27). PD-NECs would therefore seem to originate from a neuroendocrine differentiation of breast cancer cells rather than from endocrine primitive cells.

CLINICAL ASPECTS

Considering the low frequency of BNEN, there is limited knowledge on their specific clinical presentation. There are neither specific clinical signs for this tumor nor differences in the clinical features of primary BNEN compared to other types of breast cancer. Published case series report a slow evolution of these tumors, having as the most frequent reason for consultation being an isolated breast nodule, which is sometimes associated with other local signs (painful axillary adenopathy, bloody nipple discharge, nipple retraction). Clinical presentation with symptoms due to metastatic diffusion (jaundice, hematuria, bone pain, respiratory symptoms, and neuralgia) has also been reported. Less frequently clinical presentations are isolated bloody nipple discharge, isolated skin retraction, anorexia, ulcerated breast masses, carcinomatous mastitis, and Paget like mass (28). In addition, a malignant lesion revealed by routine mammography, performed for family history of breast cancer, has been reported (17). Although extremely rare, a peculiarity of BNEN can be the occurrence of clinical manifestations from ectopic hormonal secretion. Sporadically, case reports of paraneoplastic syndrome with the ectopic production of adrenocorticotropic hormone (29), norepinephrine (30) and calcitonin (31) have been reported.

RADIOLOGY

As well as the clinical features, also the radiological characteristics are unspecific with radiological reports substantially similar to the other malignant breast lesions. Only single case reports (32–35) or small series (11, 17, 36) of BNENhave been reported with their imaging characteristics. Mammographic and ultrasonographic findings of reported BNEN are summarized in **Table 1**. The most common mammographic appearance is a hyperdense, irregularly shaped solitary mass. Margins are more commonly reported as indistinct, microlobulated, or spiculated. In most casescalcifications are absent. Ultrasound evaluation usually shows an irregular or microlobulated hypoechoic lesion, with homogeneous echo texture and no acoustic phenomena. However, posterior acoustic enhancement and, even more rarely, the phenomenon of acoustic shadowing have been reported.

PATHOLOGY

In the last WHO edition NENs of the breast are classified in neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) and neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs) (6).

Mammary NETs grossly show clear or infiltrative border, and usually are larger than breast carcinoma of special (ST) or no special type (NST). Histologically, they are composed of large or small nests together with trabeculae, associated with numerous small fine vessels and a variably collagenized stroma, like well differentiated NETs of other organs. Those neoplasms with copious mucous production may also have tumor nests floating in large mucinous pools. Tumor cells range from oval to polygonal or plasmacytoid shape, or also spindled. However, they lack typical nuclear features of NETs, such as salt and pepper chromatin and even monotonous round or oval nuclei, more often displaying irregular appearance or the presence of nucleoli (37).

Diagnosis requires immunohistochemistry (IHC) confirmation by tumor expression of neuroendocrine markers. The most widely used are chromogranin A and synaptophysin. Moreover, the insulinoma associated protein 1 (INSM1) has been shown to have a high sensitivity for NENs arising from different organs, and proposed as an additional valuable marker for BNEN (38, 39).

Breast NENs express hormone receptors (estrogen and progesterone receptors) more often than other breast carcinomas (40). On molecular subtyping, they usually belong to either luminal A or luminal B HER2 negative breast cancer (41–43). Breast NETs are graded in the same manner of breast invasive carcinoma of NST. Differential diagnosis can occur with other primitive mammary tumors that share expression of neuroendocrine markers: solid papillary tumor and mucinous carcinoma. Yet these tumors differ consistently from NETs on morphological grounds to be well separated (44).

Metastases to the breast from NENs of other organs can be distinguished through IHC: Cheratin 7, estrogen (ER) and progesterone receptors (PgR), GATA3 and Gross cystic disease fluid protein 15 (GCDFP15) are quite typical for breast NETs. Moreover, GCDFP15 often shows associated ductal carcinoma in situ, which lack in metastases (45).

Mammary NECs are of the small cell type and morphologically indistinguishable from NECs of other organs. Indeed they show small tumor cells densely packed with basophilic nuclei, scarce cytoplasm, and abundant necrosis. IHC will reveal at least focal positivity for one NE marker. They can express ER, PgR, GATA3, and GCDFP15 (46).

Despite NEC is a very rare neoplasm, its definition and features are clear enough and did never change in the last years. Conversely, NET definition has continuously changed in the last WHO classifications and some controversial issues on its nature still persist (47).

Current WHO classification considers breast NET as the extreme spectrum of mixed neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine breast neoplasms (MiNeN), in which the non-neuroendocrine component is less than 10%. All mammary tumors in which the neuroendocrine component is between 10% and 90% are breast carcinomas of ST or NST and the neuroendocrine part is only worth mentioning.

PROGNOSIS

As far as the prognosis of BNEN is concerned, conflicting results have been reported, probably due to the low prevalence of this disease.

In a retrospective study, Lai et al. showed that in a sample of 224 patients with NENs, breast carcinomas expressing high levels of neuroendocrine markers and cytomorphologic features were characterized by a better prognosis. On the other side, a low level of expression of neuroendocrine markers was correlated with more aggressive clinical parameters, such as higher histological grade and pathological T and N stages. These results are suggestive of a better prognosis of invasive breast cancer with neuroendocrine features compared to their non-neuroendocrine counterparts (48). These data were confirmed in a prospective observational study performed on a cohort of 35 patients with BNEN reporting a lower recurrence rate in breast cancers with an expression of neuroendocrine markers >50% compared to those with focal expression (49). These findings provide a stratification based on neuroendocrine markers expression and may be helpful for detecting better treatment strategies, since all invasive breast carcinomas are currently treated according to non-endocrine tumor components guidelines. Furthermore, the study from Lai et al. provides an interesting food for thought, demonstrating a different behavior of CD56-only positive carcinomas compared to those expressing chromogranin and synaptophysin (48). In 2017, Rosen et al. demonstrated a longer overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) in patients with BNEN treated with endocrine therapy/radiation therapy rather than chemotherapy, compared to those who did not receive treatment (45). Indeed, no real consensus has been reached on the prognosis for BNEN.

Panel h

TABLE 1 | Mammographic (panel a) and ultrasonographic (panel b) findings in neuroendocrine neoplasms of the breast (BNEN).

Panel a							
Reference	Patients series (nr.)	Location (nr.)	Parenchymal pattern (nr.)	Mass category (nr.)	Margin (nr.)	Shape (nr.)	Calcification (nr.)
Günhan- Bilgenl. et al. (11)	CS (5)	UOQ (4); UIQ (1)	fatty (1); heterogeneous density (4)	solitary (4); clustered several nodules (1)	indistinct (1); spiculated (2); microlobulated (1); lobulated (1)	irregular (1); round (4)	absent (5)
Fujimoto Y. et al. (33)	CR	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Wu J. et al. (36)	CS (13)	UOQ (5); LIQ (1); UIQ (1); UQ (1); RETRO (2);	scattered fibro glandular density (7); Fatty (2); heterogeneous density (1)	solitary (5); focal asymmetry (12); clustered several nodules (1)	Indistinct (4); microlobulated (3)	irregular (4); round-ovoid (3)	a few, punctuate (1) solitary, punctuate (1); absent (7)
Chang E.D. et al. (32)	CR	UOQ, RETRO	high density	solitary	indistinct	irregular	absent
Yoon Y.S. et al. (34)	CR	LOQ	high density	solitary	Indistinct	round	absent
Hejjane L. et al. (35)	CR (2)	UQ (1); LQ (1); Right (2)	heterogeneous (2)	solitary (2)	irregular (2)	irregular (2)	absent (2)
Ozdirik B. et al. (17)	CS (5)	UOQ (3); LOQ(1); UQ (1) LQ (1)	high density (1)	solitary (1); clustered several nodules (1)	spiculated (1); indistinct (1)	irregular (1); round-ovoid (1)	absent (5)

Reference	Patients series (nr.)	Margins (nr.)	Shape (nr.)	Echogenicity (nr.)	Echo texture (nr.)	Acoustic Phenomena (nr.)
Günhan- Bilgenl. et al. (11)	CS (5)	circumscribed (1); microlobulated (2); irregular (2)	irregular (2); round (3)	hypoechoic (5);	homogeneous (4); heterogeneous (1)	none (4); enhancement (1)
Fujimoto Y. et al. (33)	CR	indistinct	irregular	hypoechoic	homogeneous	enhancement
Wu J. et al. (36)	CS (13)	indistinct (4); circumscribed (3); microlobulated (1)	irregular (7); round-ovoid (2);	hypoechoic (9);	homogeneous (4); heterogeneous (5)	none (6); enhancement (2); shadowing (1)
Chang E.D. et al. (32)	CR	lobulated	irregular	hypoechoic	heterogeneous	enhancement
Yoon Y.S. et al. (34)	CR	irregular	round	hypoechoic	homogeneous	enhancement
Hejjane L. et al. (35)	CR (2)	irregular (1);	not reported	hypoechoic (2)	homogenous (2)	none (2)
Ozdirik B. et al. (17)	CS (5)	not reported	not reported	not reported	not reported	not reported

nr, number of cases; nd, not detected; CR, Case Report; CS, Case Series; RETRO, retro areola area; UOQ, upper outer quadrant; LIQ, lower inner quadrant; UIQ, upper inner quadrant; UQ, upper quadrant; LO, lower quadrant; LOQ, lower outer quadrant.

THERAPY

There are no specific guidelines for the treatment of BNEN and the available data mainly descend from anecdotal and case reports. A standardized therapeutic scheme is extremely difficult to define since these are particularly rare and heterogeneous tumors. Currently most of the adopted strategies involve staging and treating BNEN similarly to conventional breast cancer (50), although it is recommended to consider their neuroendocrine origin, especially in the management of well-differentiated tumors (see **Table 2**).

The treatment of BNEN is primarily surgical, with partial or total mastectomy in relation to staging and tumor localization (51–54), possibly associated with axillary dissection and/or

metastasectomy. Surgery isoften followed by adjuvant radiotherapy, especially for well and moderately differentiated BNEN (25).

Neoadjuvant or adjuvant chemotherapy is widely used in patients with high risk of recurrence or with metastatic or locally invasive disease (25). In clinical practice, well-differentiated BNEN and invasive breast carcinoma with neuroendocrine differentiation (IBC-NED) are usually treated with protocols commonly adopted for conventional breast cancer (eg, epirubicin and cyclophosphamide) and PD-NEC as for small cell lung cancer (eg, carboplatin and etoposide) (17, 52, 55–59, 61). Escape is frequent after a few months, but the neuroendocrine component can be controlled by anthracycline-based therapy (35).

TABLE 2 Overview of therapeutic approaches for neuroendocrine neoplasms
of the breast (BNEN).

Treatment		References
Surgery	Breast-conserving surgery/Mastectomy	(2, 51–54)
	+/- Axillary lymph node dissection	
	+/- Metastasectomy	
Radiotherapy	Adjuvant Radiotherapy	(25, 55)
Chemotherapy	Doxorubicin/Cyclophosphamide	(17, 34, 35)
	Carboplatin/Etoposide	(55–57)
	Cisplatin/Etoposide	(52)
	Fluorouracil/Epirubicin/Cyclophosphamide +/-	(58–60)
	Docetaxel	(61, 62)
	Paclitaxel +/- Trastuzumab	
Endocrine	Tamoxifen +/- Aromatase inhibitors	(12, 16, 35,
therapy		63)
	Somatostatin Analogues (SSAs)	(64)
	Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy (PRRT)	(65)

However, a complete response, with a disease free period of thirty-six months after chemotherapy, was recently observed in one patient treated with six FEC 100 (5-fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide) cycles followed by docetaxel (60). Another rare case of HER-2 positive NECB was treated with trastuzumab with a reported disease free period of 9 years (62).

Treatment with somatostatin analogues (SSAs) has not shown promising results as yet: this is probablyrelated to a non-negligible percentage of BNEN negative for somatostatin receptors (SSR), as well as to the conservative dosages mainly used and to the often advanced disease (64).

The use of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) is currently limited to the treatment of BNEN with somatostatinreceptor (SSR) positivity documented on imaging, after failure of conventional chemotherapy, or even as first-line treatment for advanced disease (65).

Anti-hormonal therapy (eg, aromatase-inhibitors), although not codified, has proven to be effective as adjuvant therapy in some cases of hormonal receptor positive BNEN (12, 35, 63).

Although other agents, such as mTOR inhibitors, are effective for the therapy of different types of NENs, and are also approved, in combination with aromatase-inhibitors, for the treatment of hormone receptor positive advanced breast cancer, currently the use of everolimus has only been hypothesized for BNEN.

Furthermore, Trevisi et al. have quite recently suggested the possibility of target therapy in BNEN, having been reported in a significant percentage of these tumors a mutation of PIK3CA, with alpelisib, as well as target therapy with sacituzumab govitecan targeting TROP-2 protein expressed in a small proportion of BNEN (66).

OPEN ISSUES AND CONCLUSIONS

Albeit BNEN were firstly described more than 40 years ago, and have been categorized more and more precisely thereafter, its rarity, together with still persisting diagnostic uncertainties, hampers drawing a precise clinical and prognostic picture. Furthermore, the lack of randomized controlled trials performed to compare different treatment strategies and their outcomes makes small case series the best available evidence on this issue, at present (67). Below, some of the main open issues relating to this entity are discussed.

Histogenesis—First of all, the same histogenesis of primary BNEN is still uncertain. Nowadays, according to the predominant assumption, they are thought to arise from metaplastic differentiation of a neoplastic epithelial progenitor cell during early carcinogenesis, rather than from a pre-existing neuroendocrine stem cell (53).

Standardization in neuroendocrine markers use— Neuroendocrine specific markers are not uniformly and/or routinely applied on every breast cancer sample examined. Only in the event that the pathologist suspects the presence of this type of tumor on histopathological analysis, the sample is subsequently evaluated for the expression of neuroendocrine markers.

Even if this was the case, the lack of consensus on the degree of neuroendocrine differentiation required for the diagnosis limited the uniformity of the diagnostic process, so far. Indeed, all BNEN are combined tumors composed of a heterogeneous mixture of exocrine and endocrine cells. Until 2003, a breast cancer could be classified as a primary neuroendocrine tumor when expressing chromogranin A, chromogranin B, or synaptophysin in more than 50% of the total cell population. Later, differently from the previous WHO classification, diagnosis could be done regardless of a cut-off value of tumor cells positively staining for neuroendocrine markers. Therefore, distinguishing a primary BNEN from a tumor with only partial neuroendocrine differentiation largely depends on the pathologist's judgement, lacking objective criteria to make diagnosis in case of uncertainties (43, 45, 68).

Diagnostic criteria—Consequently, the continuously evolving diagnostic criteria favored the lack of a uniform definition applied by different centers, affecting adequate comparisons and explaining the highly variable prevalence depicted by various case series (68).

Altogether, it is therefore very likely that these tumors are often under-diagnosed/under-reported, in routine pathological practice.

Prognostic and clinical implications—Moreover, the clinical and prognostic relevance of neuroendocrine differentiation of breast tumors is still questionable. Conflicting results have been reported on OS and DFS for BNEN vs other types of breast cancer. However, to the best of ourknowledge, none of the already published studies had analyzed primary BNEN based on their distinct histologic or molecular subtypes, rather considering these tumors as a single entity.

Actually, no therapeutic implications apply to the diagnosis of BNEN, and no standardized protocols for treatment of primary BNEN are available. Well-differentiated neuroendocrine breast tumors and invasive breast carcinomas with neuroendocrine differentiations are typically managed with cytotoxic chemotherapy after surgery, similar to more classical types of breast cancer, and poorly-differentiated neuroendocrine breast carcinomas with similar protocols as for small cell lung cancer, whereas hormonal therapy is used according on receptor status. Relevance of somatostatin-receptor expression—Lastly, anecdotal experience concerning the relevance of SSR expression of BNEN for diagnostic (eg, Octreoscan and 68-Ga-DOTATATE PET) and therapeutic (PRRT) purposes represents another main criticism. Presently, PRRT has been recommended for SSR-positive tumors after failure of conventional therapy, but very few reports are available.

Because of all these issues, the discussion of each individual case in an interdisciplinary group of NEN experts is worthwhile in order to provide a tailored treatment for each individual patient (17).

In conclusion, it is likely that the cases diagnosed as primary BNEN are only minimally representative of their real prevalence. Only a systematic evaluation of neuroendocrine markers on all analyzed cases of breast cancer could give a reliable evaluation of the frequency of these tumors. Cancer registries centralizing uniform data collection, together with large multicentric studies, could sharpen our knowledge in the next future.

On the other hand, larger histologic and molecular-profiling studies of this rare but often under-reported cancer, with correlation with clinical data, would be warranted to shed light on BNEN. It is also possible that, at the end of these efforts, we will come to the conclusion that neuroendocrine features poorly add (if any) to the diagnosis and management of breast cancer, but the time has come to conclusively define the clinical relevance of neuroendocrine differentiation of breast tumors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have contributed equally to the conception and design of the review. MG, AF, and AC conceived the review.

REFERENCES

- Oronsky B, Ma PC, Morgensztern D, Carter CA. Nothing But NET: A Review of Neuroendocrine Tumors and Carcinomas. *Neoplasia* (2017) 19(12):991– 1002. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2017.09.002
- Collado-Mesa F, Net JM, Klevos GA, Yepes MM. Primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: report of 2 cases and literature review. *Radiol Case Rep* (2017) 12(1):1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.radcr.2016.12.001
- 3. Tavassoli FA, Devilee P, International Agency for Research on C., World Health O., International Academy of P. *Pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organs* [Online]. Lyon: IARC Press (2003). Available at: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlabk&AN=244421 (Accessed November 16, 2020).
- Sapino A, Papotti M, Righi L, Cassoni P, Chiusa L, Bussolati G. Clinical significance of neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast. *Ann Oncol* (2001) 12 Suppl 2:S115–117. doi: 10.1093/annonc/12.suppl_2.s115
- Bussolati G, Badve S. Carcinomas with neuroendocrine features. In: SR Lakhani, IO Ellis, SJ Schnitt, PH Tan, MJ van der Vijver, editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast, vol. 4. Lyon, France: IARC Press (2012). p. 62–3. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours.
- 6. WHO Classification of Tumours. *Breast Tumours. 5th Edition*. Lyon, France: IARC (2019).
- Modlin IM, Shapiro MD, Kidd M. An analysis of rare carcinoid tumors: clarifying these clinical conundrums. World J Surg (2005) 29(1):92–101. doi: 10.1007/s00268-004-7443-z

MG, SC, VV, NF, FC, EM, and RR reviewed published literature and drafted the article. AF and AC revised the manuscript critically. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review is part of the "Neuroendocrine Tumors Innovation Knowledge and Education" project led by Prof. Annamaria Colao and Prof. Antongiulio Faggiano, which aims at increasing the knowledge on NET. We would like to acknowledge all the Collaborators of the "NIKE" project: Manuela Albertelli-Genova; Barbara Altieri-Wurzburg; Luigi Barrea-Napoli; Filomena Bottiglieri-Napoli; Federica Campolo-Roma; Roberta Centello-Roma; Alessia Cozzolino-Roma; Federica De Cicco-Napoli; Sergio Di Molfetta-Bari; Alessandra Dicitore-Milano; Andrea Dotto-Genova; Giuseppe Fanciulli-Sassari; Tiziana Feola-Roma; Diego Ferone-Genova; Francesco Ferraù-Messina; Elisa Giannetta-Roma; Federica Grillo-Genova; Erika Maria Grossrubatscher-Milano; Elia Guadagno-Napoli; Valentina Guarnotta-Palermo; Andrea M. Isidori-Roma; Andrea Lania-Milano; Andrea Lenzi-Roma; Pasqualino Malandrino-Catania; Roberto Minotta-Napoli; Roberta Modica-Napoli; Giovanna Muscogiuri-Napoli; Riccardo Pofi-Roma; Giulia Puliani-Roma; Alberto Ragni-Torino; Paola Razzore-Torino; Laura Rizza-Roma; Manila Rubino-Milano; Davide Saronni-Milano; Emilia Sbardella-Roma; Concetta Sciammarella-Verona; Francesca Sciarra-Roma; Franz Sesti-Roma; Maria Grazia Tarsitano-Roma; Mary Anna Venneri-Roma; Giovanni Vitale-Milano; Isabella Zanata-Ferrara.

- Ogawa H, Nishio A, Satake H, Naganawa S, Imai T, Sawaki M, et al. Neuroendocrine tumor in the breast. *Radiat Med* (2008) 26(1):28–32. doi: 10.1007/s11604-007-0182-y
- Wang J, Wei B, Albarracin CT, Hu J, Abraham SC, Wu Y. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a population-based study from the surveillance, epidemiology and end results (SEER) database. *BMC Cancer* (2014) 14:147. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-147
- Marinova L, Malinova D, Vicheva S. Primary Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Breast: Histopathological Criteria, Prognostic Factors, and Review of the Literature. Case Rep Pathol (2016) 2016:6762085. doi: 10.1155/2016/6762085
- Gunhan-Bilgen I, Zekioglu O, Ustun EE, Memis A, Erhan Y. Neuroendocrine differentiated breast carcinoma: imaging features correlated with clinical and histopathological findings. *Eur Radiol* (2003) 13(4):788–93. doi: 10.1007/ s00330-002-1567-z
- Lopez-Bonet E, Alonso-Ruano M, Barraza G, Vazquez-Martin A, Bernado L, Menendez JA. Solid neuroendocrine breast carcinomas: incidence, clinicopathological features and immunohistochemical profiling. *Oncol Rep* (2008) 20(6):1369–74.
- Cheymol C, Abramovici O, Do Cao C, Dumont A, Robin YM, El Hajbi F, et al. [Neuroendocrine tumors of the breast: Myth or reality? A systematic review]. *Bull Cancer* (2018) 105(4):431–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bulcan.2018.01.013
- Sapino A, Bussolati G. Is detection of endocrine cells in breast adenocarcinoma of diagnostic and clinical significance? *Histopathology* (2002) 40(3):211-4. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2559.2002.01327.x
- Zhang Y, Chen Z, Bao Y, Du Z, Li Q, Zhao Y, et al. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a prognostic research of 107 Chinese patients. *Neoplasma* (2013) 60(2):215–22. doi: 10.4149/neo_2013_029

- Li Y, Du F, Zhu W, Xu B. Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a review of 126 cases in China. *Chin J Cancer* (2017) 36(1):45. doi: 10.1186/s40880-017-0211-x
- Ozdirik B, Kayser A, Ullrich A, Savic LJ, Reiss M, Tacke F, et al. Primary Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Breast: Case Series and Literature Review. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(3):733. doi: 10.3390/cancers12030733
- Sun YS, Zhao Z, Yang ZN, Xu F, Lu HJ, Zhu ZY, et al. Risk Factors and Preventions of Breast Cancer. Int J Biol Sci (2017) 13(11):1387–97. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.21635
- Narod SA. Hormone replacement therapy and the risk of breast cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2011) 8(11):669–76. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2011.110
- 20. Washbrook E. Risk factors and epidemiology of breast cancer. Womens Health Med (2006) 3(1):8–14. doi: 10.1383/wohm.2006.3.1.8
- Goffin V. Prolactin receptor targeting in breast and prostate cancers: new insights into an old challenge. *Pharmacol Ther* (2017) 179:111–26. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.05.009
- 22. Shemanko CS. Prolactin receptor in breast cancer: marker for metastatic risk. J Mol Endocrinol (2016) 57:R153–65. doi: 10.1530/JME-16-0150
- Zang Q, He L. and Lv, W.Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast with hyperprolactinemia: report of two cases and a minireview. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2020) 13(6):1457–62.
- Bussolati G, Gugliotta P, Sapino A, Eusebi V, Lloyd RV. Chromograninreactive endocrine cells in argyrophilic carcinomas ("carcinoids") and normal tissue of the breast. *Am J Pathol* (1985) 120(2):186–92.
- Inno A, Bogina G, Turazza M, Bortesi L, Duranti S, Massocco A, et al. Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Breast: Current Evidence and Future Perspectives. Oncologist (2016) 21(1):28–32. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0309
- Miremadi A, Pinder SE, Lee AH, Bell JA, Paish EC, Wencyk P, et al. Neuroendocrine differentiation and prognosis in breast adenocarcinoma. *Histopathology* (2002) 40(3):215–22. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2559.2002.01336.x
- Hoang MP, Maitra A, Gazdar AF, Albores-Saavedra J. Primary mammary small-cell carcinoma: a molecular analysis of 2 cases. *Hum Pathol* (2001) 32 (7):753–7. doi: 10.1053/hupa.2001.25603
- Murgo R, Puliani G, Marrazzo E, Sagona A, Barbieri E, Gatzemeier W, et al. Diagnosis and Clinical Management of Neuroendocrine Tumor of the Breast: Report of Six Cases and Systematic Review of Existing Literature. *Annals Clin Oncol* (2020) 3(1):2–14. doi: 10.31487/j.ACO.2020.01.02
- Zheng F, Chen AC, Berger D, Yeh MW, Goldstein JD, Wong S, et al. Metastatic Adrenocortitropic hormone-secreting breast cancer treated with bilateral adrenalectomy. AACE Clin Case Rep (2018) 4(5):e402-6. doi: 10.4158/accr-2018-0069
- Kaneko H, Hojo H, Ishikawa S, Yamanouchi H, Sumida T, Saito R. Norepinephrine-producing tumors of bilateral breasts: a case report. *Cancer* (1978) 41(5):2002–7. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(197805)41:5<2002::aidcncr2820410547>3.0.co;2-2
- Coombes RC, Easty GC, Detre SI, Hillyard CJ, Stevens U, Girgis SI, et al. Secretion of immunoreactive calcitonin by human breast carcinomas. *Br Med J* (5990) 1975) 4:197–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.4.5990.197
- Chang ED, Kim MK, Kim JS, Whang IY. Primary neuroendocrine tumor of the breast: imaging features. *Korean J Radiol* (2013) 14(3):395–9. doi: 10.3348/ kjr.2013.14.3.395
- Fujimoto Y, Yagyu R, Murase K, Kawajiri H, Ohtani H, Arimoto Y, et al. A case of solid neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast in a 40-year-old woman. *Breast Cancer* (2007) 14(2):250–3. doi: 10.2325/jbcs.889
- Yoon YS, Kim SY, Lee JH, Kim SY, Han SW. Primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: radiologic and pathologic correlation. *Clin Imaging* (2014) 38(5):734–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2014.05.009
- 35. Hejjane L, Oualla K, Bouchbika Z, Bourhafour M, Lhlou Mimi A, Boubacar E, et al. Primary neuroendocrine tumors of the breast: two case reports and review of the literature. *J Med Case Rep* (2020) 14(1):41. doi: 10.1186/s13256-020-02361-5
- Wu J, Yang QX, Wu YP, Wang DL, Liu XW, Cui CY, et al. Solid neuroendocrine breast carcinoma: mammographic and sonographic features in thirteen cases. *Chin J Cancer* (2012) 31(11):549–56. doi: 10.5732/cjc.011.10370
- 37. Kelten Talu C, Leblebici C, Kilicaslan Ozturk T, Hacihasanoglu E, Baykal Koca S, Gucin Z. Primary breast carcinomas with neuroendocrine features: Clinicopathological features and analysis of tumor growth patterns in 36 cases. Ann Diagn Pathol (2018) 34:122–30. doi: 10.1016/j.anndiagpath. 2018.03.010

- Kawasaki T, Kaira K. Insulinoma-associated protein 1 (INSM1) expression in breast carcinomas with neuroendocrine morphologies: application and future prospective. *Virchows Arch* (2020). doi: 10.1007/ s00428-020-02935-0
- Razvi H, Tsang JY, Poon IK, Chan SK, Cheung SY, Shea KH, et al. INSM1 is a novel prognostic neuroendocrine marker for luminal B breast cancer. *Pathology* (2020) S0031-3025(20):30888–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pathol.2020.07.004
- Kreipe HH. [Neuroendocrine differentiation in breast cancer]. Pathologe (2019) 40(Suppl 3):325–30. doi: 10.1007/s00292-019-00691-w
- Weigelt B, Horlings HM, Kreike B, Hayes MM, Hauptmann M, Wessels LF, et al. Refinement of breast cancer classification by molecular characterization of histological special types. *J Pathol* (2008) 216(2):141–50. doi: 10.1002/ path.2407
- Bogina G, Munari E, Brunelli M, Bortesi L, Marconi M, Sommaggio M, et al. Neuroendocrine differentiation in breast carcinoma: clinicopathological features and outcome. *Histopathology* (2016) 68(3):422–32. doi: 10.1111/ his.12766
- Lavigne M, Menet E, Tille JC, Lae M, Fuhrmann L, Bonneau C, et al. Comprehensive clinical and molecular analyses of neuroendocrine carcinomas of the breast. *Mod Pathol* (2018) 31(1):68-82. doi: 10.1038/ modpathol.2017.107
- Visscher DW, Yasir S. Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Breast. Endocr Pathol (2017) 28(2):121–7. doi: 10.1007/s12022-017-9477-4
- Rosen LE, Gattuso P. Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Breast. Arch Pathol Lab Med (2017) 141(11):1577–81. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2016-0364-RS
- 46. Guadagno E, De Rosa G, Del Basso De Caro M. Neuroendocrine tumours in rare sites: differences in nomenclature and diagnostics-a rare and ubiquitous histotype. J Clin Pathol (2016) 69(7):563–74. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2015-203551
- Uccella S, Finzi G, Sessa F, La Rosa S. On the Endless Dilemma of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Breast: a Journey Through Concepts and Entities. *Endocr Pathol* (2020) 31(4):321–9. doi: 10.1007/s12022-020-09637-y
- Lai BS, Tsang JY, Poon IK, Shao Y, Chan SK, Tam FK, et al. The Clinical Significance of Neuroendocrine Features in Invasive Breast Carcinomas. Oncologist (2020) 25(9):e1318–29. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2020-0081
- Rovera F, Masciocchi P, Coglitore A, La Rosa S, Dionigi G, Marelli M, et al. Neuroendocrine carcinomas of the breast. *Int J Surg* (2008) 6 Suppl 1:S113– 115. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2008.12.007
- Wei B, Ding T, Xing Y, Wei W, Tian Z, Tang F, et al. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a distinctive subtype of aggressive mammary carcinoma. *Cancer* (2010) 116(19):4463–73. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25352
- Morrow M, Goldstein L. Surgery of the primary tumor in metastatic breast cancer: closing the barn door after the horse has bolted? *J Clin Oncol* (2006) 24 (18):2694–6. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.05.9824
- Yildirim Y, Elagoz S, Koyuncu A, Aydin C, Karadayi K. Management of neuroendocrine carcinomas of the breast: A rare entity. *Oncol Lett* (2011) 2 (5):887–90. doi: 10.3892/ol.2011.320
- Adams RW, Dyson P, Barthelmes L. Neuroendocrine breast tumours: breast cancer or neuroendocrine cancer presenting in the breast? *Breast* (2014) 23 (2):120–7. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2013.11.005
- Yoshimura N, Sasada T, Yonehara S. Primary Large-Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Breast Occurring in a Pre-Menopausal Woman. *Breast Care* (2015) 10(4):281–3. doi: 10.1159/000431070
- 55. Angarita FA, Rodriguez JL, Meek E, Sanchez JO, Tawil M, Torregrosa L. Locally-advanced primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: case report and review of the literature. *World J Surg Oncol* (2013) 11:128. doi: 10.1186/1477-7819-11-128
- Christie M, Chin-Lenn L, Watts MM, Tsui AE, Buchanan MR. Primary smallcell carcinoma of the breast with TTF-1 and neuroendocrinemarker expressing carcinoma in situ. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2010) 3(6):629–33.
- Tremelling A, Samuel S, Murray M. Primary small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast—a case report and review of theliterature. *Int J* Surg Case Rep (2017) 38:29–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2017.07.002
- Valente I, Tringali G, Martella EM, Pallavera L, D'Aloia C. Primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a case report of liver and lymphnode metastases after eight years from diagnosis. *Breast J* (2020) 26 (3):505–7. doi: 10.1111/tbj.13535

- Menéndez P, García E, Rabadán L, Pardo R, Padilla D, Villarejo P. Primary neuroendocrinebreast carcinoma. *Clin Breast Cancer* (2012) 12(4):300–3. doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2012.03.001
- 60. Chikuie E, Yanagawa S, Tanji H, Kodama S, Takeshima Y, Sumimoto K. Complete Response to Chemotherapy against the Recurrence of Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Breast in the Anterior Mediastinal Lymph Nodes of a Patient on Hemodialysis: A Case Report. Case Rep Oncol (2019) 12:205–10. doi: 10.1159/000497479
- Gevorgyan A, Bregni G, Galli G, Zanardi E, de Braud F, Di Cosimo S. HER2positive neuroendocrine breast cancer: case report and review of literature. *Breast Care* (2016) 11:424–6. doi: 10.1159/000453572
- Marijanović I, Kraljević M, Buhovac T, Karan Križanac D. Rare Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER-2)-Positive Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Breast: A Case Report with 9-Year Follow-up. Am J Case Rep (2020) 21:e925895. doi: 10.12659/AJCR.925895
- Richter-Ehrenstein C, Arndt J, Buckendahl AC, Eucker J, Weichert W, Kasajima A, et al. Solid neuroendocrine carcinomas of the breast: metastases or primary tumors? *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2010) 124(2):413– 7. doi: 10.1007/s10549-010-1178-3
- 64. Dolan JT, Miltenburg DM, Granchi TS, Miller CC, Brunicardi FC. Treatment of metastatic breast cancer with somatostatin analogues – a meta-analysis. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2001) 8(3):227–33. doi: 10.1007/s10434-001-0227-x
- 65. Savelli G, Zaniboni A, Bertagna F, Bosio G, Nisa L, Rodella C, et al. Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy (PRRT) in a Patient Affected by Metastatic

Breast Cancer with Neuroendocrine Differentiation. *Breast Care (Basel)* (2012) 7(5):408–10. doi: 10.1159/000343612

- 66. Trevisi E, La Salvia A, Daniele L, Brizzi MP, De Rosa G, Di Maio M. Neuroendocrine breast carcinoma: a rare but challenging entity. *Med Oncol* (2020) 37(8):70. doi: 10.1007/s12032-020-01396-4
- Alkaied H, Harris K, Azab B, Dai Q. Primary neuroendocrine breast cancer, how much do we know so far? *Med Oncol* (2012) 29(4):2613–8. doi: 10.1007/ s12032-012-0222-z
- Asioli S, Foschini MP, Masetti R, Eusebi V. Working formulation of neuroendocrine tumors of the skin and breast. *Endocr Pathol* (2014) 25 (2):141–50. doi: 10.1007/s12022-014-9319-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Gallo, Campione, Di Vito, Fortunati, Lo Calzo, Messina, Ruggeri, Faggiano and Colao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cardio-Metabolic Indices and Metabolic Syndrome as Predictors of Clinical Severity of Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michele Caraglia, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Boccellino Mariarosaria, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Silvia Zappavigna, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

*Correspondence:

Luigi Barrea luigi.barrea@unina.it orcid.org/0000-0001-9054-456X

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 January 2021 Accepted: 24 February 2021 Published: 18 March 2021

Citation:

Barrea L, Muscogiuri G, Modica R, Altieri B, Pugliese G, Minotta R, Faggiano A, Colao A and Savastano S (2021) Cardio-Metabolic Indices and Metabolic Syndrome as Predictors of Clinical Severity of Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Front. Endocrinol. 12:649496. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.649496 Luigi Barrea^{1,2*†}, Giovanna Muscogiuri^{2,3†}, Roberta Modica³, Barbara Altieri⁴, Gabriella Pugliese^{2,3}, Roberto Minotta³, Antongiulio Faggiano⁵, Annamaria Colao^{2,3,6} and Silvia Savastano^{2,3}

¹ Dipartimento di Scienze Umanistiche, Università Telematica Pegaso, Napoli, Italy, ² Centro Italiano per la cura e il Benessere del paziente con Obesità (C.I.B.O), Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University Medical School of Naples, Naples, Italy, ³ Unit of Endocrinology, Dipartimento di Medicina Clinica e Chirurgia, Federico II University Medical School of Naples, Naples, Italy, ⁴ Division of Endocrinology and Diabetes, Department of Internal Medicine I, University Hospital, University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany, ⁵ Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁶ Cattedra Unesco "Educazione alla salute e allo svilupposostenibile", University Federico II, Naples, Italy

Background: Obesity, mainly visceral obesity, and metabolic syndrome (MetS) are major risk factors for the development of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer. Data analyzing the association of obesity and MetS with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP-NEN) are lacking. Fatty liver index (FLI) is a non-invasive tool for identifying individuals with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Visceral adiposity index (VAI) has been suggested as a gender-specific indicator of adipose dysfunction. Both indexes have been proposed as early predictors of MetS. This study aimed to investigate the association of FLI VAI as early predictors of MetS with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP-NETs).

Methods: A cross-sectional, case–control, observational study was carried out at the ENETS Centers of Excellence Multidisciplinary Group for Neuroendocrine Tumors, University "Federico II". VAI and FLI were calculated.

Results: We enrolled 109 patients with histologically confirmed G1/G2 GEP-NET (53 M; 57.06 ± 15.96 years), as well as 109 healthy subjects, age, sex- and body mass index-matched. Forty-four GEP-NET patients were G2, of which 21 were with progressive disease, and 27 patients had metastases. GEP-NET patients had a higher value of VAI (p < 0.001) and FLI (p = 0.049) and higher MetS presence (p < 0.001) compared with controls. VAI and FLI values and MetS presence were higher in G2 than in G1 patients (p < 0.001), in patients with progressive disease, and in metastatic *vs* non-metastatic patients (p < 0.001). In addition, higher values of VAI and FLI and higher MetS presence were

22

significantly correlated with the worst clinical severity of NENs. The cut-off values for the FLI and MetS to predict high grading of GEP-NETs and the presence of metastasis were also provided.

Conclusions: This is the first study investigating an association between VAI and FLI as early predictors of MetS and GEP-NET. Our findings report that the worsening of clinicopathological characteristics in GEP-NET is associated with higher presence of MetS, NAFLD, evaluated by FLI, and visceral adiposity dysfunction, evaluated by VAI. Addressing the clinical evaluation of MetS presence, NAFLD, and visceral adiposity dysfunction might be of crucial relevance to establish targeted preventive and treatment interventions of NEN-related metabolic comorbidities.

Keywords: gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, visceral adiposity index, fatty liver index, cardiometabolic indices, metabolic syndrome

INTRODUCTION

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) represent a group of tumors characterized by a wide biological variability and clinical heterogeneity. NENs originate from the cells of the neuroendocrine system and they can arise in all tissues and organs; however, the gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) and respiratory tracts are the most frequently affected sites (1). Of all malignant cancers, NENs represent only 2%, although recent epidemiological data report a progressive increase in their incidence (2). When NENs are not associated with any endocrine syndrome, their diagnosis may be delayed for years by non-specificity of presenting, with the frequent progression to a metastatic stage prior to clinical diagnosis (3–5).

Very recently, the classification of the World Health Organization (WHO) recognized three forms of welldifferentiated GEP-NENs, classified as G1, G2, and G3 neuroendocrine tumors (NETs), based on the proliferative activity expressed by the Ki67 index (6). GEP-NETs have a variable aggressiveness and are associated with a good to moderate survival, but poorly differentiated NENs, the socalled neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC), are associated with a higher Ki67 index and a poorer prognosis (6).

The association of environmental factors, including obesity, mainly visceral obesity, metabolic syndrome (MetS), and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), the hepatic manifestation of MetS (7), has been implicated as risk factors for different cancers (8, 9). However, the amount of evidence concerning their possible role as risk factors in NEN pathogenesis is still limited. There is an expanding interest towards the effect of diets on body composition, metabolic parameters, and oxidative status (10). Evidence suggests that there are multiple sources of oxidative stress in obesity, and it may have an influence on carcinogenesis (11). Polyphenols counteract oxidative stress, and the potential protective effect of substances as resveratrol has been investigated (12, 13). The link between obesity and cancer involves possible epigenetic modulators (14, 15), and it could impact on novel therapeutic approaches.

Growing results show the relationship between MetS or its components with several types of cancer development and cancer-related mortality (16, 17). It is suggested that the adipokines secreted from visceral adipocyte dysfunction, and the development of NAFLD play a key role in this association (18).

The gold standard for the diagnosis of NAFLD is the liver biopsy, even though non-invasive techniques, such as magnetic resonance imaging, computed tomography, and liver ultrasonography report adequate concordance with histological results (19). The fatty liver index (FLI), a simple algorithm based on parameters that are routine measurements in clinical practice, such as body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), triglycerides (TGs) and glutamyltransferase (GGT), shows a high concordance with the liver imaging techniques and the histological criteria representing a useful tool to predict the presence of NAFLD (20). In addition, since most variables included in this algorithm are also traditional risk factors for cardiovascular diseases (CVD), FLI has also proved to be an early marker of CVD (21).

Visceral fat and liver inflammation are strictly associated in patients with NAFLD (22). Visceral Adiposity Index (VAI) is considered a marker of adipose tissue dysfunction based on BMI, WC in association with functional parameters such as TG and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL) (23–25). Similarly to FLI, VAI is associated with MetS (26) and several metabolic diseases, including type 2 diabetes mellitus (27). Of interest, both FLI and VAI have been used in several studies as predictors of incident cancer (28–31). In particular, in a very recent study, high FLI values have been reported to predict NAFLD and breast

Abbreviations: NEN, Neuroendocrine neoplasms; NET, Neuroendocrine tumors; GEP, gastro-entero-pancreatic; WHO, World Health Organization; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; FLI, fatty liver index; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; TGs, triglycerides; GGT, glutamyltransferase; CVDs, cardiovascular diseases; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SDs, standard deviations; NEC, neuroendocrine carcinoma; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; MEN1, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1; OR, Proportional Odds Ratio; IC, Interval Confidence; AIC, Akaike Information Criterion; ROC, Receiver operator characteristic; AUC, area under the curve.

cancer risk in postmenopausal women (29), while in a population-based longitudinal study VAI was reported as a predictor of incident colorectal cancer (32).

One of the relevant and as yet poorly investigated aspects of the pathogenesis of GEP-NEN is the possible involvement of metabolic dysfunctions, including NAFLD and MetS, particularly in GEP-NETs (G1 and G2), which have a natural history very different from NEC (33). Very recently, Santos AP et al. reported the highest presence of MetS and single risk factors, including WC, fasting plasma glucose, and fasting TG in 96 patients with GEP-NET compared with a control group crossmatched for age and gender (34). However, there is no evidence to date that has evaluated FLI and VAI in patients with NEN, either on their role as an early predictors of MetS.

Based on these premises, this case-control, cross-sectional study aims to investigate the alteration of cardio-metabolic indices, such as VAI and FLI, as early markers for the diagnosis of visceral adiposity dysfunction and NAFLD, respectively, in patients with GEP-NET. In addition, we investigated the possible association of VAI, FLI, and MetS on the clinical severity of NET. Finally, we provided specific cut-offs for cardiometabolic indices to predict grading, presence of metastases, and disease status.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and Setting

This cross-sectional case–control observational study was carried out at the Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Unit of Endocrinology, European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) Center of Excellence Multidisciplinary Group for Neuroendocrine Tumors, University "Federico II" of Naples. Both GEP-NET patients and controls were recruited from May 2017 to January 2020. The "Federico II" Medical School Ethical Committee has approved this cross-sectional case–control observational study (n. 201/17), which was conducted in accordance with the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans. The purpose of the study was explained to all participants, and a written informed consent was obtained.

Population Study

The study has been conducted on 218 adult Caucasian subjects, in particular 109 GEP-NET patients and 109 healthy individuals as a control group enrolled among hospital volunteers and in the opera prevention project (35), and employees from the same geographical area.

The control group were matched by demographic and anthropometric characteristics, including sex, age, and BMI. In addition, none of the participants had a history of cancer, liver or renal failure, chronic inflammatory diseases, alcohol abuse, and none of them assumed medicaments. In addition, none of the individuals of the control group contemporarily participated in other clinical trials during the period of this study to avoid overlapping enrollment. To improve the power and homogeneity of this study, only patients meeting the following criteria were included:

- Histological diagnosis of well-differentiated, low grade (G)1 and G2 GEP-NET, according to the classification of by the WHO (6);
- Patients with functioning GEP-NET: biochemically free of disease, without medical treatment, or after surgery performed more than 6 months before recruitment;
- Patients with non-functioning GEP-NET: at the moment of diagnosis treatment-naïve or after endoscopic surgery performed more than 6 months before the recruitment, or discontinuing Somatostatin Analogs (SSAs) for more than 6 months.

Instead were excluded GEP-NET patients meeting one or more of the following criteria:

- Well-differentiated/high grade G3 GEP-NET or poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas at histological diagnosis, according to WHO classification (6), since it has been reported that grade G3 GEP-NET patients were at risk of malnutrition (36);
- Diagnosis of Merkel cell carcinoma, pheochromocytoma/ paraganglioma, medullary thyroid cancer, bronchial, or thymic NET;
- Ongoing medical treatment at the moment of the visit, including SSAs or targeted therapy, since it has been reported that these therapies could affect motor and absorptive functions, gastrointestinal secretory, or cause anorexia and hepatic toxicity (5);
- Individuals who underwent major surgery, since it could change the anatomy of the gastrointestinal tract;
- Patients with functioning GEP-NET who have not undergone gastrointestinal curative surgery for less than 6 months before recruitment and that were not pharmacologically treated at the moment of recruitment with drugs that affect the secretion of hormones (peptides and amines) which could cause dysfunction of the gastrointestinal tract, including altered motility, diarrhea, steatorrhea, and malabsorption (5);
- Based on a complete medical examination and laboratory investigation, the presence of clinical diseases that could influence metabolism, including liver or renal failure, acute or chronic inflammatory diseases, and history of other types of cancer;
- Abuse of alcohol intake defined by the DSM-V criteria (37).

Power Size Justification

The power of the sample was calculated by the difference of means \pm standard deviation (SD) of the number of risk factors of MetS between GEP-NET and control group ($2.06 \pm 1.52 \text{ vs } 0.97 \pm 1.13$; respectively). Considering that the number of cases required in GEP-NET and control group was 102, we have set at 109 the number of patients for GEP-NET and at 109 individuals for the control group.

The calculated power size was 95%, with a type I (alpha) error of 0.05 (95%), and a type II (beta) of 0.05. The calculations of

sample size and power were performed while using a sample size calculator Clinical Calc (38), as previously reported (39–42).

Physical Activity and Smoking Habits

Physical activity were evaluated by a standard questionnaire that expressed whether the participant habitually engaged at least 30 min/day of aerobic exercise (YES/NO), as already reported in several other previous studies (43–45). Similarly, through a standard questionnaire, individuals were considered as 'former smokers' when they stopped smoking at least one year before the interview, 'current smokers' when smoking at least one cigarette per day, and 'non-current smokers', as previously reported (46– 48). Former and non-current smokers were considered as 'nosmokers' for the analyses.

Anthropometric Measurements

Anthropometric measurements were obtained with participants wearing light clothes and without shoes. Height and body weight were measured to the nearest 1 cm using a wall-mounted stadiometer and derived to the nearest 50 g using a calibrated balance beam scale, respectively (Seca 711; Seca, Hamburg, Germany). BMI was calculated by weight and height [weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²), kg/m²]. According to WHO's criteria, participants were classified by BMI as normal weight (BMI 18.5–24.9 kg/m²), overweight (BMI 25.0–29.9 kg/m²), grade I obesity (BMI 30.0–34.9 kg/m²), grade II obesity (BMI 35.0–39.9 kg/m²), grade III obesity (BMI 35.0–39.9 kg/m²), as previously reported (49–52).

In line with the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), WC was measured to the closest 0.1 cm at the natural indentation or at a midway level between the lower edge of the rib cage and the iliac crest if no natural indentation was visible using a non-stretchable measuring tape (53).

Blood Pressure and Criteria to Define MetS

Systolic (SBP) and Diastolic (DBP) Blood Pressures were measured in all participants three times, and the mean of the second and third reading was recorded after the subject had been sitting for at least 10 min, with a random sphygmomanometer (Gelman Hawksley Ltd., Sussex, UK), as explained in other previous studies (54–56).

MetS was diagnosed according to the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel (NCEP ATP) III definition if three or more of the following five criteria are present: WC \geq 102 cm (men) or 88 cm (women), blood pressure \geq 130/85 mmHg, fasting TG level \geq 150 mg/dl, fasting HDL cholesterol level \leq 40 mg/dl (men) or \leq 50 mg/dl (women), and fasting glucose \geq 100 mg/dl (57).

Cardio-Metabolic Indices

VAI score has been calculated by the following sex-specific formula. Both triglycerides and HDL levels were expressed in mmol/L. Age-specific VAI cut-off values were used according to Amato MC et al. (23, 58).

Males: VAI = [WC/39.68 + (1.88 * BMI)] * (TG/1.03)* (1.31/HDL)

Females: VAI = [WC/36.58 + (1.89*BMI)] * (TG/0.81)* (1.52/HDL)

FLI was calculated with the formula: [FLI = $eL/(1 + eL) \times 100$, L = 0.953 × loge TG + 0.139 BMI + 0.718 × loge γ GT + 0.053 × WC-15.745]. FLI of 30 was considered as the cut-off value on the basis of Bedogni's criterion (59).

Assay Methods

After an overnight fast of at least 8 h, samples were collected in the morning between 8 and 10 a.m. and stored at -80° C until being processed. All biochemical analyses were performed with a Roche Modular Analytics System in the Central Biochemistry Laboratory of our Institution. Low-Density Lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and HDL cholesterol were determined by a direct method (homogeneous enzymatic assay for the direct quantitative determination of LDL and HDL cholesterol).

Clinicopathological Characteristics of the Tumor

In this study, we enrolled patients with G1–G2 GEP-NET, collecting data about primary tumor site, mitotic count, Ki67 index, tumor size, stage, genetic syndromes as multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), presence of metastases or clinical functioning syndromes, comorbidities, and therapies for each patients.

Tumor size (mm) was calculated as the maximum diameter in the pathological specimen of the tumor or in the last imaging (computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging) when surgery was not performed. In patients with multiple pancreatic lesions, as in MEN1, we considered the diameter of the biggest nodule. Only in a few cases (n = 3) the tumor size was not defined since the primary lesion was not found.

Tumor grade followed WHO 2010 classification, and tumor stage was defined according to the ENETS criteria, and patients were classified with localized disease (stages I–III) or advanced disease (presence of metastases, stage IV) (60). Immunohistochemistry for chromogranin A, synaptophysin, and Ki67 index was performed in all formalin-fixed paraffinembedded tissue samples from biopsy or surgery of the primary tumor and/or metastases (61).

At the time of the evaluation, patients were classified as 'disease-free' when there was no biochemical or morphological evidence of disease, 'stable disease' or 'progressive disease' according to RECIST 1.1 criteria (62).

Statistical Analysis

The data distribution was evaluated by Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and the abnormal data (age, BMI, Ki67 index, SBP, DBP, fasting glucose, HDL-cholesterol, VAI, FLI, and MetS) were normalized by logarithm. The abnormal variables were logarithmically transformed and back-transformed for presentation in tables and figures.

The chi-square (χ^2) test was used to determine the significance of differences in the frequency distribution in gender, smoking, physical activity, difference in cardiometabolic indices and MetS between patients and controls, difference in cardio-metabolic indices and MetS among G1 and

G2, NET patients free of the disease or with stable disease, and presence or absence of metastasis.

Student's paired *t*-test was used to analyze differences among age, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardio-metabolic indices, and MetS between GEP-NET patients and control group, for the difference among parameters included in this study with tumor grading (G1 *vs* G2), and presence/absence of metastasis, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* analysis.

The differences among age, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardio-metabolic indices, and MetS with disease status (progressive disease, free disease, and stable disease) were analyzed by ANOVA test followed by the Bonferroni *post-hoc* test.

Proportional Odds Ratio (OR) models, *p*-value, 95% Interval Confidence (IC), and R² were performed to assess the association among quantitative variables (G1 *vs* G2 and presence/absence of metastasis). A multinomial logistic regression analysis, χ^2 , *p*-value, and Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), and R² was performed to model the association among age, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardiometabolic indices and MetS with the three groups of disease status (disease free, stable disease and progressive disease).

In addition, three multiple linear regression analysis models (stepwise method), expressed as R^2 , beta (β), and *t*, with tumor grading, metastasis, and disease status as dependent variables were used to estimate the predictive value of VAI, FLI, and MetS.

Receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was performed to determine the sensitivity and specificity, criterion, standard error, and area under the curve (AUC), as well as cut-off values for MetS and FLI in detecting tumor grading (G2) and presence of metastasis in the GEP-NET patients. Variables with a variance inflation factor (VIF) >10 were excluded to avoid multicollinearity. Values \leq 5% were considered statistically significant. Data were analyzed using the MedCalc[®] package (Version 12.3.0 1993- 2012, MedCalc Software bvba–MedCalc Software, Mariakerke, Belgium) and SPSS Software (PASW Version 21.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Demographic, Clinical Characteristics, and Metabolic Parameters of GEP-NET Patients and Control Group

Demographic, clinical characteristics, and metabolic parameters of GEP-NET patients compared to controls were shown in Table 1. Of note, GEP-NET patients presented significant differences in comparison to the control group, in particular smoked less (p <0.001), presented higher WC (p = 0.004) and SBP (p = 0.007), a worse metabolic profile, and had higher cardio-metabolic indices and MetS (Table 1). Figure 1 shows the percentage differences in cardiometabolic indices, single risk factors of MetS, and presence of MetS in GEP-NET patients compared to controls. Considering age-and-gender specific cut-off points of VAI, most percentage of GEP-NET patients presented visceral adipose dysfunction (p < p0.001). Similarly, the percentage of presence of NAFLD in GEP-NET patients was higher than in the control group (p = 0.009). In addition, both single risk factors of MetS and the presence of MetS were more frequently diagnosed among GEP-NET patients than in controls (*p*=0.001), as reported in Figure 1.

TABLE 1 | Demographic, clinical characteristics, and metabolic parameters of GEP-NET patients compared to the control group.

Parameters	GEP-NET patients n. 109	Control Group n. 109	<i>p</i> -value
Demographic characteristics			
Gender (Females)	56 (51.4%)	56 (51.4%)	$\chi^2 = 0.018, p = 0.892$
Age (Years)	57.06 ± 15.96	56.16 ± 12.89	$\chi = 0.018, p = 0.092$ 0.370
Clinical characteristics	57.00 ± 15.90	50.10 ± 12.89	0.370
		67 (61 50/)	15.46 - 10.001
Smoking (Yes)	37 (33.9%)	67 (61.5%)	$\chi^2 = 15.46, p < 0.001$
Physical activity (Yes)	49 (45.0%)	54 (49.5%)	$\chi^2 = 0.29, p = 0.587$
Anthropometric measurements	07.55 5.00	00.45	0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.55 ± 5.33	28.15 ± 4.07	0.364
WC (cm)	93.87 ± 14.74	88.38 ± 10.93	0.004
Blood pressure			
SBP (mmHg)	125.18 ± 11.96	120.50 ± 12.41	0.007
DBP (mmHg)	76.74 ± 7.71	75.50 ± 7.93	0.209
Metabolic profile			
Fasting Glucose (mg/dl)	108.13 ± 15.49	92.35 ± 14.58	<0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	190.86 ± 41.78	158.97 ± 30.86	<0.001
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	46.75 ± 15.29	50.29 ± 8.05	0.034
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	118.70 ± 40.02	86.74 ± 31.22	<0.001
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	127.07 ± 51.55	109.70 ± 28.87	0.003
Cardio-Metabolic indices and MetS			
VAI	2.29 ± 1.57	1.53 ± 0.70	<0.001
FLI	52.15 ± 29.52	44.36 ± 23.32	0.049
MetS (number parameter)	2.06 ± 1.52	0.97 ± 1.13	<0.001

GEP-NET, Gastroenteropancreatic Neoplasm; BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05).



higher than in the control group (p = 0.009). In addition, both single risk factors of MetS and the presence of MetS (p < 0.001) were more frequently diagnosed among GEP-NET patients than in controls. GEP-NET, Gastroenteropancreatic Neoplasm; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; WC, Waist Circumference; FC, Fasting glucose; TG, Triglycerides; C-HDL, Cholesterol-High Density Lipoprotein; BP, Blood Pressure; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome.

Tumor Characteristics of GEP-NET Patients

A total of 109 patients (F:M = 56:53) affected by GEP-NET were included in the study. The mean size of the tumor was 24.58 \pm 22.71 mm. Primary NETs were located in the pancreas (n = 54, 49.5%), stomach (n = 17, 15.6%), intestine (n = 30, 27.6%), and in few cases the primary site was unknown (n = 8, 7.3%). The majority of patients had non-functioning GEP-NET (n = 97, 89.0%). Twenty-two NET patients (20.2%) had a MEN1 syndrome. All GEP-NET patients were classified according to the pathological parameters with the mitotic rate and Ki67 index, as well differentiated tumor G1 (n = 65, 59.6%) or G2 (n = 44,40.4%); the mean of Ki67 index was $3.88 \pm 4.08\%$. At diagnosis, 27 patients (24.8%) had metastases (stage IV), the majority of them in the liver. At the time when the patients were enrolled in the clinical study, most of them (n. 51, 46.8%) had stable disease, 37 patients (33.9%) were disease free, and the remaining 21 patients (19.3%) had progressive disease, according to the RECIST1.1 criteria.

Cardio-Metabolic Indices and MetS in GEP-NET Patients According to Tumor Grading, Presence of Metastasis, and Disease Status

Differences in demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic parameters, and cardio-metabolic

indices and MetS in the GEP-NET patients grouped by grading G1/G2 were summarized in **Table 2**.

Interestingly, GEP-NET G2 patients in comparison to patients with localized GEP-NET G1, had significant higher WC (p = 0.003), SBP and DBP (p < 0.001 and p = 0.006, respectively), and the worst metabolic parameters, except HDL cholesterol. Of interest, GEP-NET G2 patients showed the highest value of cardio-metabolic indices and MetS (number parameter) (**Table 2**). Similarly, **Figure 2** reported the difference of VAI, FLI, and MetS according to specific cut-off points. As observed, GEP-NET G2 patients presented the highest percentage of cardio-metabolic indices, single risk factors of MetS, and presence of MetS (p < 0.001) compared to GEP-NET G1 patients.

Similar data were observed also when these parameters were grouped by disease status (**Table 3**). A significant worse metabolic profile, cardio-metabolic indices, and MetS were shown in GEP-NET patients with progressive disease, in comparison to patients who were free of disease or with stable disease (**Table 3**).

Even when we considered the difference of VAI, FLI, and MetS according to specific cut-off points, GEP-NET patients with progressive disease had the highest percentage of cardiometabolic indices, single risk factors of MetS and presence of MetS (p = 0.014) compared to GEP-NET patients free of the disease or with stable disease, **Figure 3**.

TABLE 2 Differences in demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood
pressure, metabolic parameters, and cardio-metabolic indices and MetS in the
GEP-NET patients according to tumor grading.

Parameters	G1 n. 65	G2 n.44	<i>p-</i> value
Age (years)	55.32 ± 17.26	59.64 ± 13.61	0.149
Anthropometric measurement	ts		
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.23 ± 5.64	28.02 ± 4.88	0.439
WC (cm)	90.58 ± 15.15	98.73 ± 12.77	0.003
Blood pressure			
SBP (mmHg)	121.85 ± 10.52	130.11 ± 12.37	<0.001
DBP (mmHg)	75.08 ± 7.47	79.20 ± 7.47	0.006
Metabolic profile			
Fasting Glucose (mg/dl)	102.71 ± 14.22	116.14 ± 13.84	<0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	178.52 ± 32.34	209.09 ± 47.51	<0.001
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	48.97 ± 13.21	43.48 ± 17.59	0.066
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	105.97 ± 29.27	137.49 ± 46.28	<0.001
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	117.91 ± 43.98	140.61 ± 59.01	0.023
Cardio-Metabolic indices and			
MetS			
VAI	1.89 ± 1.05	2.88 ± 1.99	0.001
FLI	42.93 ± 28.15	65.77 ± 26.27	<0.001
MetS (number parameter)	1.42 ± 1.12	3.00 ± 1.56	<0.001

GEP-NET, Gastroenteropancreatic Neoplasm; G, grading; BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05).

Differences in demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic parameters, and cardio-metabolic indices and MetS in the GEP-NET patients according to the presence/absence of metastasis were summarized in **Table 4**. The worse WC (p = 0.003), blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardiometabolic indices, and MetS were presented in the presence of metastasis, and the latter GEP-NET patients also presented the highest percentage of cardio-metabolic indices, single risk factors of MetS, and presence of MetS (p = 0.035), **Figure 4**.

Correlation Between Tumor Aggressiveness and Metabolic Profile, Cardio-Metabolic Indices, and MetS in GEP-NET Patients

To assess the correlation of grading and metastasis, a bivariate proportional OR model with demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardiometabolic indices, and MetS was performed (**Table 5**). A part age, BMI, and HDL cholesterol for grading all other parameters were significantly associated with the highest grading G2 and with the presence of metastasis; **Table 5**.

A multinomial logistic regression model to assess the association between patients with progressive disease and demographics, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardio-metabolic indices, and MetS, was performed (**Table 6**). Progressive disease was associated with higher values of age (p = 0.012), WC (p = 0.005), blood pressure (p = 0.007 and p = 0.004 for SBP and DBP, respectively), fasting glucose (p = 0.015), triglycerides (p = 0.029), VAI (p = 0.001), FLI (p = 0.009), MetS (p < 0.001), and lower HDL cholesterol (p = 0.001); **Table 6**.



FIGURE 2 | Difference of VAI, FLI, and MetS according to the grading. GEP-NET G2 patients presented the highest percentage of cardio-metabolic indices (p = 0.044 and p = 0.006 for VAI and FLI, respectively), single risk factors of MetS, and presence of MetS (p < 0.001) compared to GEP-NET G1 patients. GEP-NET, Gastroenteropancreatic Neoplasm; G, Grading, VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; WC, Waist Circumference; FC, Fasting glucose; TG, Triglycerides; C-HDL, Cholesterol-High Density Lipoprotein; BP, Blood Pressure; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome.

TABLE 3 | Differences in demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic parameters, and cardio-metabolic indices and MetS in the GEP-NET patients according to disease status.

Parameters	Progressive Disease n. 21 (19.3%)	Free Disease n. 37 (33.9%)	Stable Disease n. 51 (46.8%)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	56.95 ± 13.51	55.05 ± 17.37	58.57 ± 15.95	0.598
Anthropometric measurements				
BMI (kg/m ²)	29.07 ± 4.81	27.26 ± 4.83	27.13 ± 5.85	0.353
WC (cm)	98.64 ± 13.75	92.53 ± 15.62	92.88 ± 14.35	0.256
Blood pressure				
SBP (mmHg)	127.62 ± 12.61	122.70 ± 12.22	125.98 ± 11.40	0.263
DBP (mmHg)	78.33 ± 8.99	75.41 ± 7.85	77.06 ± 7.01	0.354
Metabolic profile				
Fasting Glucose (mg/dl)	119.81 ± 17.42	104.65 ± 12.93	105.84 ± 14.31	<0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	215.05 ± 42.99	193.86 ± 41.00	178.73 ± 37.66	0.003
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	41.81 ± 16.35	42.27 ± 13.46	52.04 ± 14.64	0.004
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	142.70 ± 44.65	124.32 ± 37.98	104.74 ± 34.06	<0.001
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	152.71 ± 62.74	136.38 ± 43.69	109.76 ± 46.32	0.002
Cardio-Metabolic indices and MetS				
VAI	3.12 ± 2.02	2.69 ± 1.67	1.66 ± 0.93	<0.001
FLI	69.24 ± 31.58	51.97 ± 28.13	45.24 ± 27.22	0.006
MetS (number parameter)	3.19 ± 1.78	2.11 ± 1.34	1.55 ± 1.27	<0.001

GEP-NET, Gastroenteropancreatic Neoplasm; G, grading; BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05).

To compare the relative predictive power of the cardiometabolic indices and MetS, three multiple linear regression analysis models with oncological parameters (tumor grading, metastasis, and disease status) were performed and reported in **Table 7**. Model 1 compared the relative predictive power of grading G1/G2 on cardio-metabolic indices and MetS. In this model MetS entered at the first step (p < 0.001), followed by FLI (p < 0.001); VAI was excluded. Model 2 compared the relative predictive power of metastasis on cardio-metabolic indices and MetS. In this model, MetS entered at the first step (p < 0.001),



FIGURE 3 | Difference of VAI, FLI, and MetS according to status of disease. GEP-NET patients with progressive disease had the highest percentage of cardiometabolic indices (p = 0.008 and p = 0.007 for VAI and FLI, respectively), single risk factors of MetS, and presence of MetS (p=0.014) compared to GEP-NET patients free of disease or with stable disease. VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; WC, Waist Circumference; FC, Fasting glucose; TG, Triglycerides; C-HDL, Cholesterol-High Density Lipoprotein; BP, Blood Pressure; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome.

TABLE 4 Differences in demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood
pressure, metabolic parameters, and cardio-metabolic indices and MetS in the
GEP-NET patients according to the presence/absence of metastasis.

Parameters	Absence of Metastasis n. 82	Presence of Metastasis n. 27	p- value	
Age (years)	56.48 ± 16.86	58.85 ± 12.94	0.448	
Anthropometric				
measurements				
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.17 ± 5.44	28.70 ± 4.93	0.182	
WC (cm)	92.16 ± 14.63	99.08 ± 14.05	0.033	
Blood pressure				
SBP (mmHg)	123.59 ± 11.66	130.00 ± 11.76	0.018	
DBP (mmHg)	75.73 ± 6.94	79.81 ± 9.14	0.016	
Metabolic profile				
Fasting Glucose (mg/dl)	105.43 ± 15.12	116.29 ± 13.87	0.001	
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	184.64 ± 36.84	209.74 ± 50.29	0.006	
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	48.59 ± 14.73	41.14 ± 15.88	0.027	
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	112.09 ± 34.20	138.75 ± 49.53	0.002	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	119.78 ± 46.84	149.22 ± 59.39	0.009	
Cardio-Metabolic indices				
and MetS				
VAI	2.00 ± 1.20	3.14 ± 2.17	0.001	
FLI	46.59 ± 28.42	69.04 ± 26.62	<0.001	
MetS (number parameter)	1.74 ± 1.35	3.00 ± 1.64	<0.001	

GEP-NET, Gastroenteropancreatic Neoplasm; G, grading; BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05). followed by FLI (p < 0.001); VAI was excluded. In model 3, the disease status was better predicted by VAI (p = 0.014); MetS and FLI were excluded (**Table 7**).

Four ROC analyses were performed to determine the cut-off values of the MetS and FLI predictive of high grading (G2) and presence of metastasis, respectively. A MetS> 2 (p < 0.001, sensitivity 65.9%, specificity 83.1%, AUC 0.78, standard error 0.046; **Figure 5A**) and a FLI >64.8 (p < 0.001, sensitivity 59.1%, specificity 76.9%, AUC 0.72, standard error 0.050; **Figure 5B**), could serve as thresholds for significant increased risk of G2 tumor. A MetS >1 (p < 0.001, sensitivity 81.5%, specificity 52.4%, AUC 0.72, standard error 0.059; **Figure 5C**) and a FLI >61.2 (p = 0.001, sensitivity 74.1%, specificity 70.3%, AUC 0.72, standard error 0.058; **Figure 5D**) could serve as a threshold for significantly increased risk of presence of metastasis.

DISCUSSION

In this cross-sectional, case-control, observational study, we evaluated the associations of VAI and FLI, as cardiometabolic indices, and MetS with tumor clinicopathological characteristics in a selected group of GEP-NET patients. The main result of the study is the positive association between the cardiometabolic indices and MetS with the clinicopathological characteristics of NET, independently of age and BMI. In addition, we have



FIGURE 4 | Difference of VAI, FLI, and MetS according to metastasis. GEP-NET patients with the presence of metastasis had the highest percentage of cardiometabolic indices (p = 0.017 and p < 0.001 for VAI and FLI, respectively), single risk factors of MetS (except for the WC, p = 0.292), and presence of MetS (p = 0.035) compared to GEP-NET patients with the absence of metastasis. VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; WC, Waist Circumference; FC, Fasting glucose; TG, Triglycerides; C-HDL, Cholesterol-High Density Lipoprotein; BP, Blood Pressure; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. **TABLE 5** | Bivariate proportional odds ratio model performed to assess the association of tumor aggressiveness with demographic, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardio-metabolic indices, and MetS.

Parameters		Grading G2			Metastasis (presence)				
	OR	p-value	95% CI	R ²	OR	p-value	95% CI	R ²	
Age (years)	1.02	0.168	0.993-1.04	0.02	1.01	0.501	0.98–1.04	0.01	
Anthropometric measurements									
BMI (kg/m ²)	1.03	0.250	0.957-1.11	0.01	1.05	0.206	0.97-1.14	0.02	
WC (cm)	1.04	0.006	1.01-1.07	0.07	1.03	0.038	1.00-1.07	0.04	
Blood pressure									
SBP (mmHg)	1.08	0.001	1.03-1.11	0.12	1.05	0.018	1.00-1.09	0.05	
DBP (mmHg)	1.07	0.007	1.02-1.14	0.07	1.08	0.019	1.01-1.14	0.05	
Metabolic profile									
Fasting Glucose (mg/dl)	1.07	<0.001	1.04-1.11	0.19	1.05	0.003	1.02-1.08	0.09	
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	1.02	<0.001	1.01-1.03	0.13	1.02	0.008	1.00-1.03	0.07	
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.98	0.070	0.95-1.00	0.03	0.96	0.032	0.93-0.99	0.05	
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	1.02	<0.001	1.01-1.03	0.15	1.02	0.004	1.00-1.03	0.08	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	1.00	0.026	1.00-1.02	0.05	1.01	0.012	1.00-1.02	0.06	
Cardio-Metabolic indices and MetS									
VAI	1.56	0.003	1.17-2.09	0.10	1.56	0.003	1.16-2.09	0.09	
FLI	1.03	<0.001	1.01-1.05	0.14	1.03	0.001	1.01-1.05	1.11	
MetS (number parameter)	2.30	<0.001	1.63-3.23	0.25	1.77	<0.001	1.29-2.43	0.12	

BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05).

TABLE 6 | Multinomial logistic regression model to assess the association between disease status with age, anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, metabolic profile, cardio-metabolic indices, and MetS.

Parameters	Progressive disease				
	χ²	p value	AIC	R ²	
Age (years)	134.68	0.012	178.05	0.709	
Anthropometric measurements					
BMI (kg/m ²)	239.50	0.094	239.49	0.889	
WC (cm)	189.59	0.005	212.11	0.824	
Blood pressure					
SBD (mmHg)	38.85	0.007	79.07	0.300	
DBD (mmHg)	32.18	0.004	65.46	0.256	
Metabolic profile					
Fasting Glucose (mg/dl)	132.94	0.015	176.48	0.705	
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	183.17	0.172	208.65	0.814	
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	138.19	0.001	176.07	0.719	
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	222.86	0.109	231.18	0.871	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	208.99	0.029	224.25	0.853	
Cardio-Metabolic indices and MetS					
VAI	122.86	0.001	131.18	0.771	
FLI	122.81	0.009	129.18	0.766	
MetS (number parameter)	51.39	<0.001	80.10	0.376	

BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05).

provided the cut-off values for the FLI and MetS to predict high grading of GEP-NET and the presence of metastasis.

Given the rarity and heterogeneity of GEP-NET, clinical trials designed to investigate the role of metabolic risk factors for these tumors are lacking. To the best of our knowledge, to date, this is the first study reporting differences in cardiometabolic indices in a selected group of GEP-NET patients compared to healthy controls matched for age, gender, and BMI. **TABLE 7** | Multiple regression analysis models (stepwise method) with tumor aggressiveness and cardiometabolic indices and MetS.

Parameters	Multiple Regression analysis				
Model 1—Tumor Grading-	R ²	β	t	p value	
MetS	0.257	0.514	6.19	<0.001	
FLI	0.138	0.381	4.27	<0.001	
Va	riable exclud	ed: VAI			
Model 2—Metastasis-	R ²	β	t	p value	
MetS	0.120	0.358	3.97	<0.001	
FLI	0.100	0.330	3.61	<0.001	
Va	riable exclud	ed: VAI			
Model 3—Disease Status-	R ²	β	t	p value	
VAI	0.031	0.336	2.49	0.014	
Variable	e excluded: N	letS and FLI			

VAI, Visceral Adiposity Index; FLI, Fatty Liver Index; MetS, Metabolic Syndrome. A p value in bold type denotes a significant difference (p < 0.05).

The current prevalence of GEP-NET is 6.4 cases/100,000 inhabitants, with an increased incidence over the last four decades (2, 63). This increase was initially attributed to the improvement of diagnostic skills with the widespread use of advanced imaging techniques. However, the role of metabolic mechanisms underlying the etiology of GEP-NET has not yet been investigated before. Still, the potential contributions of different environmental factors, including metabolic dysfunctions, were mostly neglected as most evidence focused primarily on the genetics or molecular pathways of NET (64-66). Epidemiological data suggest that beyond the genetic influences, also environmental factors are involved in the increased incidence in GEP-NET (67). Indeed, only few retrospective evidence has addressed the potential association between MetS and GEP-NET (65, 68, 69), and these few studies were predominantly limited to pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors only (70, 71). In a recent case-control study, however, single risk factors of MetS, including visceral



significantly increased risk of presence of metastasis. MetS, Metabolic Syndrome; FLI, Fatty Liver Index.

adiposity, high triglyceride levels, or hyperglycemia, were more present in GEP-NET patients compared to the control group (34).

NAFLD and MetS are well-established risk factors for different tumors; nevertheless, if these metabolic conditions are also risk factors for GEP-NET or if these conditions are able to negatively influence the clinicopathological characteristics of NET and consequently, disease behavior is yet to be fully established.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first observation of GEP-NET patients with the highest values of VAI and FLI, and the presence of MetS are more likely to have higher-grade tumors or present advanced-stage disease at diagnosis with metastasis. In addition, VAI, FLI, and MetS were significantly associated with the three clinicopathological characteristics of GEP-NET included in this study.

These findings suggest that accurate metabolic profiling should be an integral part of the clinical evaluation of patients with GEP-NET and support a role for adiposity dysfunction and NAFLD, evaluated by VAI and FLI, respectively, and the presence of MetS as relevant risk determinants in GEP-NET patients. Similar associations were also shown for other types of tumors, such as esophageal cancer (72), colon and rectal cancer (73), thyroid cancer (74, 75), and prostate cancer (76).

However, this study has some limitations and some strengths that must be considered. Among the limitations, the crosssectional nature of this study did not allow identification of any causal association between cardio-metabolic indices or MetS and GEP-NET characteristics and to clearly determine their prognostic value to predict GEP-NET clinical severity. Furthermore, the suggested cut-off value of FLI and MetS to identifying tumor aggressiveness should be viewed with caution until data in larger populations become available to perform an appropriate cross-validation. Moreover, we recognize how the liver biopsy is the gold-standard technique for identifying NAFLD. Hepatic biopsy is an invasive procedure burdened with rare but potentially life-threatening complications. However, FLI, although it is a surrogate marker of NAFLD, has largely proved to represent an easy and reliable screening tool to identify NAFLD (77, 78). The lack of a liver biopsy may prompt us to further investigate the association between cardiometabolic indices and MetS in GEP-NET patients.

However, the strengths of this study are several. First, the sample size was sufficiently large. In fact, we have calculated the sample size using 95% power, and the number of participants required was 102 (51 cases and 51 controls), while we used 218 (109 GEP-NET patients and 109 controls) individuals *i.e.* more than double those required. Second, the homogeneity of our sample population further strengthens the power of the study. In fact, in order to improve the power of this study, we increased the

homogeneity of the cohort of NET patients by including only patients who were biochemically free of disease for more than 6 months without medical treatment, or treatment-naïve patients with non-functioning GEP-NET. In addition, all GEP-NET patients had a diagnosis of well-differentiated G1/G2 and were matched for age, sex, and BMI with a well-characterized control group.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, our findings report that the worsening of clinicopathological characteristics in GEP-NET is associated with visceral adiposity dysfunction, evaluated by VAI, NAFLD, evaluated by FLI, and the presence of MetS. These novel results, although requiring confirmation in larger scale clinical trials, help to fulfil an unmet clinical need and provide a breakthrough toward understanding the putative mechanisms leading to GEP-NET progression and increased prevalence. Finally, to address the clinical evaluation of cardiometabolic indices in GEP-NET patients might be of crucial relevance to establish targeted preventive and treatment interventions of NET-related metabolic comorbidities.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Kim JY, Hong SM, Ro JY. Recent updates on grading and classification of neuroendocrine tumors. *Ann Diagn Pathol* (2017) 29:11–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.anndiagpath.2017.04.005
- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, Zhao B, Zhou S, Xu Y, et al. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. *JAMA Oncol* (2017) 3(10):1335–42. doi: 10.1001/ jamaoncol.2017.0589
- Pavel M, O'Toole D, Costa F, Capdevila J, Gross D, Kianmanesh R, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of distant metastatic disease of intestinal, pancreatic, bronchial neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) and NEN of unknown primary site. *Neuroendocrinology* (2016) 103(2):172– 85. doi: 10.1159/000443167
- Altieri B, Barrea L, Modica R, Muscogiuri G, Savastano S, Colao A, et al. Nutrition and neuroendocrine tumors: An update of the literature. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2018) 19(2):159–67. doi: 10.1007/s11154-018-9466-z
- Gallo M, Muscogiuri G, Pizza G, Ruggeri RM, Barrea L, Faggiano A, et al. The management of neuroendocrine tumours: A nutritional viewpoint. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* (2019) 59(7):1046–57. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2017.1390729
- WHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. and International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). *Digestive System. Tumours WHO Classification of Tumours, 5th*, (2019) Vol. 1. doi: 978-92-832-4499-8
- Khang AR, Lee HW, Yi D, Kang YH, Son SM. The fatty liver index, a simple and useful predictor of metabolic syndrome: Analysis of the Korea national health and nutrition examination survey 2010–2011. *Diabetes Metab Syndrome Obes: Targets Ther* (2019) 12:181–90. doi: 10.2147/DMSO. S189544
- 8. Mottillo S, Filion KB, Genest J, Joseph L, Pilote L, Poirier P, et al. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk: A systematic review and meta-

ETHICS STATEMENT

The "Federico II" Medical School Ethical Committee has approved this cross-sectional case-control observational study (n. 201/17), which was conducted in accordance with the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization, LB, SS, and GM. Data curation, GM, GP, RMo, and RMi. Formal analysis, LB, GM, and SS. Funding acquisition, LB, AF, AC, and GM. Investigation, LB, GM, BA, RMo, RMi, and GP. Methodology, LB and GM. Project administration, LB and GM. Resources, LB. Software, LB. Supervision, LB, GM, AC, SS. Validation, AF, AC, SS, RMo, RMi, and LB. Visualization, LB. Writing—original draft, LB and SS. Writing—review & editing, LB, GM, AC, and SS. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to Panta Rei Impresa Sociale s.r.l. (https://www. panta-rei.eu/pantarei/) and Dr Pasquale Antonio Riccio for their scientific support.

analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol (2010) 56(14):1113-32. doi: 10.1016/ j.jacc.2010.05.034

- You J, Liu WY, Zhu GQ, Wang OC, Ma RM, Huang GQ, et al. Metabolic syndrome contributes to an increased recurrence risk of non-metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(23):19880–90. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.4166
- Vanacore D, Messina G, Lama S, Bitti G, Ambrosio P, Tenore G, et al. Effect of restriction vegan diet's on muscle mass, oxidative status, and myocytes differentiation: A pilot study. *J Cell Physiol* (2018) 233(12):9345–53. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26427
- Di Domenico M, Pinto F, Quagliuolo L, Contaldo M, Settembre G, Romano A, et al. The Role of Oxidative Stress and Hormones in Controlling Obesity. *Front Endocrinol* (2019) 10:540–53. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00540
- Boccellino M, Donniacuo M, Bruno F, Rinaldi B, Quagliuolo L, Ambruosi M, et al. Protective effect of piceatannol and bioactive stilbene derivatives against hypoxia-induced toxicity in H9c2 cardiomyocytes and structural elucidation as 5-LOX inhibitors. *Eur J Medicinal Chem* (2019) 180:637–47. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejmech.2019.07.033
- Boccellino M, D'Angelo S. Anti-obesity effects of polyphenol intake: Current status and future possibilities. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(16):5642–66. doi: 10.3390/ijms21165642
- Giudice A, Montella M, Boccellino M, Crispo A, D'Arena G, Bimonte S, et al. Epigenetic Changes Induced by Green Tea Catechins a re Associated with Prostate Cancer. *Curr Mol Med* (2017) 17(6):405–20. doi: 10.2174/ 1566524018666171219101937
- Colao A, de Nigris F, Modica R, Napoli C. Clinical Epigenetics of Neuroendocrine Tumors: The Road Ahead. Front Endocrinol (2020) 11:604341–604353. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.604341
- 16. Tian S, Liu Y, Feng A, Lou K, Dong H. Metabolically healthy obesity and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: A

protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *BMJ Open* (2019) 9(10):e032742–8. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032742

- Micucci C, Valli D, Matacchione G, Catalano A. Current perspectives between metabolic syndrome and cancer. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(25):38959–38972. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8341
- Uzunlulu M, Telci Caklili O, Oguz A. Association between Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer. Ann Nutr Metab (2016) 68(3):173–9. doi: 10.1159/ 000443743
- Motamed N, Faraji AH, Khonsari MR, Maadi M, Tameshkel FS, Keyvani H, et al. Fatty liver index (FLI) and prediction of new cases of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A population-based study of northern Iran. *Clin Nutr* (2020) 39 (2):468–74. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2019.02.024
- Otgonsuren M, Estep MJ, Hossain N, Younossi E, Frost S, Henry L, et al. A single non-invasive model to diagnose non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2014) 29:2006–13. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12665
- Olubamwo OO, Virtanen JK, Voutilainen A, Kauhanen J, Pihlajamäki J, Tuomainen TP. Association of fatty liver index with the risk of incident cardiovascular disease and acute myocardial infarction. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2018) 30(9):1047–54. doi: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001183
- van der Poorten D, Milner KL, Hui J, Hodge A, Trenell MI, Kench JG, et al. Visceral fat: A key mediator of steatohepatitis in metabolic liver disease. *Hepatology* (2008) 48(2):449–57. doi: 10.1002/hep.22350
- Amato MC, Giordano C. Visceral adiposity index: An indicator of adipose tissue dysfunction. Int J Endocrinol (2014) 2014:730827–73083. doi: 10.1155/ 2014/730827
- Amato MC, Giordano C, Galia M, Criscimanna A, Vitabile S, Midiri M, et al. Visceral adiposity index: A reliable indicator of visceral fat function associated with cardiometabolic risk. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33(4):920–2. doi: 10.2337/ dc09-1825
- Vongsuvanh R, George J, McLeod D, Van Der Poorten D. Visceral adiposity index is not a predictor of liver histology in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol (2012) 57(2):392–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.03.013
- Motamed N, Khonsari MR, Rabiee B, Ajdarkosh H, Hemasi GR, Sohrabi MR, et al. Discriminatory Ability of Visceral Adiposity Index (VAI) in Diagnosis of Metabolic Syndrome: A Population Based Study. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2017) 125(3):202–7. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-119032
- Zhang M, Zheng L, Li P, Zhu Y, Chang H, Wang X, et al. 4-year trajectory of visceral adiposity index in the development of type 2 diabetes: A prospective cohort study. *Ann Nutr Metab* (2016) 69(2):142–9. doi: 10.1159/000450657
- Auer MK, Stalla GK, Stieg MR. Investigating the role of cortisol and growth hormone in fatty liver development: fatty liver index in patients with pituitary adenomas. *Pituitary* (2016) 19(5):461–71. doi: 10.1007/s11102-016-0726-1
- Park JH, Choi IS, Han K, Park H, Kim KH, Kim JS. Association Between Fatty Liver Index and Risk of Breast Cancer: A Nationwide Population-Based Study. *Clin Breast Cancer* (2020) 20(4):e450–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2020.02.004
- Godinho-Mota JCM, Martins KA, Vaz-Gonçalves L, Mota JF, Soares LR, Freitas-Junior R. Visceral adiposity increases the risk of breast cancer: A case-control study. *Nutricion Hospitalaria* (2018) 35(3):576–81. doi: 10.20960/nh.1441
- Otunctemur A, Dursun M, Ozer K, Horsanali O, Ozbek E. Renal cell carcinoma and visceral adipose index: A new risk parameter. *Int Braz J* Urol (2016) 42(5):955–9. doi: 10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2015.0396
- 32. Okamura T, Hashimoto Y, Hamaguchi M, Obora A, Kojima T, Fukui M. Visceral Adiposity Index is a predictor of incident colorectal cancer: A population-based longitudinal study. *BMJ Open Gastroenterol* (2020) 7(1): e000400-e000407. doi: 10.1136/bmjgast-2020-000400
- 33. Heetfeld M, Chougnet CN, Olsen IH, Rinke A, Borbath I, Crespo G, et al. Characteristics and treatment of patients with G3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. *Endocri Rel Cancer* (2015) 22(4):657–64. doi: 10.1530/ERC-15-0119
- Santos AP, Santos AC, Castro C, Raposo L, Pereira SS, Torres I, et al. Visceral obesity and metabolic syndrome are associated with well-differentiated gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Cancers* (2018) 10(9):293–305. doi: 10.3390/cancers10090293
- 35. Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, Laudisio D, Pugliese G, Aprano S, Framondi L, et al. The opera prevention project. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* (2020) 72(1):1–3. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2020.1765152
- 36. Maasberg S, Knappe-Drzikova B, Vonderbeck D, Jann H, Weylandt KH, Grieser C, et al. Malnutrition predicts clinical outcome in patients with

neuroendocrine neoplasia. *Neuroendocrinology* (2016) 104(1):11–25. doi: 10.1159/000442983

- Biedermann F, Fleischhacker WW. Psychotic disorders in DSM-5 and ICD-11. CNS Spectr (2016) 21(4):349–54. doi: 10.1017/S1092852916000316
- Sample Size Calculator. Sample Size Calculator. ClinCalc.com . Available at: https://clincalc.com/stats/samplesize.aspx (Accessed December 14, 2020).
- Barrea L, Arnone A, Annunziata G, Muscogiuri G, Laudisio D, Salzano C, et al. Adherence to the mediterranean diet, dietary patterns and body composition in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Nutrients* (2019) 11(10):2278–99. doi: 10.3390/nu11102278
- Barrea L, Muscogiuri G, Di Somma C, Annunziata G, Megna M, Falco A, et al. Coffee consumption, metabolic syndrome and clinical severity of psoriasis: Good or bad stuff? *Arch Toxicol* (2018) 92(5):1831–45. doi: 10.1007/s00204-018-2193-0
- Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, Aprano S, Framondi L, Di Matteo R, Laudisio D, et al. Sleep Quality in Obesity: Does Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet Matter? *Nutrients* (2020) 12(5):1364–75. doi: 10.3390/nu12051364
- Barrea I, Altieri B, Muscogiuri G, Laudisio D, Annunziata G, Colao A, et al. Impact of nutritional status on gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP-NET) aggressiveness. *Nutrients* (2018) 10(12):1854–72. doi: 10.3390/nu10121854
- Barrea L, Muscogiuri G, Macchia PE, Di Somma C, Falco A, Savanelli MC, et al. Mediterranean diet and phase angle in a sample of adult population: Results of a pilot study. *Nutrients* (2017) 9(2):151–65. doi: 10.3390/nu9020151
- 44. Barrea L, Tarantino G, Somma C, Muscogiuri G, Macchia PE, Falco A, et al. Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and Circulating Levels of Sirtuin 4 in Obese Patients: A Novel Association. Oxid Med Cell Longevity (2017) 2017:6101254. doi: 10.1155/2017/6101254
- Barrea L, Muscogiuri G, Annunziata G, Laudisio D, Tenore GC, Colao A, et al. A new light on vitamin d in obesity: A novel association with trimethylaminen-oxide (tmao). *Nutrients* (2019) 11(6):1310–25. doi: 10.3390/nu11061310
- 46. Barrea L, Di Somma C, Macchia PE, Falco A, Savanelli MC, Orio F, et al. Influence of nutrition on somatotropic axis: Milk consumption in adult individuals with moderate-severe obesity. *Clin Nutr* (2015) 36(1):293–301. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.12.007
- Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, Di Somma C, Laudisio D, Salzano C, Pugliese G, et al. Sex differences of vitamin D status across BMI classes: An observational prospective cohort study. *Nutrients* (2019) 11(12):3034–46. doi: 10.3390/nu11123034
- Barrea L, Muscogiuri G, Laudisio D, Di Somma C, Salzano C, Pugliese G, et al. Phase angle: A possible biomarker to quantify inflammation in subjects with obesity and 25(OH)D deficiency. *Nutrients* (2019) 11(8):1747–63. doi: 10.3390/nu11081747
- Savanelli MC, Scarano E, Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, Vuolo L, Rubino M, et al. Cardiovascular risk in adult hypopituitaric patients with growth hormone deficiency: is there a role for vitamin D? *Endocrine* (2016) 52(1):111–9. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0779-3
- 50. Savastano S, Di Somma C, Colao A, Barrea L, Orio F, Finelli C, et al. Preliminary data on the relationship between circulating levels of Sirtuin 4, anthropometric and metabolic parameters in obese subjects according to growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor-1 status. *Growth Hormone IGF Res* (2015) 25(1):28–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2014.10.006
- Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, Di Somma C, Altieri B, Vecchiarini M, Orio F, et al. Patient empowerment and the Mediterranean diet as a possible tool to tackle prediabetes associated with overweight or obesity: a pilot study. *Hormones* (2019) 18(1):75–84. doi: 10.1007/s42000-018-0090-9
- Barrea L, Muscogiuri G, Di Somma C, Tramontano G, De Luca V, Illario M, et al. Association between Mediterranean diet and hand grip strength in older adult women. *Clin Nutr* (2019) 38(2):721–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.03.012
- Nishida C, Ko GT, Kumanyika S. Body fat distribution and noncommunicable diseases in populations: Overview of the 2008 WHO Expert Consultation on Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio. *Eur J Clin Nutr* (2010) 64(1):2–5. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2009.139
- 54. Di Somma C, Scarano E, de Alteriis G, Barrea L, Riccio E, Arianna R, et al. Is there any gender difference in epidemiology, clinical presentation and comorbidities of non-functioning pituitary adenomas? A prospective survey of a National Referral Center and review of the literature. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01379-2
- 55. Barrea L, Annunziata G, Muscogiuri G, Di Somma C, Laudisio D, Maisto M, et al. Trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO) as novel potential biomarker of early

predictors of metabolic syndrome. *Nutrients* (2018) 10(12):1971-90. doi: 10.3390/nu10121971

- 56. Barrea L, Macchia PE, Di Somma C, Napolitano M, Balato A, Falco A, et al. Bioelectrical phase angle and psoriasis: A novel association with psoriasis severity, quality of life and metabolic syndrome. *J Trans Med* (2016) 14 (1):130–42. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-0889-6
- 57. Scott M, Grundy SM, Becker D, Clark LT, Cooper RS, Denke MA, et al. Expert Panel on Detection Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive Summary of the Third Report (NCEP) -Adult Treatment Panel III. J Am Med Assoc (2001) 285(19):2486–97. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.19.2486
- Amato MC, Giordano C, Pitrone M, Galluzzo A. Cut-off points of the visceral adiposity index (VAI) identifying a visceral adipose dysfunction associated with cardiometabolic risk in a Caucasian Sicilian population. *Lipids Health Dis* (2011) 10:183–91. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-10-183
- Bedogni G, Bellentani S, Miglioli L, Masutti F, Passalacqua M, Castiglione A, et al. The fatty liver index: A simple and accurate predictor of hepatic steatosis in the general population. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2006) 6:33–40. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-230X-6-33
- 60. Rindi G, Klöppel G, Alhman H, Caplin M, Couvelard A, De Herder WW, et al. TNM staging of foregut (neuro)endocrine tumors: A consensus proposal including a grading system. *Virchows Archiv* (2006) 449(4):395–401. doi: 10.1007/s00428-006-0250-1
- Inzani F, Petrone G, Fadda G, Rindi G. Cyto-histology in NET: what is necessary today and what is the future? *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2017) 18 (4):381–91. doi: 10.1007/s11154-017-9428-x
- Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: Revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). *Eur J Cancer* (2009) 45(2):228–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026
- 63. Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": Epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(18):3063–72. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.4377
- Zhang J, Francois R, Iyer R, Seshadri M, Zajac-Kaye M, Hochwald SN. Current understanding of the molecular biology of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Natl Cancer Institute (2013) 105(14):1005–17. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt135
- Capurso G, Falconi M, Panzuto F, Rinzivillo M, Boninsegna L, Bettini R, et al. Risk factors for sporadic pancreatic endocrine tumors: A case-control study of prospectively evaluated patients. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2009) 104(12):3034–41. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2009.466
- 66. Zhang P, Li YL, Qiu XD, Luo J, Shi YF, Sun YL, et al. Clinicopathological characteristics and risk factors for recurrence of well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors after radical surgery: A case-control study. *World J Surg Oncol* (2019) 17(1):66–75. doi: 10.1186/s12957-019-1606-8
- Cetinkaya RB, Aagnes B, Thiis-Evensen E, Tretli S, Bergestuen DS, Hansen S. Trends in incidence of neuroendocrine neoplasms in Norway: A report of 16,075 cases from 1993 through 2010. *Neuroendocrinology* (2016) 104(1):1– 10. doi: 10.1159/000442207
- Hassan MM, Phan A, Li D, Dagohoy CG, Leary C, Yao JC. Risk factors associated with neuroendocrine tumors: A U.S.-based case-control study. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 123(4):867–73. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23529

- Halfdanarson TR, Bamlet WR, McWilliams RR, Hobday TJ, Burch PA, Rabe KG, et al. Risk factors for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors a clinic-based case-control study. *Pancreas* (2014) 43(8):1219–22. doi: 10.1097/ MPA.00000000000234
- Gallo M, Ruggeri RM, Muscogiuri G, Pizza G, Faggiano A, Colao A. Diabetes and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: Which interplays, if any? *Cancer Treat Rev* (2018) 67:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.04.013
- Valente R, Hayes AJ, Haugvik SP, Hedenström P, Siuka D, Korsæth E, et al. Risk and protective factors for the occurrence of sporadic pancreatic endocrine neoplasms. *Endocri Rel Cancer* (2017) 24(8):405–14. doi: 10.1530/ERC-17-0040
- Liu B, Cheng B, Wang C, Chen P, Cheng Y. The prognostic significance of metabolic syndrome and weight loss in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):10101–13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28268-2
- 73. Kim NH, Jung YS, Park JH, Park D. Sohn C Il. Influence of Obesity and Metabolic Abnormalities on the Risk of Developing Colorectal Neoplasia. *Digest Dis Sci* (2018) 63(11):3126–33. doi: 10.1007/s10620-018-5239-5
- 74. Yin Dt, He H, Yu K, Xie J, Lei M, Ma R, et al. The association between thyroid cancer and insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome and its components: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Surg* (2018) 57:66–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2018.07.013
- Barrea L, Gallo M, Ruggeri RM, Giacinto P, Sesti F, Prinzi N, et al. Nutritional status and follicular-derived thyroid cancer: An update. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* (2020) 61(1):25–59. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2020.1714542
- 76. Chen Z, Deng J, Yan Y, Li M, Chen C, Chen C, et al. Risk Analysis of Prostate Cancer Treatments in Promoting Metabolic Syndrome Development and the Influence of Increased Metabolic Syndrome on Prostate Cancer Therapeutic Outcome. *Hormones Cancer* (2018) 9(4):278–87. doi: 10.1007/s12672-018-0335-8
- 77. Silaghi CA, Silaghi H, Colosi HA, Craciun AE, Farcas A, Cosma DT, et al. Prevalence and predictors of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease as defined by the fatty liver index in a type 2 diabetes population. *Clujul Med (1957)* (2016) 89:82–8. doi: 10.15386/cjmed-544
- Fedchuk L, Nascimbeni F, Pais R, Charlotte F, Housset C, Ratziu V. Performance and limitations of steatosis biomarkers in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2014) 40 (10):1209–22. doi: 10.1111/apt.12963

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Barrea, Muscogiuri, Modica, Altieri, Pugliese, Minotta, Faggiano, Colao and Savastano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Cushing's Syndrome With Nocardiosis: A Case Report and a Systematic Review of the Literature

Da Zhang^{1,2}, Yan Jiang^{1*}, Lin Lu¹, Zhaolin Lu¹, Weibo Xia¹, Xiaoping Xing¹ and Hongwei Fan³

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Key Laboratory of Endocrinology of National Health Commission, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Peking Union Medical College, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, Beijing, China, ² Department of Endocrinology, Air Force Medical Center, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Infectious Diseases, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Peking Union Medical College, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antongiulio Faggiano, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

Reviewed by:

Andrea M. Isidori, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Hans Ghayee, University of Florida, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Yan Jiang sinojenny@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 13 December 2020 Accepted: 08 February 2021 Published: 29 March 2021

Citation:

Zhang D, Jiang Y, Lu L, Lu Z, Xia W, Xing X and Fan H (2021) Cushing's Syndrome With Nocardiosis: A Case Report and a Systematic Review of the Literature. Front. Endocrinol. 12:640998. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.640998 **Objective:** To analyze and summarize the clinical characteristics, treatments, and prognosis of Cushing's syndrome (CS) with nocardiosis.

Methods: A patient in our hospital and additional 17 patients of CS with nocardiosis in the English literature were included in this study. Clinical characteristics, laboratory data, imaging studies, treatments, and prognosis were evaluated.

Results: A 41-year-old man with CS was diagnosed and treated in our hospital. He had co-infections of nocardiosis and aspergillosis. Together with 17 patients of CS with nocardiosis in the English literature, 2 patients (11.1%) were diagnosed as Cushing's disease (CD) while 16 (88.9%) were diagnosed or suspected as ectopic ACTH syndrome (EAS). The average 24hrUFC was 7,587.1 \pm 2,772.0 µg/d. The average serum total cortisol and ACTH (8 AM) was 80.2 \pm 18.7 µg/dl and 441.8 \pm 131.8 pg/ml, respectively. The most common pulmonary radiologic findings in CT scan were cavitary lesions (10/18) and nodules (8/18). Co-infections were found in 33.3% (6/18) patients. The CS patients with co-infections had higher levels of ACTH (671.5 \pm 398.2 vs 245.5 \pm 217.1 pg/ml, P = 0.047), and 38.9% (7/18) patients survived through the antibiotic therapy and the treatment of CS. Patients with lower level of ACTH (survival vs mortality: 213.1 \pm 159.0 vs 554.7 \pm 401.0 pg/ml, P = 0.04), no co-infection, underwent CS surgery, and received antibiotic therapy for more than 6 months, had more possibilities to survive.

Conclusions: Nocardia infection should be cautioned when a patient of CS presented with abnormal chest radiographs. The mortality risk factors for CS with nocardiosis are high level of ACTH and co-infections. We should endeavor to make early etiological diagnosis, apply long-term sensitive antibiotics and aggressive treatments of CS.

Keywords: Cushing's syndrome, nocardiosis, infection, ectopic ACTH syndrome, Cushing's disease

INTRODUCTION

Endogenous Cushing's syndrome (CS) is characterized by excessive elevation of glucocorticoid concentrations produced by adrenal cortex. It is generally divided into adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH)-dependent and ACTH-independent CS. The most common cause of CS is corticotropin-secreting pituitary adenoma that leads to Cushing's disease (CD). The ectopic ACTH syndrome (EAS) accounts for 10 to 20% of ACTHdependent CS (1).

Nocardiosis most frequently presents with pulmonary disease, followed by disseminated disease, extra-pulmonary disease [such as in the central nervous system and primary skin and soft tissue disease (2)]. Nocardiosis is regarded as an opportunistic infection, with the majority of infections occurring in immunocompromised patients, including those with long-term corticosteroid exposure, malignancy, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, and history of transplantation (3–7), associated with high mortality of 34.5–40% (3, 4). Xu L. et al. (8) reviewed 12 patients of nocardiosis in EAS patients. However, reports of nocardiosis in patients with other forms of CS were not included.

In this study, we presented a patient of nocardiosis with suspected EAS in our hospital and analyzed 17 patients of nocardiosis in CS reported in the literature to summarize the clinical characteristics, treatments, and prognosis of CS with nocardiosis.

METHODS

Medical Information of This Case

We collected the clinical characteristics, laboratory data, imagings, and microbiology results of a patient of CS with nocardiosis in Peking Union Medical College Hospital (PUMCH). This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of PUMCH.

Literature Review

A systematic literature review was conducted through searched PubMed, Web of Science, and Embase, finding all relevant and available articles published in English. MeSH terms included "Cushing's syndrome," "Nocardia Infections," or "nocardiosis." Original research, case reports, case series, or review articles published until October, 2020 with detail medical history and laboratory data were included. Studies which analyzed cases of exogenous CS were excluded.

Statistical Analysis

Data management and analysis were performed using SPSS 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data were presented as proportions for categorical variables and mean SD or median (interquartile range) for continuous variables. Significant differences between groups for continuous variables were tested using a *t*-test or the nonparametric Mann–Whitney *U* test, as appropriate. χ^2 tests were used for comparisons of categorical data.

RESULTS

Case Presentation

A 41-year-old man developed fatigue for 2 months with progressive polydipsia and polyuria. A month ago, he went to the local hospital and had the examination revealed that his blood pressure was 150/100 mmHg and his fasting blood-glucose was 17 mmol/L. He was given insulin treatment afterwards. However, he could not uphold the regular treatment and his blood glucose could not be well controlled. He manifested fever of 38.4°C and cough with yellow phlegm following catching a cold 6 days ago. The patient gradually presented with mental disorders of mania and aggressive behavior for 4 days. He was urgently referred to our hospital. On admission, the man appeared weak and confused, thinning of the skin with pigmentation, bruising and edema of face and both lower extremities but no red-purple striae. He presented with mild moon face, no obvious buffalo hump. In laboratory examinations, serum glucose was 24.8 mmol/L, sodium 164 mmol/L, potassium 2.6 mmol/L, albumin 21g/L, creatine 102 µmol/L. Arterial blood gas analysis demonstrated of metabolic alkalosis. The X-ray of chest showed patch shadows of left middle lobe and right upper lobe. Insulin therapy, potassium supplements (oral potassium chloride, 9.0 g/d), spironolactone 60 mg/d, intravenous fluids, and empirical antibiotics moxifloxacin were applied. The patient's consciousness, serum glucose, and sodium returned to normal 2 days later. He got a normal body temperature and less cough with phlegm 5 days later. On the 6th day, chest CT showed patchy infiltration and small nodules of bilateral lung lobes (Figures 1A, B).

Examinations for CS were performed a week after his admission when the patient's condition was improved. His serum ACTH was 171 pg/ml (normal range <46 pg/ml), 24-h urinary free cortisol (24hrUFC) was 3,522 µg (normal range 12.3-103.5 µg/24 h), repeated 24hrUFC was 2746 µg. The baseline serum cortisol was 51.21 µg/dl (normal range 4.0-22.3 µg/dl), after overnight 1 mg dexamethasone suppression test (DST) and high-dose DST were 58.76 and 62.74 µg/dl respectively. CS was diagnosed according to the clinical practice guideline of the diagnosis of CS (9). MRI scanning of pituitary gland showed no abnormal signal. In consideration of diabetes and hypertension in young age, mild physical appearance of CS, repeated high levels of 24hrUFC, and no suppression in 1 mg DST, the diagnosis of CS was established. Furthermore, because of rapid onset and severe conditions of the patient with the extreme cortisol excess, markedly elevated ACTH level, no suppression in high-dose overnight DST, no space-occupying lesion in pituitary gland, ectopic ACTH syndrome (EAS) was suspected. But CT scanning of chest and abdomen and ^{99m}Tc-octreotide scintigraphy gave no clue for the ectopic location of ACTH-secreting tumor.

Chest CT on the 15th day demonstrated multiple enlarged nodules, partial cavitary lesions (**Figures 1D, E**). Lung cancer was suspected but no tumor cell was founded in lung tissues from biopsy. GM test was positive. Modified acid-fast stains of sputum and lung tissues from percutaneous lung needle biopsy showed filamentous branching organisms. Sputum culture after 72 h



FIGURE 1 | Clinical images of our patient. CT scanning of the chest showing continuous development to a large cavitary mass in both lung lobes. (**A**, **B**) were taken on the 6th day. (**D**, **E**) were taken on the 15th day. (**C**, **F**) MRI scanning showing multiple long T1/T2 signal lesions in the brain on the 24th day.

grew Aspergillus fumigates and Nocardia cyriacigeorgica. Lung tissue culture after 48 h grew Nocardia cyriacigeorgica. Although trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMZ), ceftriaxone combined amphotericin B were used, the patient's situation deteriorated with head MRI scanning displaying multiple long T1/T2 signal lesions suggesting multiple brain abscesses on the 24th day (**Figures 1C, F**). We suspected the patient had the brain Nocardia or Aspergillus infections. Unfortunately, he refused further medication and died after auto discharge.

Literature Review

Seventeen CS with nocardiosis patients from 15 published reports (8, 10–23) were reviewed. Together with our case, 18 CS patients (11 male, 7 female) were identified. Patients were HIV negative and had no history of organ transplantation, no use of immunosuppression therapy. The clinical characteristics were summarized in **Table 1**. The average age of patients was $41.9 \pm$ 5.0 years. Eight patients (44.4%) had hypertension and 14 patients (77.8%) had diabetes mellitus. The causes of CS were all ACTH-dependent. Two patients (11.1%) were diagnosed as CD while nine patients (50.0%) diagnosed as EAS and seven patients (38.9%) with suspected as EAS of unknown origin including our patient. The ectopic ATCH originated from bronchial carcinoid (3/18), pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor (2/18), small cell lung carcinoma (1/18), paraganglioma (1/18), neuroblastoma (1/18), and small cell carcinoma in rib (1/18). The average 24hrUFC was 7,587.1 \pm 2,772.0 µg/d. The average serum total cortisol and ACTH (8 AM) was 80.2 \pm 18.7 µg/dl and 441.8 \pm 131.8 pg/ml, respectively. Serum cortisol levels of 11 EAS and 2 CD were above 43.1 µg/dl. The 24hrUFC levels of 11 EAS were above 2,000 µg/d. Totally, serum cortisol or 24hrUFC levels were above these levels in 83.3% (15/18) patients.

The pulmonary nocardiosis related symptoms varied including fever, cough, expectoration, dyspnea, chest pain, and hemoptysis. Seven patients were confused and six patients progressed to respiratory failure that required intubation and mechanical ventilation. Three patients had only chest imaging changes with no fever or any pulmonary symptoms. The pulmonary radiologic findings included cavitary lesions (10/18), nodules (8/18), infiltration (3/18), consolidation (2/18), and pleural effusion (2/ 18) (Table 1). Multiple pulmonary radiologic findings manifested in one patient. The diagnosis of nocardiosis was established by modified acid-fast and/or methenamine silver stain and culture from sputum, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF), or biopsy tissues of lung, skin, and brain lesions. Pulmonary nocardiosis was diagnosed in all patients. Other infection sites of Nocardia were brain (5/18), skin (2/18), blood (1/18), and paravertebral site (1/18). Co-infections were found in 33.3% (6/18) patients. Coinfected microorganisms included Pneumocystis jirovechi (3/18), Aspergillus (3/18), Escherichia coli (2/18), Clostridium difficile (1/ 18), Enterococcus (1/18), Pseudomonas (1/18), and Staphylococcus aureus (1/18) (Table 1). Diagnosis time of Nocardia was variant.

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics, diagnosis, treatments, and outcomes of 18 patients of Cushing's syndrome with nocardiosis.

Authors	Country	Age (year)	Gender	HTN	DM	24hr UFC (μg)	ACTH (pg/ mL)	Serum total cortisol (µg/dl)	Cause of Cushing's syndrome	Infection sites	Chest imaging	Co-infection	Antibiotics	Treatment of Cushing's syndrome	Outcom
Petersen DP, 1981 (10)	U.S.	72	F	No	No	NA	elevated	elevated	EAS origin from pulmonary carcinoid tumor	lung and skin	nodules	none	TMP-SMZ	Mitotane	mortality
Natale RB, 1981 (11)	U.S.	24	Μ	No	Yes	1,1820	902	110	EAS origin from bronchial carcinoid	lung	infiltrated and cavitary lesion	Pneumocystis carinii	TMP-SMZ	metapyrone and bilateral adrenalectomy	mortality
Higgins TL, 1982 (12)	U.S.	47	Μ	No	Yes	882	1,128	44	EAS origin from pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor	lung	nodules	E. coli and Pseudomonas	intravenous sulfadiazine and oral cycloserine	metyrapone, aminoglutethimide,5- fluorouracil, streptozocin, and Cytoxan	mortality
Findlay JC, 1992 (13)	U.S.	71	F	Yes	Yes	NA	NA	47.8	Cushing's disease	lung and brain	cavitary lesion	none	sulfadiazine	aminoglutethimide and metyrapone	mortality
Boscaro M, 1994 (14)	Italy	27	Μ	No	No	980	48.5	27	occult EAS	lung, brain, and abdomen	infiltration	none	TMP-SMZ	metyrapone + aminoglutethimide followed by bilateral adrenalectomy	survival
Huang TP, 1994 (15)	China	25	Μ	No	Yes	8,454	725	62	EAS origin from rib small cell carcinoma	lung	nodules and cavitary lesion	none	NA	ketoconazole	mortality
Beinart GA, 2003 (16)	U.S.	68	М	Yes	Yes	4,322	519	82	EAS origin from metastatic small cell lung carcinoma	lung	consolidation and cavitary lesion	Aspergillus, Clostridium difficile colitis, enterococcal bacteremia	TMP-SMZ	carboplatin, etoposide, ketoconazole	mortality
Chrysanthidis T, 2010 (17)	Greece	52	F	No	Yes	>1812	79	20.3	occult EAS	lung, brain, and skin	infiltration	none	meropenem, gentamicin, and minocycline	ketoconazole	mortality
Sutton BJ, 2011 (18)	U.S.	42	F	No	No	NA	152	NA	EAS origin from pulmonary carcinoid tumor	lung	nodules	none	TMP-SMZ	RFA of the carcinoid tumor	survival
Chowdry RP, 2012 (19)	U.S.	48	F	No	Yes	16,340	296	106.2	EAS origin from pancreatic neuroendocrine cancer	lung and blood	nodules and pleural effusion	E. coli and Pneumocystis jirovechi	TMP-SMZ	ketoconazole	mortality
Momah N, 2012 (20)	U.S.	42	М	Yes	Yes	21,469	1,013	130	occult EAS	lung and brain	cavitary lesion	methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus, Pneumocystosis and brain aspergillosis	TMP-SMZ	ketoconazole, octreotide, and radical thymectomy and mediastinectomy	mortality
Rizwan A, 2014 (21)	Pakistan	53	М	Yes	Yes	2,000	68.5	20	occult EAS	lung	cavitary lesion	none	TMP-SMZ	bilateral adrenalectomy	survival
Rizwan A, 2014 (21)	Pakistan	54	Μ	Yes	Yes	27,216	159	134	occult EAS with multiple metastasis	lung	cavitary lesion	none	TMP-SMZ	none	mortality
															(Continued

Case Report: Cushing's Syndrome With Nocardiosis

Authors	Country Age Gender HTN DM (year)	Age (year)	Gender	NTH	MQ	24hr UFC (µg)	ACTH (pg/ mL)	Serum total cortisol (µg/dl)	Cause of Cushing's syndrome	Infection sites	Chest imaging	Co-infection	Antibiotics	Treatment of Cushing's syndrome	Outcome
Rizwan A, 2014 (21)	Pakistan	38	Σ	Yes	Yes	9,088	255	192	occult EAS	bunj	consolidation none and pleural effusion	none	TMP-SMZ	ketoconazole	survival
Xu L, 2016 (8) China	China	35	Σ	Yes	Yes	Yes Yes 3,118.08	372	>50	EAS origin from mediastinal paraganglioma	lung	nodules and cavitary lesion	none	TMP-SMZ	resection of the mediastinal tumor	survival
Kobayashi K, Japan 2018 (22)	Japan	52	ш	No	No	NA	469	59.6	EAS origin from olfactory	lung	nodules	none	TMP-SMZ	metyrapone and mitotane	survival
Mylonas CC, Greece 2019 (23)	Greece	40	ш	Yes	Yes	NA	126.9	61.5	Cushing's disease	lung	nodules and cavitary lesion	none	TMP-SMZ	transsphenoidal pituitary surgery	survival
Our case, 2020	China	41	Σ	No	Yes	3,522	171	51.2	occult EAS	lung and brain	cavitary lesion	Aspergiilus	TMP-SMZ, ceftriaxone and amphotericin B	none	mortality

The shortest time for identification of Nocardia was 3 days after symptoms onset. In some patients, the Nocardia identification time lasted for several weeks, even after the patients' death.

Fourteen patients were treated with TMP-SMZ for nocardiosis. Due to the resistance of TMP-SMZ, one patient was treated with meropenem and gentamicin. The duration of antibiotic therapy lasted from 3 days to 1 year. The treatment of CS included surgery and medical therapy. Transsphenoidal pituitary surgery was performed in one patient, resection or radiofrequency ablation (RFA) of EAS tumor in three patients, bilateral adrenalectomy in three patients. Drugs that reduced cortisol levels, including ketoconazole, metapyrone, mitotane, and cytotoxic drugs, were used in 12 patients. In terms of prognosis, 11/18 (61.1%) patients died. Eight patients died of infections and three patients died of progression of malignancy. The average ACTH, cortisol, and 24hr UFC level of mortality and survival were 554.7 \pm 401.0 and 213.1 \pm 159.0 pg/ml (P = 0.04), 78.8 ± 39.5 and 72.0 ± 69.6 µg/dl, 9,369.3 ± 9,560.8 μ g, and 3,796.5 \pm 3,634.1 μ g, respectively. The patients that had co-infections had higher ACTH level (671.5 \pm 398.2 vs 245.5 \pm 217.1 pg/ml, P = 0.047). Patients with lower level of ACTH, no coinfection, underwent CS surgery and received antibiotic therapy for more than 6 months had more possibilities to survive (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

Although nocardiosis in EAS patients has been reported, our review presented 18 nocardiosis with CS patients (16 EAS and 2 CD) and emphasized the possibility of Nocardia infection in other forms of CS. In addition, according to the clinical characteristics, treatments, and prognosis of these 18 patients,

 TABLE 2 | Comparison of clinical characteristics between distinct outcomes of patients of Cushing's syndrome with nocardiosis.

		Survival	Mortality	P value
n		7	11	
Age (year)		41.0 ± 9.2	49.5 ± 16.5	0.24
Gender	Female	3	4	0.78
	Male	4	7	
24hrUFC (µg)		3,796.5 ±	9,369.3 ±	0.31
		3,634.1 (n = 4)	9,560.8 (n = 6)	
F (µg/dl)		72.0 ± 69.6	78.8 ± 39.5	0.81
		(n = 5)	(n = 10)	
ACTH (pg/ml)		213.1 ± 159.0	554.7 ± 401.0	0.04
		(n = 7)	(n = 9)	
Cause of Cushing's	CD	1	1	1.00
syndrome				
	EAS	6	10	
DM	Yes	4	10	0.25
	No	3	1	
Extrapulmonary	Yes	1	6	0.09
nocardiosis	No	6	5	
Co-infections	Yes	0	6	0.02
	No	7	5	
Surgery of CS	Yes	5	2	0.02
	No	2	9	
Treatment duration	≥6 months	6	2	0.002
of antibiotics	<6 months	0	8	

FABLE 1 | Continued

we put forward the risk factors for mortality in CS patients with nocardiosis.

Opportunistic infections in endogenous CS were predominantly observed in patients with severe cortisol excess (24). Previous reports (16, 25) had shown that high levels of endogenous glucocorticoids above the cut-off levels of serum cortisol, 43.1 µg/dl and 24hrUFC, 2,000 µg/d, were reliable indicators for severe infections in EAS patients. Fifteen of 18 (83.3%) patients including 13 EAS and 2 CD patients in our series were detected of high levels of serum cortisol or 24hrUFC exceeded these cut-off values. In addition, our review showed that CS patients with higher level of ACTH had more risks for co-infections and mortality. It was suggested that we should give more concern to avoiding infections in CS patients with extremely high ACTH concentrations. We did not find the difference in serum cortisol or 24hrUFC between patients of survival and mortality maybe because of the relatively small sample size. Hypercortisolism impaired cellular and humoral immunity. CS patients show significant lymphopenia, especially the reduction in the CD4+ subset, the reduction in the CD4/CD8 ratio are predictors for opportunistic infections (26). However, there was no record of lymphocytes subsets analysis in our review.

Pulmonary infection was the most common manifestation in nocardiosis. The clinical characteristics and symptoms of pulmonary nocardiosis were non-specific. Some patients had no pulmonary symptoms while some patients experienced respiratory failure rapidly. The radiologic findings were variable. Nodules, masses, cavitations, infiltration, consolidation, and pleural effusion could be radiographic presentations of pulmonary nocardiosis. Xu L. et al. (8) proposed cavity lesions, consolidation/infiltration, and nodule/mass were the major findings for EAS patients. The most common findings were cavitary lesion and nodules in our review. It was noted that these radiologic findings could also be the presentation of fungal, mycobacterial infections, and malignancies including both primary and metastatic lung cancers. Lung nodules were suspected to be tumors of EAS in five patients (27.7%) (19, 21-23) in our series including our patient. Biopsies of suspicious lung nodules were performed. Histological and cytologic examination of the biopsy showed no evidence of malignancy but inflammation. Nocardia infection was confirmed by the biopsy. Therefore, rapid changes of chest imagings indicated an infective etiology rather than malignancy and Nocardia infection should be carefully cautioned (19).

Aggressive diagnostic approaches were warranted in individuals suspected of infections. Broncho-alveolar lavage (BAL), brushing by bronchoscopy, or percutaneous lung fineneedle aspiration from the cavitated nodule might be the drawing location for cytology examinations and culture to establish the diagnosis of pulmonary nocardiosis. We should pay adequate attention in order to make early etiological diagnosis.

In our CS review, 11 of 18 patients (61.1%) died. The mortality rate was similar with that reported in EAS patients of 66.7% (8). It is seemed that the mortality rate of nocardiosis in CS patients is higher than that in other immunocompromised patients of 34.5-40% (3, 4). Mortality appeared to be correlated

with multiple sites of infections and was reported as high as 100% in patients with disseminated diseases (4, 27). We did not find the extrapulmonary nocardiosis had impacts on mortality. The reason might be the small sample of our case series. Co-infections with other microorganisms have been found to attribute to mortality in nocardiosis (28). Our patients and the other two patients (16, 20) with nocardia and aspergillus co-infections had bad outcomes. Moreover, 33.3% (6/18) patients had co-infections in our series. All of them died afterwards. CS patients with marked high levels of ACTH are prone to have co-infections. Clinicians need to be mindful of opportunistic co-infections in patients with CS.

Reducing the cortisol level was essential for the treatment of CS with nocardiosis (29, 30). Resection of primary tumor that induced over-secretion of ACTH was an efficient and rapid strategy. However, EAS can be a diagnostic challenge with the hormonal source difficult to find. Seven patients (38.9%) had occult EAS in our series. ⁶⁸Ga-conjugated somatostatin receptor targeting peptide positron emission tomography (68Ga-SSTR-PET/CT) contributes to localization of primary tumor of EAS (31). If the primary tumor couldn't be found, bilateral adrenalectomy might be of value (32). Anticortisolic drugs also provided decrease of hypercorticism (33). Patients who underwent CS surgery had better prognosis than those treated by medicines only. Moreover, it was worth mentioning that patients with nocardiosis generally needed 6 to 12 months of antibiotic therapy, depending on their immunological status and the organs infected (34). The survived patients received antibiotic drugs for more than 6 months in our review.

There are some limitations in this study. Firstly, EAS was suspected without definite localization of primary tumor produced excess hormone in our patient. Secondly, this is a retrospective study. In addition, the sample size is relatively small as Nocardia infection in CS is incredibly rare reported. Future research is required to improve the prognosis of CS with nocardiosis.

In conclusion, Nocardia infection should be cautioned when a patient with CS presents abnormal chest radiographs. The mortality risk factors of CS with nocardiosis are high level of ACTH and co-infections. We should endeavor to make early etiological diagnosis. Long-term application of sensitive antibiotics and aggressive treatments of CS are beneficial for prognosis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Peking Union Medical College Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DZ and YJ designed the study, and DZ and HF participated in data collection. DZ performed the systematic review and drafted the manuscript. YJ edited and reviewed the manuscript. LL, ZL,

REFERENCES

- Hayes AR, Grossman AB. The Ectopic Adrenocorticotropic Hormone Syndrome: Rarely Easy, Always Challenging. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North* Am (2018) 47:409–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2018.01.005
- Beaman BL, Beaman L. Nocardia species: host-parasite relationships. Clin Microbiol Rev (1994) 7:213–64. doi: 10.1128/cmr.7.2.213
- Williams E, Jenney AW, Spelman DW. Nocardia bacteremia: A single-center retrospective review and a systematic review of the literature. *Int J Infect Dis* (2020) 92:197–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.01.011
- Zia K, Nafees T, Faizan M, Salam O, Asad SI, Khan YA, et al. Ten Year Review of Pulmonary Nocardiosis: A Series of 55 Cases. *Cureus* (2019) 11:e4759. doi: 10.7759/cureus.4759
- Wilson JW. Nocardiosis: updates and clinical overview. Mayo Clin Proc (2012) 87:403–7. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2011.11.016
- Fareau GG, Vassilopoulou-Sellin R. Hypercortisolemia and infection. Infect Dis Clin North Am (2007) 21:639–57. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2007.06.001
- Graham BS, Tucker WJ. Opportunistic infections in endogenous Cushing's syndrome. Ann Intern Med (1984) 101:334–8. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-101-3-334
- Xu L, Xu Q, Yang M, Gao H, Xu M, Ma W. Nocardiosis in ectopic ACTH syndrome: A case report and review of 11 cases from the literature. *Exp Ther Med* (2016) 12:3626–32. doi: 10.3892/etm.2016.3846
- Nieman LK, Biller BM, Findling JW, Newell-Price J, Savage MO, Stewart PM, et al. The diagnosis of Cushing's syndrome: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93:1526–40. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2008-0125
- Petersen DP, Wong LB. Nocardia infection of the hand-case report. J Handb Surg Am (1981) 6:502–5. doi: 10.1016/s0363-5023(81)80112-8
- Natale RB, Yagoda A, Brown A, Singer C, Stover D, Bajorunas D. Combined Pneumocystis carinii and Nocardia asteroides pneumonitis in a patient with an ACTH-producing carcinoid. *Cancer* (1981) 47:2933–5. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19810615)47:12<2933::aid-cncr2820471233>3.0.co;2-g
- Higgins TL, Calabrese LH, Sheeler LR. Opportunistic infections in patients with ectopic ACTH-secreting tumors. *Cleve Clin Q* (1982) 49:43–9. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.49.1.43
- Findlay JC, Arafah BM, Silverman P, Aron DC. Cushing's syndrome with cranial and pulmonary lesions: necessity for tissue diagnosis. *South Med J* (1992) 85:204–6. doi: 10.1097/00007611-199202000-00022
- Boscaro M, Fallo F, Sonino N. Disseminated nocardiosis in a patient with Cushing's syndrome. J Endocrinol Invest (1994) 17:443–5. doi: 10.1007/ BF03347735
- Huang TP, Wang PW, Liu RT, Tung SC, Jean WY, Lu YC, et al. Ectopic ACTH syndrome with nocardiosis-a case report. *Changgeng Yi Xue Za Zhi* (1994) 17:371–7.
- Beinart GA, Rao RK, Hollander H. Ectopic ACTH syndrome resulting in nocardiosis and acute respiratory failure. *Hosp Physician* (2003) 39:49–54.
- Chrysanthidis T, Yavropoulou M, Metallidis S. Disseminated Nocardiosis in Ectopic Adrenocorticotropic Hormone Syndrome-A Case Report. *Endocrinol* (2010) 6:286–7. doi: 10.1097/TEN.0b013e3181fcff16
- Sutton BJ, Parks GE, Manavi CK, Palavecino EL, Geisinger KR. Cushing's syndrome and nocardiosis associated with a pulmonary carcinoid tumor: report of a case and review of the literature. *Diagn Cytopathol* (2011) 39:359– 62. doi: 10.1002/dc.21428

WX, and XX partially conceived the research idea. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grant from the Non-profit Central Research Institute Fund of Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (2018PT32001) and grant from Peking Union Medical College Hospital (ZC201904197).

- Chowdry RP, Bhimani C, Delgado MA, Lee DJ, Dayamani P, Sica GL, et al. Unusual suspects: pulmonary opportunistic infections masquerading as tumor metastasis in a patient with adrenocorticotropic hormone-producing pancreatic neuroendocrine cancer. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2012) 4:295–300. doi: 10.1177/1758834012456415
- Momah N, Koroscil T. Occult ectopic adrenocorticotropic hormone secretion: diagnostic dilemma and infective consequence. *Clin Pract* (2012) 2:e82. doi: 10.4081/cp.2012.e82
- Rizwan A, Sarfaraz A, Jabbar A, Akhter J, Islam N. Case report: nocardia infection associated with ectopic cushings. *BMC Endocr Disord* (2014) 14:51. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-14-51
- Kobayashi K, Asakura T, Ishii M, Akhter J, Islam N. Pulmonary nocardiosis mimicking small cell lung cancer in ectopic ACTH syndrome associated with transformation of olfactory neuroblastoma: a case report. *BMC Pulm Med* (2018) 18(1):142. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-14-51
- Mylonas CC, Gomatou G, Asimakopoulou A, Masaoutis C, Kyriakopoulos G, Kopelia M, et al. Pulmonary nocardiosis associated with Cushing's disease: a case report. *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis* (2019) 89(3). doi: 10.4081/monaldi. 2019.1130
- Bakker RC, Gallas PR, Romijn JA, Wiersinga WM. Cushing's syndrome complicated by multiple opportunistic infections. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1998) 21:329–33. doi: 10.1007/BF03350337
- Sarlis NJ, Chanock SJ, Nieman LK. Cortisolemic indices predict severe infections in Cushing syndrome due to ectopic production of adrenocorticotropin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 85:42–7. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.85.1.6294
- Hasenmajer V, Sbardella E, Sciarra F, Minnetti M, Isidori AM, Venneri MA. The Immune System in Cushing's Syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 31:655–69. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2020.04.004
- Lerner PI. Nocardiosis. Clin Infect Dis (1996) 22:891–903. doi: 10.1093/ clinids/22.6.891
- Huang L, Sun L, Yan Y. Characteristics of nocardiosis patients with different immune status from a Chinese tertiary general hospital during 8-year period: A STROBE-compliment observational study. *Med (Baltimore)* (2019) 98: e17913. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000017913
- Lionakis MS, Kontoyiannis DP. Glucocorticoids and invasive fungal infections. *Lancet* (2003) 362:1828–38. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14904-5
- Lutgers HL, Vergragt J, Dong PV, de Vries J, Dullaart RP, van den Berg G, et al. Severe hypercortisolism: a medical emergency requiring urgent intervention. *Crit Care Med* (2010) 38:1598-601. doi: 10.1097/ CCM.0b013e3181e47b7a
- Isidori AM, Sbardella E, Zatelli MC, Boschetti M, Vitale G, Colao A, et al. Conventional and Nuclear Medicine Imaging in Ectopic Cushing's Syndrome: A Systematic Review. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100:3231–44. doi: 10.1210/JC.2015-1589
- Joubert M, Reznik Y, Verdon R. "Rescue" bilateral adrenalectomy in paraneoplastic Cushing's syndrome with invasive Aspergillus fumigatus infection. Am J Med Sci (2007) 334:497–8. doi: 10.1097/MAJ.0b013e3180a5e924
- 33. Kamenicky P, Droumaguet C, Salenave S, Blanchard A, Jublanc C, Gautier JF, et al. Mitotane, metyrapone, and ketoconazole combination therapy as an alternative to rescue adrenalectomy for severe ACTH-dependent Cushing's syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:2796–804. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0536

 Martinez R, Reyes S, Menendez R. Pulmonary nocardiosis: risk factors, clinical features, diagnosis and prognosis. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* (2008) 14:219–27. doi: 10.1097/MCP.0b013e3282f85dd3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Jiang, Lu, Lu, Xia, Xing and Fan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Everolimus Related Fulminant Hepatitis in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor With Liver Metastases: A Case Report and Literature Review

Shih-Chun Chang, Chun-Yi Tsai, Keng-Hao Liu, Shang-yu Wang, Jun-Te Hsu, Ta-Sen Yeh and Chun-Nan Yeh *

Department of General Surgery, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Chang Gung University College of Medicine, Taoyuan, Taiwan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annamaria Anita Livia Colao, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Christian Albert Koch, Fox Chase Cancer Center, United States Elisa Giannetta, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

> *Correspondence: Chun-Nan Yeh yehchunnan@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 December 2020 Accepted: 03 March 2021 Published: 01 April 2021

Citation:

Chang S-C, Tsai C-Y, Liu K-H, Wang S-y, Hsu J-T, Yeh T-S and Yeh C-N (2021) Everolimus Related Fulminant Hepatitis in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor With Liver Metastases: A Case Report and Literature Review. Front. Endocrinol. 12:639967. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.639967 **Background:** Everolimus, an immunosuppressant, is approved for the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma, metastatic hormone receptor-positive breast cancer, and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (P-NETs) but has been reported to be related to hepatitis B reactivation. Here, we present the first case of fatal fulminant hepatitis B reactivation in a man with P-NET accompanied by multiple liver metastases who received everolimus and octreotide long-acting repeatable (LAR).

Case Presentation: A 45-year-old male had a history of chronic hepatitis B infection. He was found to have a complicated liver cyst incidentally, and then he underwent biopsy, which disclosed a grade 2 neuroendocrine tumor (NET). Subsequent MRI of the abdomen and PET revealed a solid mass at the pancreatic tail with numerous liver tumors favoring metastases and peripancreatic lymph node metastases. Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) of the right lobe of the liver was performed, and he started to take 5 mg everolimus twice a day and 20 mg octreotide LAR every month 8 days after the 1st TACE. No hepatitis B virus (HBV) prophylaxis treatment was administered. He then underwent laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy and splenectomy three and half months after the initial treatment of everolimus. He continued everolimus 5 mg twice a day and octreotide 20 mg every month after the operation. Three months later, hepatic failure occurred due to acute hepatitis B flare-up-related fulminant hepatic failure since other possible causes of hepatic failure were excluded. Five days after hepatic failure presented, hepatic failure was apparent, and pulseless ventricular tachycardia occurred. The patient expired after failed resuscitation.

Conclusion: A literature review of everolimus-related hepatitis B reactivation was conducted. In P-NET patients with chronic hepatitis B who will undergo everolimus treatment, HBV prophylaxis should be considered since fatal hepatitis B reactivation might occur under rare conditions.

Keywords: acute hepatitis B flare-up, everolimus, fulminant hepatitis B, neuroendocrine tumor (NE tumor), pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor (pNET)

BACKGROUND

Everolimus, at type of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor, is approved for the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma, metastatic hormone receptor-positive breast cancer, and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (P-NETs). However, as an immunosuppressant, everolimus has been reported to be related to hepatitis B reactivation. Previous publications have proposed fatal hepatitis B reactivation in patients receiving everolimus for metastatic breast cancer and advanced renal cell carcinoma. Here, we present the first case of fatal fulminant hepatitis B reactivation in a man with P-NET accompanied by multiple liver metastases who received everolimus and octreotide long-acting repeatable (LAR).

CASE REPORT

A 45-year-old male had a history of chronic hepatitis B infection and hypertension and a mild increase in glucose levels. He had been regularly followed up in a gastrointestinal outpatient clinic for chronic hepatitis B infection. Half a year before admission, a complicated liver cyst was incidentally found on liver sonography in another hospital, where computed tomography (CT)-guided biopsy of the complicated liver cyst was performed. The pathology report revealed grade 2 neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) with a mitotic figure of 7 in 10 high-power fields. Immunohistochemical staining confirmed the diagnosis of NETs with positive chromogranin A, synaptophysin, and CD 56 staining. The lesion was negative for CK-7 and hepatocellular carcinoma markers, including Hepar-1, arginase-1, and glypican-3. Metastatic NET was considered. During this period, there was no abdominal pain, flushing, or diarrhea but mild cold sweating.

He was then hospitalized in our hospital. The hemogram and biochemistry investigations were normal, including serum

carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA 19-9) levels (<0.6 IU/L, normal: <37 IU/L), carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) levels (1.36 ng/mL, normal: <5 ng/mL), and alpha-fetoprotein levels (3.8 ng/mL, normal: <9 ng/mL). Serum chromogranin A levels were elevated (119.80 ng/mL, normal: <101.9 ng/mL), but adrenal function (cortisol 12.87 µg/dL, normal: 7-9AM 4.2-22.4 µg/dL, 3-5PM 3.1-16.7 µg/dL; adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) 35.10 pg/mL, normal: 7.2-63.3 pg/mL), gastrin levels (44.2 pg/mL, normal: 28-185 pg/mL), and C-peptide levels (4.5 ng/mL, 1.1-4.4 ng/mL) were all within the normal range, as were urinary vanillylmandelic acid (VMA) (8.1 mg/day, normal: 1.9-9.8 mg/day) and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) (4.8 mg/ day, normal: 2-6 mg/day) levels. Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) (7069.00, nonreactive: <0.9, equivocal: 0.9-10, reactive: >10), anti-HBs antibody (528.50 IU/L, nonreactive: <10), and anti-HBc antibody (0.005, non-reactive: >1.0) were all reactive but nonreactive to anti-hepatitis C virus (HCV) antibody. Subsequent abdominal CT showed a pancreatic body cystic tumor approximately 1.5 cm in size (Figure 1A) and a suspected pancreatic tail tumor associated with liver tumors in the right and left lobes (Figure 1B). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the abdomen revealed a solid mass at the pancreatic tail with numerous liver tumors favoring metastases. The pancreatic body tumor was a cyst (Figure 2A). Positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) with MRI also showed peripancreatic lymph node metastases (Figure 2B). Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) of the right lobe of the liver was performed during this admission. He was discharged 3 days after TACE.

He started to take 5 mg everolimus twice a day and 20 mg octreotide LAR every 28 days, starting from 8 days after the 1st TACE. No hepatitis B virus (HBV) prophylaxis treatment was administered. After he took everolimus for three months and octreotide 3 times, and subsequent abdominal CT showed stationary pancreatic NETs but decreased liver metastasis









nodule numbers, suggesting partial response to concurrent everolimus (Figures 3A, B). Therefore, he underwent laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy and splenectomy three and half months after the initial treatment of everolimus. The pathology report revealed grade 2 NETs of the pancreas with direct invasion of the spleen. Immunohistochemical analysis revealed that tumor cells were positive for CD56, chromogranin A, synaptophysin and beta-catenin on the membrane and negative for insulin. Ki-67 index was 15% (Figures 4A, B). The postoperative course was uneventful, and he was discharged 7 days after the surgery.

He continued everolimus 5 mg twice a day and octreotide 20 mg every 28 days after the operation. No HBV prophylaxis treatment was administered as before. Two and half months after the surgery, he underwent abdominal CT for follow-up, which disclosed no evidence of local recurrence at the pancreas and regression of the liver tumor where previous TACE was performed; the other liver metastases appeared as stable disease.

Approximately 2 weeks after the last abdominal CT, he had general weakness with an icteric look and then coma. He visited another hospital abroad, and was initially hospitalized there; hepatic failure progressed there. Four days later, he was transferred back to our hospital and admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU). The hemogram and biochemistry study showed coagulopathy but no thrombocytopenia (international normalized ratio (INR) 2.9, platelet count 22,6000/µL), jaundice (total bilirubin 11.1 mg/dL, direct bilirubin 6.9 mg/dL), abnormal liver function test (aspartate aminotransferase (AST) 824 U/L, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) 636 U/L), azotemia (blood urea nitrogen (BUN) 21.2 mg/dL, creatinine 5.87 mg/dL) or elevation in ammonia level (408 µg/dL). The HBV DNA level was 1.832509 million cps/ml, and the anti-hepatitis B e antibody was reactive, so entecavir was prescribed. Anti-hepatitis C antibody, CMV-IgM, HIV antigen, EB-VCA IgM, and RPR were all nonreactive. Acute hepatitis B flare-up-related fulminant hepatic failure was diagnosed since other possible causes of hepatic failure were







FIGURE 4 | Pathology from distal pancreatectomy showed a neuroendocrine tumor with numerous mitotic figures (A). Immunohistochemical analysis revealed that tumor cells were all positive for CD56, chromogranin A, synaptophysin, and beta-catenin on the membrane but negative for insulin. Ki-67 index was 15%. Therefore, it was a grade 2 neuroendocrine tumor (B).

excluded. However, general tonic clonic seizures occurred in the ICU, but brain CT showed no obvious lesions. Five days after hepatic failure was apparent, pulseless ventricular tachycardia occurred. The patient expired after failed resuscitation.

DISCUSSION

Everolimus is approved as a single agent for the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma and P-NETs and as combination treatment with exemestane for the treatment of hormone receptor-positive breast cancer (1–3). Pavel et al. published the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 RADIANT-2 study in which median progression-free survival (PFS) improved for 5.1 months with everolimus plus octreotide LAR compared with placebo plus octreotide LAR in patients with low- or intermediate-grade advanced NETs and a history of carcinoid symptoms (4). Despite no significant improvement in PFS, the latest result of the final overall survival from the RADIANT-2 study was positive with a hazard ratio of 1.08 (5), and everolimus plus octreotide LAR was still considered an effective approach for these patients. This finding was supported by our patient having stable disease of the original P-NET tumor but significant improvement in liver metastases, in which the tumor burden seemed decreased under the control of everolimus plus LAR. However, acute flare-up of hepatitis B leading to fulminant hepatic failure occurred when everolimus plus LAR was used for 5.5 months. One out of 204 patients in the RADIANT-2 trial developed fatal HBV reactivation (4). A similar event has been reported in a patient with metastatic breast cancer who received treatment with everolimus plus exemestane for a 15-day period (6). Everolimus-related acute hepatitis reactivation has also been reported in renal cell carcinoma, in which one event occurred after a 3-month period of everolimus use and another after a 5-month period (7, 8). The latter patient died of fulminant hepatitis. Table 1

TABLE 1	Case reports about everolimus related HBV reactivation.
---------	---

Year	Disease	Medicine used	Duration of treatment till HBV reactivation	Treatment of HBV reactivation	Outcome
2013 Sezgin et al. (7)	RCC with lung and axillary metastases	Everolimus 10mg daily then tapering to 5mg daily	5 months	Tenofovir	Resolved
2013, Shinta et al. (8)	RCC with lung metastases	Everolimus	5 months	Entecavir and steroid pulse therapy (methylprednisolone, 1000 mg/day for 3 days with gradual tapering)	Died
2013, Eleonora et al. (6)	Breast cancer with lung, bone, pancreas, intramuscular metastases	Everolimus 10mg daily+ exemestane 25mg daily	24 days	Tenofovir	Died
2016, Olivier et al. (3)	Breast cancer with bone metastases	Everolimus 10mg daily+ exemestane 25mg daily	3 months	Entecavir	Resolved
2021 Chang et al.	P-NET accompanied by multiple liver metastases	Everolimus 5mg twice a day + long acting octreotide 20mg every month	5.5 months	Entecavir	Died

RCC, Renal cell carcinoma.

summarizes the case reports on everolimus-related HBV reactivation. According to the literature review, this rare but fatal event seems to occur from 0.5 to 6 months after the start of use of everolimus. In breast cancer, fatal events seem to occur earlier (0.5 months and 3 months), and in renal cell carcinoma, they seem to occur later (both 5 months). The fatal event in our case tended to occur later (5.5 months), which is similar to that in renal cell carcinoma. However, since the number of case reports is still limited, the risk factors and the duration of HBV reactivation after everolimus use still need further investigation.

Based on recent estimates, approximately 350 million people worldwide suffer from chronic hepatitis B infection (9). HBV reactivation is defined as a sudden and rapid increase in the HBV DNA level by at least 100-fold in patients with previously detectable HBV DNA or the reappearance of HBV DNA viremia in individuals who did not have viremia before the initiation of immunosuppressive or biological modifier therapy or cancer chemotherapy. Five stages have been proposed regarding HBV reactivation related to immunosuppressive or biological modifier therapy or cancer chemotherapy (9). HBV reactivation should particularly be paid attention to when people are exposed to cancer chemotherapy, immunosuppressive therapy, or biologic therapies for the management of malignancies or benign conditions, such as rheumatologic conditions, inflammatory bowel disease, dermatologic conditions, or solid-organ or bone marrow transplantation (9, 10). Table 2 summarizes cytotoxic and immunosuppressive agents that have been reported to be related to HBV reactivation.

Everolimus is an mTOR inhibitor, and other similar medicines include rapamycin. The immunosuppressive properties of everolimus may predispose patients to opportunistic infections and/or the reactivation of previous infections. As expected, infective pneumonia and other bacterial and invasive fungal infections have been reported in patients treated with everolimus, as well as the reactivation of viral infections (7, 12), including hepatitis E virus (13–16). Another mTOR inhibitor, sirolimus, has also been reported to be associated with the reactivation of hepatitis B with octreiotide previously (17). The possible mechanism was that octreotide has

TABLE 2 | Cytotoxic or immunosuppressive agents associated with HBV reactivation (6, 11).

Alkylating agents	Cyclophosphamide, Chlorambucil, Cisplatin, Temozolomide. Procarbazine
Alkaloids	Vincristine, Vinblastine
Antimetabolites	Cytarabine, Fluorouracil, Gemcitabine, Mercaptopurine, Methotrexate, Thioguanine
Monoclonal	Rituximab (anti-CD20)
antibodies	Alemtuzumab (anti-CD52)
	Mogamulizumab (anti CC-chemokine receptor 4)
	Anti-TNF-alpha (infliximab, adalimumab, golimumab, and certolizumab)
Other cytotoxic	Docetaxel, Etoposide, Fludarabine, Mitomycin,
agents	Bleomycin
Tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI)	Imatinib, Nilotinib, Dasatinib, Erlotinib, Ibrutinib
Other	Interferon

been proposed to significantly reduced hepatic blood flow that decreased the liver metabolic activity in patients with hepatitis B surface antigen positive cirrhotic patients, which might be relevant to the reactivation of hepatitis B (18). In addition, somatostatin has been be hypothesized to be related to autocrine and paracrine regulatory role, and *via* neuroendocrine modulation of the immune response, it might represent a direct regulatory relation between the nervous and immune system (19). Consequently, as an analogue of somatostatin, octreotide might play similar role. In contrast, several mechanisms have been proposed regarding the relationship between HBV inactivation, instead of activation, from mTOR inhibitors (20–22). Consequently, the mechanism by which fulminant hepatitis B originates from everolimus remains unclear.

Due to the increased risk of the reactivation of hepatitis B in patients who will receive immunosuppressive or cytotoxic therapies, many institutes have suggested screening before treatment is initiated, with at least HBsAg, anti-HBc, and anti-HBs (9, 10, 23-28); all those who are negative for HBsAg, anti-HBc, and anti-HBS should be vaccinated against HBV. Although no guidelines are available concerning the feasibility of antiviral prophylaxis combined with everolimus in treating P-NET or breast cancer, lamivudine, entecavir or tenofovir were suggested for anti-HBV prophylaxis in advanced renal cell carcinoma patients receiving everolimus (29). The duration of prophylaxis remains inconclusive. However, according to the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) 2017 clinical practice guidelines, HBV prophylaxis should continue for at least 12 months and 18 months for rituximab-based regimens after the cessation of immunosuppressive treatment and discontinued only if the underlying disease is under remission. Close follow-up is also suggested, including liver function tests and HBV DNA during prophylaxis lasting for at least 12 months after antiviral agent withdrawal, since HBV reactivation might develop after antiviral agent discontinuation (26).

In conclusion, in P-NET patients who will receive everolimus plus octreotide LAR, HBV reactivation might occur, though the incidence is low. The duration of everolimus use for HBV reactivation is still inconclusive. The mechanism between everolimus and hepatitis B reactivation remains unclear. The protocol for HBV prophylaxis in everolimus is not well established. However, since fatal reactivation events have been reported in advanced renal cell carcinoma and metastatic breast cancer, clinicians should consider routine HBV screening and antiviral prophylaxis before everolimus therapy is initiated for P-NET patients receiving everolimus plus octreotide LAR.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient's family for the publication of this case report and any accompanying images.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

C-YT, K-HL and S-YW: discussion and review about the organization of this article, and also deal with the pathology

REFERENCES

- Steelman LS, Martelli AM, Cocco L, Libra M, Nicoletti F, Abrams SL, et al. The therapeutic potential of mTOR inhibitors in breast cancer. Br J Clin Pharmacol (2016) 82(5):1189–212. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12958
- Baselga J, Campone M, Piccart M, Burris HA3, Rugo HS, Sahmoud T, et al. Everolimus in postmenopausal hormone-receptor-positive advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(6):520–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1109653
- Mir O, Toulmonde M, Coriat R, Ropert S, Loulergue P. Hepatitis B reactivation during everolimus treatment. *Acta Oncol* (2016) 55(12):1505–6. doi: 10.1080/0284186X.2016.1230275
- Pavel ME, Hainsworth JD, Baudin E, Peeters M, Hörsch D, Winkler RE, et al. Everolimus plus octreotide long-acting repeatable for the treatment of advanced neuroendocrine tumours associated with carcinoid syndrome (RADIANT-2): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. *Lancet* (2011) 378(9808):2005–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61742-X
- Pavel ME, Baudin E, Öberg KE, Hainsworth JD, Voi M, Rouyrre N, et al. Efficacy of everolimus plus octreotide LAR in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumor and carcinoid syndrome: final overall survival from the randomized, placebo-controlled phase 3 RADIANT-2 study. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28(7):1569–75. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx193
- Teplinsky E, Cheung D, Weisberg I, Jacobs REA, Wolff M, Park J, et al. Fatal hepatitis B reactivation due to everolim0us in metastatic breast cancer: case report and review of literature. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2013) 141(2):167–72. doi: 10.1007/s10549-013-2681-0
- Göksu SS, Bilal S, Coşkun HŞ. Hepatitis B reactivation related to everolimus. World J Hepatol (2013) 5(1):43–5. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v5.i1.43
- Mizuno S, Yoshiyuki Y, Ebinuma H, Nakamoto N, Katahira M, Sasaki A, et al. Progressive liver failure induced by everolimus for renal cell carcinoma in a 58-year-old male hepatitis B virus carrier. *Clin J Gastroenterol* (2013) 6 (2):188–92. doi: 10.1007/s12328-013-0371-4
- Loomba R, Liang TJ. Hepatitis B Reactivation Associated With Immune Suppressive and Biological Modifier Therapies: Current Concepts, Management Strategies, and Future Directions. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152 (6):1297–309. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.02.009
- Doo EC, Hoofnagle JH, Rodgers GP. NIH consensus development conference: management of hepatitis B. Introduction. *Hepatology* (2009) 49(5 Suppl):S1– 3. doi: 10.1002/hep.22993
- Chang CS, Tsai C-Y, Yan SL. Hepatitis B reactivation in patients receiving targeted therapies. *Hematology* (2017) 22(10):592–8. doi: 10.1080/10245332. 2017.1321882
- Carmine D'Aniello ,MM, Umberto B. Prevention of Hepatitis B Virus Reactivation With Lamivudine in a Patient With Advanced Renal Cell Carcinoma Treated With Everolimus. Am J Ther (2016) 23(1):e300–3. doi: 10.1097/MJT.000000000000005
- Zhou X, Wang Y, Metselaar HJ, Janssen HL, Peppelenbosch MP, Pan Q. Rapamycin and everolimus facilitate hepatitis E virus replication: revealing a basal defense mechanism of PI3K-PKB-mTOR pathway. *J Hepatol* (2014) 61 (4):746–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.05.026
- Gingras AC, Raught B, Sonenberg N. eIF4 initiation factors: effectors of mRNA recruitment to ribosomes and regulators of translation. *Annu Rev Biochem* (1999) 68:913–63. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.68.1.913

and image of this article. J-TH and T-SY: assist with the revised of article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Chang Gung Medical Research Program, Taiwan.

- Kaur S, Lal L, Sassano A, Majchrzak-Kita B, Srikanth M, Baker DP, et al. Regulatory effects of mammalian target of rapamycin-activated pathways in type I and II interferon signaling. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(3):1757–68. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M607365200
- Colina R, Costa-Mattioli M, Dowling RJ, Jaramillo M, Tai LH, Breitbach CJ, et al. Translational control of the innate immune response through IRF-7. *Nature* (2008) 452(7185):323–8. doi: 10.1038/nature06730
- Defilippis EM, Ludwig E. Fatal Hepatitis B Reactivation in a Patient with Islet Cell Tumor on Octreotide and Sirolimus. J Gastrointest Oncol (2015) 6(5): E66–9. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2015.042
- Lin HC, Tsai YT, Lee SD, Hsia HC, Meng HC, Wang SS, et al. Octreotide Decreased Liver Metabolic Activity in Patients with Hepatitis B Surface Antigen-Positive Cirrhosis. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (1992) 52(2):134–9. doi: 10.1038/clpt.1992.122
- Hagen PV, Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ, Reubi JC, Anker-Lugtenburg PJ, Löwenberg B, et al. Somatostatin and the Immune and Haematopoetic System; a Review. *Eur J Clin Invest* (1993) 24(2):91–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1994.tb00972.x
- HY K, Jhun JY, Cho ML, Choi JY, Byun JK, Kim EK, et al. Interleukin-6 upregulates Th17 response via mTOR/STAT3 pathway in acute-on-chronic hepatitis B liver failure. J Gastroenterol (2014) 49(8):1264–73. doi: 10.1007/ s00535-013-0891-1
- H G, Zhou T, Jiang D, Cuconati A, Xiao GH, Block TM, et al. Regulation of hepatitis B virus replication by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-akt signal transduction pathway. J Virol (2007) 81(18):10072–80. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.00541-07
- Wang Z, Jin W, Jin H, Wang X. mTOR in viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma: function and treatment. *BioMed Res Int* (2014) 2014:735672. doi: 10.1155/2014/735672
- Reddy KR, Beavers KL, Hammond SP, Lim JK, Falck-Ytter YTAmerican Gastroenterological Association Institute. American Gastroenterological Association Institute guideline on the prevention and treatment of hepatitis B virus reactivation during immunosuppressive drug therapy. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 148(1):215–9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.10.039
- AS L, McMahon BJ. Chronic hepatitis B: update 2009. *Hepatology* (2009) 50 (3):661–2. doi: 10.1002/hep.23190
- Khokhar OS, Farhadi A, McGrail L, Lewis JH. Oncologists and hepatitis B: a survey to determine current level of awareness and practice of antiviral prophylaxis to prevent reactivation. *Chemotherapy* (2009) 55(2):69–75. doi: 10.1159/000183731
- 26. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. *J Hepatol* (2017) 67(2):370–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.03.021
- Hwang JP, Somerfield MR, Alston-Johnson DE, Cryer DR, Feld JJ, Kramer BS, et al. Hepatitis B Virus Screening for Patients With Cancer Before Therapy: American Society of Clinical Oncology Provisional Clinical Opinion Update. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33(19):2212–20. doi: 10.1200/JCO. 2015.61.3745
- Sarin SK, Kumar M, Lau GK, Abbas Z, Chan HL, Chen CJ, et al. Asian-Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatitis B: a 2015 update. *Hepatol Int* (2016) 10(1):1–98. doi: 10.1007/s12072-015-9675-4
- 29. Porta C, Osanto S, Ravaud A, Climent MA, Vaishampayan U, White DA, et al. Management of adverse events associated with the use of everolimus in

patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. *Eur J Cancer* (2011) 47(9):1287–98. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.02.014

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Chang, Tsai, Liu, Wang, Hsu, Yeh and Yeh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: New Weapons Against Medullary **Thyroid Cancer?**

Sergio Di Molfetta^{1*†‡}, Andrea Dotto^{2,3†‡}, Giuseppe Fanciulli^{4†}, Tullio Florio^{3,5†}, Tiziana Feola^{6,7†}, Annamaria Colao^{8†} and Antongiulio Faggiano^{9†} on behalf of NIKE Group

¹ Department of Emergency and Organ Transplantation, Section of Internal Medicine, Endocrinology, Andrology and Metabolic Diseases, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Bari, Italy, ² Endocrinology Unit, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genova, Italy, ³ Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genova, Genova, Italy, ⁴ Neuroendocrine Unit, Department of Medical, Surgical and Experimental Sciences, University of Sassari-Endocrine Unit, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Sassari, Sassari, Italy, ⁵ IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genova, Italy, ⁶ Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁷ Neuroendocrinology, Neuromed Institute, IRCCS, Pozzilli, Italy, ⁸ Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Endocrinology Unit, University Federico II, Naples, Italy, ⁹ Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Medullary thyroid carcinoma is a rare neuroendocrine neoplasm that originates from thyroid C cells. Surgery, with complete resection of the tumor, is the only curative approach. However, in most cases, the tumor recurs at locoregional or metastatic level. In this setting, the management remains challenging. In recent years, the immune checkpoint inhibitors have provided promise for changing the cancer treatment paradigm through the application of new approaches that enhance the body's natural antitumor defenses. The aim of this review is to summarize and discuss available data on efficacy and safety of the Food and Drug Administration-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma. After an extensive search, we found 7 useful data sources (one single-case report, one short article with very preliminary data, five ongoing registered clinical trials). Despite the lack of published evidence regarding the use of immune check point inhibitors, it must be considered that all the ongoing registered clinical trials saw first light in the last three years, thus indicating a growing interest of researchers in this field. Results coming from these trials, and hopefully, in the next future, from additional trials, will help to clarify whether this class of drugs may represent a new weapon in favor of patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma.

Keywords: medullary thyroid carcinoma, immune checkpoint inhibitors, avelumab, durvalumab, ipilimumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab

Abbreviations: AEs, adverse events; APCs, antigen-presenting cells; ATC, anaplastic thyroid cancer; DTC, differentiated

Citation:

Di Molfetta S. Dotto A. Fanciulli G. Florio T, Feola T, Colao A and Faggiano A (2021) Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: New Weapons Against Medullary Thyroid Cancer? Front. Endocrinol. 12:667784. doi: 10.3389/fendo 2021 667784

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michele Caraglia, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italv

Reviewed by:

Giovanni Vitale. University of Milan, Italy Eleonora Molinaro, University of Pisa, Italy

*Correspondence:

Sergio Di Molfetta s.dimolfetta@libero.it

[†]ORCID:

Sergio Di Molfetta orcid.org/0000-0003-3454-7330 Andrea Dotto orcid.org/0000-0002-0140-7297 Giuseppe Fanciulli orcid.org/0000-0002-8367-5649 Tullio Florio orcid.org/0000-0002-2394-996X Tiziana Feola orcid.org/0000-0003-1066-0064 Annamaria Colao orcid.org/0000-0001-6986-266X Antongiulio Faggiano orcid.org/0000-0002-9324-3946

[‡]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology. a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 14 February 2021 Accepted: 24 March 2021 Published: 14 April 2021

51

thyroid carcinoma; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; DoR, duration of response; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; ICIs, immune checkpoints inhibitors; KO, knock-out; MTC, medullary thyroid carcinoma; NEN, neuroendocrine neoplasm; ORR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; PD-1, programmed cell death protein-1; PD-L1, programmed death-ligand-1; PD-L2, programmed death-ligand-2; PFS, progression-free survival; RCTs, registered clinical trials; RET, rearranged during transfection; TME, tumor microenvironment; TCR, T cell receptor; TKIs, tyrosine kinase inhibitors; Tregs, regulatory T cells.



INTRODUCTION

Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) is a rare neuroendocrine neoplasm (NEN) that originates from thyroid C cells.

Surgery, with complete resection of the tumor, is the only curative approach (1). However, in many patients, the tumor displays an aggressive behavior, resulting in persistence or locoregional and distant disease recurrence. In this setting, the management remains challenging (1, 2).

Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) vandetanib and cabozantinib have shown to improve progression-free survival (PFS), and are currently available as approved agents for the treatment of progressive MTC. However, both drugs may cause grade III or IV adverse events (AEs), classified according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events of the National Cancer Institute (3, 4).

In 2020, the new generation TKIs selpercatinib and praseltinib gained the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval in patients with advanced/metastatic rearranged during transfection (RET) gene-mutant MTC who require systemic therapy, therefore widening the spectrum of available therapies. However, also for these drugs severe AEs have been reported (5, 6).

Therapeutic options also include radionuclide therapy, such as peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (i.e. lutetium-177 and yttrium-90 labeled somatostatin analogs) (7), and iodine-131metaiodobenzylguanidine (8). However, radionuclide therapy is not approved for MTC treatment. In recent years, immunotherapy has provided promise for changing the cancer treatment paradigm through the application of new approaches that enhance the body's natural antitumor defenses.

One of the main mechanisms by which tumors escape host immune surveillance is the so-called cancer immunoediting. Acting on immune checkpoints, tumor cells promote the development of an immunosuppressive environment, to prevent the activation of T cell cytotoxicity. Thus the interfering with immune checkpoint signaling, to restore T cell functioning, is nowadays considered one of the most effective novel antitumor treatment goals (9). To date, antibodies targeted against the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) (i.e. ipilimumab), the programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) (i.e. cemiplimab, nivolumab, and pembrolizumab), and the programmed death-ligand-1 (PD-L1) (i.e. atezolizumab, avelumab, and durvalumab), have been approved by the FDA for human use with the aim to re-activate patient antitumor immunity (**Figure 1**). These drugs, referred as immune checkpoints inhibitors (ICIs), demonstrated significant clinical effectiveness in the treatment of advanced solid tumors and a favorable safety profile, so that entered in the standard clinical practice for several malignancies (10) (**Table 1**).

The inhibitory co-receptor CTLA-4 is constitutively expressed by immunosuppressive regulatory T cells (Tregs), but it can be induced in T cells when activated by antigen-presenting cells (APC). In resting T cells, CTLA-4 is intracellularly localized in endosomes, but, upon T cell receptor (TCR) and CD28 costimulatory signaling activation, CTLA-4 translocates to the cell membrane (11). When exposed on cell surface, CTLA-4 prevents CD28 binding to B7.1 and B7.2 on APCs, thus



TABLE 1 | FDA-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors.

Drug	Brand Name	U.S. Approval	Molecular target	Antibody Description	Indications	Most common adverse reactions
Atezolizumab	Tecentriq®	October 2016	PD-L1	Humanized monoclonal antibody (IgG1-kappa)	Urothelial carcinoma, NSCLC, triple-negative breast cancer	Fatigue, nausea, constipation, cough, dyspnea, and decreased appetite
Avelumab	Bavencio [®]	March 2017	PD-L1	Fully human monoclonal antibody (IgG1-lambda)	MCC, urothelial carcinoma, RCC	Fatigue, musculoskeletal pain, diarrhea, nausea, infusion-related reaction, rash, decreased appetite peripheral edema, and urinary tract infection
Cemiplimab	Libtayo®	September 2018	PD-1	Fully human monoclonal antibody (IgG4-kappa)	cSCC	Fatigue, rash and diarrhea
Durvalumab	Imfinzi [®]	May 2015	PD-L1	Fully human monoclonal antibody (IgG1-kappa)	Urothelial carcinoma, NSCLC	Fatigue, musculoskeletal pain, constipation, decreased appetite, nausea, peripheral edema, urinary tract infection, cough, pneumonitis/radiation pneumonitis, upper respiratory tract infections, dyspnea, rash and alopecia
Ipilimumab	Yervoy [®]	March 2011	CTLA-4	Fully human monoclonal antibody (IgG1-kappa)	Melanoma, RCC	Fatigue, diarrhea, pruritus, rash, and colitis. Additional AR at high doses include nausea, vomiting, headache, weight loss, pyrexia, decreased appetite, and insomnia
Nivolumab	Opdivo [®]	December 2014	PD-1	Fully human monoclonal antibody (IgG4-kappa)	Melanoma, NSCLC, SCLC, RCC, cHL, HNSCC, urothelial carcinoma, MSI-H or dMMR colorectal cancer, HCC	Fatigue, rash, musculoskeletal pain, pruritus, diarrhea, nausea, asthenia, cough, dyspnea, constipation, decreased appetite, back pain, arthralgia, upper respiratory tract infection, pyrexia headache, abdominal pain, and vomiting
Pembrolizumab	Keytruda [®]	September 2014	PD-1	Humanized monoclonal antibody (IgG4-kappa)	Melanoma, NSCLC, HNSCC, cHL, PMBCL, urothelial carcinoma, MSI-H cancer, gastric cancer, cervical cancer, HCC, MCC	Fatigue, musculoskeletal pain, decreased appetite pruritus, diarrhea, nausea, rash, pyrexia, cough, dyspnea, constipation, pain, and abdominal pain

cHL, classical Hodgkin lymphoma; cSCC, cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma; dMRR, deficient mismatch repair; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HNSCC, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; MCC, Merkel cell carcinoma; MSI-H, high level microsatellite instability; NSCLC, non-small-cell lung carcinoma; PMBCL, primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma; RCC, renal cell carcinoma. Data source, FDA prescribing information.

precluding activation and proliferation of T cells (12). In fact, CTLA-4 inhibition causes a major immunostimulation, as experimentally shown in CTLA-4 knock-out (KO) mice, which die after few months due to uncontrolled lymphoproliferative disorders (13) and, in a clinical setting, by the reactivation of T cell-mediated tumor rejection.

Binding of PD-1 to its ligands, PD-L1 and programmed death-ligand-2 (PD-L2), also prevents T cell activation. PD-L1 is an inducible protein expressed in innate and adaptive immune cells, mesenchymal cells, and cancer cells (14), while PD-L2 is mainly expressed by APCs. PD-1 binding to PD-L1 significantly prevents immune responses directed against cancer cells, thereby altering T cell cytokine release, inhibiting TCR signaling, and abridging T cells/APCs interactions (15). The relevant role of this system in controlling T cell activity was demonstrated in PD-1-KO mice, which develop a spontaneous lupus-like disease caused by unrestrained autoreactive T cells (16). On the other hand, the inhibition of PD-1/PD-L1 binding in cancer can promote T cell activation and proliferation, ultimately leading to cytotoxicity in tumors.

MTC is reported to exhibit low PD-L1 expression in both tumor cells and tumor-infiltrating immune cells (17–19) and no microsatellite instability, irrespective of the presence/absence of either desmoplasia, lymph node metastases and/or RET mutation (18, 20).

However, PD-L1 positivity is associated with aggressive clinicopathological features (e.g., larger tumor size, lymph node

or distant metastasis and higher TNM stage) (18, 19) and accounted as a predictor of structural recurrence and biochemical recurrence/persistent disease (19), and CTLA-4 expression is also correlated with advanced staging and structural recurrence-free survival (21), thus suggesting a possible prognostic role in the management of MTC (22).

AIM

The aim of this review is to summarize and discuss available data on efficacy and safety of FDA-approved ICIs in patients with MTC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Published Articles

We performed a literature search in the international online databases (PubMed, Web of Science, Scopus, and Embase) using the following terms: "immune checkpoint inhibitors", CTLA-4, PD-L1, PD-1, atezolizumab, avelumab, cemiplimab, durvalumab, ipilimumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, "medullary thyroid cancer", "medullary thyroid carcinoma", "thyroid cancer", "multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2".

The search was last updated February 14, 2021.

Registered Clinical Trials

By using the same keywords adopted for reviewing published articles, we conducted an in-depth search in the ClinicalTrials.gov registry, European Clinical Trials Database, and China Clinical Trials Register.

The search was last updated February 14, 2021.

RESULTS

Published Articles

The initial literature search revealed a total of 108 published articles, two of which were pertinent to the study objectives.

Del Rivero et al. have recently reported the case of a 61-yearold male with recurrent MTC (23) showing sharp decline in serum calcitonin level while on avelumab. The patient had been successfully treated with off-label sunitinib for 5 years, but he was forced to withdraw the drug due to relevant side effects. He was then enrolled on a clinical trial with a yeast-based, CEA-targeted, therapeutic cancer vaccine (GI-6207) (24), and his calcitonin doubling time improved in 3 months. He then chose to have elective surgery to remove a neck lymph node and, per protocol, the vaccine was discontinued. Three months after surgery, his calcitonin level was still rising and he was enrolled on a phase I, open-label, multiple-ascending dose trial of avelumab (Avelumab in Metastatic or Locally Advanced Solid Tumors [JAVELIN Solid Tumor], NCT01772004). Thereafter, his calcitonin level decreased > 40% on 5 consecutive evaluations, and response assessment by RECIST v1.1 criteria (25) reported stable disease. However, an immune-related AE (i.e., asymptomatic grade 3 rise in lipase) ultimately led to mandatory treatment discontinuation. A subsequent analysis of a patient's lymph node (resected postvaccination) revealed that the tumor was PD-L1 positive.

Very preliminary results of a phase II trial evaluating nivolumab plus ipilimumab in patients with aggressive thyroid cancer (NCT03246958) are also available (26). Indeed, 7 patients with progressive MTC and prior TKI failure were included in an exploratory cohort of the study and assessed for radiographic response based on RECIST v1.1 criteria. Lack of partial response is reported for all the 7 patients, without giving further detail. Also, no safety information is provided for MTC as a single cohort (please see the *Registered Clinical Trials* section for more comprehensive description of the trial design).

Registered Clinical Trials (RCTs)

We found 37 registered clinical trials (RCTs), five of which fully matched the aim of this review (**Table 2**).

NCT03753919 (A Phase II Study of Durvalumab (MEDI4736) Plus Tremelimumab for the Treatment of Patients With Progressive, Refractory Advanced Thyroid Carcinoma - The DUTHY Trial) is a prospective, multi-center, open label, stratified, exploratory phase II study whose aim is to evaluate the following outcomes in patients affected by advanced thyroid cancer (estimated enrollment: 46 patients). Primary outcomes are PFS rate at 6 months and overall survival (OS) rate at 6 months; secondary outcomes comprise overall response rate (ORR), duration of response (DoR), median PFS, incidence of treatment-emergent AEs, median OS, and response status after start of study treatment. According to the primary histotype, patients are divided in three cohorts: i) advanced, radioiodinerefractory differentiated thyroid carcinoma (DTC), including papillary, follicular, Hürtle cell and poorly-differentiated thyroid carcinoma (Cohort 1); ii) advanced MTC (Cohort 2); iii) anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC) (Cohort 3). Each cohort is planned to receive durvalumab plus tremelimumab (anti-CTLA-4 antibody, not yet approved by FDA) every 4 weeks up to 4 cycles followed by durvalumab alone every 4 weeks until progression, unacceptable toxicity or withdrawal. The study started in April 2019, with the estimated study completion date being July 2021. The present study status is "Recruiting".

NCT03246958 (A Phase 2 Study of Nivolumab Plus Ipilimumab in RAI Refractory, Aggressive Thyroid Cancer With Exploratory Cohorts in Medullary and Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer) is a phase II clinical trial evaluating nivolumab in combination with ipilimumab, as a possible treatment for thyroid cancer, focusing on effectiveness (estimated enrollment: 53 patients). The primary endpoint is radiographic response rate as determined by RECIST v1.1 (i.e. partial response plus complete response), whereas secondary outcomes are PFS, OS, and tolerability at two years. This trial is designed to recruit patients with metastatic, progressive, RAI refractory DTC with exploratory cohorts in ATC (7 patients), and incurable, progressive MTC with prior TKI failure (10 patients). Participants aged ≥18 years are divided in two experimental arms: the first arm will be administered nivolumab alone for two weeks followed by nivolumab plus ipilimumab, whereas the second arm ipilimumab alone for two weeks followed by nivolumab/ ipilimumab combination therapy. The study started in September 2017. The estimated study completion date is set for March 2025. The present study status is classified as "Active, not recruiting". As above reported, very preliminary results of this trial have been recently published recently (26).

NCT04514484 (Pilot Trial of Nivolumab Plus Cabozantinib for Advanced Solid Tumors in Patients With HIV Infection) is a phase I trial that aims at defining in HIV-positive patients with advanced/metastatic solid cancer (estimated enrollment: 18 patients) the incidence of dose limiting toxicities during cycle 1 of therapy with cabozantinib and nivolumab (primary outcome). Secondary outcomes include the assessment of immune status (CD4 and CD8 cell counts) at each time point from baseline, HIV viral loads, changes in serum markers of immune activation, in immune checkpoint markers, in angiogenesis markers, and in infiltrating immune cell markers. According to the protocol, patients ≥18 years old receive cabozantinib on days 1-28 and nivolumab on day 1. Cycles repeat every 28 days for up to 1 year or 1 year after a partial response is achieved, or 6 months after a complete response is achieved in the absence of disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The study started in November 2020. The estimated study completion date is November 2025. The present study status is "recruiting".

TABLE 2 | Registered clinical trials evaluating FDA-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors in medullary thyroid carcinoma.

ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier	Molecule	Trial name	Study phase	Medical condition under investigation	Assigned intervention	Primary outcome(s)	Estimated enrollment, n	Estimated study completion date	Trial status
NCT03753919	Durvalumab	A Phase II Study of Durvalumab (MEDI4736) Plus Tremelimumab for the Treatment of Patients With Progressive, Refractory Advanced Thyroid Carcinoma - The DUTHY Trial	Phase II	Metastatic thyroid cancer, including differentiated thyroid carcinoma, medullary thyroid carcinoma, and anaplastic thyroid cancer	Durvalumab 1500 mg plus tremelimumab 75 mg every 4 weeks up to 4 cycles followed by durvalumab 1500 mg every 4 weeks until disease progression, unacceptable toxicity or patients' decision. Cohort 2 is composed by patients affected by advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma	Progression-free survival rate at 6 months [time frame: 6 months] according to RECIST 1.1 criteria Overall survival rate at 6 months [time frame: 6 months]	46	July 2021	Recruiting
NCT03246958	Nivolumab +ipilimumab	A Phase 2 Study of Nivolumab Plus Ipilimumab in RAI Refractory, Aggressive Thyroid Cancer With Exploratory Cohorts in Medullary and Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer	Phase II	Thyroid cancer (radioactive iodine- refractory, aggressive thyroid cancer with exploratory cohorts in medullary thyroid carcinoma and anaplastic thyroid cancer)	Arm I: ipilimumab will be administered via IV infusion, starting two weeks after nivolumab alone. Arm II: nivolumab will be administered via IV infusion, starting two weeks after ipilimumab alone	Radiographic response rate [time frame: 2 years], as determined by RECIST v1.1 (partial response+complete response)	53	March 2025	Active, not recruiting
NCT04514484	Nivolumab	Pilot Trial of Nivolumab Plus Cabozantinib for Advanced Solid Tumors in Patients With HIV Infection	Phase I	17 listed advanced, refractory, or metastatic solid tumors, including medullary thyroid carcinoma	Patients receive cabozantinib on days 1-28 and nivolumab on day 1. Cycles repeat every 28 days for up to 1 year or 1 year after a partial response is achieved, or 6 months after a complete response is achieved in the absence of disease progression or unacceptable toxicity	Incidence of dose limiting toxicities [time frame: 28 days], defined during cycle 1 of therapy	18	November 2025	Recruiting
NCT03072160	Pembrolizumab	Phase II Trial of Pembrolizumab in Recurrent or Metastatic Medullary Thyroid Cancer	Phase II	Medullary thyroid carcinoma	Pembrolizumab 200 mg will be administered as a 30 minute IV infusion every 3 weeks for two years	Determine whether a PD-1 inhibitor will permit a decline in calcitonin levels or response on imaging [time frame: one year]	17	November 2019	Completed (Results submitted)
NCT03012620	Pembrolizumab	Secured Access to Pembrolizumab for Patients With Selected Rare Cancer Types	Phase II	Sarcoma, ovarian neoplasm, central nervous system neoplasm, thyroid neoplasm (including medullary thyroid carcinoma), neuroendocrine carcinoma, germ cell and embryonal neoplasms, NK/T-cell lymphoma	Pembrolizumab 200 mg on day 1 of every 21 day cycle	Objective response rate [time frame: measured at the first scheduled disease assessment following study treatment initiation (day 84 ± 7 days)] according to RECIST v1.1	350	December 2023	Recruiting

Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in MTC

NCT03072160 (Phase II Trial of Pembrolizumab in Recurrent or Metastatic Medullary Thyroid Cancer) is a phase II, open label, single center clinical trial aimed to determine, in patients having or not having undergone previous vaccine therapy (estimated enrollment: 15 patients in each cohort), whether a PD-1 inhibitor may allow for a decline in calcitonin levels or radiographic response (primary outcome); secondary outcomes include impact of previous therapeutic cancer vaccine on response rates, evaluation of immune responses in each cohort, changes in CEA and calcitonin kinetics, PFS, OS and safety. All patients will receive pembrolizumab 200 mg every 3 weeks. The study started in June 2017 and was completed in November 2019, and indeed the present study status is "completed". On 11 February 2021, very preliminary results appeared in the Study Results section of the ClinicalTrials.gov registry. Thirteen patients were enrolled in the cancer vaccine arm (2/13 patients completed the trial), and 4 patients were enrolled in the control arm (none completed the trial). Disease progression was observed in 1/13 patients of the first arm, and in 1/4 patients of the second arm.

NCT03012620 (Secured Access to Pembrolizumab for Patients With Selected Rare Cancer Types) is a phase II, 2, non-randomized, open-label, multicenter study which aims to investigate the efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab in 7 different cohorts of patients with unresectable/locally advanced/metastatic rare cancers for which no other treatment options are available (estimated enrollment: 350 patients). Primary outcome is ORR, whereas secondary outcomes comprise PFS, OS, DoR, time to response, frequency and severity of AEs, and ORR/PFS/OS in subgroups of subjects with high versus low expression of PD-L1, CD4, FOX3 and other immune markers. According to the protocol, cohort 4 features rare thyroid cancer patients of ≥18 years, including MTC; these patients, same as for all other cohorts, are planned to receive pembrolizumab 200 mg on day 1 of every 21-day cycle. The study started in July 2017 and its estimated completion date is December 2023. The present study status is "recruiting".

DISCUSSION

Our review shows, despite very limited published evidence, an increasing attention to the possibility of treating MTC with ICIs, and indeed we found 5 ongoing RCTs with FDA-approved drugs that collectively involve nearly 500 patients with solid tumors, including MTC.

As an additional sign of interest, two trials investigating camrelizumab, a novel PD-1 inhibitor recently approved in China for the treatment of relapsed/refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma (27, 28), are also intended to recruit patients with MTC, i.e. the NCT04612894 (The Efficacy and Safety of Anti-PD-1 Antibody Camrelizumab Combined With Apatinib for Neoadjuvant Therapy in Locally Advanced Thyroid Cancer: a Phase II Study), and NCT04521348 (A Phase II Study to Explore the Safety and Efficacy of Multiple Target Kinase Inhibitor (mTKI) Combined With Anti-Programmed Death-1(PD-1) Antibody in the Treatment of Advanced Thyroid Cancer) trials. Notably, PD-1 and CTLA-4 have non-redundant immunosuppressive effects, paving the way for the development of clinical protocols with antibodies targeting the two pathways (29). Combination therapy with anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 drugs (durvalumab plus tremelimumab, NCT03753919 trial; nivolumab plus ipilimumab, NCT03246958 trial) is giving rise to great expectations in MTC. Overall, there is reliable evidence supporting a greater efficacy of the combined PD-1/CTLA-4 blockade over the two monotherapies in reversing tumor immune inhibition (30–32).

A number of different new scenarios could be opened by combinations or sequential schemes with other anti-tumor treatment modalities.

Systemic chemotherapy has been proposed to exert synergistic effects when combined with PD-1/PD-L1 blocking drugs in non-small-cell lung carcinoma (33). Indeed, chemotherapeutic agents may affect antitumor immunity both indirectly stimulating the immune system through immunogenic death of tumor cells, and directly regulating immune cell subsets, thereby reducing immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment (TME) (34).

Second- or third-line treatment with ICIs has become increasingly common for patients with advanced disease who have already received other types of anticancer therapies (35).

It has been hypothesized that previous administration of cancer vaccines can drive immune cells to the TME and upregulate PD-L1 expression in the tumor cells due to cytokine release in the TME, thus giving a chance for anti-PD-L1/PD-1 drugs in patients who may not have otherwise benefited from such immunotherapies (36, 37). Interestingly, in the abovementioned case report by Del Rivero et al. (23), the 61-year-old male showing >40% decrease in calcitonin level while on avelumab had previously undergone a 3-month trial with the GI-6207 cancer vaccine. Although a subsequent analysis of a patient's lymph node (resected post-vaccination) revealed that the tumor was PD-L1 positive, no information about PD-L1 status before vaccination is available. As a further complication in this case's assessment, the patient had been previously treated with the TKI sunitinib, which is acknowledged to deplete Tregs, and may have affected PD-L1 status as well (38).

The therapeutic potential of FDA-approved atezolizumab, avelumab, ipilimumab and pembrolizumab has also been investigated in NENs other than MTC (39, 40), thereby confirming a strong interest for ICI therapy in this subset of tumors.

CONCLUSION

Despite the lack of evidence regarding the use of ICIs in MTC, it should be considered that all the aforementioned RCTs saw first light in the last three years, thus indicating a growing interest of researchers in this field. Results coming from these trials, and hopefully from additional ones in the next future, will help clarify whether these drugs may represent a new weapon in favor of patients with MTC, and determine their position in the treatment algorithm.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SDM, AD, GF, TFl, and TFe were responsible for the design, the methodology, the draft preparation, the reviewing and editing. AC and AF were responsible for the supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research (MIUR): PRIN 2017Z3N3YC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review is part of the 'Neuroendocrine Tumors Innovation Knowledge and Education' project led by AC and AF, which

REFERENCES

- Ceolin L, Duval ,MAS, Benini AF, Ferreira CV, Maia AL. Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma beyond Surgery: Advances, Challenges, and Perspectives. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2019) 26(9):R499–518. doi: 10.1530/ERC-18-0574
- Viola D, Elisei R. Management of Medullary Thyroid Cancer. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am (2019) 48(1):285–301. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2018.11.006
- Wells SA, Robinson BG, Gagel RF, Dralle H, Fagin JA, Santoro M, et al. Vandetanib in Patients with Locally Advanced or Metastatic Medullary Thyroid Cancer: A Randomized, Double-Blind Phase III Trial. J Clin Oncol (2012) 30(2):134–41. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.35.5040
- Elisei R, Schlumberger MJ, Müller SP, Schöffski P, Brose MS, Shah MH, et al. Cabozantinib in Progressive Medullary Thyroid Cancer. J Clin Oncol (2013) 31(29):3639–46. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.48.4659
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Retevmo[®]. Highlights of Prescribing Information. Available at: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ drugsatfda_docs/label/2020/213246s000lbl.pdf (Accessed on 13 March 2021).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). FDA approves pralsetinib for RET-altered thyroid cancers. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drugapprovals-and-databases/fda-approves-pralsetinib-ret-altered-thyroidcancers (Accessed on 13 March 2021).
- Grossrubatscher E, Fanciulli G, Pes L, Sesti F, Dolci C, de Cicco F, et al. Advances in the Management of Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma: Focus on Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy. J Clin Med (2020) 9(11). doi: 10.3390/jcm9113507
- Agrawal A, Rangarajan V, Shah S, Puranik A, Purandare N. MIBG (Metaiodobenzylguanidine) Theranostics in Pediatric and Adult Malignancies. Br J Radiol (2018) 91(1091):20180103. doi: 10.1259/ bjr.20180103
- Wilky BA. Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: The Linchpins of Modern Immunotherapy. Immunol Rev (2019) 290(1):6–23. doi: 10.1111/imr.12766
- Pardoll DM. The Blockade of Immune Checkpoints in Cancer Immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239
- Iida T, Ohno H, Nakaseko C, Sakuma M, Takeda-Ezaki M, Arase H, et al. Regulation of Cell Surface Expression of CTLA-4 by Secretion of CTLA-4-Containing Lysosomes upon Activation of CD4+ T Cells. J Immunol (2000) 165(9):5062–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.9.5062
- Teft WA, Kirchhof MG, Madrenas JA. Molecular Perspective of CTLA-4 Function. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:65–97. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.immunol.24.021605.090535
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 Leads to Massive Lymphoproliferation and Fatal Multiorgan Tissue Destruction, Revealing a Critical Negative Regulatory Role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* (1995) 3(5):541–7. doi: 10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6

aims at increasing the knowledge on NET. We would like to acknowledge all the Collaborators of the "NIKE" project: Manuela Albertelli-Genova; Barbara Altieri-Wurzburg; Luigi Barrea-Napoli; Filomena Bottiglieri-Napoli; Severo Campione-Napoli; Federica de Cicco-Napoli; Alessandra Dicitore-Milano; Diego Ferone-Genova; Francesco Ferraù-Messina; Erika Grossrubatscher-Milano; Marco Gallo-Torino; Elisa Giannetta-Roma; Federica Grillo-Genova; Elia Guadagno-Napoli; Valentina Guarnotta-Palermo; Andrea M. Isidori-Roma; Andrea Lania-Milano; Andrea Lenzi-Roma; Fabio Lo Calzo-Avellino; Pasquale Malandrino-Catania; Erika Messina-Messina; Roberta Modica-Napoli; Giovanna Muscogiuri-Napoli; Genoveffa Pizza-Avellino; Luca Pes-Sassari; Riccardo Pofi-Roma; Giulia Puliani-Roma; Carmen Rainone-Napoli; Paola Razzore-Torino; Laura Rizza-Roma; Manila Rubino -Milano; Rosa Maria Ruggieri-Messina; Emilia Sbardella-Roma; Franz Sesti-Roma; Mary Anna Venneri-Roma; Giovanni Vitale-Milano; Maria Chiara Zatelli-Ferrara.

- Yi M, Niu M, Xu L, Luo S, Wu K. Regulation of PD-L1 Expression in the Tumor Microenvironment. J Hematol Oncol (2021) 14(1):10. doi: 10.1186/ s13045-020-01027-5
- Baumeister SH, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, Sharpe AH. Coinhibitory Pathways in Immunotherapy for Cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2016) 34:539–73. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112049
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of Lupuslike Autoimmune Diseases by Disruption of the PD-1 Gene Encoding an ITIM Motif-Carrying Immunoreceptor. *Immunity* (1999) 11(2):141–51. doi: 10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Bongiovanni M, Rebecchini C, Saglietti C, Bulliard J-L, Marino L, de Leval L, et al. Very Low Expression of PD-L1 in Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2017) 24(6):L35–8. doi: 10.1530/ERC-17-0104
- Bi Y, Ren X, Bai X, Meng Y, Luo Y, Cao J, et al. PD-1/PD-L1 Expressions in Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma: Clinicopathologic and Prognostic Analysis of Chinese Population. *Eur J Surg Oncol* (2019) 45(3):353–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejso.2018.10.060
- Shi X, Yu P-C, Lei B-W, Li C-W, Zhang Y, Tan L-C, et al. Association Between Programmed Death-Ligand 1 Expression and Clinicopathological Characteristics, Structural Recurrence, and Biochemical Recurrence/ Persistent Disease in Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma. *Thyroid* (2019) 29 (9):1269–78. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0079
- Ingenwerth M, Goetz M, Schmid KW, Theurer S. The Mismatch Repair System Is Not Affected in Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma Independent of Stromal Desmoplasia or Ret Proto-Oncogene Mutation. *Ann Diagn Pathol* (2020) 44:151445. doi: 10.1016/j.anndiagpath.2019.151445
- Shi X, Li C-W, Tan L-C, Wen S-S, Liao T, Zhang Y, et al. Immune Co-Inhibitory Receptors PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3, LAG-3, and TIGIT in Medullary Thyroid Cancers: A Large Cohort Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106 (1):120–32. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa701
- Bai Y, Niu D, Yao Q, Lin D, Kakudo K. Updates in the Advances of Sporadic Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma: From the Molecules to the Clinic. *Gland Surg* (2020) 9(5):1847–56. doi: 10.21037/gs-2019-catp-21
- Del Rivero J, Donahue RN, Marté JL, Gramza AW, Bilusic M, Rauckhorst M, et al. Madan RA. A Case Report of Sequential Use of a Yeast-CEA Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine and Anti-PD-L1 Inhibitor in Metastatic Medullary Thyroid Cancer. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2020) 11:490. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00490
- Madan RA, Singh NK, Gramza AW, Fojo AT, Heery CR, Kim JW, et al. Phase II Study of a Yeast-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine, GI-6207, Targeting CEA in Patients with Minimally Symptomatic, Metastatic Medullary Thyroid Cancer. JCO (2013) 31(15_suppl):TPS3127-TPS3127. doi: 10.1200/ jco.2013.31.15_suppl.tps3127
- 25. Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours: Revised RECIST

Guideline (Version 1.1). Eur J Cancer (2009) 45(2):228-47. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejca.2008.10.026

- 26. Lorch JH, Barletta JA, Nehs M, Uppaluri R, Alexander EK, Haddad RI, et al. Phase II Study of Nivolumab (N) plus Ipilimumab (I) in Radioidine Refractory Differentiated Thyroid Cancer (RAIR DTC) with Exploratory Cohorts in Anaplastic (ATC) and Medullary Thyroid Cancer (MTC). JCO (2020) 38(15_suppl):6513–3. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.6513
- Markham A, Keam SJ. Correction to: Camrelizumab: First Global Approval. Drugs (2019) 79(13):1497. doi: 10.1007/s40265-019-01191-0
- Nie J, Wang C, Liu Y, Yang Q, Mei Q, Dong L, et al. Addition of Low-Dose Decitabine to Anti–PD-1 Antibody Camrelizumab in Relapsed/Refractory Classical Hodgkin Lymphoma. JCO (2019) 37(17):1479–89. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.18.02151
- Schmidt C. The Benefits of Immunotherapy Combinations. *Nature* (2017) 552 (7685):S67–9. doi: 10.1038/d41586-017-08702-7
- Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 Combination Blockade Expands Infiltrating T Cells and Reduces Regulatory T and Myeloid Cells within B16 Melanoma Tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107(9):4275–80. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0915174107
- Beavis PA, Henderson MA, Giuffrida L, Davenport AJ, Petley EV, House IG, et al. Dual PD-1 and CTLA-4 Checkpoint Blockade Promotes Antitumor Immune Responses through CD4+Foxp3- Cell-Mediated Modulation of CD103+ Dendritic Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(9):1069–81. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0291
- 32. Taggart D, Andreou T, Scott KJ, Williams J, Rippaus N, Brownlie RJ, et al. Anti-PD-1/Anti-CTLA-4 Efficacy in Melanoma Brain Metastases Depends on Extracranial Disease and Augmentation of CD8+ T Cell Trafficking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2018) 115(7):E1540–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1714089115
- 33. Gadgeel SM, Stevenson J, Langer CJ, Gandhi L, Borghaei H, Patnaik A, et al. Pembrolizumab (Pembro) plus Chemotherapy as Front-Line Therapy for Advanced NSCLC: KEYNOTE-021 Cohorts A-C. JCO (2016) 34 (15_suppl):9016–6. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.9016
- Mathew M, Enzler T, Shu CA, Rizvi NA. Combining Chemotherapy with PD-1 Blockade in NSCLC. *Pharmacol Ther* (2018) 186:130–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.pharmthera.2018.01.003

- 35. Evans S, Martini D, Magod B, Olsen T, Brown J, Yantorni L, et al. 255 Efficacy of Sequential Immune Checkpoint Inhibition (ICI) in Patients with Genitourinary Malignancies. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(Suppl 3). doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-SITC2020.0255
- Fu J, Malm I-J, Kadayakkara DK, Levitsky H, Pardoll D, Kim YJ. Preclinical Evidence That PD1 Blockade Cooperates with Cancer Vaccine TEGVAX to Elicit Regression of Established Tumors. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(15):4042–52. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2685
- 37. Ribas A, Robert C, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD, Joshua AM, Hwu W-J, et al. Association of Response to Programmed Death Receptor 1 (PD-1) Blockade with Pembrolizumab (MK-3475) with an Interferon-Inflammatory Immune Gene Signature. JCO (2015) 33(15_suppl):3001-1. doi: 10.1200/ jco.2015.33.15_suppl.3001
- Farsaci B, Higgins JP, Hodge JW. Consequence of Dose Scheduling of Sunitinib on Host Immune Response Elements and Vaccine Combination Therapy. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 130(8):1948–59. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26219
- 39. Fanciulli G, Di Molfetta S, Dotto A, Florio T, Feola T, Rubino M, et al. Nike Group. Emerging Therapies in Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma: Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in the Starting Blocks. J Clin Med (2020) 10 (1). doi: 10.3390/jcm10010088
- Özdirik B, Jann H, Bischoff P, Fehrenbach U, Tacke F, Roderburg C, et al. PD-L1 - Inhibitors in Neuroendocrine Neoplasia: Results from a Real-Life Study. *Med (Baltimore)* (2021) 100(1):e23835. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000023835

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Di Molfetta, Dotto, Fanciulli, Florio, Feola, Colao and Faggiano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of FGF System in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Potential Therapeutic Applications

Giovanni Vitale^{1,2*}, Alessia Cozzolino³, Pasqualino Malandrino⁴, Roberto Minotta⁵, Giulia Puliani^{3,6}, Davide Saronni², Antongiulio Faggiano⁷ and Annamaria Colao⁵ on behalf of NIKE

¹ Laboratory of Geriatric and Oncologic Neuroendocrinology Research, Istituto Auxologico Italiano, IRCCS, Cusano Milanino, Italy, ² Department of Medical Biotechnology and Translational Medicine, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ³ Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Endocrinology, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Garibaldi-Nesima Medical Center, University of Catania, Catania, Italy, ⁵ Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy, ⁶ Oncological Endocrinology Unit, IRCCS Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy, ⁷ Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michele Caraglia, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Davide Gentilini, University of Pavia, Italy Boccellino Mariarosaria, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

*Correspondence:

Giovanni Vitale giovanni.vitale@unimi.it; g.vitale@auxologico.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 February 2021 Accepted: 22 March 2021 Published: 14 April 2021

Citation:

Vitale G, Cozzolino A, Malandrino P, Minotta R, Puliani G, Saronni D, Faggiano A, and Colao A (2021) Role of FGF System in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Potential Therapeutic Applications. Front. Endocrinol. 12:665631. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.665631 Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a heterogeneous group of tumors originating from neuroendocrine cells dispersed in different organs. Receptor tyrosine kinases are a subclass of tyrosine kinases with a relevant role in several cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation, motility and metabolism. Dysregulation of these receptors is involved in neoplastic development and progression for several tumors, including NENs. In this review, we provide an overview concerning the role of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF)/fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) system in the development and progression of NENs, the occurrence of fibrotic complications and the onset of drug-resistance. Although no specific FGFR kinase inhibitors have been evaluated in NENs, several clinical trials on multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitors, acting also on FGF system, showed promising anti-tumor activity with an acceptable and manageable safety profile in patients with advanced NENs. Future studies will need to confirm these issues, particularly with the development of new tyrosine kinase inhibitors highly selective for FGFR.

Keywords: neuroendocrine neoplasms, FGFR (fibroblast growth factor receptor), FGF (fibroblast growth factor), VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGFR - vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

INTRODUCTION

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a heterogeneous group of tumors originating from neuroendocrine cells dispersed in different organs (1–5).

Receptor tyrosine kinases are a subclass of tyrosine kinases with a relevant role in several cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation, motility and metabolism. Dysregulation of these receptors plays a relevant role in neoplastic development and progression for several tumors, including NENs (6, 7).

In this review, we provide an overview concerning the role of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF)/ fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) system in NENs.

FGF SYSTEM IN HEALTH AND CANCER

FGFs and related receptors are members of a large family with a wide range of effects. This system is involved in organogenesis (during development), homeostasis and repair of adult tissues. Moreover, FGF family promotes angiogenesis, growth, differentiation and migration of cells mainly through the activation of RAS-MAPK, PI3K-AKT and PLCy pathways, with a relevant role in the development and progression of several tumors (8). These effects are mediated by the interaction of FGFs with four tyrosine kinase receptors: FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3 and FGFR4, which are composed by an extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain. The binding of ligands induces conformational changes that lead to a dimerization of these receptors. This event activates the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain, which in turn triggers the signalling cascade (8). FGFs, based on their biochemical functions, sequence similarity and evolutionary relationships, are classified into different subfamilies: FGF1, FGF4, FGF7, FGF8, FGF9, FGF15/19 and FGF11.

FGF1 and FGF2 are members of the FGF1 subfamily. FGF1 is the only FGF that can activate all FGFRs splice variants. It is involved in cell cycle regulation, cell differentiation, survival and apoptosis. FGF1 plays a central role in neuroprotection and axon regeneration and appears to improve functional recovery after spinal cord injury (9). FGF2 has known angiogenic properties (10, 11). The FGF4 subfamily (FGF4, 5,6) can activate FGFR1-3 (IIIc) and FGFR4. These molecules are fundamental in embryonic development and muscle regeneration (8, 9). FGF7 subfamily (FGF3, 7, 10, 22) preferentially activates FGFR2(IIIb), although FGF3 and FGF10 can also interact with FGFR1(IIIb). FGF3 is involved in the neural development, while FGF7 is required for lung, kidney and neuronal synapses development. The development of epithelial components, such as limb and lungs, and mammary gland requires epithelial-mesenchymal interactions granted by FGF10. Finally, FGF22 regulates the circuit remodeling in the injured spinal cord (12-15). FGF8 subfamily members (FGF8, 17 and 18) activate FGFR4 and FGFR1-3(IIIc). They are involved in the skeletal and brain development and in odontogenesis (8, 14, 16-18). The FGF9 subfamily (FGF9, 16, 20) interacts with FGFR1-3(IIIc), FGFR3 (IIIb) and FGFR4. These proteins are involved in a proper heart, kidney and skeletal development (8, 14, 19, 20). The FGF15/19 subfamily comprises FGF15/19, 21 and 23. FGF15/19 bind FGFR1-3(IIIc) and FGFR4. FGF21 can activate FGFR1(IIIc) and 3(IIIc), as well as FGF23, which can also interact with FGFR4. This subfamily acts as hormones and regulates hepatocyte and adipocyte metabolism (8, 14). FGF11 subfamily members (FGF11, 12, 13, 14) are known as intracellular FGFs. These peptides are not secreted and interact with the cytosolic carboxy terminal tail of voltage gated sodium channels. They cover an important role in the development of the nervous system (8, 21).

A deregulation of the FGF/FGFR system can be involved in cancer development and progression through modulation of cell proliferation, migration and angiogenesis (22).

Besides its role in physiological angiogenesis, FGF2 is implied in tumor-induced angiogenesis and metastatic process and appears to direct tumor-associated macrophages toward a protumorigenic state (23-25). FGF4 promotes cancer cell proliferation, invasion and migration by causing a switch of the receptor FGFR2-IIIb, a splice variant expressed in epithelial cells, into FGFR2-IIIc, expressed in mesenchymal cells and able to induce epithelial-mesenchymal transition (26). FGF5 can promote osteosarcoma proliferation by activating the MAPK signaling pathway (27) and the FGF5/FGFR1 axis contributes to melanoma progression (28). FGF6 can stimulate proliferation of prostate cancer cells through the activation of FGFR4 (29). Among the FGF7 subfamily, FGF3 and FGF7 have been reported to be highly expressed in breast cancer (30, 31) and gastric adenocarcinoma (32), respectively. In addition, the FGF10/FGFR-IIb signaling appears to have a role in breast and pancreatic tumors (15, 33). Although the mechanism is unclear, Jarosz et al. observed a potential role of FGF22 in skin tumorigenesis (34). In a recent study, FGF22 and its receptor FGFR-IIb appear to be associated with the development of lung adenocarcinoma through the MAPK and Rap I signaling pathways (35). A deregulation of FGF18, caused by an altered expression of its negative regulator miR-590-5p, is able to stimulate proliferation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition, with enhanced invasion abilities, in gastric cancer cells (36). In HER⁺ breast cancer cell lines, overexpression of FGF18 stimulates the expression of genes involved in migration and cancer metastasis through Akt/GSK3ß pathway (37). By the interaction with FGFR2 and FGFR3 and the activation of the ERK/Akt pathway, FGF18 is able to induce proliferation and invasion in endometrial carcinoma (38).

The FGF/FGFR pathway has also a key role in the onset of drugresistance (39). FGF/FGFR pathway is the first compensatory mechanism in tumors resistant to drugs targeting the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) system (40–42). Indeed, VEGFdependent vessels are suppressed during prolonged anti-VEGF therapy, while the expression of FGF2 is increased, leading to a novel angiogenesis dependent on FGF2 signaling pathway. This condition drives the tumor toward drug-resistance (42). Boichuk et al. (43) showed that FGF signaling is activated in gastrointestinal stromal tumors after the acquisition of imatinib resistance. Interestingly, the use of a potent FGF inhibitor markedly reduced cell growth in resistant cells compared to imatinib-sensitive cells. This effect increased when the two molecules were combined in resistant cells, showing also that the FGF-inhibitor can restore sensitivity to imatinib.

FGF SYSTEM IN NEUROENDOCRINE NEOPLASMS

The role of the FGF/FGFR system has been analyzed also in NENs and several lines of evidence support its function in the modulation of tumor fibrosis, proliferation, angiogenesis and drug resistance, through a dynamic cross talk between NEN cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells and inflammatory cells (44).

Bordi et al. identified FGF2 by immunohistochemistry in endocrine cells of the gastric oxyntic mucosa and mRNA of FGF2 in enterochromaffin-like carcinoid tumors (45). Immunohistochemical studies demonstrated the staining for FGF-2 in 100% of NEN cells from the midgut and the pancreas, while FGF2 receptors were observed only in the stromal component (46). La Rosa et al. found cytoplasmic immunoreactivity for FGF1 in 26 (43%) out of 60 GEP-NENs and FGFR1-4 were found in 68-88% of tumors with tumor microenvironment components also expressing FGFRs (47). The authors observed also that normal endocrine cells of the gut rarely expressed FGFRs thus hypothesizing that in normal mucosa the FGF/FGFR system has not an autocrine role on modulating endocrine cells functions. Therefore, de novo expression of FGFRs by NEN cells may play a role in the autocrine/paracrine signaling responsible of tumorigenesis, stromal fibrosis and tumor-induced angiogenesis.

NEN are often characterized by the development of fibrosis, local or distant. The best-known fibrotic complications are carcinoid heart disease, which develops in about 20% of patients with carcinoid syndrome (48), and mesenteric fibrosis, which affects up to 40-50% of small bowel NENs (49, 50). Less known complications are represented by retroperitoneal fibrosis (50), scleroderma (51), infiltration of the pleura (52) or alveoli (53) and fibrosis of the bladder (54). Although the pathogenesis of fibrotic complications is unclear, serotonin, with a relevant mitogenic power on fibroblasts, mesangial cells, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells and NEN cells, may have a role in these events (55). The FGF system appears to be also implicated in the mechanism of gastrointestinal NEN fibrosis (56). In fact, Bordi (45) showed that among the 10 patients suffering from type 3 gastric NEN and with positive immunohistochemistry for FGF2, some had diffuse stromal fibrosis. Another study (57), which analyzed a pool of 41 gastrointestinal NENs, showed a positive correlation between FGF1 and the amount of fibrous stroma in tumors. The FGF is responsible of cell proliferation and stroma formation and its action is potentiated by serotonin (58). Moreover, FGF may activate also the expression of the connective tissue growth factor genes that regulate myofibroblast differentiation, collagen synthesis and fibroblast proliferation (59).

The mRNA expression of FGF receptor was found more frequently in functioning NENs (including gastrinomas and insulinomas) than in functionally inactive NENs (53.6% vs. 22.2%) (60). Although this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.10), speculating on the association between FGFR expression and hormone production may be not totally irrational, but further evidence is required to corroborate these findings.

The FGFR4-G388R single-nucleotide polymorphism was investigated in 71 patients with pancreatic NEN (61). The authors observed that FGFR4-R388 allele was independently associated with liver metastases. To further analyze the impact of the FGFR4 SNP, the same authors transfected BON1 cells with either FGFR4-G388 or FGFR4-R388 and injected them in SCID mice. They found that xenografts expressing FGFR4-R388 displayed a more aggressive biological behavior and were resistant to everolimus treatment. This latter aspect was investigated also among 17 patients previously treated with everolimus in a clinical trial. Patients harboring FGFR4-R388 allele achieved a worse tumor response (9% vs. 25%) and a reduced median PFS (4.8 vs. 16.6 months) and OS (9.3vs 40 months) compared to patients homozygous for FGFR4-G388. Although decreased drug response was related to persistently high mTOR and STAT3 phosphorylation despite of everolimus treatment, these data were not confirmed by Cros et al., who reported no modification of the mTOR pathway in patients with pancreatic or ileal NENs harboring FGFR4-R388 allele (62). This apparent inconsistency corroborates the need for further studies validating the identification of molecular parameters useful to predict drug efficacy and resistance (63).

The FGF/FGFR system collaborates with the VEGF signaling pathway in the initiation and maintenance of tumor angiogenesis. These mechanisms have been demonstrated in allograft transplantation experiments and in mouse model of pancreatic NEN (the Rip1Tag2 transgenic mice), where interfering with the FGF function by a soluble form of the FGFR2 IIIb significantly inhibited tumor-induced angiogenesis and tumor growth (64). The FGF system acts as a second proangiogenic circuit, indeed VEGF is the main regulator of angiogenesis but, as reported by Casanovas et al., experiments in the Rip1Tag2 model of pancreatic islet carcinoma documented that initial inhibition of the angiogenesis achieved by VEGF signaling blockade was restored by the upregulation of the FGF system (65). Therefore, blocking both VEGF and FGF signaling pathways may reveal synergic antiangiogenic effects and inhibit tumor progression secondary to compensatory feedback loops driving tumor revascularization. For instance, Allen et al. investigated the effect of brivanib, a selective inhibitor targeting both VEGF and FGF receptors, in a mouse model of pancreatic NEN. Brivanib was effective not only as first-line therapy, but also as second-line treatment after failure of two agents inhibiting VEGF receptors (DC101 and sorafenib) (66).

FGFRs AS THERAPEUTIC TARGET IN NENs

In the last few years, the therapeutic approach for NENs has changed following the approval of several innovative targeted treatments such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). Although no specific FGFR kinase inhibitors have been evaluated in NENs, several clinical trials on multitarget TKIs, acting also on FGF, are ongoing and few published studies have demonstrated their efficacy in NENs (44). The interest in FGF pathway inhibitors relies also in the possibility to overcome resistance to VEGF inhibition that may arise after long term use of these drugs or could be intrinsic in tumor expressing FGF2 (67–69). The results of clinical trials in NENs evaluating multitarget TKI, acting also on FGF, are described below (**Table 1**).

Surufatinib is a potent TKI targeting VEGF receptors (VEGFR) 1, 2, and 3, FGFR1, and CSF-1R. In preliminary phase I and Ib/II studies surufatinib showed encouraging antitumor activity in advanced NENs (81, 82). TABLE 1 | Clinical trials evaluating the effects of multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitors, acting also on FGFR, in patients with NENs.

Ref	Therapy and dose	Molecular target	Study design (Trial name)	Tumors	Number of patients (placebo)	Median follow- up (placebo)	Primary outcome	Results	Main AE (%)
(70)	Surufatinib 300 mg/day	VEGFR 1,2,3 FGFR1 CSF-1R	Randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 (SANET-EP)	Advanced extrapancreatic NETs (G1-G2)	129 (69)	13.8 months (16.6 months)	PFS	Median PFS: 9.2 months (surufatinib) vs. 3.8 months (placebo)	Hypertension (36%); proteinuria (19%)
(71)	Surufatinib 300 mg/day	VEGFR 1,2,3 FGFR1 CSF-1R	Randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 (SANET-P)	Advanced pancreatic NETs (G1-G2)	113 (59)	19.3 months (11.1 months)	PFS	Median PFS: 10.9 months (surufatinib) vs. 3.7 months (placebo)	Hypertension (38%); proteinuria (10%); hypertriglyceridemia (7%)
(72)	Surufatinib 300 mg/day	VEGFR 1,2,3 FGFR1 CSF-1R	Dose escalation/expansion study	Heavily pre-treated progressive NETs	32	19 weeks	ORR	9.4%	Hypertension, fatigue, diarrhea
(73)	Surufatinib 300 mg/day	VEGFR 1,2,3 FGFR1 CSF-1R	Phase 2, open label, two stage design study	Advanced MTC	27	-	ORR	22.2%	hypertension (20.3%), proteinuria (11.9%), hypertriglyceridemia (5.1%)*
(74)	Lenvatinib 24 mg/day	VEGFR 1-3 FGFR1-4	Prospective multicohort phase 2 (TALENT)	Advanced pancreatic and gastrointestinal NETs (G1-G2)	111	19 months	ORR	42.3% pancreatic 16.3% gastrointestinal	Hypertension (22%); fatigue (11%); diarrhea (11%)
(75)	Lenvatinib 24 mg/day	VEGFR 1-3 FGFR1-4	Phase 2, multicenter, open- label, single-arm clinical trial	Unresectable or metastatic progressive MTC	59	-	ORR	36% (all PR)	Diarrhea (14%); hypertension (7%); decreased appetite (7%)
(76)	Lenvatinib 24 mg/day	VEGFR 1-3 FGFR1-4	Nonrandomized, open-label, multicenter, phase 2 study	Progressive MTC	9	9.6 months	Safety	100% of patients ≥1 AE; 1.7% of patients AE leading to discontinuation	Decreased appetite (100%); hypertension (89%); palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia (89%)
(77)	Lenvatinib 24 mg/day	VEGFR 1-3 FGFR1-4	Prospective, post-marketing observational study	UnresectableMTC	28	12 months	Safety	100% pts ≥1 AE	Hypertension; proteinuria; palmar- plantar erythrodysesthesia
(78)	Nintedanib	VEGFR 1,2,3 FGFR2	Multicenter phase 2 study	Advanced progressing carcinoid on stable dose SSA for ≥3 months	30	16 weeks	PFS	PFS at 16 weeks 86.7% in 26 pts	Diarrhea (18%); increase in GGT (18%); lymphopenia (18%)
(79)	Anlotinib 12 mg/day	VEGFR 2-3 FGFR1-4	Single-arm phase 2 study	Advanced or metastatic MTC	58	9.8 months	PFS	PFS at 48 weeks 84.5%	Hand-foot syndrome (79.3%); hypertriglyceridemia (46.5%); elevated cholesterol levels (43.1%)
(80)	Anlotinib 12 mg/day	VEGFR 2-3 FGFR1-4	Multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled phase IIB trial (ALTER01031)	Advanced or metastatic MTC	62 (29)	-	PFS	Median PFS: 20.67 months (anlotinib) vs 11.07 months (placebo)	Hand-foot syndrome; hypertension; hypertriglyceridemia

AE, adverse events; FGFR, fibroblast growth factor receptor; MTC, medullary thyroid carcinoma; NET, neuroendocrine tumor; ORR, overall response rate; PFS, progression free survival; pts, patients; SSA, somatostatin analogs; VEGFR, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor.

*data reported for the overall population (differentiated thyroid cancer and MTC).

Vitale et al.

Two randomized phase III placebo controlled trials evaluated safety and efficacy of surufatinib in patients with well differentiated NENs of extra-pancreatic (SANET-ep) and pancreatic (SANET-p) origin (70, 71).

In SANET-ep study (70) 198 patients were randomly assigned to surufatinib 300 mg/day (n=129) or placebo (n=69). Median progression-free survival (PFS) was 9.2 months in the surufatinib group versus 3.8 months in the placebo group. The overall response rate (ORR) was 10% in the surufatinib group versus zero in the placebo group. The most common treatment-related adverse events (AE) of grade \geq 3 were hypertension (36% surufatinib vs 13% placebo) and proteinuria (19% vs. 0%). In SANET-p study (71) 113 patients were randomly assigned to surufatinib (300 mg/day) and 59 to placebo. The median PFS was 10.9 months for surufatinib group and 2% in the placebo group. The most common AE of grade \geq 3 were hypertension (38% surufatinib vs. 7% placebo), proteinuria (10% vs. 2%) and hypertriglyceridemia (7% vs. none).

Another study evaluated the effect of surufatinib dose escalation/expansion in 32 patients with heavily pre-treated progressive NENs, 16 patients with pancreatic NENs and 16 with extra-pancreatic NENs. Nineteen patients remained on active treatment (13 extra-pancreatic and 6 pancreatic), 9 patients discontinued due to disease progression, 2 withdrew consent and 2 discontinued due to AE. An ORR of 9.4% was observed (72).

An open label phase II study evaluated efficacy and tolerability of surufatinib (300 mg/day) in 27 patients with progressive medullary thyroid cancer (MTC). Objective response was observed in 22.2% of patients with MTC, and the majority (88.9%) achieved disease control. The therapy was well tolerated (73).

Therefore, surufatinib demonstrated promising anti-tumor activity with an acceptable and manageable safety profile in advanced NENs.

Lenvatinib is a potent VEGFR1-3 and FGFR1-4 inhibitor. The TALENT trial, a prospective phase II study, evaluated efficacy, safety and tolerability of lenvatinib (24 mg once daily) in G1/G2 advanced pancreatic (n=55) and gastrointestinal (n=56) NENs resistant to previous targeted agents. The ORR was 29% (42.3% for pancreatic NENs and 16.3% for gastrointestinal NENs). PFS and overall survival (OS) for pancreatic NENs were 15.5 months and 29.2 months, while for gastrointestinal NENs were 15.4 months and not reached, respectively. The most frequent grade 3/4 AE were hypertension (22%), fatigue (11%) and diarrhea (11%) (74). Thus, lenvatinib showed a promising PFS and OS in a pretreated population.

A phase II, multicenter, open-label, single-arm clinical trial evaluated efficacy and tolerability of lenvatinib (24-mg daily, 28-day cycles) in 59 patients with MTC. ORR was 36%, all PR. Disease control rate (DCR) was 80%, 44% had SD. Median time to response was 3.5 months. Median PFS was 9.0 months. Grade 3/4 AE included diarrhea (14%), hypertension (7%), decreased appetite (7%), fatigue, dysphagia and increased alanine aminotransferase levels (5% each) (75).

Another phase II study evaluated lenvatinib treatment in 9 patients with MTC. The most frequently reported AE were decreased appetite (100%), hypertension (89%), palmarplantar erythrodysesthesia (89%), diarrhea (89%), fatigue (78%) and proteinuria (67%). Median PFS was 9.2 months. Median OS was 12.1 months. ORR was 22% and DCR was 100% (76).

Recently, a prospective, post-marketing observational study evaluated, in daily clinical practice, the safety and effectiveness of lenvatinib in 28 patients with MTC. Hypertension, proteinuria and palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia syndrome were the most frequently reported AE. The 12-months OS rate was 83%. ORR was 45% (77).

Nintedanib is a dual inhibitor of VEGFR1, -2, and -3 as well as FGFR2 and showed both antiangiogenic and antitumor activity in the RIP1-Tag2 transgenic mouse model of tumorigenesis for pancreatic NEN (44). A multicenter phase II study evaluated efficacy, safety and tolerability of nintedanib in 30 patients with unresectable/metastatic carcinoids on stable dose of SSA for \geq 3 months. PFS at 16 weeks was 86.7% in 26 patients. PR was observed in 4%, SD in 83%, disease progression in 8% of patients. Quality of life was maintained or improved in at least 50% of subjects. The most common grade 3 AE were hypertension and decreased appetite (78).

A prospective randomized double-blind phase II study evaluated the efficacy and tolerability of nintedanib in progressing MTC after prior TKI treatment. The study was stopped due to slow accrual with 32/67 patients enrolled, without reaching the targeted statistical power. The most common AE were diarrhea (18%), nausea (9%), GGT increase (18%) and lymphopenia (18%) (83).

Anlotinib is a novel TKI targeting VEGFR2-3 and FGFR1-4 with high affinity. Anlotinib has previously shown promising antitumor activity on MTC in preclinical models and a phase I study (84). A phase II clinical trial showed a relevant antitumor activity of anlotinib (12 mg once daily, two weeks on/one week off) in 58 patients with advanced MTC. PFS rates at 24, 36, and 48 weeks were 92.2%, 87.8% and 84.5%, respectively. Significant decreases in serum calcitonin (\geq 50%) occurred in 57.5% of patients. The most common AE included hand-foot syndrome (79.3%), hypertriglyceridemia (46.5%), hypercholesterolemia (43.1%), fatigue (41.4%), proteinuria (39.7%), hypertension (39.7%), sore throat (37.9%), diarrhea (34.5%) and anorexia (34.5%) (79).

These data have been confirmed in a phase IIb study (ALTER01031), enrolling a larger cohort of patients (80). Ninety-one patients with advanced MTC were randomized: 62 to anlotinib arm and 29 to placebo arm (12 mg/die from day 1 to 14 of a 21-day cycle). Median PFS was 20.7 months in anlotinib arm vs. 11.1 months in placebo arm. The most common AE after anlotinib arm were hand-foot syndrome, hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia and diarrhea (80).

Several clinical trials on the use of multi target TKI, with an action also on FGFR, in patients with NENs are currently ongoing. **Table 2** reports the main characteristics of trials registered on clinicaltrials.gov.

TABLE 2 | Ongoing clinical trials evaluating the effects of multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitors, acting also on FGFR, in patients with NENs.

Identifier	Therapy	Molecular target	Study design	Tumors	Estimated sample size	Primary outcome	Start date	Estimated Completion Date
NCT02399215	Nindetanib	FGFR VEGFR PDGFR	Multicenter open label phase II study	Well or moderately differentiated (G1, G2) NEN not pancreatic	30	PFS	May 2015	October 2020
NCT04207463	Anlotinib + AK105 <i>(anti PD1)</i>	FGFR VEGFR PDGFR c-kit	Multicenter multi-cohort open label phase II study	G1 or G2 GEP NET (cohort 5)	150 (all cohorts)	ORR	June 2020	December 2020
NCT02259725	Regorafenib	FGFR VEGFR1-3 TIE2 KIT RET RAF-1 BRAF BRAFV600E PDGFR	Multicenter multi-cohort open-label phase II study	Carcinoid (cohort A) or pancreatic islet cell tumors (cohort B)	48	PFS	August 2016	August 2021
NCT03950609	Lenvatinib + Everolimus (mTOR inhibitor)	FGFR1-4 VEGFR1-3	Single center open-label phase II study	Unresectable well differentiated carcinoid tumors	32	ORR	July 2019	May 2021
NCT03475953	Regorafenib + Avelumab <i>(anti PD-L1)</i>	FGFR VEGFR1-3 TIE2 KIT RET RAF-1 BRAF BRAFV600E PDGFR	Multicenter, open label phase I/II study	G2 or G3 GEP NEN (cohort G)	362	ORR (Phase 2)	May 2018	November 2020
NCT02657551	Regorafenib	FGFR VEGFR1-3 TIE2 KIT RET RAF-1 BRAF BRAFV600E PDGFR	Open-label phase II study	Metastatic medullary thyroid cancer	33	PFS	January 2016	October 2022
NCT03008369	Lenvatinib	FGFR1-4VEGFR1-3	Open-label phase II study	Metastatic PPGLs	25	TRR	May 2017	December 2020

FGFR, fibroblast growth factor receptor; GEP, gastro-entero-pancreatic; NA, not available; NEN, neuroendocrine neoplasm; NET, neuroendocrine tumor; ORR, objective response rate; PD1, Programmed cell death protein 1; PDGFR, Plateletderived growth factor receptor; PD-L1, Programmed cell death ligand 1; PFS, progression free survival; PPGL, Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma; pts, patients; TRR, tumor response rate (complete response and partial response); VEGFR, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In the last years there is mounting evidence supporting the role of FGF/FGFR system in the development and progression of NENs and probably in the occurrence of fibrotic complications (mesenteric and/or retroperitoneal fibrosis). In addition, the FGF/FGFR pathway could also have a key role in the onset of drug-resistance. Indeed, FGF/FGFR pathway is a main compensatory mechanism in anti-VEGF-therapy-resistant tumors.

Currently no specific FGFR kinase inhibitors have been evaluated in patients affected by advanced NENs. Although recent clinical trials have reported a significant antitumor activity and manageable safety profile of several multitarget TKIs, which are able to block many molecular pathways including FGFR, it is not possible to isolate the efficacy of FGFR inhibition alone. Future studies should better confirm these issues and clarify the role of FGF/FGFR pathway in promoting drug-resistance in NENs. The development of new TKIs, highly selective for FGFR and with less toxicity, may open an innovative therapeutic strategy to be integrated into a personalized approach for this heterogeneous class of tumors. In addition, recent preclinical studies showed a potent inhibition in tumor growth both in hepatocellular carcinoma (85) and in ovarian cancer (86), through the simultaneous blockade of mTOR and FGFR pathways. Considering the pivotal role of deregulated mTOR signaling activation in the proliferation of NENs, particularly in pancreatic tumors, combining mTOR inhibitors and TKIs targeting FGFRs could represent a future therapeutic approach in NENs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GV, AlC, PM, RM, GP, and DS conceptualized and wrote the manuscript. AF and AnC contributed to draft the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- 1. La Rosa S, Uccella S. Classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms: lights and shadows. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s11154-020-09612-2
- Barriuso J, Lamarca A. Clinical and Translational Research Challenges in Neuroendocrine Tumours. *Curr Med Chem* (2020) 27:4823–39. doi: 10.2174/ 0929867327666200207120725
- Alexandraki KI, Tsoli M, Kyriakopoulos G, Angelousi A, Nikolopoulos G, Kolomodi D, et al. Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine neoplasms of unknown primary origin. *Minerva Endocrinol* (2019) 44:378–86. doi: 10.23736/S0391-1977.19.03012-8
- Fuentes-Fayos AC, García-Martínez A, Herrera-Martínez AD, Jiménez-Vacas JM, Vázquez-Borrego MC, Castaño JP, et al. Molecular determinants of the response to medical treatment of growth hormone secreting pituitary neuroendocrine tumors. *Minerva Endocrinol* (2019) 44:109–28. doi: 10.23736/S0391-1977.19.02970-5
- Tamagno G, Bennett A, Ivanovski I. Lights and darks of neuroendocrine tumors of the appendix. *Minerva Endocrinol* (2020) 45:381–92. doi: 10.23736/ S0391-1977.20.03206-X
- Kiesewetter B, Raderer M. How I treat neuroendocrine tumours. ESMO Open (2020) 5:e000811. doi: 10.1136/esmoopen-2020-000811
- Walenkamp A, Crespo G, Fierro Maya F, Fossmark R, Igaz P, Rinke A, et al. Hallmarks of gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumours: implications for treatment. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2014) 21:R445–60. doi: 10.1530/ERC-14-0106

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research (MIUR): PRIN 2017Z3N3YC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review is part of the 'Neuroendocrine Tumors Innovation Knowledge and Education' project led by Prof. Annamaria Colao and Prof. Antongiulio Faggiano, which aims at increasing the knowledge on NET. We would like to acknowledge all the Collaborators of the "NIKE" project: Manuela Albertelli -Genova; Barbara Altieri - Wurzburg; Luigi Barrea - Napoli; Filomena Bottiglieri - Napoli; Severo Campione - Napoli; Federica Campolo - Roma, Roberta Centello - Roma; Alessia Cozzolino - Roma; Federica De Cicco - Napoli; Sergio Di Molfetta - Bari; Valentina Di Vito - Roma; Alessandra Dicitore - Milano; Andrea Dotto - Genova; Giuseppe Fanciulli - Sassari; Tiziana Feola - Roma; Diego Ferone -Genova; Francesco Ferraù - Messina; Marco Gallo -Alessandria; Elisa Giannetta - Roma; Federica Grillo - Genova; Erika Maria Grossrubatscher - Milano; Elia Guadagno - Napoli; Valentina Guarnotta - Palermo; Andrea M. Isidori - Roma; Andrea Lania - Milano; Andrea Lenzi - Roma; Fabio Lo Calzo -Avellino; Pasqualino Malandrino - Catania; Erika Messina -Messina; Roberto Minotta - Napoli; Roberta Modica - Napoli; Giovanna Muscogiuri - Napoli; Riccardo Pofi - Roma; Giulia Puliani - Roma; Alberto Ragni - Torino; Paola Razzore - Torino; Laura Rizza - Roma; Manila Rubino - Milano; Rosaria Maria Ruggeri - Messina; Davide Saronni - Milano; Emilia Sbardella -Roma; Concetta Sciammarella - Verona; Francesca Sciarra -Roma: Franz Sesti - Roma: Maria Grazia Tarsitano - Roma: Mary Anna Venneri - Roma; Giovanni Vitale - Milano; Isabella Zanata - Ferrara.

- Ornitz DM, Itoh N. The Fibroblast Growth Factor signaling pathway. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol (2015) 4(3):215–66. doi: 10.1002/wdev.176
- Li J, Wang Q, Cai H, He Z, Wang H, Chen J, et al. FGF1 improves functional recovery through inducing PRDX1 to regulate autophagy and anti-ROS after spinal cord injury. J Cell Mol Med (2018) 22(5):2727–38. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13566
- Presta M, Andrés G, Leali D, Dell'Era P, Ronca R. Inflammatory cells and chemokines sustain FGF2-induced angiogenesis. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2009) 20 (2):39–50. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2009.0155
- Carmeliet P, Jain RK. Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. *Nature* (2011) 473(7347):298–307. doi: 10.1038/nature10144
- Jacobi A, Loy K, Schmalz AM, Hellsten M, Umemori H, Kerschensteiner M, et al. FGF22 signaling regulates synapse formation during post-injury remodeling of the spinal cord. *EMBO J* (2015) 34(9):1231–43. doi: 10.15252/embj.201490578
- Anderson MJ, Schimmang T, Lewandoski M. An FGF3-BMP Signaling Axis Regulates Caudal Neural Tube Closure, Neural Crest Specification and Anterior-Posterior Axis Extension. *PloS Genet* (2016) 12(5):e1006018. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006018
- 14. Xie Y, Su N, Yang J, Tan Q, Huang S, Jin M, et al. FGF/FGFR signaling in health and disease. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2020) 5(1):181. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00222-7
- Rivetti S, Chen C, Chen C, Bellusci S. Fgf10/Fgfr2b Signaling in Mammary Gland Development, Homeostasis, and Cancer. Front Cell Dev Biol (2020) 8:415. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00415

- Chan WK, Price DJ, Pratt T. FGF8 morphogen gradients are differentially regulated by heparan sulphotransferases Hs2st and Hs6st1 in the developing brain. *Biol Open* (2017) 6(12):1933–42. doi: 10.1242/bio.028605
- Hao Y, Tang S, Yuan Y, Liu R, Chen Q. Roles of FGF8 subfamily in embryogenesis and oral-maxillofacial diseases (Review). *Int J Oncol* (2019) 54(3):797–806. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2019.4677
- Boylan M, Anderson MJ, Ornitz DM, Lewandoski M. The Fgf8 subfamily (Fgf8, Fgf17 and Fgf18) is required for closure of the embryonic ventral body wall. *Development* (2020) 147(21):dev189506. doi: 10.1242/dev.189506
- Charoenlarp P, Rajendran AK, Iseki S. Role of fibroblast growth factors in bone regeneration. *Inflammation Regen* (2017) 37:10. doi: 10.1186/s41232-017-0043-8
- Wang S, Li Y, Jiang C, Tian H. Fibroblast growth factor 9 subfamily and the heart. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* (2018) 102(2):605–13. doi: 10.1007/s00253-017-8652-3
- Zhang X, Bao L, Yang L, Wu Q, Li S. Roles of intracellular fibroblast growth factors in neural development and functions. *Sci China Life Sci* (2012) 55 (12):1038–44. doi: 10.1007/s11427-012-4412-x
- Tanner Y, Grose RP. Dysregulated FGF signalling in neoplastic disorders. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2016) 53:126–35. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.10.012
- Cao Y, Cao R. Hedlund EM. R Regulation of tumor angiogenesis and metastasis by FGF and PDGF signaling pathways. J Mol Med (Berl) (2008) 86(7):785-9. doi: 10.1007/s00109-008-0337-z
- Hosaka K, Yang Y, Seki T, Du Q, Jing X, He X, et al. Therapeutic paradigm of dual targeting VEGF and PDGF for effectively treating FGF-2 off-target tumors. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):3704. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17525-6
- 25. Im JH, Buzzelli JN, Jones K, Franchini F, Gordon-Weeks A, Markelc B, et al. FGF2 alters macrophage polarization, tumour immunity and growth and can be targeted during radiotherapy. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):4064. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17914-x
- 26. Qi L, Song W, Li L, Cao L, Yu Y, Song C, et al. FGF4 induces epithelialmesenchymal transition by inducing store-operated calcium entry in lung adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(45):74015–30. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12187
- Han D, Wang M, Yu Z, Yin L, Liu C, Wang J, et al. FGF5 promotes osteosarcoma cells proliferation via activating MAPK signaling pathway. *Cancer Manag Res* (2019) 11:6457–66. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S200234
- Ghassemi S, Vejdovszky K, Sahin E, Ratzinger L, Schelch K, Mohr T, et al. FGF5 is expressed in melanoma and enhances malignancy in vitro and in vivo. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(50):87750–62. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21184
- Ropiquet F, Giri D, Kwabi-Addo B, Mansukhani A, Ittmann M. Increased expression of fibroblast growth factor 6 in human prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60(15):4245–50.
- Roy D, Calaf GM. Allelic loss at chromosome 11q13 alters FGF3 gene expression in a human breast cancer progression model. Oncol Rep (2014) 32(6):2445–52. doi: 10.3892/or.2014.3502
- Parish A, Schwaederle M, Daniels G, Piccioni D, Fanta P. Schwab Ret al. Fibroblast growth factor family aberrations in cancers: clinical and molecular characteristics. *Cell Cycle* (2015) 14(13):2121–8. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2015.1041691
- 32. Huang T, Wang L, Liu D, Li P, Xiong H, Zhuang L, et al. FGF7/FGFR2 signal promotes invasion and migration in human gastric cancer through upregulation of thrombospondin-1. *Int J Oncol* (2017) 50(5):1501–12. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2017.3927
- Ndlovu R, Deng LC, Wu J, Li XK, Zhang JS. Fibroblast Growth Factor 10 in Pancreas Development and Pancreatic Cancer. *Front Genet* (2018) 9:482. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2018.00482
- 34. Jarosz M, Robbez-Masson L, Chioni AM, Cross B, Rosewell I, Grose R. Fibroblast growth factor 22 is not essential for skin development and repair but plays a role in tumorigenesis. *PloS One* (2012) 7(6):e39436. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0039436
- 35. Liu HY, Zhao H, Li WX. Integrated Analysis of Transcriptome and Prognosis Data Identifies FGF22 as a Prognostic Marker of Lung Adenocarcinoma. *Technol Cancer Res Treat* (2019) 18:1533033819827317. doi: 10.1177/ 1533033819827317
- 36. Zhang J, Zhou Y, Huang T, Wu F, Pan Y, Dong Y, et al. FGF18, a prominent player in FGF signaling, promotes gastric tumorigenesis through autocrine manner and is negatively regulated by miR-590-5p. *Oncogene* (2019) 38 (1):33–46. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0430-x

- Song N, Zhong J, Hu Q, Gu T, Yang B, Zhang J, et al. FGF18 Enhances Migration and the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer by Regulating Akt/GSK3β/B-Catenin Signaling. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2018) 49 (3):1019–32. doi: 10.1159/000493286
- Wu J, Tao X, Zhang H, Yi XH, Yu YH. Estrogen-Induced Stromal FGF18 Promotes Proliferation and Invasion of Endometrial Carcinoma Cells Through ERK and Akt Signaling. *Cancer Manag Res* (2020) 12:6767–77. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S254242
- Zhou Y, Wu C, Lu G, Hu Z, Chen Q, Du X. FGF/FGFR signaling pathway involved resistance in various cancer types. J Cancer (2020) 11(8):2000–7. doi: 10.7150/jca.40531
- Ellis LM, Hicklin DJ. Pathways mediating resistance to vascular endothelial growth factor-targeted therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(20):6371–5. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5287
- Zhao Y, Adjei AA. Targeting Angiogenesis in Cancer Therapy: Moving Beyond Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor. *Oncologist* (2015) 20(6):660– 73. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0465
- 42. Ichikawa K, Watanabe Miyano S, Minoshima Y, Matsui J, Funahashi Y. Activated FGF2 signaling pathway in tumor vasculature is essential for acquired resistance to anti-VEGF therapy. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10(1):2939. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-59853-z
- Boichuk S, Galembikova A, Dunaev P, Micheeva E, Valeeva E, Novikova M, et al. Targeting of FGF-Signaling Re-Sensitizes Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors (GIST) to Imatinib In Vitro and In Vivo. *Molecules* (2018) 23 (10):2643. doi: 10.3390/molecules23102643
- Cives M, Pelle' E, Quaresmini D, Rizzo FM, Tucci M, Silvestris F. The Tumor Microenvironment in Neuroendocrine Tumors: Biology and Therapeutic Implications. *Neuroedocrinology* (2019) 109:83–99. doi: 10.1159/000497355
- Bordi C, Falchetti A, Buffa R, Azzoni C, D'Adda T, Caruana P, et al. Production of basic fibroblast growth factor by gastric carcinoid tumors and their putative cells of origin. *Hum Pathol* (1994) 25:175–80. doi: 10.1016/ 0046-8177(94)90275-5
- Chaudhry A, Funa K, Oberg K. Expression of growth factor peptides and their receptors in neuroendocrine tumors of the digestive system. *Acta Oncol* (1993) 32:107–14. doi: 10.3109/02841869309083898
- 47. La Rosa S, Uccella S, Erba S, Capella C, Sessa F. Immunohistochemical Detection of Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptors in Normal Endocrine Cells and Related Tumors of the Digestive System. *Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol* (2001) 9:319–28. doi: 10.1097/00129039-200112000-00006
- Bhattacharyya S, Toumpanakis C, Chilkunda D, Caplin ME, Davar J. Risk factors for the development and progression of carcinoid heart disease. *Am J Cardiol* (2011) 107(8):1221–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.12.025
- Koumarianou A, Alexandraki KI, Wallin G, Kaltsas G. Pathogenesis and Clinical Management of Mesenteric Fibrosis in Small Intestinal Neuroendocine Neoplasms: A Systematic Review. J Clin Med (2020) 9 (6):1777. doi: 10.3390/jcm9061777
- Daskalakis K, Karakatsanis A, Stålberg P, Norlén O, Hellman P. Clinical signs of fibrosis in small intestinal neuroendocrine tumours. *Br J Surg* (2017) 104:69–75. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10333
- Ratnavel RC, Burrows NP, Pye RJ. Scleroderma and the carcinoid syndrome. *Clin Exp Dermatol* (1994) 19:83–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.1994.tb01126.x
- Moss SF, Lehner PJ, Gilbey SG, Kennedy A, Hughes JM, Bloom SR, et al. Pleural involvement in the carcinoid syndrome. *Q J Med* (1993) 86:49–53. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.qjmed.a068737
- Seo JW, Im JG, Kim YW, Kim JH, Sheppard MN. Synchronous double primary lung cancers of squamous and neuroendocrine type associated with cryptogenic fibrosing alveolitis. *Thorax* (1991) 46:857–8. doi: 10.1136/thx.46.11.857
- 54. Hallen A. FIBROSIS IN THE CARCINOID SYNDROME. Lancet (1964) 1:746-7. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(64)92853-3
- Laskaratos F-M, Rombouts K, Caplin M, Toumpanakis C, Thirlwell C, Mandair D. Neuroendocrine tumors and fibrosis: An unsolved mystery? *Cancer* (2017) 123:4770–90. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31079
- 56. Zuetenhorst JM, Bonfrer JMGM, Korse CM, Bakker R, van Tinteren H, Taal BG. Carcinoid heart disease: the role of urinary 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid excretion and plasma levels of atrial natriuretic peptide, transforming growth factor-beta and fibroblast growth factor. *Cancer* (2003) 97:1609–15. doi: 10.1002/cncr.11226
- 57. La Rosa S, Chiaravalli AM, Capella C, Uccella S, Sessa F. Immunohistochemical localization of acidic fibroblast growth factor in

normal human enterochromaffin cells and related gastrointestinal tumours. *Virchows Archiv* (1997) 430:117–24. doi: 10.1007/BF01008032

- Svejda B, Kidd M, Giovinazzo F, Eltawil K, Gustafsson BI, Pfragner R, et al. The 5-HT(2B) receptor plays a key regulatory role in both neuroendocrine tumor cell proliferation and the modulation of the fibroblast component of the neoplastic microenvironment. *Cancer* (2010) 116:2902–12. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25049
- Koumarianou A, Alexandraki KI, Wallin G, Kaltsas G, Daskalakis K. Pathogenesis and Clinical Management of Mesenteric Fibrosis in Small Intestinal Neuroendocine Neoplasms: A Systematic Review. J Clin Med (2020) 9. doi: 10.3390/jcm9061777
- Wulbrand U, Wied M, Zöfel P, Göke B, Arnold R, Fehmann H-C. Growth factor receptor expression in human gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. *Eur J Clin Invest* (1998) 28:1038–49. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2362.1998.00397.x
- Serra S, Zheng L, Hassan M, Phan AT, Woodhouse LJ, Yao JC, et al. The FGFR4-G388R single-nucleotide polymorphism alters pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor progression and response to mTOR inhibition therapy. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:5683–91. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2102
- Cros J, Moati E, Raffenne J, Hentic O, Svrcek M, de Mestier L, et al. Gly388Arg FGFR4 Polymorphism Is Not Predictive of Everolimus Efficacy in Well-Differentiated Digestive Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Neuroendocrinology* (2016) 103:495–9. doi: 10.1159/000440724
- Zatelli MC, Fanciulli G, Malandrino P, Ramundo V, Faggiano A, Colao A, et al. Predictive factors of response to mTOR inhibitors in neuroendocrine tumours. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2016) 23:R173–83. doi: 10.1530/ERC-15-0413
- Compagni A, Wilgenbus P, Impagnatiello MA, Cotten M, Christofori G. Fibroblast growth factors are required for efficient tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60:7163–9.
- Casanovas O, Hicklin DJ, Bergers G, Hanahan D. Drug resistance by evasion of antiangiogenic targeting of VEGF signaling in late-stage pancreatic islet tumors. *Cancer Cell* (2005) 8:299–309. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2005.09.005
- Allen MD, Neumann S, Gershengorn MC. Occupancy of both sites on the thyrotropin (TSH) receptor dimer is necessary for phosphoinositide signaling. *FASEB J* (2011) 25:3687–94. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-188961
- Turner N, Grose R. Fibroblast growth factor signalling: from development to cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2010) 10(2):116–29. doi: 10.1038/nrc2780
- Arai H, Battaglin F, Wang J, Lo JH, Soni S, Zhang W, et al. Molecular insight of regorafenib treatment for colorectal cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2019) 81:101912. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.101912
- 69. Kopetz S, Hoff PM, Morris JS, Wolff RA, Eng C, Glover KY, et al. Phase II trial of infusional fluorouracil, irinotecan, and bevacizumab for metastatic colorectal cancer: efficacy and circulating angiogenic biomarkers associated with therapeutic resistance. *J Clin Oncol* (2010) 28(3):453–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.24.8252
- Xu J, Shen L, Zhou Z, Li J, Bai C, Chi Y, et al. Surufatinib in advanced extrapancreatic neuroendocrine tumours (SANET-ep): a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol* (2020) 21(11):1500–12. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30496-4
- Xu J, Shen L, Bai C, Wang W, Li J, Yu X, et al. Surufatinib in advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours (SANET-p): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol* (2020) 21(11):1489–99. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30493-9
- Dasari A, Li D, Sung M, Tucci C, Kauh J, Kania M, et al. Efficacy and safety of surufatinib in United States (US) patients (pts) with neuroendocrine tumors (NETs). J Clin Oncol (2020) 38(15):4610. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.4610
- Chen J, Ji Q, Bai C, Lin Y, Zheng X, Zhang Y, et al. Surufatinib in Chinese Patients with Locally Advanced or Metastatic Differentiated Thyroid Cancer and Medullary Thyroid Cancer: A Multicenter, Open-Label, Phase II Trial. *Thyroid* (2020) 30(9):1245–53. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0453
- 74. Capdevila J, Fazio N, Lopez Lopez C, Teule A, Valle J, Tafuto S, et al. Final results of the TALENT trial (GETNE1509): a prospective multicohort phase II

study of lenvatinib in patients (pts) with G1/G2 advanced pancreatic (panNETs) and gastrointestinal (giNETs) neuroendocrine tumors (NETs). *J Clin Oncol* (2019) 37(15):4106. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.4106

- 75. Schlumberger M, Jarzab B, Cabanillas ME, Robinson B, Pacini F, Ball DW, et al. A Phase II Trial of the Multitargeted Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Lenvatinib (E7080) in Advanced Medullary Thyroid Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(1):44–53. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1127
- Takahashi S, Kiyota N, Yamazaki T, Chayahara N, Nakano K, Inagaki L, et al. A Phase II study of the safety and efficacy of lenvatinib in patients with advanced thyroid cancer. *Future Oncol* (2019) 15(7):717–26. doi: 10.2217/fon-2018-0557
- 77. Takahashi S, Tahara M, Ito K, Tori M, Kiyota N, Yoshida K, et al. Safety and Effectiveness of Lenvatinib in 594 Patients with Unresectable Thyroid Cancer in an All-Case Post-Marketing Observational Study in Japan. *Adv Ther* (2020) 37(9):3850–62. doi: 10.1007/s12325-020-01433-8
- Iyer R, Konda B, Hall Owen D, Attwood K, Sarker S, Suffren S, et al. Multicenter phase 2 study of nintedanib in patients (pts) with advanced progressing carcinoid tumors. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(15):4105. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2018.36.15_suppl.4105
- Sun Y, Du F, Gao M, Ji Q, Li Z, Zhang Y, et al. Anlotinib for the Treatment of Patients with Locally Advanced or Metastatic Medullary Thyroid Cancer. *Thyroid* (2018) 28(11):1455–61. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0022
- Li D, Tang P, Chen X, Ge M, Zhang Y, Guo Z, et al. Anlotinib treatment in locally advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid carcinoma: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase IIB trial. *J Clin Oncol* (2019) 37(15):6019. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.6019
- Xu JM, Wang Y, Chen YL, Jia R, Li J, Gong JF, et al. Sulfatinib, a novel kinase inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors: results from a phase I study. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(26):42076–86. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14942
- Xu J, Li J, Bai C, Xu N, Zhou Z, Li Z, et al. Surufatinib in Advanced Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors: A Multicenter, Single-Arm, Open-Label, Phase Ib/II Trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(12):3486–94. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-18-2994
- Newbold K, Schoeffski P, Hasan B, Locati L, Godbert Y, De la Fouchardiere C, et al. Nintedanib (BIBF1120) after first line therapy in progressive medullary thyroid cancer: A multicenter EORTC prospective randomized double-blind phase II study (NCT01788982). Ann Oncol (2020) 31(4):S1087–S8. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.1407
- 84. Sun Y, Niu W, Du F, Du C, Li S, Wang J, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and antitumor properties of anlotinib, an oral multi-target tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. *J Hematol Oncol* (2016) 9(1):105. doi: 10.1186/s13045-016-0332-8
- Scheller T, Hellerbrand C, Moser C, Schmidt K, Kroemer A, Brunner SM, et al. mTOR inhibition improves fibroblast growth factor receptor targeting in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Br J Cancer* (2015) 112(5):841–50. doi: 10.1038/ bjc.2014.638
- Cai W, Song B, Ai H. Combined inhibition of FGFR and mTOR pathways is effective in suppressing ovarian cancer. *Am J Transl Res* (2019) 11(3):1616–25.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Vitale, Cozzolino, Malandrino, Minotta, Puliani, Saronni, Faggiano and Colao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pathology Reporting in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Digestive System: Everything You Always Wanted to Know but Were Too Afraid to Ask

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michele Caraglia, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Boccellino Mariarosaria, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Silvia Zappavigna, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

*Correspondence:

Federica Grillo federica.grillo@unige.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 14 March 2021 Accepted: 07 April 2021 Published: 23 April 2021

Citation:

Albertelli M, Grillo F, Lo Calzo F, Puliani G, Rainone C, Colao AAL, Faggiano A and NIKE group (2021) Pathology Reporting in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Digestive System: Everything You Always Wanted to Know but Were Too Afraid to Ask. Front. Endocrinol. 12:680305. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.680305 Manuela Albertelli^{1,2†}, Federica Grillo^{2,3*†}, Fabio Lo Calzo^{4,5}, Giulia Puliani^{6,7}, Carmen Rainone⁴, Annamaria Anita Livia Colao^{4,8}, Antongiulio Faggiano⁹ and NIKE group

¹ Endocrinology Unit, Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Specialties (DiMI) and Centre of Excellence for Biomedical Research (CEBR), University of Genova, Genova, Italy, ² IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genova, Italy, ³ Anatomic Pathology Unit, Department of Surgical Sciences and Integrated Diagnostics (DISC), University of Genova, Genova, Italy, ⁴ Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Division of Endocrinology, Federico II University, Naples, Italy, ⁵ Internal Medicine Unit, Frangipane Hospital, Ariano Irpino, Italy, ⁶ Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Roma, Italy, ⁷ Oncological Endocrinology Unit, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Roma, Italy, ⁸ UNESCO Chair for Health Education and Sustainable Development, Federico II University, Naples, Italy, ⁹ Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Roma, Italy

During the 5th NIKE (Neuroendocrine tumors Innovation in Knowledge and Education) meeting, held in Naples, Italy, in May 2019, discussions centered on the understanding of pathology reports of gastroenetropancreactic neuroendocrine neoplasms. In particular, the main problem concerned the difficulty that clinicians experience in extrapolating relevant information from neuroendocrine tumor pathology reports. During the meeting, participants were asked to identify and rate issues which they have encountered, for which the input of an expert pathologist would have been appreciated. This article is a collection of the most rated questions and relative answers, focusing on three main topics: 1) morphology and classification; 2) Ki67 and grading; 3) immunohistochemistry. Patient management should be based on multidisciplinary decisions, taking into account clinical and pathology-related features with clear comprehension between all health care professionals. Indeed, pathologists require clinical details and laboratory findings when relevant, while clinicians require concise and standardized reports. In keeping with this last statement, the minimum requirements in pathology datasets are provided in this paper and should be a baseline for all neuroendocrine tumor professionals.

Keywords: neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs), neuroendocrine classification, immunohistochemistry, pathology, morphology, grade, Ki67

INTRODUCTION

During the 5th NIKE (Neuroendocrine tumors Innovation in Knowledge and Education) meeting, held in Naples, Italy, in May 2019, discussions centered on the understanding of pathology reports in gastroenetropancreactic (GEP) neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs). In particular, the main problem concerned the difficulty clinicians (be they experts or not) have, in extrapolating relevant information from neuroendocrine tumor pathology reports. As the famous publication entitled "Clinicians are from Mars and pathologists are from Venus" (1), perfectly summed up, this is not a new issue. During the meeting, participants were asked to identify issues which they have encountered, for which the input of an expert pathologist would have been appreciated. This article is a collection of the most rated questions, focusing on three main topics: 1) morphology and classification; 2) Ki67 and grading; 3) immunohistochemistry.

METHODS

A series of questions on various aspects of pathology were proposed to a panel of 36 experts in the field of GEP-NENs (including endocrinologists, pathologists, oncologists, gastroenterologists, surgeons, radiologists and laboratory clinicians; see acknowledgment section). All questions are summarized in **Table 1S**, along with the rate of votes obtained during the poll (participants could select a total of 8 questions), while the top scored questions are answered below.

MORPHOLOGY AND CLASSIFICATION: QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1: What Classification System for Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Digestive System Should I Be Expecting in a Pathology Report and Does the Category NET G3 Really Exist?

Classification systems for NENs have varied over time, each one emphasizing different aspects including function, morphology, site, size and extension of primary tumor, presence of metastases.

With the 2010 GEP NEN WHO classification (2), a morphology and proliferation-based classification system was introduced. It focused on the morphologic distinction between well differentiated (WD neuroendocrine tumors - NET) and poorly differentiated (PD neuroendocrine carcinomas - NEC) neoplasms, as already suggested in the WHO 2000 classification (3). WD-NETs are composed of uniform neoplastic cells, with organoid, trabecular or ribbon-like architecture, round/oval nuclei with "salt and pepper" chromatin and with low nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio. They present secretory granules responsible for intense and diffuse staining for general neuroendocrine markers (synaptophysin and chromogranin) (Figures 1A-D). Nucleoli are inconspicuous and little or no atypia is seen. Mitoses are rare/uncommon and necrosis is also generally absent. PD-NECs, are either of large cell or small cell type (or mixed), with pleomorphic and atypical nuclei, solid growth pattern and abundant non-ischemic necrosis, arranged to form either "map-like" or "spotty" necrosis. Mitoses are plentiful and often atypical (4) and proliferation index is extremely high (Figures 1E-H).



FIGURE 1 | (A–D) Well differentiated neuroendocrine tumor of the ileum. (A) Haematoxylin and eosin stained section (magnification 40x) of a well differentiated ileal neuroendocrine tumor with organoid insular architecture and monomorphic cells with ample eosinophilic cytoplasm and uniform nuclei. (B) Chromogranin A positivity and (C) synaptophysin positivity by immunohistochemistry. (D) Ki67 immunostaining showing rare positive nuclei (stained brown) with <3% proliferation ratio – grade 1. (E–H) Poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma of the colon. (E) Haematoxylin and eosin stained section (magnification 40x) of a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma and the colon. (E) Haematoxylin and eosin stained section (magnification 40x) of a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma showing solid structure and small/moderate atypical cells with scanty cytoplasm and hyperchromatic nuclei. (F) Focal dot like positivity for Chromogranin A but diffuse, cytoplasmic expression of synaptophysin (G). (H) Ki67 immunostaining showing diffusely positive nuclei (stained brown) with 90% proliferation ratio – grade 3.

The second aspect of the 2010 WHO classification, which has now become paramount for patient management, is grade, based on mitotic index and/or Ki67 index (see question 3). Initially, categories comprised G1 and G2 WD-NETs and G3 PD-NECs. Some G3 neoplasms were, however, found to be morphologically well differentiated (perhaps with focal areas of greater atypia) but with proliferation indexes greater than 20% [around 45% (5), usually no higher than 50-60%] (6, 7). Subsequent studies have shown that WD G3 neoplasms are a separate category showing better survival compared to PD G3 carcinomas (but worse compared to G2 NET) (8), somatostatin receptor positivity (9), Gallium-PET positivity (with associated possible FGD-PET positivity) and, at the molecular level, mutation profiles similar to WD G1/G2 tumors (10). The landmark study by Sorbye et al (11) reported differences in response to chemotherapy between G3 NENs with Ki67 < 55% compared to > 55%; this study unfortunately failed to review the morphology of the accrued cases.

A revised common classification system of GEP-NENs was therefore proposed for pancreatic NENs in 2017 (12) and extended to all digestive NENs in 2019 (13).

With regards to stage, the 2017 edition of the UICC/AJCC staging manual has specified site specific TNM systems for well differentiated GEP NETs including gastric, duodenal/ampullary, jejunal/ileal, appendiceal, colonic/rectal and pancreatic NETs. The use of this updated system should be standard in all pathology reports.

Question 2: How Should I Interpret a Pathology Report Showing a Digestive System Mixed Neuroendocrine Non-Neuroendocrine Carcinoma?

Mixed neuroendocrine/non-neuroendocrine neoplasms have been described in all organs of the digestive system, with highest frequency in the colon and a diagnostic requirement is that both components be at least 30% of the lesion (though this cut off is arbitrary and not evidence-based). The WHO 2010 classification recommended the term mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) (2) for such tumors however, this term, does not adequately cover the heterogeneity of possible combinations of neuroendocrine (WD or PD) and non-neuroendocrine (adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma or adenoma for example) phenotypes.

For this reason, the 2017-2019 WHO classifications changed the term to mixed neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNEN). These neoplasms can be stratified into different prognostic categories according to the grade of malignancy of each component: low-grade MiNENs (adenoma and a WD-NET, called MANETs (14); high-grade MiNENs, (PD-NEC with adenocarcinoma, called MANEC or squamous carcinoma in the esophagus or anal canal); intermediate grade neoplasms, composed of adenocarcinoma and NET (15, 16).

In general, the most aggressive cell population drives clinical behavior and this should be considered for therapeutic strategy (17). Recent studies on digestive system MiNENs have shown that prognosis is driven mostly by the NEC component when present, and often, it is this component which metastasizes (18). The Ki67 proliferative index of the neuroendocrine component appears to be the key prognostic factor with differences in survival if Ki67 is above 55% (17). Similarly, Ki67 of 55% seems to be important in composite lung large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas also (19).

With regards to origin, a few studies have demonstrated that both the high-grade NEC component and the nonneuroendocrine component probably derive from the same precursors as they show similar mutation profiles (20).

GRADING AND KI67 EVALUATION: QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 3: Why Is Grade so Important in NENs and How Reliable Is Ki67 Evaluation on Cytological or Small Tissue Samples?

Grade represents a major prognostic factor (21, 22) and is evaluated on the basis of mitotic index and proliferative index (Ki67 immunostaining) evaluated on sections of tumor. Ki67 is a nuclear protein expressed in the active phases of the cell cycle (G1/ S1/G2/M phases) and its function is as a biological surfactant to disperse mitotic chromosomes (23). Discordance between grade assessed by mitotic counting or by Ki67 index is often seen (about 30% of cases), and grade is usually higher when assessed by Ki67 (24, 25). In WHO 2017-2019 (12, 13), grade cut offs have been slightly modified between G1 and G2 so that no grey zone (between 2 and 3%) exists; the distinction between G1 and G2 tumors is now <3% Ki67 index and <2 mitosis/10 high power fields (HPF).

The suggested number of cells in hot spots of expression which should be counted has changed over the years, from 2000 cells in the WHO 2010 to 400-500 cells in the WHO 2017-2019. Furthermore, methods of evaluation of Ki67 have come under scrutiny in recent years as not all methods are equally reliable (26). 'Eye-ball' estimation has proved to be unreliable while optimal methods include automated counting by image analyser, manual eye-counting and manual count of cameracaptured image. The accuracy and reproducibility of these methods vary in different studies (27, 28).

Besides technical aspects, other possible limitations of Ki67 index assessment derive from the small quantity of tissue available, such as small biopsies (29, 30) and, even more so, in case of cytologic samples. Several studies have focused on the comparison of grading evaluation using endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine needle aspiration and surgical pathology in pancreatic NEN, identifying the correct identification of grade G2 NET as the principal limitation of cytology with both over and undegrading of lesions (31–34). Overall, agreement between cytology and definitive histologic examination was extremely variable in all studies ranging from as low as 34% (31) to close to 100% (35). While it is true that cytology may not be able to accurately predict Ki67 proliferation index in the intermediate range (distinction between G1 from G2 WD-NETs), it is reliable
in identifying very proliferative tumors (36) and clinicians should be aware of this.

Question 4: Is There Intra/Intertumoral Heterogeneity in Grade and Can Grade Change Between Sites and Over Time?

With regards to intratumoral heterogeneity of grade in NENs, this can be seen (up to 77% of patients in a study in small bowel NENs (37)) and may be related to multifocality and size, when primary tumor > 1 cm, making the staining of Ki67 sufficient only in the largest lesion (38).

When considering change in grade, this has been shown to occur between the primary and metastatic sites and between synchronous/metachronous metastases (39). The first published study on this topic identified 49 patients with metastatic GEP-NEN, showing a discrepancy in grade between sites in 39% of cases, especially in distant compared to locoregional metastases (39). Further studies have demonstrated an overall discordance rate between primary and metastatic tumour of between 1/3-1/2, both with regards to increase (including from G1 to G3) and decrease in grade from primary to metastatic sites (40). Importantly, increased grade in metastatic sites is associated with lower progression free survival and overall survival (41–43).

In conclusion, it is very important for the clinician to be aware of the possibility of change of grade between sites and over time and it may become useful to re-evaluate grade on a new biopsy.

IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY: QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 5: Is it Necessary to Evaluate SSRs on Neoplastic Cells by Immunohistochemistry?

Five somatostatin receptor (SSTR) subtypes have been identified; moreover, two forms of the SSTR2, A and B, are transcripted by alternative splicing, with SSTR2A being the most highly expressed (44). SSTR2 and SSTR5 are the most expressed subtypes and their expression on the membrane of neoplastic cells is the rationale for the use of somatostatin analogues (SSA) and peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in WD-NENs (45, 46). In most cases, functional imaging with 68-Ga-DOTATOC/DOTANOC/ DOTATATE PET CT permits the in vivo evaluation of receptor expression (47); as an alternative, the presence of SSTR can be demonstrated by immunohistochemistry. SSTR2A monoclonal antibody has shown high sensitivity/specificity and can be used in formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tissues. To standardize the interpretation of immunostaining, Volante et al. proposed a score considering the subcellular pattern and the extension of positive neoplastic cell population (48) with demonstrated high interlaboratory and interobserver SSTR2A immunostaining agreement (49).

Clinicians should be aware of the availability of SSTR2 receptor evaluation in those patients who have not undergone

pre-operatory nuclear imaging when, for example, the diagnosis of NEN is made after surgery as recommended by ENETS (36).

SSTR2A expression has been shown to be higher in low-grade NENs and decreased in high grade lesions, both in digestive (50) and in lung (51) neoplasms. Studies have proposed a correlation between the downregulation of SSTR2 expression and NEN growth and progression (52) as well as differences in expression in metastatic sites compared to primary (53). SSTR2A expression may also be correlated with prognosis [WD-NETs with high expression of SSTR2 are associated with longer overall survival (54–56)].

While several studies have evaluated the expression of all SSTR subtypes in NEN (57, 58), this profiling is not part of the routine immunohistochemical evaluation. Notwithstanding this, two aspects seem very promising for future applications: the expression of SSTR5, for predicting the additional value of new SSA pasireotide (59) and the identification of the truncated variant of SSTR5 which seems associated with worse prognosis and low response to SSA (60).

Question 6: How Sensitive/Specific Are Site of Origin Markers (TTF1, CDX2, PAX8, ISL1, PDX1)?

A frequent clinical setting (between 9-19% of NENs) is a patient with multiple liver metastases which show WD-NET and for which the clinician requires, not only a diagnosis of histotype and grade, but an indication of origin as well (61).

Determining the origin of the tumor by histologic features alone is often impossible. The typical neuroendocrine markers used in clinical practice, chromogranin and synaptophysin, do not indicate a specific primary, therefore, further immunohistochemical testing may be required to help pathologists identify primary site. Only in WD-NETs are transcription factors useful and these may be differentially expressed in the bowel (CDX2), lung (TTF1) or pancreas (PAX8, ISL1, PDX1). PD-NECs do not express transcription factors with reliability and these should not be used to identify origin (e.g. TTF1 is often expressed in PD-NECs of any site, including the digestive system).

CDX2 is a nuclear homeobox transcription factor responsible for development of all (neuroendocrine and nonneuroendocrine) intestinal epithelial cells. High prevalence of CDX2 expression was found in ileal (86%) and colonic (75%) NETs while no expression was found in NETs of gastric origin, lung, skin, ovary and thymus (62). CDX2 expression has however been reported in a low percentage of pancreatic NETs (pNETs) (15-26%) (62, 63). Worthy of note is that CDX2 has been shown to be expressed in up to 98% of appendiceal and rectal NETs which originate from enterochromaffin cells (serotonin producing) but not from L-cell NETs (which may be found at both sites) (64).

TTF1 is a transcriptional factor expressed in tissues from the thyroid and lung. Immunohistochemical TTF1 staining is commonly used to identify NET of pulmonary origin as it is highly specific (100%) for pulmonary NET with a lower sensibility, ranging from 35% to 53% (62, 63). OPT – orthopedia homeobox (65) is an extremely useful lung NET marker which is positive in 80% of bronchopulmonary carcinoids and shows much higher sensitivity (80.2% sensitivity and 99.4% specificity) compared to TTF1.

Paired-box genes (PAX) encode a family of nine transcription factors (PAX1-9) important for embryogenesis and organogenesis. PAX8 was found to be expressed in 56-74% of pNET (66, 67), However, specificity is hindered by PAX expression in NETs from the duodenum (75%), stomach (10%) (67, 68).

ISL1 is a transcription factor expressed in pancreatic islet cells and has been shown to be expressed in primary GEP-NETs and, less so, in pulmonary NENs: 59-90% pancreatic, 89% duodenum, 0-16% lung, 0-16% ileum, 0% gastric (69–71). Overall, ISL1 should not be considered entirely specific for pNETs, (overall sensitivity - 69-90% and specificity - 78-88%) considering that sensitivity ranges fall to 67-76% in metastatic pNETs (while specificity increases to 89-98%).

Finally, the sensibility and sensitivity of Pancreatic and Duodenal Homeobox 1 (PDX1) and its role in characterization of NETs is discordant. While some studies found a relatively high specificity and sensibility of PDX1 for pNET (72% expression in primary pNET and 100% in metastatic pNET, with a specificity of 92% and 75% respectively) (72), others demonstrated staining of PDX1 in the rectum, stomach, duodenum, appendix (and rarely in the lung and small bowel) and low percentages of expression in pNET (30%) (62, 73).

An important issue with pancreatic markers is that appendiceal/rectal L-cell tumors often express pancreatic markers such as ISL1, PDX1 and PAX8, as shown above. To overcome this potential pitfall, recent studies have shown that special AT-rich sequence binding protein-2 (SATB2), a transcription factor binding protein, may be used as a specific marker for appendiceal/rectal NETs (it is not expressed in pancreatic/duodenal NETs) (74). Lastly, to distinguish rectal and appendiceal L-cell NETs, positivity for prostatic acid phosphatase confirms rectal origin.

Question 7: How Should These Markers Be Used (Immunopanels to Identify Sites of Origin)?

Various immunopanels have been proposed in the literature to identify site of origin, based on differential use of transcription factors and hormone/amine products (61, 69, 73, 75, 76). An immunohistochemical panel demonstrating TTF1 positivity, negativity for CDX2, ISL1 and PDX1 supports a diagnosis of pulmonary NEN. In this setting calcitonin and CEA expression study can help pathologist to distinguish medullary thyroid carcinoma and pulmonary NEN (61, 69). Conversely, an immunohistochemical panel showing strong and diffuse positive staining for CDX2 and negativity for TTF1, ISL1 and PDX1 favors a midgut origin (usually ileal or appendiceal) (61, 69, 73). An immunohistochemical panel demonstrating TTF1 negativity, negative or weak staining for CDX2, ISL1 and PDX1 positivity suggests a NEN originating from the pancreas or duodenum (61, 72) (the distinction between a pancreatic versus a duodenal NEN is challenging). An immunohistochemical panel demonstrating TTF1 and PDX1 negativity, negative or weak staining for CDX2 and ISL1 positivity suggests a L-cell NEN (61, 70, 72). Despite the use of multiple markers primary tumor detection often remains challenging and requires clinical and radiologic information to reach the final diagnosis.

Question 8: Are There Other Immunohistochemical Prognostic Markers for NEN Apart From Ki67?

New prognostic immunomarkers, have been recently proposed in NEN. Most of these markers have been principally investigated in pNET and their role in NENs of different sites still remains to be established.

Cytokeratin-19 (CK19) has been shown to be a prognostic factor for NEN even though its prognostic role seems to vary depending on the subtype of pNET. Indeed, CK19 has been identified as a prognostic factor in pNET, excluding insulinomas, with evidence of correlation between CK19 expression and a more aggressive phenotype (77). CK19 has been shown to be an independent prognostic factor (78) with a 5-year survival of all CK19 negative cases of 100%, with a drop to 47% in CK19 positive neoplasms as confirmed by a recent meta-analysis (79).

Insulinoma associated protein 1 (INSM1), a nuclear transcription factor, is a sensitive and well-validated marker for neuroendocrine differentiation (80). Preliminary studies suggest the potential utility

TABLE 1 Minimum and optional requirements for a pathology report of
gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm [adapted from Volante et al. (87)].

Minimum Requirements	 WHO used (2017-2019) for pathology report Differentiation and WHO tumor type (NET, NEC, MINEN), if NEC large or small cell, if MINEN, histotype of NE and non-NE components Tumor Grade (<3% for G1, 3-20% G2, > 20% G3) for NET Ki-67 index as precise value (%) Size and location Depth of invasion Lympho-vascular invasion (present/absent) Perineural invasion (present/absent) Lymph node status (number evaluated nodes, number of positive nodes) R status and description of margins Immunohistochemical markers used for identification of primary, in case of biopsy Immunohistochemical markers performed and relative results pTNM stage (AJCC/WHO/UICC)
Optional Requirements	Ki-67% on different site (primary and metastases) Mitotic index as value (x2 mm ²) If positive lymph node, description of presence/ absence of extra nodal extension Hormone positivity on immunohistochemistry Somatostatin receptor immunohistochemistry (not for routine patology report)

NET, neuroendocrine tumor; NEC, neuroendocrine carcinoma; MINEN, mixed neuroendocrine-non-neuroendocrine neoplasms; AJCC, American Joint Commission on Cancer; WHO, World Health Organization; UICC, Union for International Cancer Control. of INSM1 as a prognostic factor, as INSM1 expression seems to correlate with more malignant behavior and with greater propensity of metastasis in gastrointestinal NENs (81).

c-KIT, a tyrosine kinase receptor of the platelet derived growth factor subfamily, was found to be a negative independent prognostic marker in pNET with adverse prognosis in c-KIT positive NENs (82).

The prognostic role of DAXX/ATRX expression is more controversial. Some studies have shown loss of expression of DAXX/ATRX to be associated with more aggressive behavior and shorter disease-free survival (83, 84). In contrast, other observations appear to show an improved overall survival in tumors showing loss of DAXX/ATRX (85, 86).

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, patient management should be based on multidisciplinary decisions based on precise and specific comprehension of information and communication. Clinicians require an understanding of classification systems (which change over time) and the importance of novel markers which may aid in diagnosis and prognosis as well as concise and standardized pathology reports. In keeping with this last statement, an example of the minimum requirements in pathology datasets is shown in **Table 1** and should be a baseline for all neuroendocrine tumor professionals (87).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA and FG conceived the study, wrote and finalized the manuscript. GP, FL, and CR contributed to the collection of information and references, writing of the manuscript and

REFERENCES

- Powsner SM, Costa J, Homer RJ. Clinicians are From Mars and Pathologists are From Venus. Arch Pathol Lab Med (2000) 124(7):1040–6. doi: 10.5858/ 2000-124-1040-CAFMAP
- Rindi G, Arnold R, Bosman F, Capella C, Klimstra D, Klöppel G, et al. Nomenclature and Classification of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Digestive System. In: FT Bosman, F Carneiro, RH Hruban, ND Theise, editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Digestive System, 4th. Lyon: IARC Press (2010). p. 13–14.
- Capella C, Solcia E, Sobin L. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Digestive System. SR Hamilton, LA Aaltonen, editors. Lyon: IARC Press. (2010). p. 77–8220.
- 4. Basturk O, Tang L, Hruban RH, Adsay V, Yang Z, Krasinskas AM, et al. Poorly Differentiated Neuroendocrine Carcinomas of the Pancreas: A

approval of the final manuscript. AF and AC supervised and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research (MIUR): PRIN 2017Z3N3YC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review is part of the 'Neuroendocrine Tumors Innovation Knowledge and Education' project led by Prof. Annamaria Colao and Prof. Antongiulio Faggiano, which aims at increasing the knowledge on NET. We would like to acknowledge all the Collaborators of the "NIKE" project:

Barbara Altieri - Wurzburg; Luigi Barrea - Napoli; Filomena Bottiglieri - Napoli; Severo Campione - Napoli; Federica De Cicco - Napoli; Sergio Di Molfetta - Bari; Alessandra Dicitore -Milano; Carlotta Dolci - Milano, Tiziana Feola - Roma; Giuseppe Fanciulli - Sassari; Diego Ferone - Genova; Francesco Ferraù -Messina; Marco Gallo - Torino; Elisa Giannetta - Roma; Erika Grossrubatscher - Milano; Elia Guadagno - Napoli; Valentina Guarnotta - Palermo; Andrea M. Isidori - Roma; Andrea Lania -Milano; Andrea Lenzi - Roma; Pasquale Malandrino - Catania; Erika Messina - Messina; Roberta Modica - Napoli; Giovanna Muscogiuri - Napoli; Luca Pes - Sassari, Genoveffa Pizza -Avellino; Riccardo Pofi - Roma; Paola Razzore - Torino; Laura Rizza - Roma; Manila Rubino - Milano; Rosa Maria Ruggieri -Messina; Emilia Sbardella - Roma; Franz Sesti - Roma, Mary Anna Venneri - Roma; Giovanni Vitale - Milano; Maria Chiara Zatelli - Ferrara.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 680305/full#supplementary-material

Clinicopathologic Analysis of 44 Cases. Am J Surg Pathol (2014) 38(4):437–47. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0000000000169

- Han X, Xu X, Ma H, Ji Y, Wang D, Kuang T, et al. Clinical Relevance of Different WHO Grade 3 Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Based on Morphology. *Endocr Connect* (2018) 7(2):355–63. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0388
- Coriat R, Walter T, Terris B, Couvelard A, Ruszniewski P. Gastroenteropancreatic Well-Differentiated Grade 3 Neuroendocrine Tumors: Review and Position Statement. *Oncologist* (2016) 21(10):1191–9. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0476
- Fazio N, Milione M. Heterogeneity of Grade 3 Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Carcinomas: New Insights and Treatment Implications. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2016) 50:61–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.08.006
- Tang LH, Basturk O, Sue JJ, Klimstra DS. A Practical Approach to the Classification of WHO Grade 3 (G3) Well-differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumor (Wd-NET) and Poorly Differentiated Neuroendocrine Carcinoma

(Pd-NEC) of the Pancreas. Am J Surg Pathol (2016) 40(9):1192–202. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000662

- Konukiewitz B, Schlitter AM, Jesinghaus M, Pfister D, Steiger K, Segler A, et al. Somatostatin Receptor Expression Related to TP53 and RB1 Alterations in Pancreatic and Extrapancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms With a Ki67index Above 20. *Mod Pathol* (2017) 30(4):587–98. doi: 10.1038/ modpathol.2016.217
- Nagtegaal ID, Odze RD, Klimstra D, Paradis V, Rugge M, Schirmacher P, et al. The 2019 WHO Classification of Tumours of the Digestive System. *Histopathology* (2020) 76(2):182–8. doi: 10.1111/his.13975
- Sorbye H, Welin S, Langer SW, Vestermark LW, Holt N, Osterlund P, et al. Predictive and Prognostic Factors for Treatment and Survival in 305 Patients With Advanced Gastrointestinal Neuroendocrine Carcinoma (WHO G3): The NORDIC NEC Study. Ann Oncol (2013) 24(1):152–60. doi: 10.1093/ annonc/mds276
- Klöppel G, Couvelard A, Hruban R, Klimstra D, Komminoth P, Osamura R, et al. WHO Classification of Neoplasms of the Neuroendocrine Pancreas. In: RV Lloyd, RY Osamura, G Klöppel, JL Rosai, editors. WHO Classification of Tumors of Endocrine Organs. Lyon, France: IARC Press (2017).
- Klimstra D, Kloppel G, LA Rosa S, Rindi GWHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. Classification of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Digestive System. In: . Who Classification of Tumours of the Digestive System, 5. Lyon: IARC Press (2019). p. 16–22.
- 14. La Rosa S, Uccella S, Molinari F, Savio A, Mete O, Vanoli A, et al. Mixed Adenoma Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumor (MANET) of the Digestive System: An Indolent Subtype of Mixed Neuroendocrine-Nonneuroendocrine Neoplasm (Minen). Am J Surg Pathol (2018) 42 (11):1503–12. doi: 10.1097/PAS.000000000001123
- La Rosa S, Marando A, Sessa F, Capella C. Mixed Adenoneuroendocrine Carcinomas (Manecs) of the Gastrointestinal Tract: An Update. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2012) 4(1):11–30. doi: 10.3390/cancers4010011
- La Rosa S, Sessa F, Uccella S. Mixed Neuroendocrine-Nonneuroendocrine Neoplasms (Minens): Unifying the Concept of a Heterogeneous Group of Neoplasms. *Endocr Pathol* (2016) 27(4):284–311. doi: 10.1007/s12022-016-9432-9
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Pellegrinelli A, Grillo F, Albarello L, Spaggiari P, et al. Ki67 Proliferative Index of the Neuroendocrine Component Drives MANEC Prognosis. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2018) 25(5):583–93. doi: 10.1530/ ERC-17-0557
- Tanaka T, Kaneko M, Nozawa H, Emoto S, Murono K, Otani K, et al. Diagnosis, Assessment, and Therapeutic Strategy for Colorectal Mixed Adenoneuroendocrine Carcinoma. *Neuroendocrinology* (2017) 105(4):426– 34. doi: 10.1159/000478743
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Grillo F, Mangogna A, Centonze G, Prinzi N, et al. Ki-67 Index of 55% Distinguishes Two Groups of Bronchopulmonary Pure and Composite Large Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinomas With Distinct Prognosis. *Neuroendocrinology* (2020) 211–4. doi: 10.1159/000508376
- Jesinghaus M, Konukiewitz B, Keller G, Kloor M, Steiger K, Reiche M, et al. Colorectal Mixed Adenoneuroendocrine Carcinomas and Neuroendocrine Carcinomas are Genetically Closely Related to Colorectal Adenocarcinomas. *Mod Pathol* (2017) 30(4):610–9. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2016.220
- Philips P, Kooby DA, Maithel S, Merchant NB, Weber SM, Winslow ER, et al. Grading Using Ki-67 Index and Mitotic Rate Increases the Prognostic Accuracy of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Pancreas* (2018) 47 (3):326–31. doi: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000990
- 22. Grillo F, Albertelli M, Annunziata F, Boschetti M, Caff A, Pigozzi S, et al. Twenty Years of Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: Is Reclassification Worthwhile and Feasible? *Endocrine* (2016) 53(1):58–62. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0734-3
- Cuylen S, Blaukopf C, Politi AZ, Muller-Reichert T, Neumann B, Poser I, et al. Ki-67 Acts as a Biological Surfactant to Disperse Mitotic Chromosomes. *Nature* (2016) 535(7611):308–12. doi: 10.1038/nature18610
- 24. McCall CM, Shi C, Cornish TC, Klimstra DS, Tang LH, Basturk O, et al. Grading of Well-Differentiated Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors is Improved by the Inclusion of Both Ki67 Proliferative Index and Mitotic Rate. Am J Surg Pathol (2013) 37(11):1671–7. doi: 10.1097/PAS.000000000000089
- van Velthuysen ML, Groen EJ, van der Noort V, van de Pol A, Tesselaar ME, Korse CM. Grading of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Mitoses and Ki-67 are

Both Essential. Neuroendocrinology (2014) 100(2-3):221-7. doi: 10.1159/000369275

- 26. van Velthuysen ML, Groen EJ, Sanders J, Prins FA, van der Noort V, Korse CM. Reliability of Proliferation Assessment by Ki-67 Expression in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Eyeballing or Image Analysis? Neuroendocrinology (2014) 100(4):288-92. doi: 10.1159/000367713
- Reid MD, Bagci P, Ohike N, Saka B, Erbarut Seven I, Dursun N, et al. Calculation of the Ki67 Index in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: A Comparative Analysis of Four Counting Methodologies. *Mod Pathol* (2015) 28(5):686–94. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2014.156
- 28. Tang LH, Gonen M, Hedvat C, Modlin IM, Klimstra DS. Objective Quantification of the Ki67 Proliferative Index in Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Gastroenteropancreatic System: A Comparison of Digital Image Analysis With Manual Methods. Am J Surg Pathol (2012) 36(12):1761–70. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e318263207c
- Grillo F, Valle L, Ferone D, Albertelli M, Brisigotti MP, Cittadini G, et al. Ki-67 Heterogeneity in Well Differentiated Gastro-Entero-Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: When is Biopsy Reliable for Grade Assessment? *Endocrine* (2017) 57(3):494–502. doi: 10.1007/s12020-017-1364-8
- Sugimoto S, Hotta K, Shimoda T, Imai K, Ito S, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Can the Ki-67 Labeling Index in Biopsy Specimens Predict the World Health Organization Grade of Rectal Neuroendocrine Tumors? *Dig Dis* (2018) 36 (2):118–22. doi: 10.1159/000484083
- Abi-Raad R, Lavik JP, Barbieri AL, Zhang X, Adeniran AJ, Cai G. Grading Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors by Ki-67 Index Evaluated on Fine-Needle Aspiration Cell Block Material. Am J Clin Pathol (2020) 153(1):74–81. doi: 10.1093/ajcp/aqz110
- 32. Boutsen L, Jouret-Mourin A, Borbath I, van Maanen A, Weynand B. Accuracy of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumour Grading by Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration: Analysis of a Large Cohort and Perspectives for Improvement. *Neuroendocrinology* (2018) 106(2):158–66. doi: 10.1159/ 000477213
- 33. Hwang HS, Kim Y, An S, Kim SJ, Kim JY, Kim SY, et al. Grading by the Ki-67 Labeling Index of Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration Biopsy Specimens of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors can Be Underestimated. *Pancreas* (2018) 47(10):1296–303. doi: 10.1097/ MPA.000000000001157
- 34. Weynand B, Borbath I, Bernard V, Sempoux C, Gigot JF, Hubert C, et al. Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumour Grading on Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration: High Reproducibility and Inter-Observer Agreement of the Ki-67 Labelling Index. *Cytopathology* (2014) 25(6):389–95. doi: 10.1111/cyt.12111
- Grosse C, Noack P, Silye R. Accuracy of Grading Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms With Ki-67 Index in Fine-Needle Aspiration Cellblock Material. *Cytopathology* (2019) 30(2):187–93. doi: 10.1111/cyt.12643
- 36. Perren A, Couvelard A, Scoazec JY, Costa F, Borbath I, Delle Fave G, et al. Enets Consensus Guidelines for the Standards of Care in Neuroendocrine Tumors: Pathology: Diagnosis and Prognostic Stratification. *Neuroendocrinology* (2017) 105(3):196–200. doi: 10.1159/000457956
- 37. Shi C, Gonzalez RS, Zhao Z, Koyama T, Cornish TC, Hande KR, et al. Liver Metastases of Small Intestine Neuroendocrine Tumors: Ki-67 Heterogeneity and World Health Organization Grade Discordance With Primary Tumors. Am J Clin Pathol (2015) 143(3):398–404. doi: 10.1309/AJCPQ55SKOCYFZHN
- Numbere N, Huber AR, Shi C, Cates JMM, Gonzalez RS. Should Ki67 Immunohistochemistry be Performed on All Lesions in Multifocal Small Intestinal Neuroendocrine Tumours? *Histopathology* (2019) 74(3):424–9. doi: 10.1111/his.13771
- Grillo F, Albertelli M, Brisigotti MP, Borra T, Boschetti M, Fiocca R, et al. Grade Increases in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor Metastases Compared to the Primary Tumor. *Neuroendocrinology* (2016) 103(5):452–9. doi: 10.1159/000439434
- Adesoye T, Daleo MA, Loeffler AG, Winslow ER, Weber SM, Cho CS. Discordance of Histologic Grade Between Primary and Metastatic Neuroendocrine Carcinomas. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2015) 22 Suppl 3:S817–21. doi: 10.1245/s10434-015-4733-7
- Keck KJ, Choi A, Maxwell JE, Li G, O'Dorisio TM, Breheny P, et al. Increased Grade in Neuroendocrine Tumor Metastases Negatively Impacts Survival. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2017) 24(8):2206–12. doi: 10.1245/s10434-017-5899-y

- Richards-Taylor S, Tilley C, Jaynes E, Hu H, Armstrong T, Pearce NW, et al. Clinically Significant Differences in Ki-67 Proliferation Index Between Primary and Metastases in Resected Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Pancreas* (2017) 46(10):1354–8. doi: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000933
- Dhall D, Mertens R, Bresee C, Parakh R, Wang HL, Li M, et al. Ki-67 Proliferative Index Predicts Progression-Free Survival of Patients With Well-Differentiated Ileal Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Hum Pathol* (2012) 43(4):489– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2011.06.011
- 44. Reubi JC, Waser B, Schaer JC, Laissue JA. Somatostatin Receptor sst1-sst5 Expression in Normal and Neoplastic Human Tissues Using Receptor Autoradiography With Subtype-Selective Ligands. *Eur J Nucl Med* (2001) 28(7):836–46. doi: 10.1007/s002590100541
- 45. Caplin ME, Pavel M, Cwikla JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedlackova E, et al. Anti-Tumour Effects of Lanreotide for Pancreatic and Intestinal Neuroendocrine Tumours: The CLARINET Open-Label Extension Study. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2016) 23(3):191–9. doi: 10.1530/ERC-15-0490
- Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, et al. Phase 3 Trial of (177)Lu-Dotatate for Midgut Neuroendocrine Tumors. N Engl J Med (2017) 376(2):125–35. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1607427
- Sundin A, Arnold R, Baudin E, Cwikla JB, Eriksson B, Fanti S, et al. Enets Consensus Guidelines for the Standards of Care in Neuroendocrine Tumors: Radiological, Nuclear Medicine & Hybrid Imaging. *Neuroendocrinology* (2017) 105(3):212–44. doi: 10.1159/000471879
- Volante M, Brizzi MP, Faggiano A, La Rosa S, Rapa I, Ferrero A, et al. Somatostatin Receptor Type 2A Immunohistochemistry in Neuroendocrine Tumors: A Proposal of Scoring System Correlated With Somatostatin Receptor Scintigraphy. *Mod Pathol* (2007) 20(11):1172–82. doi: 10.1038/ modpathol.3800954
- 49. Kasajima A, Papotti M, Ito W, Brizzi MP, La Salvia A, Rapa I, et al. High Interlaboratory and Interobserver Agreement of Somatostatin Receptor Immunohistochemical Determination and Correlation With Response to Somatostatin Analogs. *Hum Pathol* (2018) 72:144–52. doi: 10.1016/ j.humpath.2017.11.008
- Wada H, Matsuda K, Akazawa Y, Yamaguchi Y, Miura S, Ueki N, et al. Expression of Somatostatin Receptor Type 2A and PTEN in Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Is Associated With Tumor Grade But Not With Site of Origin. *Endocr Pathol* (2016) 27(3):179–87. doi: 10.1007/s12022-016-9436-5
- 51. Righi L, Volante M, Tavaglione V, Bille A, Daniele L, Angusti T, et al. Somatostatin Receptor Tissue Distribution in Lung Neuroendocrine Tumours: A Clinicopathologic and Immunohistochemical Study of 218 'Clinically Aggressive' Cases. Ann Oncol (2010) 21(3):548–55. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdp334
- Fotouhi O, Zedenius J, Hoog A, Juhlin CC. Regional Differences in Somatostatin Receptor 2 (SSTR2) Immunoreactivity is Coupled to Level of Bowel Invasion in Small Intestinal Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* (2018) 39(4):305–9.
- 53. Mai R, Kaemmerer D, Trager T, Neubauer E, Sanger J, Baum RP, et al. Different Somatostatin and CXCR4 Chemokine Receptor Expression in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Depending on Their Origin. Sci Rep (2019) 9(1):4339. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39607-2
- 54. Nielsen K, Binderup T, Langer SW, Kjaer A, Knigge P, Grondahl V, et al. P53, Somatostatin Receptor 2a and Chromogranin A Immunostaining as Prognostic Markers in High Grade Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. *BMC Cancer* (2020) 20(1):27. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6498-z
- Qian ZR, Li T, Ter-Minassian M, Yang J, Chan JA, Brais LK, et al. Association Between Somatostatin Receptor Expression and Clinical Outcomes in Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Pancreas* (2016) 45(10):1386–93. doi: 10.1097/ MPA.00000000000000000
- 56. Wang Y, Wang W, Jin K, Fang C, Lin Y, Xue L, et al. Somatostatin Receptor Expression Indicates Improved Prognosis in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasm, and Octreotide Long-Acting Release is Effective and Safe in Chinese Patients With Advanced Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Oncol Lett (2017) 13(3):1165–74. doi: 10.3892/ ol.2017.5591
- Herrera-Martinez AD, Gahete MD, Pedraza-Arevalo S, Sanchez-Sanchez R, Ortega-Salas R, Serrano-Blanch R, et al. Clinical and Functional Implication of the Components of Somatostatin System in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Endocrine* (2018) 59(2):426–37. doi: 10.1007/ s12020-017-1482-3

- de Herder WW, Hofland LJ, van der Lely AJ, Lamberts SW. Somatostatin Receptors in Gastroentero-Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumours. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2003) 10(4):451–8. doi: 10.1677/erc.0.0100451
- Sawicka-Gutaj N, Owecki M, Ruchala M. Pasireotide Mechanism of Action and Clinical Applications. Curr Drug Metab (2018) 19(10):876–82. doi: 10.2174/1389200219666180328113801
- 60. Sampedro-Nunez M, Luque RM, Ramos-Levi AM, Gahete MD, Serrano-Somavilla A, Villa-Osaba A, et al. Presence of sst5TMD4, a Truncated Splice Variant of the Somatostatin Receptor Subtype 5, is Associated to Features of Increased Aggressiveness in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(6):6593–608. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6565
- Bellizzi AM. Assigning Site of Origin in Metastatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: A Clinically Significant Application of Diagnostic Immunohistochemistry. Adv Anat Pathol (2013) 20(5):285-314. doi: 10.1097/PAP.0b013e3182a2dc67
- 62. Srivastava A, Hornick JL. Immunohistochemical Staining for CDX-2, Pdx-1, NESP-55, and TTF-1 can Help Distinguish Gastrointestinal Carcinoid Tumors From Pancreatic Endocrine and Pulmonary Carcinoid Tumors. Am J Surg Pathol (2009) 33(4):626–32. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e31818d7d8b
- Saqi A, Alexis D, Remotti F, Bhagat G. Usefulness of CDX2 and TTF-1 in Differentiating Gastrointestinal From Pulmonary Carcinoids. Am J Clin Pathol (2005) 123(3):394–404. doi: 10.1309/UKN6PVRKXHG422DA
- 64. Koo J, Zhou X, Moschiano E, De Peralta-Venturina M, Mertens RB, Dhall D. The Immunohistochemical Expression of Islet 1 and PAX8 by Rectal Neuroendocrine Tumors Should be Taken Into Account in the Differential Diagnosis of Metastatic Neuroendocrine Tumors of Unknown Primary Origin. *Endocr Pathol* (2013) 24(4):184–90. doi: 10.1007/s12022-013-9264-9
- Nonaka D, Papaxoinis G, Mansoor W. Diagnostic Utility of Orthopedia Homeobox (OTP) in Pulmonary Carcinoid Tumors. Am J Surg Pathol (2016) 40(6):738–44. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000621
- 66. Haynes CM, Sangoi AR, Pai RK. PAX8 is Expressed in Pancreatic Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors and in Extrapancreatic Poorly Differentiated Neuroendocrine Carcinomas in Fine-Needle Aspiration Biopsy Specimens. *Cancer Cytopathol* (2011) 119(3):193–201. doi: 10.1002/ cncy.20136
- 67. Sangoi AR, Ohgami RS, Pai RK, Beck AH, McKenney JK, Pai RK. PAX8 Expression Reliably Distinguishes Pancreatic Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors From Ileal and Pulmonary Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors and Pancreatic Acinar Cell Carcinoma. *Mod Pathol* (2011) 24(3):412–24. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2010.176
- Long KB, Srivastava A, Hirsch MS, Hornick JL. Pax8 Expression in Well-Differentiated Pancreatic Endocrine Tumors: Correlation With Clinicopathologic Features and Comparison With Gastrointestinal and Pulmonary Carcinoid Tumors. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2010) 34(5):723–9. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181da0a20
- Schmitt AM, Riniker F, Anlauf M, Schmid S, Soltermann A, Moch H, et al. Islet 1 (Isl1) Expression is a Reliable Marker for Pancreatic Endocrine Tumors and Their Metastases. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2008) 32(3):420–5. doi: 10.1097/ PAS.0b013e318158a397
- Koo J, Mertens RB, Mirocha JM, Wang HL, Dhall D. Value of Islet 1 and PAX8 in Identifying Metastatic Neuroendocrine Tumors of Pancreatic Origin. *Mod Pathol* (2012) 25(6):893–901. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2012.34
- Graham RP, Shrestha B, Caron BL, Smyrk TC, Grogg KL, Lloyd RV, et al. Islet-1 is a Sensitive But Not Entirely Specific Marker for Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms and Their Metastases. Am J Surg Pathol (2013) 37(3):399–405. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e31826f042c
- Chan ES, Alexander J, Swanson PE, Jain D, Yeh MM. Pdx-1, CDX-2, Ttf-1, and CK7: A Reliable Immunohistochemical Panel for Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2012) 36(5):737–43. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e31824aba59
- 73. Yang Z, Klimstra DS, Hruban RH, Tang LH. Immunohistochemical Characterization of the Origins of Metastatic Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors to the Liver. Am J Surg Pathol (2017) 41(7):915– 22. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000876
- 74. Zhao LH, Chen C, Mao CY, Xiao H, Fu P, Xiao HL, et al. Value of SATB2, ISL1, and TTF1 to Differentiate Rectal From Other Gastrointestinal and Lung Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Pathol Res Pract* (2019) 215 (7):152448. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.2019.152448

- Bellizzi AM. Immunohistochemistry in the Diagnosis and Classification of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: What can Brown do for You? *Hum Pathol* (2020) 96:8–33. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2019.12.002
- Maxwell JE, Sherman SK, Stashek KM, O'Dorisio TM, Bellizzi AM, Howe JR. A Practical Method to Determine the Site of Unknown Primary in Metastatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Surgery* (2014) 156(6):1359–65; discussion 65-6. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.08.008
- 77. La Rosa S, Rigoli E, Uccella S, Novario R, Capella C. Prognostic and Biological Significance of Cytokeratin 19 in Pancreatic Endocrine Tumours. *Histopathology* (2007) 50(5):597–606. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2007.02662.x
- Deshpande V, Fernandez-del Castillo C, Muzikansky A, Deshpande A, Zukerberg L, Warshaw AL, et al. Cytokeratin 19 is a Powerful Predictor of Survival in Pancreatic Endocrine Tumors. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2004) 28 (9):1145–53. doi: 10.1097/01.pas.0000135525.11566.b4
- Cen D, Chen J, Li Z, Zhao J, Cai X. Prognostic Significance of Cytokeratin 19 Expression in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor: A Meta-Analysis. *PloS One* (2017) 12(11):e0187588. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187588
- Rooper LM, Sharma R, Li QK, Illei PB, Westra WH. Insm1 Demonstrates Superior Performance to the Individual and Combined Use of Synaptophysin, Chromogranin and CD56 for Diagnosing Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Thoracic Cavity. Am J Surg Pathol (2017) 41(11):1561–9. doi: 10.1097/ PAS.000000000000916
- Rosenbaum JN, Guo Z, Baus RM, Werner H, Rehrauer WM, Lloyd RV. Insm1: A Novel Immunohistochemical and Molecular Marker for Neuroendocrine and Neuroepithelial Neoplasms. *Am J Clin Pathol* (2015) 144(4):579–91. doi: 10.1309/AJCPGZWXXBSNL4VD
- Zhang L, Smyrk TC, Oliveira AM, Lohse CM, Zhang S, Johnson MR, et al. KIT is an Independent Prognostic Marker for Pancreatic Endocrine Tumors: A Finding Derived From Analysis of Islet Cell Differentiation Markers. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2009) 33(10):1562–9. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181ac675b

- Marinoni I, Kurrer AS, Vassella E, Dettmer M, Rudolph T, Banz V, et al. Loss of DAXX and ATRX are Associated With Chromosome Instability and Reduced Survival of Patients With Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146(2):453–60. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.020
- 84. Singhi AD, Liu TC, Roncaioli JL, Cao D, Zeh HJ, Zureikat AH, et al. Alternative Lengthening of Telomeres and Loss of DAXX/ATRX Expression Predicts Metastatic Disease and Poor Survival in Patients With Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(2):600–9. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-16-1113
- Park JK, Paik WH, Lee K, Ryu JK, Lee SH, Kim YT. DAXX/ATRX and MEN1 Genes are Strong Prognostic Markers in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Oncotarget (2017) 8(30):49796–806. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17964
- Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS, Maitra A, et al. Daxx/Atrx, MEN1, and mTOR Pathway Genes are Frequently Altered in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Science* (2011) 331(6021):1199–203. doi: 10.1126/ science.1200609
- Volante M, Grillo F, Massa F, Maletta F, Mastracci L, Campora M, et al. Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Appendix, Colon and Rectum. *Pathologica* (2021) 113(1):19–27. doi: 10.32074/1591-951X-230

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Albertelli, Grillo, Lo Calzo, Puliani, Rainone, Colao, Faggiano and NIKE group. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Case Report: Unmasking Hypercalcemia in Patients With Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Experience From Six Italian Referral Centers

Elisa Giannetta^{1*}, Franz Sesti¹, Roberta Modica², Erika Maria Grossrubatscher³, Valentina Guarnotta⁴, Alberto Ragni⁵, Isabella Zanata⁶, Annamaria Colao² and Antongiulio Faggiano⁷ on behalf of NIKE

¹ Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University "Federico II", Naples, Italy, ³ Endocrine Unit, ASST Grande Ospedale Metropolitano Niguarda, Milano, Italy, ⁴ Dept PROMISE, UOC Malattie Endocrine, del Ricambio e Della Nutrizione, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ⁵ Oncological Endocrinology Unit, Department of Medical Sciences, Città della Salute e Della Scienza Hospital, University of Turin, Turin, Italy, ⁶ Section of Endocrinology and Internal Medicine, Department of Medical Sciences, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ⁷ Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antimo Migliaccio, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Chiara Maria Grana, European Institute of Oncology (IEO), Italy Christian Albert Koch, Fox Chase Cancer Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Elisa Giannetta elisa.giannetta@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 February 2021 Accepted: 27 April 2021 Published: 19 May 2021

Citation:

Giannetta E, Sesti F, Modica R, Grossrubatscher EM, Guarnotta V, Ragni A, Zanata I, Colao A and Faggiano A (2021) Case Report: Unmasking Hypercalcemia in Patients With Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Experience From Six Italian Referral Centers. Front. Endocrinol. 12:665698. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.665698 **Background:** Hypercalcemia is a common paraneoplastic syndrome which can occur in up to 10% of patients with advanced neoplasms. Paraneoplastic parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) represents the most frequent cause of this syndrome. In neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) paraneoplastic hypercalcemia is rare.

Case Series: The present series includes all patients with NENs and paraneoplastic hypercalcemia from four Italian centres: (I) A 40-year-old man was hospitalized for repeated episodes of falls, hyposthenia and drowsiness. Severe hypercalcemia was found. Metastatic pancreatic G2 NEN and PTHrP-related hypercalcemia were diagnosed. The patient started therapy with somatostatin analogs (SSA) and Denosumab. After disease progression peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) was started with an objective response associated with PTHrP reduction and normocalcemia. (II) A 45-year-old man was referred for pancreatic G2 NEN. SSA and subsequently everolimus were administered for metastases occurrence. Hypercalcemia occurred and PRRT and Denosumab were started for disease progression with the onset of bone metastases. Despite disease stability after four cycles of PRRT the patient's performance status worsened until death. (III) A 49-year-old woman was hospitalized for psychic slowdown, confusional state, sensory dullness. A severe hypercalcemia, associated with a pancreatic G1 NEN was diagnosed and treated with haemodialysis, bisphosphonates injections and continuous infusion of calcitonin. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D was high, PTHrP was undetectable. After surgery serum calcium levels and 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D were normalized. (IV) A 69-year-old man was hospitalized after the onset of shortness of breath and dyspnea, asthenia and weight loss. Computed Tomography (CT) and ⁶⁸Ga DOTATOC Positron Emission Tomography (PET)-CT

78

revealed a left pulmonary nodule. Hypercalcemia and markedly elevated PTHrP levels were detected. The histological examination revealed an atypical carcinoid. After surgery, calcium levels were normalized, PTHrP was significantly reduced with an improvement of general conditions.

Conclusion: In our series, paraneoplastic PTHrP-related hypercalcemia occurred in pancreatic NEN and in one bronchial carcinoid representing the third case in the literature. Our case associated with 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D secretion represents the fourth case in the literature. PTHrP secretion should be considered in NENs' patients with hypercalcemia. Acute treatment should be focused on lowering calcium levels, and long-term control can be achieved by tumor cytoreduction inhibiting PTHrP release.

Keywords: paraneoplastic hypercalcemia, parathyroid hormone-related protein, pancreatic NEN, bronchial carcinoid, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D

INTRODUCTION

Hypercalcemia of malignancy is a severe clinical condition which can occur in 20–30% of patients with advanced neoplasms (1, 2). The prognosis of these patients is poor; indeed 50% patients die within a month and 75% within 3 months (3). It is caused by bone osteolysis due to metastases (20% of cases), paraneoplastic secretion of parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) (80%), configuring a humoral hypercalcaemia of malignancy (HHM), and rarely by ectopic parathyroid hormone (PTH) (<1%) or 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D secretion (<1%) (1). In the presence of hypercalcemia, where bone metastases are absent, an endocrine cause should be suspected (4). On the whole, endocrine paraneoplastic hypercalcemia can occur in up to 10% of neoplastic patients (5).

Pathogenic mechanisms of endocrine paraneoplastic hypercalcemia are related to bone resorption, renal and intestinal calcium reabsorption. PTHrP and PTH stimulate bone resorption *via* receptor activator of nuclear factor-B (RANK)/RANK ligand (RANKL) system activation (4). Besides bone resorption, PTH and PTHrP also stimulate renal reabsorption of calcium (6). Moreover, PTH, but not PTHrP, increases intestinal reabsorption of calcium *via* induction of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D synthesis (6). Calcitriol-mediated hypercalcemia results from increased intestinal reabsorption of calcium and increased bone resorption (7).

HHM is diagnosed in presence of elevated PTHrP, suppressed PTH, low phosphorus and low-normal 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D levels (7). Ectopic PTH production is characterized by high PTH levels, low phosphorus, and high 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D levels (7). Hypercalcemia due to calcitriol secretion is diagnosed in the presence of high levels of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, associated with low PTH levels, and high phosphorus levels (7).

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a heterogeneous group of relatively rare malignancies deriving from the neuroendocrine system (8). NENs are capable to secrete peptide hormones and amines which can provoke specific clinical syndromes (8). Besides bone metastases, primary hyperparathyroidism, which is part of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) and type 2 (MEN2) syndrome, can be a cause of hypercalcemia in patients with NENs, in detail pancreatic, duodenal, gastric, pulmonary, and thymic NENs (9) or medullary thyroid carcinoma (10). Thus, primary hyperparathyroidism should be considered in differential diagnosis. Indeed, in NENs paraneoplastic hypercalcemia is rare (11), it is mostly associated with gastro-entero-pancreatic (GEP) NENs, specifically pancreatic NENs (pNEN) (12), and mainly related to PTHrp secretion (11). We present a series including all patients with NENs and paraneoplastic hypercalcemia from four different NEN Italian centers in the last 15 years. Clinical features of the four cases are summarized in Figure 1, laboratory data and symptoms are reported in Table 1.

CASE 1

On July 2019 a 40-year-old man with personal history of brain arteriovenous malformations (AVM) and thyroidectomy in 2000 for papillary thyroid carcinoma with post-surgical permanent hypoparathyroidism, was hospitalized after repeated episodes of falls due to marked hyposthenia and drowsiness. Additionally, he reported a feeling of early satiety that has arisen two months before, he also reported weight loss in the last three months (from 110 kg to the current 87 kg). Brain computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance (MR) imaging were negative. Blood test showed hypercalcemia (15.5 mg/dl, range 8.4–10), elevation of cholestasis markers gamma-glutamyltransferase (874 UI/l, range 8–61), and alkaline phosphatase (526 UI/l, range 40–129). The oral treatment with calcium carbonate and

Abbreviations: PTHrP, parathyroid hormone-related protein; HHM, hypercalcaemia of malignancy; PTH, parathyroid hormone; RANK, receptor activator of nuclear factor-B; RANKL, RANK ligand; NENs, neuroendocrine neoplasms; MEN1, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1; MEN2, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2; GEP, gastro-entero-pancreatic; pNENs, pancreatic NENs; AVM, arteriovenous malformations; CT, Computed Tomograph; MR, magnetic resonance; PET, Positron Emission Tomography; PRRT, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy; NSE, neuron specific enolase; NET, neuroendocrine tumor; pNET, pancreatic NETs; SSAs, somatostatin analogs.



TABLE 1 | Summary of laboratory data and clinical presentation of the four cases at paraneoplastic hypercalcemia diagnosis.

Case	Laboratory data						Symptoms	
	Calcium	PTHrp	PTH	25-OH Vitamin D	1,25- dihydroxyvitamin D	Calcitonin	Chromogranin A	
1	15.5 mg/dl (8.4–10)	451 ng/l (<20)	1.2 pg/ml (15–65)	16 ng/ml (>20)	NA	958 pg/ml (<10)	470 ng/ml (<100)	Hyposthenia and drowsiness
2	11.8 mg/dl (8.4–10.2)	NA	13.2 pg/ml (10–79)	30 ng/ml (>20)	NA	NA	307 ng/ml (<110)	Abdominal pain
3	21 mg/dl (8.4–10)	NA	12 pg/ml (10–90)	8 ng/ml (>20)	85 pg/ml (16–55)	3,079 pg/ml (01.1–15)	222 UI/I (<20)	Psychic slowdown, confusional state, sensor dullness
4	14.4 mg/dl (8.4–10)	109 ng/ml (<20)	4.7 pg/ml (15–65)	NA	NA	NA	184.9 ng/ml (<100)	Shortness of breath and dyspnea, asthenia and weight loss

calcium citrate plus calcitriol was withdrawn without a decrease in calcium levels.

During the diagnostic work-up an ultrasound of the upper abdomen was performed and showed numerous hyperechoic solid formations of likely metastatic significance in the liver. Subsequently, total body CT confirmed the presence of multiple liver metastases, affecting 50% of the left hepatic lobe and 30% of the right lobe, and found a voluminous lesion with regular margins, sized $95 \times 85 \times 75$ mm, in the pancreatic tail. Moreover, more metastatic implants, with a maximum size of 24×20 mm, were observed in the left subdiaphragmatic area. The patient was then subjected to liver biopsy, the histological examination revealed a liver localization of well differentiated NEN, Ki67 index 5%. Immunohistochemistry was positive for CK 8/18, CD56, synaptophysin, and weakly positive for CDX2 and chromogranin A. Among circulating neuroendocrine markers, calcitonin (958 pg/ ml, normal values <10) and chromogranin A (470 ng/ml, normal values <100) levels were found elevated. The patient underwent ⁶⁸Ga DOTATOC Positron Emission Tomography (PET)-CT

which showed uptake of the radiotracer in the pancreatic lesion, and in hepatic and nodal metastases. Subsequently, he started therapy with Lanreotide Autogel 120 mg every 28 days. Given the hypercalcemia, possibly of paraneoplastic origin, Denosumab 120 mg every 28 days was started. To investigate hypercalcemia origin, PTHrP was dosed and was found markedly elevated (451 ng/l, normal values <20). Three months later, CT imaging showed hepatic disease progression. Thereby, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with ¹⁷⁷Lu-LUTATHERA 7400 MBq was prescribed. The patient performed four cycles of therapy from November 2019 to June 2020. The treatment was well tolerated (except for mild leukopenia), and clinical (improved general conditions) and biochemical (stabilization of calcium levels) responses were good. After the first cycle of treatment, PTHrP declined from 451 to 150 ng/l (see Figure 2). Moreover, an objective tumor response was observed at CT evaluation after three cycles of treatment: hepatic lesions were reduced at VIII segment $(44 \times 36 \text{ vs } 53 \times 48 \text{ mm})$, IVa segment $(25 \times 23 \text{ vs } 30 \times 27 \text{ mm})$, and VI segment $(26 \times 19 \text{ vs } 32 \times 26 \text{ mm})$ (see Figure 2).



CASE 2

A 45-year-old male with history of multinodular goiter and hypertension underwent distal pancreatectomy and splenectomy in 2006 due to the detection of a caudal pancreatic mass 4.5 cm in diameter. Histological examination revealed a G2 pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor (NET) without lymph node metastases, Ki67 was 5% according to the WHO 2010 criteria. Immunohistochemistry showed positivity for synaptophysin, chromogranin, neuron specific enolase (NSE), pan-cytokeratin, and calcitonin. One year later, therapy with somatostatin analogs (SSAs) was started due to onset of multiple liver metastases, and in 2010 Everolimus was introduced due to hepatic progression. Mild serum calcium elevation appeared in 2014, with normal renal function, PTH, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels. Neck ultrasound, performed for follow up of a multinodular goiter, revealed a hypoechoic lesion resembling a parathyroid adenoma. Serum calcium levels progressively increased (11.8 mg/dl normal range 8.4-10.2 mg/dl), thus Cinacalcet was introduced at the dosage of 30 mg/daily and increased up to 60 mg/daily. However, it was withdrawn because of its inefficacy. No evidence of disease progression was recorded, but clinical conditions rapidly deteriorated, and hypercalcemia was treated with intravenous saline hydration and loop diuretics to obtain rapid restoration. Subsequently,

intravenous bisphosphonate Zoledronate was introduced, 4 mg monthly for 12 months (from October 2018 to October 2019) with normalization of calcium levels. PTH levels remained within normal reference range, while neck ultrasound did not confirm the suspected parathyroid lesion. Clinical and biochemical results strongly support the hypothesis of a hypercalcemia ascribable to a secretion of PTHrP, since all other causes of hypercalcemia were excluded, but unfortunately the assay for PTHrP was not available. In 2018 the dose of Everolimus was lowered from 10 to 5 mg/daily due to hematologic side effects and the total body CT scan showed progressive liver disease, and centimetric bilateral hip and vertebral sclerotic bone metastases, with positive ⁶⁸Ga DOTATOC PET-CT. The slight bone metastatic involvement without osteolysis could not explain recurring hypercalcemia. Everolimus and Zoledronate were suspended, and the patient began PRRT and Denosumab 120 mg monthly. Disease stability was obtained, but unfortunately osteonecrosis of the jaw occurred and Denosumab was suspended after only two administrations. Calcium levels increased again at 12.1 mg/dl, and intravenous saline hydration and loop diuretics were administered. Prednisone 20 mg daily was needed to normalize calcium levels. Despite disease stability after four cycles of PRRT the patient's performance status worsened and the patient deceased in 2019.

In July 2007 a 49-year-old woman with a huge pNEN associated with severe hypercalcemia was referred to Niguarda Hospital (Milan, Italy). The medical history of the woman was silent until 4 months earlier, since she had 20 kg weight loss, asthenia, and hyperglycemia. One month before she arrived at our medical facility the patient went to the emergency room of another hospital because of the onset of neurologic symptoms (psychic slowdown, confusional state, sensory dullness). Emergency room blood exams showed severe hypercalcemia (21 mg/dl). The patient was hospitalized in the nephrology unit where she underwent hemodialysis (single treatment), bisphosphonates injections, and continuous infusion of calcitonin to control hypercalcemia. Neoplastic mass embolization through spirals positioning in the splenic artery was performed. Calcium levels normalized in a few days and at the same time a gradual improvement of neurologic symptoms was observed until a complete recovery. Imaging studies showed a 12 cm mass of pancreatic body and tail. A needle biopsy of the mass was diagnostic for a well differentiated NEN.¹¹¹In-pentetreotide scan was performed and showed tracer uptake in the abdominal lesion. Patient was discharged and referred to our hospital for further investigations and surgery. When the patient arrived at our facility her calcium levels were between 8.5 and 8.7 mg/dl (normal). Diabetes and anemia requiring blood transfusions were observed. Hormonal examinations showed low-normal PTH levels (12 pg/ml, normal values 10-90), high levels of calcitonin (3,079 pg/ml, normal values 0.10-15.00) and chromogranin A (222 UI/l, normal values <20). Vitamin D metabolites were determined showing low levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D (8 ng/ml, normal values >20) and high levels of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (85 pg/ml, normal values 16.0-55.0). An abdomen MR confirmed an expansive 12 cm lesion of the body and tail of the pancreas, highly vascularized, with a central necrotic area, with apparent infiltration of the fundus of the stomach and the splenic ileum, and showed thrombus of the splenic vein jutting out within the portal mesenteric confluence. The patient underwent distal pancreatectomy, splenectomy, resection of the gastric fundus, and removal of the neoplastic thrombus. Pathological examination of the pancreatic mass was diagnostic for a well differentiated G1 NET, angioinvasive, massively infiltrating the gastric wall. Immunohistochemical staining for chromogranin A, synaptophysin and somatostatin was observed; MIB1 was <1%. Twenty-four hours after surgery reduction of serum calcium levels was observed, which in the following days dropped to 5.4 mg/dl despite calcium (both intravenous and oral administration) and calcitriol supplementation, post-surgical ionized serum calcium was 1.08 mmol/l (1.18-1.29). A week after surgery, improvement until normalization of serum calcium was gradually observed and calcium and calcitriol supplementations were reduced. The postoperative course was also characterized by pleural effusion treated with drainage placement and antibiotic therapy. Soon after surgery, glycemia, calcitonin, and chromogranin A normalized, whereas PTH levels increased to 180 pg/ml (normal values 10-90), to then return into the normal limits in the following months. Thirteen years after surgery the patient was in good general

condition, calcium and PTH levels were in normal range, and there was no evidence of disease recurrence.

CASE 4

In August 2016 a 69-year-old man with personal history of dilatative cardiomyopathy due to ischemic heart disease was hospitalized after the onset of shortness of breath and dyspnea, asthenia, and weight loss (from 98 to 75 kg). Chest radiograph showed a pulmonary nodule of about 40 mm. Total body CT confirmed a pulmonary nodule of 32×43 mm located at the apical segment of the lower left lobe, and partly leaning and compressing some bronchial branches, with a small calcification. In addition, a solid liver lesion of 10 mm was detected. Blood tests showed hypercalcemia (14.4 mg/dl, range 8.4-10) and low PTH (4.7 pg/ml, range 15–65). A ⁶⁸Ga DOTATOC PET-CT was performed showing an uptake of the radiotracer in the left pulmonary lesion. A lung biopsy showed a histological report of a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma, Ki67 index 10%. Immunohistochemistry was positive for chromogranin A, CK7, and weakly and focal positive for TTF1. Circulating neuroendocrine markers showed high NSE (107 ng/ml, range 1-16) and chromogranin A (184.9 ng/ml, normal values <100). Liver biopsy showed a hemangioma. Therapy with Zoledronate 4 mg intravenously every 28 days was immediately started, given the hypercalcemia, possibly of paraneoplastic origin. To investigate hypercalcemia origin, PTH-rP was measured and found to be markedly elevated (109 ng/ml, normal values <20). After stabilization of hypercalcemia, a lower left lung lobectomy was performed in line with guideline (13).

The histological examination was well differentiated NET positive for chromogranin A and synaptophysin, of the lower lateral lobe, mitosis >2HPF, Ki67 9%. After surgical lung lobectomy, calcium levels were normalized, PTH-rP was significantly reduced from 109 to 5 ng/ml and an improvement of the general conditions was achieved.

DISCUSSION

This case series includes all patients with NET and paraneoplastic hypercalcemia from six Italian centers. 847 patients (517 GEP-NETs and 119 pulmonary NETs) were evaluated. In line with other series (11), there were four cases of paraneoplastic hypercalcemia (0.5%), respectively in three pancreatic NETs (pNET) G2 (n. of cases: two) or G1 (n. of cases: one), and in one lung NET (atypical carcinoid). The rarity of the association of paraneoplastic hypercalcemia in NETs of the respiratory tract represents the first peculiarity of this series. In the two G2 pNETs and in the lung carcinoid, hypercalcemia was likely associated with high PTHrP; in the G1 pNET hypercalcemia was associated with elevated 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, a rare cause of paraneoplastic hypercalcemia in NENs. In the cases of the atypical carcinoid and the G1 pNET, where PTHrP and 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D caused respectively the hypercalcemia, a normalization of the calcium levels was achieved after surgery. In the two cases of G2 pNET with probable PTHrP-related hypercalemia we observed: in the first case, the normalization of calcium levels after therapy with Denosumab and PRRT; in the second case, patient died due to worsening of his performance status despite the different lines of treatment used to achieve disease stability (SSAs, Everolimus, PRRT) and to control hypercalcemia (hydration, loop diuretics, Zoledronate, corticosteroids, Denosumab). In all cases, the antitumor treatment for NEN associated with the specific treatment for paraneoplastic hypercalcemia led to serum calcium normalization. In the past decades, paraneoplastic PTHrP ectopic secretion was associated with poor prognosis (3) and reduced overall survival (12). The consequent hypercalcemia needs to be controlled. Supportive treatment approach includes the standard management for the correction of hypercalcemia: intravenous isotonic saline, bisphosphonates, and Denosumab (4). SSAs may help to improve symptom control slowing the tumor growth, but it's not sufficient to control hypercalcemia, above all in patients with tumor progression, as in our cases (12, 14). The most successful treatment options for PTHrP-producing NETs were SSAs and PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE, as previously described (12). Interestingly, calcitonin levels were high in two cases of metastatic pNEN. In a recent literature review on calcitonin-producing pNENs no case of concomitant paraneoplastic hypercalcemia was reported (15). The real prevalence of calcitonin production by pNENs could be underestimated by the lack of specific symptoms (16). However, recent evidence shows that it is not an exceptional event and seems to not identify a separate clinical entity (17).

NENs with paraneoplastic hypercalcemia are poorly described in the literature. Nevertheless, they represent a condition deserving an early differential diagnosis from hypercalcemia due to bone metastases and a specific therapeutic framework (1). Observations coming from this series were: (i) the paraneoplastic hypercalcemia syndrome occurred mainly in P-NENs, according to the literature (12); (ii) one of the four cases reported represents, to the best of our knowledge, the third case in the literature of PTHrP secretion from a bronchial carcinoid (18, 19); (iii) while in one it was due to secretion of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, which represents, to the best of our knowledge, the fourth case in literature of calcitriolrelated paraneoplastic hypercalcemia in NENs (20–22).

NEN-associated hypercalcemia occurs rarely and generally in patients with advanced metastatic cancer and with a poor prognosis. Given that the principal mechanisms of hypercalcemia in cancer patients are related to the secretion of PTHrP by tumor cells and very rarely to the secretion of calcitriol, it is mandatory to identify promptly the hypercalcemiarelated symptoms and the underling paraneoplastic secretion. The clinical features of hypercalcemia include nausea, vomiting, lethargy, renal failure, and coma. The severity of symptoms depends not only on the degree of hypercalcemia (calcium levels >14 mg/dl are considered severe), but also on the rapidity of onset. The laboratory assessments for the diagnosis of hypercalcemia include serum levels of calcium and ionized calcium, evaluation of PTH, PTHrP, and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. In case of a paraneoplastic hypercalcemia, laboratory findings include elevated calcium levels, low-to-normal PTH levels, and often high PTHrP levels. Ionized calcium levels should be dosed or calculated as following: corrected calcium (mg/dl) = measured calcium (mg/dl) + $[0.8 \times (4.0 - \text{albumin (mg/dl)}]$. The optimal approach to control paraneoplastic hypercalcemia is the treatment of the underlying tumor. To control hypercalcemia, it is important to discontinue medications that contribute to it (e.g., calcium supplements, vitamin D, thiazide diuretics, calcium-containing antacids, and lithium). The first-line approach to persistent hypercalcemia is fluid repletion with normal saline; loop diuretics may be added after adequate volume restoration. Intravenous bisphosphonates, inhibiting osteoclast bone resorption, are also used (1).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this is the first Italian series of patients with paraneoplastic hypercalcemia from GEP and respiratory tract NETs. PTHrP secretion should be considered in patients with NETs and hypercalcemia associated with low PTH levels. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D should always be evaluated to exclude a paraneoplastic secretion. Management of malignant hypercalcemia secondary to PTHrP-secreting NETs is challenging. Acute management should be focused on lowering calcium levels, and long-term control can only be achieved by tumor cvtoreduction and inhibition of PTHrP release. Optimal therapy depends on the extent of metastatic disease and tumor grade. Cytoreduction of metastasis should be accomplished when possible. SSAs, systemic antineoplastic therapy can all be helpful, and PRRT using radiolabeled SSAs seems to be more effective, given the extensive impact it can achieve on neoplastic tissue. It is of notice that the aggressive nature of some tumors with Ki67 >5% and high PTHrP levels may suggest a worse prognosis, indicating the need for an early diagnosis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EG, AC, and AF conceived and designed the case series. FS, RM, EMG, and VG shared the four cases, collected the data, and

wrote the cases. EG, FS, RM, EMG, VG, AR, and IZ co-wrote the MS. AC and AF contributed to the revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Ministerial research project PRIN2017Z3N3YC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This case series is part of the 'NIKE' project (Neuroendocrine tumors Innovation Knowledge and Education) led by AC and AF, which aims to increase knowledge of NETs. We would like to acknowledge the project coordinators. Diego Ferone (Genoa), Andrea M. Isidori (Rome), Maria Chiara Zatelli (Ferrara) and all

REFERENCES

- 1. Stewart AF. Clinical Practice. Hypercalcemia Associated With Cancer. N Engl J Med (2005) 352(4):373–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp042806
- Santarpia L, Koch CA, Sarlis NJ. Hypercalcemia in Cancer Patients: Pathobiology and Management. *Horm Metab Res* (2010) 42(3):153–64. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1241821
- Ralston SH, Gallacher SJ, Patel U, Campbell J, Boyle IT. Cancer-Associated Hypercalcemia: Morbidity and Mortality. Clinical Experience in 126 Treated Patients. Ann Intern Med (1990) 112(7):499–504. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-112-7-499
- Zagzag J, Hu MI, Fisher SB, Perrier ND. Hypercalcemia and Cancer: Differential Diagnosis and Treatment. CA Cancer J Clin (2018) 68(5):377– 86. doi: 10.3322/caac.21489
- Dimitriadis GK, Angelousi A, Weickert MO, Randeva HS, Kaltsas G, Grossman A. Paraneoplastic Endocrine Syndromes. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2017) 24(6):R173–90. doi: 10.1530/ERC-17-0036
- 6. Horwitz MJ, Tedesco MB, Sereika SM, Hollis BW, Garcia-Ocana A, Stewart AF. Direct Comparison of Sustained Infusion of Human Parathyroid Hormone-Related Protein-(1-36) [hPTHrP-(1-36)] Versus hPTH-(1-34) on Serum Calcium, Plasma 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Concentrations, and Fractional Calcium Excretion in Healthy Human Volunteers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88(4):1603–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020773
- Goldner W. Cancer-Related Hypercalcemia. J Oncol Pract (2016) 12(5):426– 32. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2016.011155
- Oronsky B, Ma PC, Morgensztern D, Carter CA. Nothing But Net: A Review of Neuroendocrine Tumors and Carcinomas. *Neoplasia* (2017) 19(12):991– 1002. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2017.09.002
- Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV, Bilezikian J, Dralle H, Ebeling PR, et al. Clinical Practice Guidelines for Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1 (MEN1). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2012) 97(9):2990–3011. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-1230
- Wells SA, Jr., Asa SL, Dralle H, Elisei R, Evans DB, Gagel RF, et al. Revised American Thyroid Association Guidelines for the Management of Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma. *Thyroid* (2015) 25(6):567–610. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0335
- Daskalakis K, Chatzelis E, Tsoli M, Papadopoulou-Marketou N, Dimitriadis GK, Tsolakis AV, et al. Endocrine Paraneoplastic Syndromes in Patients With Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. *Endocrine* (2019) 64(2):384–92. doi: 10.1007/ s12020-018-1773-3
- Kamp K, Feelders RA, van Adrichem RC, de Rijke YB, van Nederveen FH, Kwekkeboom DJ, et al. Parathyroid Hormone-Related Peptide (PthrP) Secretion by Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors (GEP-NETs): Clinical Features, Diagnosis, Management, and Follow-Up. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99(9):3060–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1315
- Ramirez RA, Chauhan A, Gimenez J, Thomas KEH, Kokodis I, Voros BA. Management of Pulmonary Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2017) 18(4):433–42. doi: 10.1007/s11154-017-9429-9

those who contributed: Manuela Albertelli (Genoa), Barbara Altieri (Würzburg, Germany), Filomena Bottiglieri (Naples), Roberta Centello (Rome), Federica de Cicco (Naples), Alessandra Dicitore (Milan), Valentina Di Vito (Rome), Giuseppe Fanciulli (Sassari), Tiziana Feola (Rome), Francesco Ferraù (Messina), Marco Gallo (Turin), Federica Grillo (Genova), Andrea Lania (Rozzano), Fabio Lo Calzo (Naples), Erika Messina (Messina), Giovanna Muscogiuri (Naples), Luca Pes (Cagliari), Genoveffa Pizza (Naples), Riccardo Pofi (Rome), Giulia Puliani (Rome), Carmen Rainone (Naples), Paola Razzore (Turin), Manila Rubino (Milan), Rosaria Maddalena Ruggeri (Messina), Emilia Sbardella (Rome), Franz Sesti (Rome), Giovanni Vitale (Milan).

We wish to thank the NETTARE Unit—NeuroEndocrine Tumor TAsk foRcE of "Sapienza" University of Rome, Italy, led by Prof. Andrea Lenzi, Prof. Andrea M. Isidori, AF, and EG, for integrating the patient's multidisciplinary clinical, diagnostic and therapeutic management and follow-up.

- Stueven AK, Kayser A, Wetz C, Amthauer H, Wree A, Tacke F, et al. Somatostatin Analogues in the Treatment of Neuroendocrine Tumors: Past, Present and Future. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(12):3049. doi: 10.3390/ijms20123049
- Giannetta E, Guarnotta V, Altieri B, Sciammarella C, Guadagno E, Malandrino P, et al. Endocrine TUMOURS: Calcitonin in Thyroid and Extra-Thyroid Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: The Two-Faced Janus. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(6):R197–215. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0506
- Giannetta E, Gianfrilli D, Pozza C, Lauretta R, Graziadio C, Sbardella E, et al. Extrathyroidal Calcitonin Secreting Tumors: Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors in Patients With Multinodular Goiter: Two Case Reports. *Med* (*Baltimore*) (2016) 95(3):e2419. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000002419
- Uccella S, Blank A, Maragliano R, Sessa F, Perren A, La Rosa S. Calcitonin-Producing Neuroendocrine Neoplasms of the Pancreas: Clinicopathological Study of 25 Cases and Review of the Literature. *Endocr Pathol* (2017) 28 (4):351–61. doi: 10.1007/s12022-017-9505-4
- Loveridge N, Kent GN, Heath DA, Jones EL. Parathyroid Hormone-Like Bioactivity in a Patient With Severe Osteitis Fibrosa Cystica Due to Malignancy: Renotropic Actions of a Tumour Extract as Assessed by Cytochemical Bioassay. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1985) 22(2):135-46. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1985.tb01075.x
- Sarfati E, Lavergne A, Gossot D, Fischer D, Dubost C. Bronchial Carcinoid Tumor and Hypercalcemia. Ann Intern Med (1987) 106(3):476–7. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-106-3-476_2
- Zhu V, de Las Morenas A, Janicek M, Hartshorn K. Hypercalcemia From Metastatic Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor Secreting 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D. J Gastrointest Oncol (2014) 5(4):E84–7. doi: 10.3978/ j.issn.2078-6891.2014.042
- Osorio JC, Jones MG, Schatz-Siemers N, Tang SJ. Twist on a Classic: Vitamin D and Hypercalcaemia of Malignancy. *BMJ Case Rep* (2017) 2017. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2017-220819
- van Lierop AH, Bisschop PH, Boelen A, van Eeden S, Engelman AF, Nieveen van Dijkum EJ, et al. Hypercalcaemia Due to a Calcitriol-Producing Neuroendocrine Tumour. J Surg Case Rep (2019) 2019(12):rjz346. doi: 10.1093/jscr/rjz346

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Giannetta, Sesti, Modica, Grossrubatscher, Guarnotta, Ragni, Zanata, Colao and Faggiano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neoadjuvant Therapy for Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Recent Progresses and Future Approaches

Andrea Lania^{1,2*}, Francesco Ferraù^{3,4}, Manila Rubino⁵, Roberta Modica⁶, Annamaria Colao⁶ and Antongiulio Faggiano^{7,8} on behalf of NIKE group

¹ Endocrinology, Diabetology and Andrology Unit, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center—IRCCS, Rozzano, Italy, ² Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Rozzano, Italy, ³ Department of Human Pathology of Adulthood and Childhood 'G. Barresi', University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ⁴ Endocrine Unit, University Hospital G. Martino, Messina, Italy, ⁵ Division of Gastrointestinal Medical Oncology and Neuroendocrine Tumors, European Institute of Oncology, IEO, IRCCS, Milan, Italy, ⁶ Endocrinology, Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, "Federico II" University of Napoli, Napoli, Italy, ⁷ Endocrinology, Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza", University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁸ Department of Experimental Medicine, Division of Medical Physiopathology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antimo Migliaccio, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italv

Reviewed by:

Daniela Pasquali, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Dario Giuffrida, Mediterranean Institute of Oncology (IOM), Italy

*Correspondence:

Andrea Lania andrea.lania@humanitas.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 January 2021 Accepted: 27 April 2021 Published: 26 July 2021

Citation:

Lania A, Ferraù F, Rubino M, Modica R, Colao A and Faggiano A (2021) Neoadjuvant Therapy for Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Recent Progresses and Future Approaches. Front. Endocrinol. 12:651438. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.651438 Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a heterogeneous group of tumors, their treatment being challenging and requiring a multidisciplinary approach. Though the only curative treatment is surgery, up to 50% of patients are diagnosed with metastatic disease. In the last years, neoadjuvant chemo(radio)therapy has become part of the standard of care in the treatment of different cancer types. However, evidence of its efficacy and safety in NEN patients has not yet been confirmed in the literature. The aim of the present review is to perform an extensive review of the scientific evidence for neoadjuvant therapy in patients with gastroenteropancreatic and thoracic NENs.

Keywords: neuroendocrine tumors, somatostatin (analogs and derivatives), peptide receptor radionuclide therapy, everolimus, capecitabine, temozolomide, chemotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Although neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are considered rare malignancies, their incidence has rapidly increased in the last decades. Since several patients are diagnosed with metastatic disease, curative surgery is usually not an option (1), palliative surgical intervention possibly being effective in controlling clinical symptoms and improving patient's quality of life (2–4). Neoadjuvant therapy, with the aim of reducing tumor size and disease burden, can potentially change the clinical scenario making it suitable for curative surgery as already demonstrated in other cancer types (5–8). While it is conceivable that neoadjuvant chemo-and radiotherapy might be effective in NENs (9), reliable evidence is still lacking in this field and study results are difficult to compare due the heterogeneity of both neoadjuvant therapies used, and series studied. Moreover, although the available therapeutic options (i.e., somatostatin analogs, everolimus, chemotherapy, sunitinib, and peptide receptor radionuclide therapy PRRT) are currently not included in any therapeutic algorithm with specific neoadjuvant purpose, most of them have been used with this intent, even successfully (9). Neoadjuvant chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and PRRT have been shown to provide variable results in terms of tumor down-sizing (10). The aim of the present minireview is to perform an

extensive review of the scientific evidence for neoadjuvant therapy in patients with pancreatic, gastrointestinal, and thoracic NENs.

PANCREATIC NEUROENDOCRINE NEOPLASMS

Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (pNENs) account for 1 to 2% of all pancreatic tumors and most of them are sporadic and nonfunctioning. Their incidence has been increasing and survival rates, although improved, remain poor compared with other primary sites, with an overall survival of 3.6 years (1). Often pNENs present with advanced disease at diagnosis and the treatment of metastatic unresectable pNENs remains debated and the role of neoadjuvant therapies is still uncertain. However, among gastrointestinal NENs, data on the possible role of neoadjuvant therapy are mainly related to pNENs even if the

results seem to be somewhat contradictory and difficult to interpret due to the extreme heterogeneity of the data and the incompleteness of the information provided (**Table 1**). In a large series of high-grade gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinomas, where pancreas was the most common primary site (361 patients), neoadjuvant or adjuvant therapy resulted in better overall survival (OS) in patients with early-stage disease compared with those treated with resection alone. Details of neoadjuvant therapies were not available, but single and multiagent chemotherapy besides radiotherapy were included. The positive effect of neoadjuvant or adjuvant therapy on OS seems to suggest the importance of these treatments to lower the incidence of both micrometastases and possibly to enhance tumor resection thus lowering the risk of local and systemic recurrences (26).

Patients who received neoadjuvant or adjuvant therapy had better over-all survival, suggesting that high incidence of micrometasta-sis contributes to the poor surgical outcomes. In

TABLE 1 | Neoadjuvant therapies in gastroenteropancreatic NENs.

Year	Article type	Neoadjuvant treatment	Outcome	Reference
Pancreas				
2019	research article	no details available	no changes in OS	(11)
2008	research article	PRRT	Partial response and R0 resection	(12)
2009	case report	PRRT	Partial response and R0 resection	(13)
2010	case report	PRRT	Partial response and R0 resection	(14)
2011	research article	PRRT	Stabilization or partial response	(15)
2012	case report	PRRT	Partial response and R0 resection	(16)
2015	research article	PRRT	Better PFS and lower morbidity	(17)
2015	research article	PRRT	Improved PFS	(17)
2017	research article	PRRT	Improved PFS	(18)
2018	case report	PRRT	Partial response and R0 resection	(19)
2015	research article	chemo	Improved survival	(20)
2016	research article	chemo	Improved OS	(21)
2017	research article	chemo	no changes in tumor size	(22)
2018	research article	chemo	Improved OS and RFS	(23)
2011	case report	chemo, radio	R0 resection	(24)
2017	research article	chemo, radio	Stabilization or partial response and R0 resection	(25)
2018	research article	chemo, radio	Low recurrence risk and improved OS	(26)
2012	research article	chemo, radio	No effects	(27)
2012	research article	PRRT, chemo	Radiological response	(28)
2020	research article	PRRT, chemo	Stabilization or partial response	(29)
2020	research article	PRRT, chemo	Improved PFS and OS	(30)
Esophagous				
2018	case report	chemo	complete response, complete resection	(31)
1989	case report/review	chemo	almost complete response, complete resection	(32)
1995	case report	chemo	almost complete response, complete resection	(33)
1999	case report	chemo	almost complete response, complete resection	(34)
2002	case report	chemo	partial response, reduced tumor burden	(35)
2003	case report	chemo	partial response, reduced tumor burden	(3)
Rectum				
2017	research article	chemo, radio	almost complete response, complete resection	(36)
2018	case report	chemo	reduction of primary lesion/grading	(4)
Miscellanea			. ,	
2009	research article (midgut tumor)	PRRT	partial response, partial resection	(15)
2012	research article (midgut tumor)	PRRT	partial response, complete resection	(37)
2012	research article (midgut tumor)	SSA-PRRT	partial response, partial resection	(38)
2012	research article (duodenal tumor)	PRRT	partial response	(29)
2015	case report (small bowel tumor)	PRRT	no response	(39)

Chemo, chemotherapy; Radio, radiotherapy; PRRT, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy; SSA, somatostatin analogs; OS, overall survival; R0, microscopically margin-negative resection; PFS, progression-free survival; RFS, relapse free survival.

addition, the relatively high proportion of margin-positive resection raises the question of whether there is a role of downstaging with neoadjuvant therapy, aimed at enhancing resection and lowering risk of systemic recurrence.

Xie et al. recently described the largest group of pNENs in whom neoadjuvant therapies were used. The study included 4,892 patients who underwent curative-intent surgical resection. Authors showed that neoadjuvant therapy was mainly prescribed in patients <65 years, with grade 3 pNENs localized in the head of the pancreas and associated to the presence of metastasis. In this setting, Authors did not find any significant improvement in OS even in patients with grade 1 and 2 pNENs thus suggesting that neoadjuvant therapy should be used with caution given the lack of conclusive data (11). It is worth noting that, the main limitation of the Study was the lack of any detail regarding the type of neoadjuvant therapies used.

PRRT with radiolabeled somatostatin analogues, over the years, has evolved as an important therapeutic option for the treatment of inoperable or metastasized, well/moderately differentiated, NETs, particularly of the GEP (Table 1) (9). Conversely, neoadjuvant PRRT based on either 177Luoctreotate or 90Y-DOTATATE have been shown to provide variable results as tumor downsizing possibly due to the heterogeneous inclusion criteria, the variable length of followup and the different response criteria used (10). Kwekkeboom et al. described a series of 310 patients with pNENs treated with 177Lu-octreotate PRRT. A partial response was observed in four of them, all undergoing a subsequent R0 resection (12). Similar results were confirmed by other case reports and small series (13, 14, 16, 19). Van Vliet et al. described the results of 177Luoctreotate as neoadjuvant therapy in 29 patients with borderline, unresectable or oligometastatic nonfunctioning pNENs (14). After PRRT, successful surgery was performed in nine patients and all resection specimens showed fibrosis/sclerosis or necrosis thus confirming the effects of 177Lu-octreotate on tumor tissues. As a result, the median PFS was 69 months for patients with successful surgery and 49 months for the other patients (14). On the same line, other case reports and case series confirmed a beneficial effect of neoadjuvant PRRT with 90Y-DOTATATE on tumor and/or metastases downsizing in patients with pNENs, thus leading to a successful surgical intervention (15, 17). Recently, Partelli et al. reported a series of 23 resectable or potentially resectable G1-G2 pNENs who underwent neoadjuvant PRRT (177Lu-octreotate in three and 90Y-DOTATATE in 20 patients) compared to 23 patients who underwent upfront surgical operation. PRRT did result in a reduction of primary tumor size and a reduction in the number of positive lymph nodes compared with controls. Interestingly, though both the rates of disease-specific survival and median PFS from time of diagnosis were similar between groups, in the subgroup of patients who underwent an R0 resection, a trend toward a prolonged PFS was observed in the PRRT group (18).

The administration of chemotherapy prior to surgical resection is increasingly used for patients with adenocarcinomas of the pancreas with the aim to improve surgical results. Similarly, different regimens of chemotherapies have been described as neoadjuvant treatment in pNENs, all these studies being biased by their retrospective design and by the heterogeneity of chemotherapy regimens used (Table 1). Dumont et al. evaluated the effect of different neoadjuvant chemotherapy regimens (i.e., 5-fluorouracil, streptozotocin, doxorubicin, cisplatin, etoposide, and oxaliplatine) on segmental portal hypertension (SHP), the feasibility of surgery and the prognostic influence of a complete surgery in 42 patients with G1/G2 locally advanced pNETs associated to SHP. A complete resection was achieved in 13 out of 28 cases underwent surgery and a not statistically significant trend towards improved 5-year survival was observed in patients with R0 resections compared to R1/R2 resections and no resection at all (20). A retrospective analysis of 59 patients with a histologic diagnosis of pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas (pNECs) described five patients who underwent neoadjuvant treatment with etoposide and cisplatin before surgery. Four of them had a curative resection and one patient with stage IV disease remained with residual small liver metastases (21). A further retrospective observational study analyzed the efficacy of neoadjuvant 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), doxorubicin, and streptozocin (FAS) chemotherapy in 29 patients with non-metastatic locally advanced well-differentiated pNENs. In this series, neoadjuvant FAS did not induce a clinically significant change in the size of the primary tumor in up to 90% of treated patients thus suggesting that localized disease does not benefit from this preoperative treatment in terms of tumor downstaging (22). Preoperative FAS treatment has been further evaluated in a retrospective series of 27 patients with pancreatic neuroendocrine liver metastases (NELM) who underwent liver resection. Despite being associated with higher rates of synchronous disease, lymph node metastases, and larger tumor size, patients who underwent preoperative FAS had similar overall survival OS and RFS as patients who did not. Similarly, in patients who presented with synchronous liver metastases the median OS and RFS were significantly greater among patients who received preoperative FAS. Authors concluded that preoperative FAS could be considered for patients with advanced synchronous pancreatic NELM (23).

Few data are available on the effects of association of chemotherapy and radiotherapy as neoadjuvant therapy in pNENs, all these data being mainly obtained from case reports (Table 1). A poorly differentiated pNEC metastatic to the breast and lung was successfully managed with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (5-FU treatment followed by carboplatin and etoposide) and radiotherapy, followed by radical surgical resection (24). Among 33 patients with pNENs undergoing surgical resection with curative intent, 16 underwent surgery alone, while 17 underwent adjuvant or neoadjuvant external beam radiotherapy in addition to surgery. Fluoropyrimidinebased chemotherapy was delivered concurrently in 14 patients receiving radiotherapy. Local control in patients receiving combined modality therapy was like those who had surgery alone. Although the Authors conclude that the role of neoadjuvant radiotherapy remains unclear, it has been hypothesized that patients who underwent radiotherapy had more aggressive or extensive disease than the surgery alone

group thus explaining the lack of any significant effect of combined neoadjuvant treatments (27).

Capecitabine combined with temozolomide (CAPTEM) has been frequently used in the treatment of pNENs. In particular, Strosberg et al. demonstrated that CAPTEM regimen was extremely effective for treatment of metastatic pNENs, resulting in an objective response rate of 70% and median PFS of 18 months (40). These data have been strengthened by a recent metanalysis confirming that capecitabine combined with temozolomide is effective for treating patients with advanced NENs, disease control rate being 72.8% (41). Neoadjuvant CAPTEM regimen with or without radiation has been successfully applied in six pNENs with borderline resectable disease. All patients had radiological evidence of tumor regression after neoadjuvant treatment (two partial responses and four stabilization) and all of them could undergo successful resection of the primary tumor with negative margins in 4/6 patients (25). The efficacy of CAPTEM regimen in the neoadjuvant setting was further confirmed by Ostwal et al. who studied 30 patients with locally advanced pNENs or pancreatic neuroendocrine hepatic metastases receiving neoadjuvant CAPTEM. Partial response was observed in 13 of them, while a stable disease was found in 16 patients thus suggesting that neoadjuvant CAPTEM might improve the radicality of the surgical procedure (29).

The association of PRRT and chemotherapy has also been used as neoadjuvant therapy in pNENs, taking advantage from the radiosensitising effects of 5-FU. In this respect, the combination of PRRT with 177Lu-octreotate and 5FU chemotherapy was found to be effective in five nonfunctioning pancreatic and one duodenum NEN with inoperable disease, resulting in radiological response in all pNENs. Only one patient underwent surgery successfully after treatment and remained 12 months postoperatively alive and free of disease (28). Finally, combined PRRT and chemotherapy sandwiching two cycles of CAPTEM between two cycles of PRRT, has been proposed in neoadjuvant setting. This regimen resulted in favorable response rates with effective control of symptoms and longer PFS and OS in NEN patients with aggressive, both FDG- and SSTR-avid, metastatic progressive disease (30).

GASTROINTESTINAL NEUROENDOCRINE NEOPLASMS

As for pNENs, neoadjuvant treatments have been proposed for other gastrointestinal NENS, data being mainly based on few case reports (**Table 1**). Neoadjuvant chemotherapy can be effective in patients with esophageal neuroendocrine carcinoma (ENEC), which are rare but aggressive neoplasms. In 2018, Yamamoto et al. reported the case of a patient with an ENEC who received neoadjuvant chemotherapy using etoposide and cisplatin. One course of chemotherapy led to tumor downstaging at endoscopy and to the absence of FDG accumulation at PET-CT examination. Seven weeks after chemotherapy, a thoracoscopic esophagectomy was performed and the histopathological examination of the resected specimen revealed no residual cancer cells, demonstrating a complete response with

neoadjuvant treatment (31). Other few cases of ENECs treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy have been reported (32–35). In three patients, cisplatin or combination chemotherapy caused an almost complete regression of the neoplasm with evidence of only microscopic foci of tumor in the resected esophageal specimen (32–34), while in other three cases treated with carboplatin/ etoposide or combination chemotherapy a significant reduction in tumor burden was observed (35).

Neoadjuvant chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy has been anecdotally reported to be effective also in rectal NENs (Table 1). In a study reporting on the management of patients with high grade rectum or anal canal neuroendocrine carcinomas, two cases were treated with preoperative pelvic chemoradiation. One of them received radiotherapy followed by consolidative cisplatin/5-FU, low anterior resection, and postoperative cisplatin/etoposide, while the second patient received induction oxaliplatin/irinotecan, followed by radiotherapy, trans anal excision, and additional oxaliplatin/ irinotecan. Both patients had only microscopic foci of residual carcinoma at surgery (36). In another case report, a 50-year-old woman diagnosed with a liver mass and a G3 rectal NEN was treated with two cycles of neoadjuvant chemotherapy with etoposide and nedaplatin, this treatment being effective in rectal tumor but not liver metastasis shrinkage. Subsequently, the patient was switched to irinotecan plus nedaplatin, associated to octreotide LAR 30 mg/ month because of neuroendocrine symptoms and MRI abdomen scan showed no significant changes in lesions size. Therefore, surgery was suggested and histopathological examination showed that the tumor downgraded from G3 to G2 thus suggesting that neoadjuvant chemotherapy may be effective in reducing primary lesion size and possibly grading, offering favourable conditions for less demolitive and more effective surgery.

The possible role of neoadjuvant PRRT and PRRT + chemotherapy combination was evaluated in small series of advanced gastrointestinal NENs (Table 1). Sowa-Staszczak et al. reported on neoadjuvant 90YDOTA-TATE treatment of five patients with foregut tumors, including three with pancreatic, and one with midgut NEN. According to RECIST criteria, disease stabilization was observed in four and partial responses in two patients, one with pancreatic and the second with the midgut NEN. In this latter case, tumor size decreased from 11 to 7.2 cm one month after PRRT. Five months later, a further reduction in tumor size was observed, enabling qualification for a laparotomy, which was performed 11 months after PRRT. However, only partial removal of the tumor was possible due to infiltration of the large vessels (15). In another study on 89 patients with disseminated and inoperable gastrointestinal NENs, Authors described one patient with a midgut tumor who was successfully treated with PRRT in a neoadjuvant setting, thus enabling an effective surgical intervention (37). The case of a 43-year-old man complaining of abdominal pain, vomiting, weight loss and flushes, who underwent CT examination that revealed upper and middle abdomen tumor was reported by Sowa-Staszczak et al. (38). Histopathological examination of tumor specimen obtained during exploratory laparotomy showed a well-differentiated NET according to the 2000 WHO classification. The patient received five cycles of chemotherapy (streptozocin and 5-FU) without any

response and then he underwent PRRT with 90Y-DOTA-TATE. The subsequent CT scan revealed a reduction in tumor size and the patient was therefore candidate to a second laparotomy for a partial excision of the tumor. Then he was treated with long-acting SSA and two additional courses of 90Y-DOTA-TATE that induced a further reduction of tumor size, potentially enabling a further laparotomy for curative surgery (38). Barber et al. reported their experience with PRRT as neoadjuvant treatment in five patients with NENs, one of them being diagnosed with a locoregional recurrence of a duodenal tumor. The patient was treated with one cycle of 177 Lu-DOTATATE, with a partial scintigraphy and biochemical response (28). On the other hand, Frilling et al. reported the case of a patient with a small-bowel well differentiated NEN metastasised to the root of the mesentery, who underwent four cycles of neoadjuvant PRRT with 177Lu-DOTATATE. A following 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT demonstrated high tracer uptake in the mesenteric and aortocaval tumor foci with significantly higher SUV than pre-treatment imaging with no change in size of either the mesenteric or the aortocaval lesions. The patient then underwent a modified liver free multivisceral transplantation (39).

Overall, the few reported experiences would suggest that neoadjuvant chemotreatment can be a successful management strategy in esophageal NEN, while too little data are available about chemo/radio-treatment of other non-pancreatic gastrointestinal NENs in a neoadjuvant setting. However, PRRT seems represent an option in selected cases in this context.

THORACIC NEUROENDOCRINE NEOPLASMS

Lung neuroendocrine neoplasms represent approximately 20–30% of all NENs. Based on clinical, histological and molecular data, lung NENs are classified in two main categories well differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (carcinoids) and poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs). Furthermore, lung carcinoids (LC) are classified in typical (low grade) and atypical carcinoids (intermediate grade) and lung NECs in large-cells and small-cells carcinomas (LCNEC and SCLC, respectively). Only low-quality evidence guides the therapeutic management of LC, and

TABLE 2 | Neoadjuvant therapies in lung NENs.

everolimus is the only approved drugs. However currently used systemic therapeutic options include somatostatin analogues, alkylating- and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapies and PRRT. Few data are available on the efficacy of neoadjuvant treatment in thoracic NENs and all these data come from small series and case reports (**Table 2**).

Srirajaskanthan el al. reported two patients with lung NENs that received a preoperative chemotherapy with 5-FU, cisplatin and streptozotocin, that induced a good response with consequently a curative resection, both patients being disease free at 36 months after surgery (42). A multicentric study by Daddi et al. reported six of 247 patients with atypical carcinoids treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy as an initial diagnosis of SCLC was performed on fine needle aspiration biopsy. Though no data on the results of neoadjuvant treatment were clearly shown, Authors found an association between adjuvant and neoadjuvant treatments and a worse prognosis. These data do not support the efficacy of neoadjuvant therapies in terms of complete regression of the metastatic disease. However, these treatments might be effective in alleviating clinical signs and symptoms (43). The same Authors reported five patients with poorly differentiated NECs who underwent to induction therapy and surgery without disease recurrence at 5 years, but no information was available on the chemotherapy regimens used (44).

More data are available on the role of neoadjuvant therapies in LCNEC. In the multicenter retrospective study by Veronesi et al., 15% of 144 patients who underwent surgical resection for LCNEC, received neoadjuvant chemotherapy (i.e., platin/etoposide, gemcitabine, vinorelbine and taxol). In this study no association was found between neoadjuvant chemotherapy and survival except for stage I patients in whom induction or post-operative chemotherapy tended to be associated to a longer OS (OS rate at 3 years 100% vs 58%) (45). Sarkaria et al. retrospectively analyzed 100 patients with LCNEC operated at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center. Twenty-four patients received neo-adjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy and 68% showed a partial response and 31% were characterized by a stable disease. The correlation analysis did not show any association between OS and neoadjuvant or adjuvant chemotherapy. The authors also

Year	Article type	Lung NENs	Neoadjuvant treatment	Outcome	Reference	
2009	case report	undefined	chemo	complete response and resection	(42)	
2014	research article	atypical carcinoids	chemo	no response, worse prognosis	(43)	
2004	research article	NEC	chemo	complete resection	(44)	
2006	research article	LCNEC	chemo	longer OS (stage I)	(45)	
2011	research article	LCNEC	chemo	longer OS (stage IB-IIA)	(46)	
2010	research article	LCNEC	chemo	higher 5-year survival rate	(47)	
2019	research article	LCNEC, SCLC	chemo	higher 5-year survival rate	(48)	
2018	case report	LCNEC	chemo	downsizing of the tumor, complete resection	(49)	
2019	case report	LCNEC	chemo	downsizing of the tumor, complete resection	(50)	
2010	research article	LCNEC	chemo	worse 5-year OS	(51)	
2015	research article	Thymus NENs	chemo or radio	no effects	(52)	
2008	case report	Thymus NENs	chemo	downsizing of the tumor, complete resection	(53)	

NEC, neuroendocrine carcinoma; LCNEC, large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma; SCLC, small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma; Chemo, chemotherapy; radio, radiotherapy; OS, overall survival. performed a subgroup analysis in patients with completely resected advanced stage (IB-IIIA) disease and, in these patients, neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapy resulted in an improved OS (2 vs 7.4 years) and 5 years OS rate (37% vs 51%) (46). Saji et al. retrospectively confirmed a positive effect of perioperative chemotherapy on survival in 45 patients with LCNEC. In this study, seven patients received a neoadjuvant chemotherapy (cisplatin and paclitaxel in four and cisplatin/topotecan in three, respectively) thus leading to a statistically significant higher 5-year survival rate (87.5% vs 58%) (47). Similar results were obtained by Ogawa et al. retrospectively evaluating a series LCNEC and SCLC who underwent complete resection. Seventy patients (31 with LCNEC and 32 with SCLC) received perioperative platinumbased chemotherapy and a significant improvement of the 5-year OS rates was observed (74.5% vs. 34.7%). Multivariate analysis revealed that perioperative chemotherapy, sublobar resection, and lymph node metastasis were independently associated with survival (48). The efficacy of perioperative chemotherapy in patients with LCNEC has been further confirmed by some case reports (49, 50). In particular, Mauclet et al. reported a case of a 41-years old women with a large LCNEC with mediastinal involvement. After an ineffective first line chemotherapy with cisplatin etoposide, patient underwent to palliative radiotherapy and second line therapy with Nivolumab that led to a downsizing of the tumor. Patient underwent surgery with the complete removal of the tumor and histology showed an absence of viable tumor cells, while necrosis and fibrosis were observed (50). Finally, the retrospective analysis of 63 patients with LCNEC showed that neoadjuvant platin-etoposide based chemotherapy was associated with a trend towards a worse 5-year OS rate despite a partial response in 12 cases was observed. Authors suggested that the negative association between neoadjuvant chemotherapy and survival could be due to the fact that only patients with stage III tumors received induction chemotherapy (51).

NENs of the thymus are very rare tumors, accounting for 0.4% of all carcinoid tumors. Based on WHO 2015, also thymic NENs are classified in two main histopathological and clinical categories: well differentiated tumors, typical and atypical carcinoids and poorly differentiated tumors, small cell and large cell carcinoma. These tumors could be associated to ectopic hormonal secretion, in particular adrenocorticotropic hormone secretion or to multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. The prognosis of patients with thymic NENs is poor because of the high incidence of local recurrence and distant metastasis and 5-year OS vary from 30–70%. As for other lung NENs, few data are available on neoadjuvat therapy in thymic

REFERENCES

- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, Zhao B, Zhou S, Xu Y, et al. Trends in the Incidence, Prevalence, and Survival Outcomes in Patients With Neuroendocrine Tumors in the United States. *JAMA Oncol* (2017) 3:1335– 42. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0589
- Perysinakis I, Aggeli C, Kaltsas G, Zografos GN. Neoadjuvant Therapy for Advanced Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: An Emerging Treatment Modality? *Hormones (Athens)* (2016) 15(1):15–22. doi: 10.14310/horm. 2002.1636
- 3. Howe JR, Cardona K, Fraker DL, Kebebew E, Untch BR, Wang YZ, et al. The Surgical Management of Small Bowel Neuroendocrine Tumors: Consensus

NENs (**Table 2**). Few data are available on neoadjuvant therapy in thymic NENs. Filosso et al. reported 25 patients with primary thymic NENs treated by induction therapy (19 by chemotherapy and six by radiotherapy), these treatments having no impact on survival (52). Dham et al. described a clinical case of a 40-year-old man with unresectable typical carcinoid of the thymus. Three weeks of treatment with sunitinib 50 mg per day for 4 weeks with 2 weeks off and octreotide LAR 30 mg very 4 weeks, induced a tumor shrinkage that led to curative surgery of the mediastinal mass and no evidence of disease recurrence was evident 12 months after surgery (53).

CONCLUSIONS

Data on neoadjuvant treatment of NEN patients are scanty, mainly based on inhomogeneous and often incomparable retrospective studies of limited numbers of patients and prospective studies are necessary to clarify the role of neoadjuvant therapy in this clinical setting. Available literature on pancreatic NEN patients suggests PRRT to be variably successful as a neoadjuvant approach, as well as chemotherapy to be more promising in patients with advanced synchronous pancreatic NELM, while—in the same setting—combined chemo/ radio/PRRT-therapies would not be supported by sufficient evidence. Neoadjuvant PRRT, chemo or chemoradio-therapies have been anectodotally reported to be effective in non-pancreatic gastrointestinal NENs. Among thoracic NENs, neoadjuvant chemotherapy has been inconsistently reported to be beneficial in LCNC patients, also in relationship to disease stage, while little evidence would suggest neoadjuvant treatment to be negligible in thymic tumors. Therefore, it is advisable to use a neoadjuvant approach with caution, as the effects on quality of life and longterm results in terms of prolonged survival remain yet to be confirmed and the choice of this therapeutic approach should be discussed for each single patient in a multidisciplinary setting.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AL conceived and authored the final draft of the manuscript. FF, MR, and RM provided further content, added key references, and authored sections of the manuscript. AF and AC revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Guidelines of the North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society. *Pancreas* (2017) 46(6):715–31. doi: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000846

- Tsoli M, Spei ME, Wallin G, Kaltsas G, Daskalakis K. Association of a Palliative Surgical Approach to Stage IV Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms With Survival: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2020) 12(8):2246. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082246
- Oba A, Ho F, Bao QR, Al-Musawi MH, Schulick RD, Del Chiaro M. Neoadjuvant Treatment in Pancreatic Cancer. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:245. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00245
- Lee JS, Yost SE, Yuan Y. Neoadjuvant Treatment for Triple Negative Breast Cancer: Recent Progresses and Challenges. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(6):1404. doi: 10.3390/cancers12061404

- Leng XF, Daiko H, Han YT, Mao YS. Optimal Preoperative Neoadjuvant Therapy for Resectable Locally Advanced Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2020) 1482(1):213–24. doi: 10.1111/ nyas.14508
- Müller PC, Frey MC, Ruzza CM, Nickel F, Jost C, Gwerder C, et al. Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Pancreatic Cancer: An Appraisal of the Current High-Level Evidence. *Pharmacology* (2020) 23:1–11. doi: 10.1159/ 000510343
- Cives M, Strosberg J. Treatment Strategies for Metastatic Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Gastrointestinal Tract. *Curr Treat Options Oncol* (2017) 18 (3):14. doi: 10.1007/s11864-017-0461-5
- Hirmas N, Jadaan R, Al-Ibraheem A. Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy and the Treatment of Gastroentero-Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: Current Findings and Future Perspectives. *Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2018) 52(3):190–9. doi: 10.1007/s13139-018-0517-x
- Xie H, Liu J, Yadav S, Keutgen XM, Hobday TJ, Strosberg JR, et al. The Role of Perioperative Systemic Therapy in Localized Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. *Neuroendocrinology* (2020) 110(3-4):234–45. doi: 10.1159/ 000501126
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL, van Eijck CH, van Essen M, Kooij PP, et al. Treatment With the Radiolabeled Somatostatin Analog [177 Lu-DOTA 0,Tyr3]octreotate: Toxicity, Efficacy, and Survival. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(13):2124–30. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.2553
- Kaemmerer D, Prasad V, Daffner W, Hörsch D, Klöppel G, Hommann M, et al. Neoadjuvant Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy for an Inoperable Neuroendocrine Pancreatic Tumor. World J Gastroenterol (2009) 15 (46):5867–70. doi: 10.3748/wjg.15.5867
- 14. Stoeltzing O, Loss M, Huber E, Gross V, Eilles C, Mueller-Brand J, et al. Staged Surgery With Neoadjuvant 90Y-DOTATOC Therapy for Down-Sizing Synchronous Bilobular Hepatic Metastases From a Neuroendocrine Pancreatic Tumor. *Langenbecks Arch Surg* (2010) 395(2):185–92. doi: 10.1007/s00423-009-0520-x
- Sowa-Staszczak A, Pach D, Chrzan R, Trofimiuk M, Stefańska A, Tomaszuk M, et al. Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy as a Potential Tool for Neoadjuvant Therapy in Patients With Inoperable Neuroendocrine Tumours (Nets). *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2011) 38(9):1669–74. doi: 10.1007/ s00259-011-1835-8
- 16. Ezziddin S, Lauschke H, Schaefers M, Meyer C, van Essen M, Biersack HJ, et al. Neoadjuvant Downsizing by Internal Radiation: A Case for Preoperative Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy in Patients With Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Clin Nucl Med* (2012) 37(1):102–4. doi: 10.1097/ RLU.0b013e318238f111
- van Vliet EI, van Eijck CH, de Krijger RR, Nieveen van Dijkum EJ, Teunissen JJ, Kam BL, et al. Neoadjuvant Treatment of Nonfunctioning Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors With [177Lu-DOTA0,Tyr3]Octreotate. J Nucl Med (2015) 56(11):1647–53. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.115.158899
- Partelli S, Bertani E, Bartolomei M, Perali C, Muffatti F, Grana CM, et al. Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy as Neoadjuvant Therapy for Resectable or Potentially Resectable Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Surgery (2018) 163(4):761–7. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2017.11.007
- da Silva TN, van Velthuysen MLF, van Eijck CHJ, Teunissen JJ, Hofland J, de Herder WW. Successful Neoadjuvant Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy for an Inoperable Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumour. *Endocrinol Diabetes Metab Case Rep* (2018) 2018:18–0015. doi: 10.1530/EDM-18-0015
- Dumont F, Goudard Y, Caramella C, Goéré D, Baudin E, Elias D. Therapeutic Strategies for Advanced Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors With Segmental Portal Hypertension. *World J Surg* (2015) 39(8):1974–80. doi: 10.1007/ s00268-015-3030-8
- Crippa S, Partelli S, Belfiori G, Palucci M, Muffatti F, Adamenko O, et al. Management of Neuroendocrine Carcinomas of the Pancreas (WHO G3): A Tailored Approach Between Proliferation and Morphology. World J Gastroenterol (2016) 722(45):9944–53. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i45.9944
- 22. Prakash L, Bhosale P, Cloyd J, Kim M, Parker N, Yao J, et al. Role of Fluorouracil, Doxorubicin, and Streptozocin Therapy in the Preoperative Treatment of Localized Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. J Gastrointest Surg (2017) 21(1):155–63. doi: 10.1007/s11605-016-3270-4
- 23. Cloyd JM, Omichi K, Mizuno T, Kawaguchi Y, Tzeng CD, Conrad C, et al. Preoperative Fluorouracil, Doxorubicin, and Streptozocin for the Treatment

of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Liver Metastases. Ann Surg Oncol (2018) 25 (6):1709–15. doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6468-8

- Satahoo-Dawes S, Palmer J, Manning EW III, Levi J. Breast and Lung Metastasis From Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Carcinoma. World J Radiol (2011) 3(1):32–7. doi: 10.4329/wjr.v3.i1.32
- 25. Ambe CM, Nguyen P, Centeno BA, Choi J, Strosberg J, Kvols L, et al. Multimodality Management of "Borderline Resectable" Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: Report of a Single-Institution Experience. *Cancer Control* (2017) 24(5):1073274817729076. doi: 10.1177/1073274817729076
- 26. Alese OB, Jiang R, Shaib W, Wu C, Akce M, Behera M, et al. High-Grade Gastrointestinal Neuroendocrine Carcinoma Management and Outcomes: A National Cancer Database Study. *Oncologist* (2019) 24(7):911–20. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0382
- Zagar TM, White RR, Willett CG, Tyler DS, Papavassiliou P, Papalezova KT, et al. Resected Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: Patterns of Failure and Disease-Related Outcomes With or Without Radiotherapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2012) 83(4):1126–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.09.041
- Barber TW, Hofman MS, Thomson BN, Hicks RJ. The Potential for Induction Peptide Receptor Chemoradionuclide Therapy to Render Inoperable Pancreatic and Duodenal Neuroendocrine Tumours Resectable. *Eur J Surg* Oncol (2012), 38(1):64–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2011.08.129
- Ostwal V, Basu S, Bhargava P, Shah M, Parghane RV, Srinivas S, et al. Capecitabine-Temozolomide (CAPTEM) in Advanced Grade 2 and Grade 3 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (Nens) - Benefits of Chemotherapy in NENs With Significant 18FDG Uptake. *Neuroendocrinology* (2020). doi: 10.1159/ 000511987
- 30. Parghane RV, Ostwal V, Ramaswamy A, Bhandare M, Chaudhari V, Talole S, et al. Long-Term Outcome of "Sandwich" Chemo-PRRT: A Novel Treatment Strategy for Metastatic Neuroendocrine Tumors With Both FDG- and SSTR-avid Aggressive Disease. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2021) 48(3):913–23. doi: 10.1007/s00259-020-05004-5
- 31. Yamamoto M, Ozawa S, Koyanagi K, Oguma J, Kazuno A, Ninomiya Y, et al. Effectiveness of Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy With Etoposide and Cisplatin Followed by Surgery for Esophageal Neuroendocrine Carcinoma: A Case Report. J Thorac Dis (2018) 10(6):E450–5. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.05.170
- 32. Walker SJ, Steel A, Cullen MH, Matthews HR. Treatment of Oesophageal Small Cell Carcinoma by Combined Chemotherapy and Surgical Resection: Report of Two Cases and Review of Published Cases. *Thorax* (1989) 44:751–2. doi: 10.1136/thx.44.9.751
- Muto I, Nishimaki T, Aizawa K, Suzuki T, Tanaka O, Hatakeyama K. Primary Small Cell Carcinoma of the Esophagus: Report of a Case. Surg Today (1995) 25(9):830–3. doi: 10.1007/BF00311462
- 34. Nimura Y, Koide N, Nishio A, Watanabe H, Yazawa K, Adachi W, et al. Effective Treatment With Chemotherapy and Surgical Resection for Small Cell Carcinoma of the Esophagus: Report of a Case. *Hepatogastroenterology* (1999) 46(27):1778–81.
- 35. Makino H, Tajiri T, Onda M, Sasajima K, Miyashita M, Nomura T, et al. Effectiveness of Preoperative Chemotherapy Using Carboplatin (CBDCA) and Surgery Against an Esophageal Small Cell Carcinoma. *Dis Esophagus* (2002) 15(3):237–41. doi: 10.1046/j.1442-2050.2002.00244.x
- 36. Voong KR, Rashid A, Crane CH, Minsky BD, Krishnan S, Yao JC, et al. Chemoradiation for High-grade Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Rectum and Anal Canal. Am J Clin Oncol (2017) 40(6):555–60. doi: 10.1097/ COC.000000000000211
- 37. Pach D, Sowa-Staszczak A, Kunikowska J, Królicki L, Trofimiuk M, Stefańska A, et al. Repeated Cycles of Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy (PRRT)– Results and Side-Effects of the Radioisotope 90Y-DOTA TATE, 177lu-Dota TATE or 90Y/177Lu-DOTA TATE Therapy in Patients With Disseminated NET. Radiother Oncol (2012) 102(1):45–50. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2011.08.006
- 38. Sowa-Staszczak A, Pach D, Stefańska A, Szybiński P, Kulig J, Tomaszewska R, et al. Case Report of a Patient With Initially Inoperable Well-Differentiated Midgut Neuroendocrine Tumor (WDNT)–PRRT and Long-Acting Somatostatin Analogs as the Neoadjuvant Therapy. Nucl Med Rev Cent East Eur (2012) 15(2):137–9.
- 39. Frilling A, Giele H, Vrakas G, Reddy S, Macedo R, Al-Nahhas A, et al. Modified Liver-Free Multivisceral Transplantation for a Metastatic Small Bowel Neuroendocrine Tumor: A Case Report. *Transplant Proc* (2015) 47 (3):858–62. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.01.007

- Strosberg JR, Fine RL, Choi J, Nasir A, Coppola D, Chen DT, et al. First-Line Chemotherapy With Capecitabine and Temozolomide in Patients With Metastatic Pancreatic Endocrine Carcinomas. *Cancer* (2011) 117(2):268–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25425
- Lu Y, Zhao Z, Wang J, Lv W, Lu L, Fu W, et al. Safety and Efficacy of Combining Capecitabine and Temozolomide (CAPTEM) to Treat Advanced Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: A Meta-Analysis. *Med (Baltimore)* (2018) 97 (41):e12784. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000012784
- Srirajaskanthan R, Toumpanakis C, Karpathakis A, Marelli L, Quigley AM, Dusmet M, et al. Surgical Management and Palliative Treatment in Bronchial Neuroendocrine Tumours: A Clinical Study of 45 Patients. *Lung Cancer* (2009) 65(1):68–73. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2008.10.025
- Daddi N, Schiavon M, Filosso PL, Cardillo G, Ambrogi MC, De Palma A, et al. Prognostic Factors in a Multicentre Study of 247 Atypical Pulmonary Carcinoids. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg (2014) 45(4):677–86. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ ezt470
- 44. Daddi N, Ferolla P, Urbani M, Semeraro A, Avenia N, Ribacchi R, et al. Surgical Treatment of Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Lung. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg (2004) 26(4):813–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.05.052
- Veronesi G, Morandi U, Alloisio M, Terzi A, Cardillo G, Filosso P, et al. Large Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Lung: A Retrospective Analysis of 144 Surgical Cases. Lung Cancer (2006) 53(1):111–5. doi: 10.1016/ j.lungcan.2006.03.007
- 46. Sarkaria IS, Iyoda A, Roh MS, Sica G, Kuk D, Sima CS, et al. Neoadjuvant and Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Resected Pulmonary Large Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinomas: A Single Institution Experience. *Ann Thorac Surg* (2011) 92 (4):1180–6. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.05.027 discussion 1186-7.
- 47. Saji H, Tsuboi M, Matsubayashi J, Miyajima K, Shimada Y, Imai K, et al. Clinical Response of Large Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinoma of the Lung to Perioperative Adjuvant Chemotherapy. *Anticancer Drugs* (2010) 21(1):89–93. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e328330fd79
- Ogawa H, Tanaka Y, Kitamura Y, Shimizu N, Doi T, Hokka D, et al. Efficacy of Perioperative Chemotherapy for Pulmonary High-Grade Neuroendocrine Carcinomas: A Propensity Score Matching Analysis. J Thorac Dis (2019) 11 (4):1145–54. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2019.04.56
- 49. Tang H, Wang H, Xi S, He C, Chang Y, Wang Q, et al. Perioperative Chemotherapy With Pemetrexed and Cisplatin for Pulmonary Large-Cell

Neuroendocrine Carcinoma: A Case Report and Literature Review. Onco Targets Ther (2018) 11:2557–63. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S160565

- 50. Mauclet C, Duplaquet F, Pirard L, Rondelet B, Dupont M, Pop-Stanciu C, et al. Complete Tumor Response of a Locally Advanced Lung Large-Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinoma After Palliative Thoracic Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy With Nivolumab. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 128:53–6. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.12.006
- Fournel L, Falcoz PE, Alifano M, Charpentier MC, Boudaya MS, Magdeleinat P, et al. Surgical Management of Pulmonary Large Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinomas: A 10-Year Experience. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* (2013) 43 (1):111–4. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs174
- 52. Filosso PL, Yao X, Ahmad U, Zhan Y, Huang J, Ruffini E, et al. Outcome of Primary Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Thymus: A Joint Analysis of the International Thymic Malignancy Interest Group and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons Databases. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg (2015) 149(1):103–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.08.061
- Dham A, Truskinovsky AM, Dudek AZ. Thymic Carcinoid Responds to Neoadjuvant Therapy With Sunitinib and Octreotide: A Case Report. J Thorac Oncol (2008) 3(1):94–7. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e31815eb7a2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lania, Ferraù, Rubino, Modica, Colao and Faggiano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

